Planning & Architectural Review Board Regular Meeting
Agenda

. “TCENTENNIAL
Tuesday, October 7, 2025 at 5:30 PM s

City Commission Chambers — 105 S. 2ND Street, Flagler Beach, FL 32136

All meeting items will be continued until meeting is complete.
Call the meeting to order

Pledge of Allegiance

Roll Call / Determination of Quorum
Approve Minutes

a. September 2, 2025 Meeting Minutes
Old Business

New Business

a. PAN25-0001 Ordinance 2025-21 (Veranda Bay): AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF
FLAGLER BEACH, FLORIDA, TO ANNEX PROPERTY TO BE INCLUDED WITHIN CITY LIMITS OF THE CITY OF
FLAGLER BEACH; PROVIDING FOR THE ANNEXATION OF APPROXIMATELY 210.70 ACRES OF PROPERTY;
PROVIDING FOR ANNEXATION IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE VOLUNTARY ANNEXATION PROVISIONS OF
SECTION 171.044, FLORIDA STATUTES; PROVIDING FOR ANNEXATION OF REAL PROPERTY/AMENDMENT OF
CORPORATE/CITY LIMITS; PROVIDING FOR RIGHTS AND PRIVILEGES RESULTING FROM ANNEXATION UPON
LAND USES; PROVIDING FOR EFFECT ON A VALOREM TAXES; PROVIDING FOR EFFECT ON BUSINESSES AND
OCCUPATIONS; PROVIDING FOR EFFECT ON BUSINESSES AND OCCUPATIONS; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS,
SEVERABILITY AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE.

b. PFLUMAZ25-0001 Ordinance 2025-23 (Veranda Bay): AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY
OF FLAGLER BEACH, FLORIDA, AMENDING THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN FUTURE LAND USE MAP
DESIGNATION FOR APPROXIMATELY 233.92 ACRES OF CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY WITH ACCOMPANYING TEXT
POLICY AMENDMENT TO VOLUNTARILY LIMIT DEVELOPMENT TO A MAXIMUM OF 377 RESIDENTIAL UNITS,
A MAXIMUM OF 16,200 SQUARE FEET OF NON-RESIDENTIAL USES, A MAXIMUM OF 150 MARINA BERTHS
PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE.

C. PRZ 25-0001 Ordinance 2025-24 (Veranda Bay MPDA): AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE
CITY OF FLAGLER BEACH, FLORIDA, AMENDING THE OFFICIAL ZONING MAP DESIGNATION FOR
APPROXIMATELY 234 ACRES OF CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR
CONFLICTS; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE

Page 1 of 391



10.

d. PAN25-0002 ORDINANCE 2025-22 (Summertown): AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY
OF FLAGLER BEACH, FLORIDA, TO ANNEX PROPERTY WITHIN CITY LIMITS OF THE CITY OF FLAGLER BEACH,;
PROVIDING FOR THE ANNEXATION OF APPROXIMATELY 514.06 ACRES OF PROPERTY TO BE INCLUDED
WITHIN THE CITY LIMITS OF FLAGLER BEACH; PROVIDING FOR ANNEXATION IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE
VOLUNTARY ANNEXATION PROVISIONS OF SECTION 171.044, FLORIDA STATUTES; PROVIDING FOR
ANNEXATION OF REAL PROPERTY/AMENDMENT OF CORPORATE/CITY LIMITS; PROVIDING FOR RIGHTS AND
PRIVILEGES RESULTING FROM ANNEXATION UPON LAND USES; PROVIDING FOR EFFECT ON A VALOREM
TAXES; PROVIDING FOR EFFECT ON BUSINESSES AND OCCUPATIONS; PROVIDING FOR EFFECT ON
BUSINESSES AND OCCUPATIONS; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS, SEVERABILITY AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE.

e. PFLUMA25-0002 ORDINANCE 2025-25 (Summertown): AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE
CITY OF FLAGLER BEACH, FLORIDA, AMENDING THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN FUTURE LAND USE MAP
DESIGNATION FOR APPROXIMATELY 544.97 ACRES OF CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY; WITH ACCOMPANYING
TEXT POLICY AMENDMENT TO VOLUNTARILY LIMIT DEVELOPMENT TO A MAXIMUM 1,640 RESIDENTIAL
UNITS, A MAXIMUM OF 640,000 SQUARE FEET OF NON-RESIDENTIAL USES AND A MAXIMUM OF 250 HOTEL
ROOMS, PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE
DATE.

f. PRZ25-0002 ORDINANCE 2025-26 (Summertown): AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY
OF FLAGLER BEACH, FLORIDA, AMENDING THE OFFICIAL ZONING MAP DESIGNATION FOR APPROXIMATELY
545.54 ACRES OF CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS; AND
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE

Other Business
City Planner Report
Board Comments

Adjournment

RECORD REQUIRED TO APPEAL: In accordance with Florida Statute 286.0105 if you should decide to appeal any
decision the Commission makes about any matter at this meeting, you will need a record of the proceedings. You
are responsible for providing this record. You may hire a court reporter to make a verbatim transcript. The City is
not responsible for any mechanical failure of the recording equipment. In accordance with the Americans with
Disabilities Act, persons needing assistance to participate in any of these proceedings should contact the City Clerk
at (386) 517-2000 ext 233 at least 72 hours prior to the meeting. The City Commission reserves the right to request
that all written material be on file with the City Clerk when the agenda item is submitted.

Page 2 of 391



Planning & Architectural Review Board
Regular Meeting Minutes

Tuesday, September 2, 2025 at 5:30 PM ) CW

City Commission Chambers — 105 S. 2ND Street, Flagler Beach,
FL 32136

Call the meeting to order

Chair Suzie Johnston called the meeting to order at 5:30 p.m.

Pledge of Allegiance

Chair Suzie Johnston led the Pledge of Allegiance.

Roll Call / Determination of Quorum

Present: Barbara Revels, Scott Chappuis, Suzie Johnston, Lisa Smith, Boudie Estberg

Absent: Paul Mykytka, Joann Soman

Staff Present: Acting City Attorney Holli New o.b.o. City Attorney Drew Smith, City Planner Lupita
McClenning, City Engineer Bill Freeman and Secretary Michele Ficocello

Approve Minutes

a. August 5, 2025 Meeting Minutes

A motion to approve the meeting minutes was made by Lisa Smith, seconded by Barbara
Revels. The motion carried unanimously.

Old Business

None
New Business

a. Application PVAR25-0003: Variance - Legacy Pointe Cottages, 2401 Leslie Street. Applicant
is requesting a variance related to Appendix A - Land Development Regulations, Article VIII,
Section. 8.05.08. The request is to maintain the 40-foot (40’) platted right-of-way (ROW) in
lieu of a 50-foot right-of-way (ROW) required by the City of Flagler Beach’s Standard
Construction Details Index R-2. Parcel ID No.: 11-12-31-0650-000D0-0050; FLUM: Medium
Density Residential (MDR); Zoning District: General Commercial (GC); Owner: ALT Homes
LLC, T.J. McNitt - 3371 N State St, Unit 1, Bunnell, FL 32110; Applicant: ALT Homes LLC, Katie
Crooke, Representative - 3371 N State St, Unit 1, Bunnell, FL 32110.

Page 3 of 391



Acting City Attorney Holli New presented the item and provided a brief overview. City
Engineer Bill Freeman stated the development would have two points of access. Leslie
Street being an existing paved road with a 40’ right-of-way and Joyce Street which is
currently an unimproved road. As part of the final site plan approval, the developers are
improving Joyce Street and seeking a variance from the City’s Standard Construction Details
requiring a 50’ right-of-way and instead allowing for a 40’ right-of-way. Joyce Street is
currently a two-way street, but the development is designed for traffic to enter on Leslie
Street and exit on Joyce Street. The representative for the applicant, Katie Crooke, was
present and spoke before the Board. Board discussion ensued and included standards for
older platted developments, direction of traffic through Joyce Street, improvements to Joyce
Street, approval status of the development, history of the project, the attempts to obtain
easements to meet current standards and square footage of units. PAR Board Member Paul
Mykytka provided written comments prior to the meeting (attached to the minutes). Public
comment was opened. Karen Parker Bradely spoke before the Board related to supporting
the project and the reason why the Parker Family denied agreeing to the easement on their
property related to a new septic system. Brandy Parker spoke before the Board related to
why the City could not secure the easement from CVS. Public comment was closed.

Lisa Smith made a motion to recommend approval of item 6a.; Barbara Revels seconded.
Motion passed unanimously after a roll call vote.

ORDINANCE NO. 2025-16: AN ORDINANCE BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF
FLAGLER BEACH, FLORIDA, AMENDING ARTICLE VI OF THE LAND DEVELOPMENT
REGULATIONS RELATED TO SUBDIVISIONS AND PLATTING IN ORDER TO CONFORM TO
FLORIDA STATE LAW AMENDMENTS REQUIRING ADMINISTRATIVE APPROVAL OF PLATS;
PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS AND SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE

Acting City Attorney Holli New presented the item. Attorney New stated this Ordinance is to
comply with State Law. Board discussion ensued and included clarification on the change
from legislative to administrative authority and how the final plat approval process will
function administratively. Public comment was opened. R.J. Santore, 618 Cumberland
Drive, spoke before the Board related to the platting process and suggested safeguards be
put in place including a Formal Conformance Review Step by having the City Engineer publish
a short report or (preferably) a checklist confirming that the plat matches the approved final
plan in all material ways before signing it. This would be part of the administrative process
we already have not an added layer of regulation and Public Posting of Plats by posting
proposed plats on the City's website for public viewing at least a week before they are
signed. This doesn't delay approval; it simply provides public awareness. Public comment
was closed. Discussion ensued related to Mr. Santore’s suggested safeguards. Attorney
New stated she would discuss further with the City Attorney Drew Smith on how the
safeguards could be incorporated.

Barbara Revels made a motion to recommend approval of item 6b. with the condition of
including Mr. Santore’s suggested Formal Conformance Review Step and Public Posting of
Plats incorporated into the administrative process; Scott Chappuis seconded. Motion passed
unanimously after a roll call vote.

Page 4 of 391



¢c.  ORDINANCE NO. 2025-17: AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF FLAGLER BEACH, FLORIDA,
AMENDING THE CODE OF ORDINANCES RELATED TO SIGNS; AMENDING THE METHOD OF
CALCULATION COPY AREA OF WINDOW SIGNS; CLARIFYING PROVISIONS RELATED TO EVENT
SIGNAGE IN PUBLIC PARKS; PROVIDING ALLOWANCE FOR CERTAIN EVENT SIGNAGE IN CITY
RIGHTS-OF-WAY; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; AND
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE.

Acting City Attorney Holli New presented the item. Board discussion ensued and included
the history of the proposed ordinance and the purpose, signage related to Special Event
Permits, enforcement of proposed ordinance, first amendment and freedom of speech
related to signage and safety concerns related to signage. PAR Board Member Paul Mykytka
provided written comments prior to the meeting (attached to the minutes). Public comment
was opened. Brandy Parker spoke before the Board related to the Flagler Beach Farmers
Market signage. Public comment was closed. Discussion ensued related to the Farmers
Market signage.

Lisa Smith made a motion to recommend approval of item 6c.; Scott Chappuis seconded.

Motion passed unanimously after a roll call vote.

d. FIRSTAMENDMENT TO THE INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT FOR PUBLIC SCHOOL FACILITY
PLANNING

City Planner Lupita McClenning presented the item and a brief overview outlining the
changes. No public comments were received.

Barbara Revels made a motion to recommend approval of item 6d.; Scott Chappuis
seconded. Motion passed unanimously.

7. Other Business
None

8. City Planner Report

City Planner Lupita McClenning provided a status update on the Mobility Study and reported an
upcoming meeting in October.

9. Board Comments

None

10 Adjournment

Page 5 of 391



A motion to adjourn the meeting was made by Lisa Smith, seconded by Boudie Estberg. The motion
carried unanimously. Chair Johnston adjourned the meeting at 6:10pm.

COMMENTS (IN RED) SUEMITTED BY PAUL MYKYTKA

6. New Business

a. Application PVAR25-0003: Variance - Legacy Pointe Cottages, 2401 Leslie Street. Applicant is requesting a variance related to
Appendix A - Land Development Regulations, Article VIII, Section. 8.05.08. The request is to maintain the 40-foot (40°) platted rightof-
way (ROW) in lieu of a 50-foot right-of-way (ROW) required by the City of Flagler Beach's Standard Construction Details Index R-2
Parcel ID No.: 11-12-31-0650-000D0-0050
FLUM: Medium Density Residential (MDR)
Zoning District: General Commercial (GC)
Owner: ALT Homes LLC, T.J. McNitt - 3371 N State 5t, Unit 1, Bunnell, FL 32110
Applicant: ALT Homes LLC , Katie Crooke, Representative - 3371 N State St, Unit 1, Bunnell, FL 32110

| support this. It maintains the existing right-of-way width and sounds like the owner has tried to acquire the additional right-of-
way, but has been unsuccessful.

b. ORDINANCE NO. 2025-16: AN ORDINANCE BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF FLAGLER BEACH, FLORIDA, AMENDING ARTICLE
VI OF THE LAND DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS RELATED TO SUBDIVISIONS AND PLATTING IN ORDER TO CONFORM TO FLORIDA STATE
LAW AMENDMENTS REQUIRING ADMINISTRATIVE APPROVAL OF PLATS; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS AND SEVERABILITY; AND
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE

No comments.

. ORDINANCE NO. 2025-17: AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF FLAGLER BEACH, FLORIDA, AMENDING THE CODE OF ORDINANCES
RELATED TO 5IGNS; AMENDING THE METHOD OF CALCULATION COPY AREA OF WINDOW SIGNS; CLARIFYING PROVISIONS RELATED
TO EVENT SIGNAGE IN PUBLIC PARKS; PROVIDING ALLOWANCE FOR CERTAIN EVENT SIGNAGE IN CITY RIGHTS-OF-WAY; PROVIDING
FOR CONFLICTS; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE

Sounds reasonable to me. This allows a business like a yoga studio to cover the windows for privacy but not have lettering or
images all over it. Also, the temp signage for city permitted events is a good idea, especially for the farmer’s market.

d. FIRST AMENDMENT TO THE INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT FOR PUBLIC SCHOOL FACILITY PLANNING

No comments.

Page 6 of 391



Staff Report

Planning & Architectural Review Board Regular

. “TCENTENNIAL
Meeting e
October 7, 2025
To: Planning & Architectural Review Board
From: Lupita McClenning, Planner
Meeting Date: October 7, 2025
Item Name: PAN25-0001 Ordinance 2025-21 (Veranda Bay): AN ORDINANCE OF

THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF FLAGLER BEACH, FLORIDA, TO
ANNEX PROPERTY TO BE INCLUDED WITHIN CITY LIMITS OF THE CITY
OF FLAGLER BEACH; PROVIDING FOR THE ANNEXATION OF
APPROXIMATELY 210.70 ACRES OF PROPERTY; PROVIDING FOR
ANNEXATION IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE VOLUNTARY ANNEXATION
PROVISIONS OF SECTION 171.044, FLORIDA STATUTES; PROVIDING
FOR ANNEXATION OF REAL PROPERTY/AMENDMENT OF
CORPORATE/CITY LIMITS; PROVIDING FOR RIGHTS AND PRIVILEGES
RESULTING FROM ANNEXATION UPON LAND USES; PROVIDING FOR
EFFECT ON A VALOREM TAXES; PROVIDING FOR EFFECT ON
BUSINESSES AND OCCUPATIONS; PROVIDING FOR EFFECT ON
BUSINESSES AND OCCUPATIONS; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS,
SEVERABILITY AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE.

Background:

The applicant desires to annex approximately +/- 210 acres into the City of Flagler Beach
recognizing that the Annexed Property is intended to be developed as a mixed-use
development consistent with approvals. Under Section 171.044(1), Florida Statutes, property
sought to be annexed is reasonably compact, contiguous, and satisfies all requirements for
voluntary annexation set forth in Chapter 171, Florida Statutes.

Fiscal Impact:
N/A

Staff Recommendation:

Staff recommends the Planning and Architectural Review Board find the Pre-Annexation and
Annexation Ordinance 2025-21 meets Ch 171 statutory requirements, is consistent with the
City’s Comprehensive Plan, and consistent with SB 180; and to forward to the City Commission
with the recommendation that the City Commission approve Pre-Annexation Agreement and
Annexation Ordinance 2025-21 as it meets statutory requirements of Ch 171, and is consistent

Page 7 of 391



with the City’s Comprehensive Plan and is consistent with SB 180.

Attachments:

1. Staff Report_Veranda Bay_Pre-Annexation_Final10022025

2. Veranda Bay_Updated 10062025 Item 6a Staff Report PAN 25-001 Ordinance 2025-21
Voluntary Annexation Veranda Bay_Add Map_

3. Ordinance Annexation VB_FINAL DRAFT

4, Veranda Bay Pre-Annexation Agreement_FB_Edits_MC3 comments_FINAL

5. VB_Application Annexation w ex

Page 8 of 391



To: Planning Architectural Review Board

From: Lupita McClenning, City Planner

RE: Staff Memo | Pre-Annexation Agreement Veranda Bay | Ordinance 2025-21
Date: September 29, 2025

In Florida, a pre-annexation agreement is a contract between a municipality and property
owner(s) or developer in an adjacent unincorporated area. The agreement sets the terms and
conditions under which the property is to be developed and subsequently annexed into the city.
A pre-annexation agreement in Florida is a legally binding contract that outlines the terms for
annexation, typically including the geographic area, future land use, provision of public services,
and financing plans for the annexed area, before the actual annexation takes place.

Key components of a pre-annexation agreement

Pre-annexation agreements are primarily used for voluntary annexations initiated by a property
owner. The agreements define the following terms:

e Futureland use and zoning: A city may adopt zoning for an area it plans to annex to ensure
a smooth transition and consistent development standards.

e Provision of urban services: The annexing municipality is required to provide the new area
with urban services, including water, sewer, police, and fire protection, on substantially
the same basis as the rest of the city.

¢ Financial obligations: The agreement can outline the method for financing the extension
of services, including water and sewer mains, into the annexed area.

e Development standards: It can specify the terms of development, such as the maximum
number of dwelling units or square footage for specific land uses.

Florida statute
The process for annexation is primarily governed by Chapter 171, Florida Statutes. Key provisions
related to pre-annexation agreements include:

e Comprehensive plan consistency:
Any land use or zoning terms in a pre-annexation agreement must be consistent with the
city's comprehensive plan. Florida's Local Government Comprehensive Planning and Land
Development Regulation Act requires all land use decisions to align with the plan.

e Procedural requirements:
Pre-annexation Agreements must follow the notice and hearing requirements outlined in
Chapter 171 of the Florida Statutes.

¢ Valid conditional zoning
To be legally enforceable, a pre-annexation agreement must use a legitimate form of
"conditional zoning," where the developer makes a unilateral promise to the city.

Staff Report| Pre-Annexation Agreement | Veranda Bay Ordinance 2025-21

Page 9 of 391



Examples of valid provisions:

e Voluntary restrictions: The developer can propose to use the property under a set of self-
imposed restrictions that are more stringent than the city's general zoning code. The city
can then approve the rezoning based on its determination that this restricted use is in the
public interest.

e Restrictive covenants: The agreement can legally incorporate restrictive covenants—
private, enforceable promises tied to the property's deed—as part of the annexation and
zoning process. This provides assurance that future development will meet certain
standards.

Statutes impose other limits on what can be negotiated in a pre-annexation agreement.

e A municipality cannot use a pre-annexation agreement to shirk its statutory duty to
provide urban services to the annexed area. The agreement must include a plan for
extending major services like water, sewer, police, and fire protection on substantially the
same basis as the rest of the city.

e The municipality cannot force the newly annexed property to finance the full cost of
extending major trunk water and sewer lines, though it can set a timetable for their
construction.

Senate Bill 180
Senate Bill 180 (2025) became law Florida June 2025. The law limits the ability of local
governments to enact moratoriums, restrict development, or impose burdensome procedures
for new construction and reconstruction within a specific radius of hurricanes after a federal
disaster declaration.
¢ In accordance with Senate Bill 180, the City discloses that the Developer has proposed
and can propose Voluntary restrictions and to use the property under a set of self-
imposed restrictions that are more stringent than the city's general zoning code. The city
can then approve the rezoning based on its determination that this restricted use is in the
public interest.
e Restrictive covenants: The agreement can legally incorporate restrictive covenants—
private, enforceable promises tied to the property's deed—as part of the annexation and
zoning process as assurance development will meet standards.

Planning Architectural Review Board
The City Commission will act on the Pre-Annexation Agreement(s) and Annexation Ordinance(s).
Forthcoming for review and considerations are staff report/findings for:

(2) Future Land Use Map Amendment(s);
(2) Site Specific Policy Text Amendment(s), and
(2) Master Planned Development Agreements(s); and

(6) Developer’s Application(s), Agreements, Maps, and Exhibits.

Page 10 of 391



Staff Finding:

Applicant: Michael D. Chiumento, Esq.

Site Location: East side of John Anderson Highway & South of SR 100

Total Acreage: 211 +/- acres

Veranda Bay is a voluntary annexation; in accordance with Ch 171 F.S. notice and hearing
requirements have been met and will be met up through adoption.

A feasibility study for the proposed annexation has been completed which includes maps,
description of general land use patterns, and demonstrates the City’s ability to provide municipal
services, including water and sewer services. Excerpt Feasibility Study Section 10, MPDA.

Demand on Potable Water / Capacity Analysis

TOTAL RESIDENTIAL

EXISTING POTABLE
WATER DEMAND

Flagler Beach, FL
The residential potable water
demand is estimated by multiplying
the existing population served by 125

gallons per capita per day (GPCD)

Existing potable water
demand = population served
*125 GPCD

City of FB Population served =
3,576 units * 2.08 persons per
unit = 7,438 GPCD

Existing Potable Water
Demand = 7,438 persons * 125
GPCD

PROPOSED POTABLE
WATER DEMAND
Veranda Bay

The residential proposed water
demand is estimated by multiplying
the proposed population by 125
gallons per capita per day (GPCD).

- Proposed potable water
demand = population served *

125 GPCD
- Population= 2,735 377 units *
2.08 persons per unit = 784

- Proposed potable water
demand = 784 persons *125
GPCD

- Proposed potable water

POTABLE WATER DEMAND
Flagler Beach + Veranda

Bay = City Prope r
Total Existing +  Proposed
Potable Water Demand

Total projected potable
water demand = total
population served * 125GPCD

Total Projected Potable
Water Demand = 8,222
persons * 125 GPCD

Total Projected Potable
Water Demand = 1,027,770
GPD

Existing Potable Water
Demand =929,750 GPD

demand = 98,020 GPD

Figure 1 Excerpt Potable Water Demand and City Ability to Meet Demand

Staff Recommendation
The Pre-Annexation Agreement and Annexation Ordinance 2025-21 meet Ch 171 statutory
requirements, and consistent with the City’s Comprehensive Plan.

Staff recommends the Planning and Architectural Review Board find the Pre-Annexation and
Annexation Ordinance 2025-21 meets Ch 171 statutory requirements, is consistent with the
City’s Comprehensive Plan, and consistent with SB 180; and to forward to the City Commission
with the recommendation the City Commission approve Pre-Annexation Agreement and
Annexation Ordinance 2025-21 as it meets statutory requirements of Ch 171, and is consistent
with the City’s Comprehensive Plan and is consistent with SB 180.

Staff Report| Pre-Annexation Agreement | Veranda Bay Ordinance 2025-21

Page 11 of 391



e E A G

Source: Flagler County GIS Map 1 Annexation Veranda Bay & Summertow.

Page 12 of 391



Updated 10/06/2025 Item 6a| Lupita McClenning

City of Flagler Beach
Planning & Zoning Department
P.O. Box 70 * 800 S Daytona Ave.

Flagler Beach, FL 32136
www.cityoftlaglerbeach.com

To: Planning and Architectural Review Board
From: Lupita McClenning, City Planner

Re: Staff Report Voluntary Annexation
Application No. PAN 25-0001
Ordinance 2025-21

Date: October 2, 2025

Applicant: Michael D. Chiumento, Esq.

East of John Anderson Highway &
Site Location: South of SR 100

+/- 211 Acres
Total Acreage:

In accordance with Florida Statutes 177, applicant filed a petition to voluntarily annex +/-
211 acres into the City of Flagler Beach. The subject property is located south of State Road
(SR) 100, on the east side of John Anderson Highway in unincorporated Flagler County.

The proposed annexation meets the criteria set forth in Subsection 171.044, Florida Statutes
regarding the character of the area to be annexed, as the property sought to be annexed is
reasonably compact and contiguous to the City's boundary.

The required notice(s) of the annexation published once each week for 2 consecutive weeks
in the local newspaper. The notice gave the ordinance number and a brief, general
description of the subject property.

The City is taking action to expand the capacity of its potable water, wastewater and reuse
and represents those facilities shall be in place and available to serve new development no
later than the issuance by the City of Flagler Beach of a certificate of occupancy or its
functional equivalent. See Exhibit C.

Additionally, the City of Flagler Beach currently provides water, wastewater; and through a
mutual aid agreement provides police and fire services to nearby parcels in unincorporated
Flagler which eliminates problems that could arise from service delivery to these areas.

In addition to the Florida Statutes 177, the proposed annexation is consistent with the goals
and policies of the City's Comprehensive Plan, specifically Policy A.1.4.1 which states that the
City shall investigate opportunities for annexation of commercial and value-added
properties.

Page 13 of 391


http://www.cityoftlaglerbeach.com/

Updated 10/06/2025 Item 6a| Lupita McClenning

RECOMMENDATION

Based on the findings stated above, the petition for annexation meets requirements for a
voluntary annexation and recommends the PARB recommend to the City Commission that
the subject property be included within the corporate area and City limits of Flagler Beach.

Page 14 of 391



ORDINANCE 2025-21
ANNEXATION OF VERANDA BAY - APPLICATION NO. PAN25-0001

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF
FLAGLER BEACH, FLORIDA, TO ANNEX PROPERTY TO BE
INCLUDED WITHIN THE CORPORATE AREA AND CITY LIMITS OF
THE CITY OF FLAGLER BEACH; PROVIDING FOR THE
ANNEXATION OF APPROXIMATELY 210.70 ACRES OF PROPERTY
DESCRIBED IN EXHIBIT “A” TO THIS ORDINANCE AND LYING IN
THE AREAS PROXIMATE TO THE EXISTING CITY LIMITS OF THE
CITY OF FLAGLER BEACH, FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA;
PROVIDING FOR ANNEXATION IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE
VOLUNTARY ANNEXATION PROVISIONS OF SECTION 171.044,
FLORIDA STATUTES; PROVIDING FOR ANNEXATION OF REAL
PROPERTY/AMENDMENT OF CORPORATE/CITY LIMITS;
PROVIDING FOR RIGHTS AND PRIVILEGES RESULTING FROM
ANNEXATION UPON LAND USES; PROVIDING FOR EFFECT ON A
VALOREM TAXES; PROVIDING FOR EFFECT ON BUSINESSES AND
OCCUPATIONS; PROVIDING FOR EFFECT ON BUSINESSES AND
OCCUPATIONS; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS, SEVERABILITY AND
AN EFFECTIVE DATE

WHEREAS, a Petition for Annexation has been filed with the City Clerk of the City of
Flagler Beach, Florida, which petition contains the names of the property owners of the area
described in this Ordinance in Exhibit “A” and depicted in Exhibit “B”, and requests annexation
into the incorporated area and City Limits of the City of Flagler Beach, Florida; and

WHEREAS, the City’s staff has certified that the property owners have signed the petition
for Annexation; and

WHEREAS, the City Commission hereby finds that the property described hereinafter is
reasonably compact and contiguous to the corporate areas of the City of Flagler Beach, Florida,
and it is further determined that the annexation of said property will not result in the creation of
any enclaves, and it is further determined that the property otherwise fully complies with the
requirements of State law; and

WHEREAS, the City of Flagler Beach, Florida, is in a position to provide municipal
services to the property described herein, and the City Commission of the City of Flagler Beach,
Florida, deems it in the best interest of the City to accept said Petition for Annexation and to annex

said property; and

Page 15 of 391



WHEREAS, pursuant to, and in compliance with the law, notice has been given by
publication once a week for two consecutive weeks in a newspaper of general circulation notifying
the public of this proposed Ordinance and of public hearings to be held at City Hall in the City of
Flagler Beach, see the affidavit of publication, attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibit
“C”; and

WHEREAS, the provisions of this ordinance and the actions taken herein are consistent
with the City’s Comprehensive Plan and State law; and

WHEREAS, public hearings were held pursuant to the requirements of State law and in
conformity with the published notice described above at which hearings the parties in interest and
all others had an opportunity to be, and were in fact, heard; and

WHEREAS, it is the City’s best interest to annex property which provides economic and
other benefits to the City wherever possible.

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED BY THE CITY OF FLAGLER
BEACH, FLORIDA:

SECTION 1. LEGISLATIVE AND ADMINISTRATIVE FINDINGS.

(a) The property that is the subject of this Ordinance and the Petition for Annexation
is described in Exhibit “A” and depicted in Exhibit “B” in Section 2 of this Ordinance.

(b) The above recitals (whereas clauses) are hereby adopted as the legislative and
administrative findings of the City Commission of the City of Flagler Beach. The City
Commission of the City of Flagler Beach finds and determines that there is competent substantial
evidence to support the findings and determinations made in this Section.

(c) The City Commission of the City of Flagler Beach adopts as legislative and
administrative findings the fact that the land area described in Section 2 of this Ordinance
(hereinafter referred to as the “Area”) is reasonably compact and contiguous to the present
Corporate limits of the City of Flagler Beach, and that no part of the Area is within the boundary
of another municipality or the County in any manner or configuration that would contravene the
provisions of Florida law or be contrary to sound and generally accepted land use planning

practices and principles. The City Commission of the City of Flagler Beach finds that the

Page 16 of 391



annexation of the Area does not create and enclave and that the Area otherwise fully meets the
criteria established in Chapter 171, Florida Statutes.

(d) The City Commission of the City of Flagler Beach has applied the laws of the State
of Florida, Chapter 171, Florida Statutes, as well as the case law analyzing, construing and
applying said statutory provisions, and the legislative intent pertaining to said statutory provisions
as set forth in legislative reports. Further in compliance with Section 171.044, Florida Statutes,
the City of Flagler Beach published the notice of annexation in the Daytona Beach News Journal
once each week for two consecutive weeks as evidenced by the affidavit of publication attached
hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibit “C”.

(e) The City Commission of the City of Flagler Beach finds and determines that there
is competent substantial evidence to support the findings and determinations made in this Section
and that no other action of the City is required to fully implement an annexation of the Area as set

forth herein.

SECTION 2. ANNEXATION OF PROPERTY/AMENDMENT OF
CORPORATE/CITY LIMITS. The lands described in Exhibit “A” and shown on the map in
Exhibit “B” attached hereto (“Area”) be and they are hereby annexed to and included within the

corporate limits of the City of Flagler Beach, Florida.

SECTION 3. RIGHTS AND  PRIVILEGES RESULTING FROM
ANNEXATION/EFFECT OF ANNEXATION UPON LAND USES.

(a) Upon this Ordinance becoming effective, the property owner shall be entitled to all
the rights and privileges and immunities as are form time to time granted to property owners of
the City of Flagler Beach, Florida, as further provided in Chapter 171, Florida Statutes, and shall
further be subject to the responsibilities of ownership as may from time to time be determined by
the City Commission of the City of Flagler Beach, Florida, and the provisions of Chapter 171,
Florida Statutes.

(b) Upon annexation, the Area shall retain the zoning classification established by the
Land Development Code of Flagler County, the land development approvals granted by Flagler
County, and a land use designation as assigned by the Flagler County Comprehensive Plan in

accordance with the provisions of Section 171.062, Florida Statutes, until otherwise changed or

Page 17 of 391



amended by an appropriate ordinance or by a number of ordinances as may be enacted by the City

Commission of the City of Flagler Beach, Florida.

SECTION 4. EFFECT ON AD VALOREM TAXES. All property lying within the

boundaries of the Corporate/City Limits of the City of Flagler Beach, Florida as hereby revised,

shall hereafter be assessed for payment of municipal ad valorem taxes pursuant to law.

SECTION 5. EFFECTIVE ON BUSINESSES AND OCCUPATIONS. All persons

who are lawfully engaged in any occupation, business, trade or profession, within the Area upon
the effective date of this Ordinance, under a valid license or permit issued by Flagler County,
Florida, shall have the right to continue such occupation, business, trade or profession within the
corporate limits of the City of Flagler Beach, as revised, upon the securing of a valid business tax
receipt from the City of Flagler Beach, which receipt shall be issued upon payment of the
appropriate fee there, without the necessity of taking or passing any additional examination or test

relating to the qualifications of such licenses.

SECTION 6. CONFLICTS. All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with this

Ordinance are hereby repealed.

SECTION 7. SEVERABILITY. It is hereby declared to be the intention of the City

Commission that the sections, paragraphs, sentences, clauses and phrases of this Ordinance are
servable, and if any phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph or section of this Ordinance shall be
declared unconstitutional by the valid judgment or decree of a court of competent jurisdiction,
such constitutionality shall not affect any of the remaining phrases, clauses, sentences, paragraphs

and sections of this Ordinance.

SECTION 8. EFFECTIVE DATE. This Ordinance shall become effective immediately

upon adoption by the City Commission of the City of Flagler Beach, Florida, and pursuant to the
City Charter.

APPROVED on First Reading the day of , 2025.

Page 18 of 391



ADOPTED on Second Reading after due public notice and public hearing this day
of 2025.

ATTEST: CITY OF FLAGLER BEACH, FLORIDA
CITY COMMISSION
CITY CLERK Patti King, Mayor

APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGALITY:

DREW SMITH, CITY ATTORNEY

Attachments: Exhibit “A” — Legal Description of Annexation Area
Exhibit “B” — Depiction of Annexation Area
Exhibit “C” — Affidavit of Publication

Page 19 of 391



EXHIBIT “A”

PART OF PHASE 1-A AND 2-A VERANDA BAY AND PART OF SECTION 38 , TOWNSHIP
12 SOUTH, RANGE 31 EAST, FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA,

A PART OF VERANDA BAY PHASE 1A AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 40, PAGES 59
THROUGH 64 OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA TOGETHER
WITH A PART OF VERANDA BAY PHASE 2A AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 40, PAGES
65 THROUGH 70 OF SAID PUBLIC RECORDS ALSO TOGETHER WITH A PART OF OF
SECTION 38, TOWNSHIP 12 SOUTH, RANGE 31 EAST, FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA,
AND BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: FOR A POINT OF
BEGINNING, COMMENCE AT THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF TRACT 1A-4 OF SAID
VERANDA BAY PHASE 1A; THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE WESTERLY LINES OF
SAID TRACT 1A-4 THE FOLLOWING TWELVE COURSES: THENCE NORTH 18°15°20”
WEST, A DISTANCE OF 260.49 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 71°44°40” WEST, A DISTANCE
OF 140.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 18°15°20” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 20.00 FEET;
THENCE NORTH 71°44°40” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 140.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH
18°15°20” WEST, A DISTANCE 960.00 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 71°44°40” WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 140.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 18°15°20” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 20.00
FEET; THENCE NORTH 71°44°40” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 140.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH
18°15°20” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 244.38 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 78°03°28” WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 137.96 FEET TO A POINT ON A CURVE OF A CURVE CONCAVE TO THE
EAST AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 475.00 FEET AND A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 10°47°207;
THENCE NORTHEASTERLY ALONG SAID CURVE AN ARC DISTANCE OF 89.44 FEET
AND BEING SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF NORTH 06°32°52” WEST; AND
CHORD DISTANCE OF 89.31 FEET TO A POINT ON SAID CURVE; THENCE NORTH
86°59°44” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 140.07 FEET; THENCE NORTH 01°09°12” WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 568.36 FEET; THENCE NORTH 88°50°48” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 63.62
FEET; THENCE NORTH 01°07°10” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 161.55 FEET; THENCE
NORTH 88°54°24” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 176.36 FEET; THENCE NORTH 11°52°10” EAST
ALONG A WESTERLY LINE OF TRACT 1A-5 OF SAID VERANDA BAY PHASE 1A, A
DISTANCE OF 25.29 FEET; THENCE NORTH 13°13'08" EAST CONTINUING ALONG A
WESTERLY LINE OF SAID TRACT, A DISTANCE OF 0.37 FEET; TO THE INTERSECTION
WITH THE NORTH LINE OF SAID TRACT OF 1A-5; THENCE NORTH 88°54°24” EAST,
ALONG SAID NORTHERLY LINE OF TRACT 1A-5 AND CONTINUING ALONG THE
NORTHERLY LINE OF SAID VERANDA BAY PHASE 1A, A DISTANCE OF 1304.54 FEET
TO THE POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF FLORIDA INTRACOASTAL
WATERWAY AND THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF VERANDA BAY PHASE 1A ;
THENCE ALONG SAID WEST RIGHT OF WAY LINE AND THE EASTERLY LINE OF
SAID VERANDA BAY PHASE 1A, SOUTH 13°58°25” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 1950.55
FEET TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID VERANDA BAY PHASE 1A AND ALSO

Page 20 of 391



TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF SAID VERANDA BAY PHASE 2A; THENCE
CONTINUE SOUTH 13°58°25” EAST ALONG SAID RIGHT OF WAY LINE AND ALONG
THE EASTERLY LINE OF SAID VERANDA BAY PHASE 2A, A DISTANCE OF 799.39
FEET, THENCE SOUTH 21°17°55” EAST, CONTINUING ALONG SAID RIGHT OF WAY
LINE AND EASTERLY LINE, A DISTANCE OF 1265.37 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 03°54°39”
WEST ALONG SAID EASTERLY LINE, A DISTANCE OF 90.51 FEET TO THE
SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID VERANDA BAY PHASE 2A; THENCE CONTINUE
SOUTH 03°54°39” WEST, ALONG A WESTERLY LINE OF THE HISTORIC CHANNEL OF
HAW LOVERS CREEK, A DISTANCE OF 57.72 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 19°27°17” EAST,
A DISTANCE OF 644.30 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 68°58°11” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 113.95
FEET TO A POINT ON SAID INTRACOASTAL RIGHT OF WAY, THENCE SOUTH
21°17°55” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 338.95 FEET TO THE NORTHERLY LINE OF TRACT
“PL-3” OF GARDENS AT HAMMOCK BEACH AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 35, PAGES
80 THROUGH ; THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID NORTHERLY LINE THE
FOLLOWING FIVE COURSES: SOUTH 69°58°00” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 666.02 FEET;
THENCE SOUTH 20°00°08” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 243.62 FEET; THENCE SOUTH
69°00°06” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 512.95 FEET TO THE POINT OF CURVE OF A CURVE
CONCAVE NORTHERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 475.00 FEET AND AN ARC
DISTANCE OF 298.48 FEET AND SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH
86°59°57” WEST AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 293.59 FEET TO THE POINT OF
TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE; THENCE NORTH 75°04°31” WEST, A DISTANCE OF
102.42 FEET; THENCE NORTH 43°30°12” WEST, DEPARTING FROM SAID NORTHERLY
LINE, A DISTANCE OF 153.12 FEET TO A POINT ON THE MOST SOUTH POINT OF SAID
VERANDA BAY PHASE 2A; THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE WEST LINES OF SAID
VERANDA BAY PHASE 2A THE FOLLOWING NINE COURSES: THENCE NORTH
32°58°38” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 357.54; THENCE NORTH 12°24°49” WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 43.38 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 71°49°46”> WEST, A DISTANCE OF 68.04
FEET; THENCE NORTH 18°10°14” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 152.62 FEET; THENCE
NORTH 16°36°36” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 82.23 FEET; THENCE NORTH 73°23°24” WEST,
A DISTANCE OF 139.49 FEET TO A POINT ON A CURVE OF A CURVE CONCAVE TO
THE SOUTHEAST AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 25.00 FEET AND A CENTRAL ANGLE
OF 11°32°10”; THENCE SOUTHWESTERLY ALONG SAID CURVE AN ARC DISTANCE
OF 5.03 FEET AND SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH 22°22°42” WEST
AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 5.03 FEET TO A POINT ON SAID CURVE; THENCE
NORTH 73°23°24” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 50.00 FEET TO A POINT ON A CURVE OF A
CURVE CONCAVE TO THE WEST AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 25.00 FEET AND A
CENTRAL ANGLE OF 11°32°13”; THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG SAID CURVE AN ARC
DISTANCE OF 5.03 AND SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF NORTH 10°50°29”
EAST AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 5.03 FEET TO A POINT ON SAID CURVE; THENCE
NORTH 21°20°50” WEST, DEPARTING FROM SAID WESTERLY LINE, A DISTANCE OF

Page 21 of 391



114.14 FEET TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF TRACT 2A-11 OF SAID VERANDA BAY
PHASE 2A; THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE WESTERLY LINES OF SAID TRACT 2A-
11 AND ALSO THE WESTERLY LINES OF SAID VERANDA BAY PHASE 2A THE
FOLLOWING THIRTEEN COURSES: THENCE NORTH 16°36'36" EAST, A DISTANCE OF
18.72 FEET TO A POINT ON A CURVE OF A CURVE CONCAVE WESTERLY AND
HAVING A RADIUS OF 365.00 FEET AND A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 34°46°’50”; THENCE
NORTHERLY ALONG SAID CURVE AN ARC DISTANCE OF 221.57 FEET AND
SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF NORTH 00°46°49” WEST AND A CHORD
DISTANCE OF 218.18 FEET TO THE POINT OF TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE; THENCE
NORTH 18°10°14” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 24.44 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 71°49°46” WEST,
A DISTANCE OF 140.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 18°10°14” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 20.00
FEET; THENCE NORTH 71°49°46” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 140.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH
18°10°14” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 935.73 FEET; THENCE NORTH 01°32°26” WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 384.95 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 88°27°34” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 140.00
FEET; THENCE NORTH 01°32°26” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 20.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH
88°27°34” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 140.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 01°32°26” WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 49.29 FEET; THENCE NORTH 18°10°14” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 809.39
FEET TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF SAID TRACT 2A-11; THENCE NORTH
06°57°26” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 101.95 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.
CONTAINING 210.7 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.

TOGETHER WITH
PROPERTIES OWNED BY VERANDA BAY INVESTMENTS, LLC

TRACT 2A-A OF THE SUBDIVISION PLAT OF VERANDA BAY PHASE 2A, AS
RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 40, PAGES 65 THROUGH 70, OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF
FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA. CONTAINING 22.64 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.

TOGETHER WITH:

A PART OF SECTION 38, TOWNSHIP 12 SOUTH, RANGE 31 EAST, FLAGLER COUNTY,
FLORIDA, AND BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: FOR A
POINT OF BEGINNING COMMENCE AT THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF TRACT 2A-4 OF
VERANDA BAY PHASE 2A AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 40, PAGES 65 THROUGH 70
OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF SAID COUNTY AND SAID CORNER ALSO LIES ON THE
WESTERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF THE FLORIDA INTRACOASTAL WATERWAY;
THENCE SOUTH 03°54°39” WEST, ALONG A WESTERLY LINE OF THE HISTORIC
CHANNEL OF HAW LOVERS CREEK, A DISTANCE OF 57.72 FEET; THENCE SOUTH
19°27°17” EAST CONTINUING ALONG SAID WESTERLY LINE, A DISTANCE OF 644.30
FEET; THENCE SOUTH 68°58°11” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 113.95 FEET TO A POINT ON
SAID FLORIDA INTRACOASTAL RIGHT OF WAY, THENCE SOUTH 21°17°55” EAST, A

Page 22 of 391



DISTANCE OF 338.95 FEET TO THE NORTHERLY LINE OF TRACT “PL-3” OF GARDENS
AT HAMMOCK BEACH AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 35, PAGES 80 THROUGH ;
THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID NORTHERLY LINE THE FOLLOWING FIVE
COURSES: SOUTH 69°58°00” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 666.02 FEET; THENCE SOUTH
20°00°08” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 243.62 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 69°00°06” WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 512.95 FEET TO THE POINT OF CURVE OF A CURVE CONCAVE
NORTHERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 475.00 FEET AND A CENTRAL ANGLE OF
36°00'11" AND AN ARC DISTANCE OF 298.48 FEET AND SUBTENDED BY A CHORD
BEARING OF SOUTH 86°59°57” WEST AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 293.59 FEET TO
THE POINT OF TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE; THENCE NORTH 75°04°31” WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 102.42 FEET; THENCE NORTH 43°30’12” WEST, DEPARTING FROM SAID
NORTHERLY LINE, A DISTANCE OF 153.12 FEET TO A POINT ON THE MOST SOUTH
POINT OF SAID VERANDA BAY PHASE 2A; THENCE NORTHESTERLY AND
EASTERLY ALONG THE EASTERLY AND SOUTHERLY LINES OF SAID VERANDA
BAY PHASE 2A THE FOLLOWING EIGHTEEN COURSES: THENCE NORTH 40°42°12”
EAST, A DISTANCE OF 202.16; THENCE NORTH 10°41°45” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 133.22
FEET; THENCE NORTH 24°30°13” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 127.26 FEET; THENCE
NORTH 69°22°08” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 232.49 FEET; THENCE NORTH 20°51°44”
WEST, A DISTANCE OF 115.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 69°22°08” EAST, A DISTANCE
OF 129.58 FEET TO A POINT ON A CURVE OF A CURVE CONCAVE TO THE
SOUTHWEST AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 25.00 FEET AND A CENTRAL ANGLE OF
11°10°11”; THENCE NORTHWESTERLY ALONG SAID CURVE AN ARC DISTANCE OF
4.87 FEET AND SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF NORTH 26°34°59” WEST AND
A CHORD DISTANCE OF 4.87 FEET TO A POINT ON SAID CURVE; THENCE NORTH
69°44°10” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 50.00 FEET TO A POINT ON A CURVE OF A CURVE
CONCAVE TO THE SOUTHEAST AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 25.00 FEET AND A
CENTRAL ANGLE OF 90°22°02”; THENCE NORTHEASTRLY ALONG SAID CURVE AN
ARC DISTANCE OF 39.43 AND SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF NORTH
24°11°07” EAST AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 35.47 FEET TO A POINT ON SAID CURVE;
THENCE NORTH 21°21°56” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 50.00 FEET TO A POINT ON A
CURVE OF A CURVE CONCAVE NORTHERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 25.00 FEET
AND A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 11°10°11”; THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID CURVE AN
ARC DISTANCE OF 4.87 FEET AND SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH
74°57°14” WEST AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 4.87 FEET TO A POINT ON SAID CURVE;
THENCE NORTH 20°59'54"WEST, A DISTANCE OF 822.65 FEET TO A POINT OF A
CURVE OF A CURVE CONCAVE SOUTHEASTERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 5.00
FEET AND A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 90°00°00”; THENCE NORTHEASTRLY ALONG SAID
CURVE AN ARC DISTANCE OF 7.85 FEET AND SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING
OF NORTH 24°00°06” EAST AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 7.07 FEET TO THE POINT OF
TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE; THENCE NORTH 69°00°06” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 503.11

Page 23 of 391



FEET; THENCE SOUTH 20°54°52” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 180.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH
69°00°06” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 85.08 FEET TO A POINT ON A CURVE OF A CURVE
CONCAVE NORTHEASTERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 65.00 FEET AND A
CENTRAL ANGLE OF 140°24°30”; THENCE SOUTHEASTERLY ALONG SAID CURVE AN
ARC DISTANCE OF 159.29 FEET AND SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH
41°16°28” EAST AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 122.32 FEET TO THE POINT OF
TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE ; THENCE NORTH 69°00°58” EAST, A DISTANCE OF
250.79 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. CONTAINING 35.44 ACRES, MORE OR
LESS.

TOGETHER WITH

TRACT 1A-A, PART OF TRACT 1A-1, TRACT 1A-4, TRACT 1A-6, TRACT 1A-9, TRACT
1A-10, PART OF TRACT 1A-11, AND PART OF TRACT 1A-12, TOGETHER WITH LOTS
43 THROUGH 98, ALL OF THE SUBDIVISION PLAT OF VERANDA BAY PHASE 1A, AS
RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 40, PAGES 59 THROUGH 64, OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF
FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA.

TOGETHER WITH:

TRACT 2A-B, PART OF TRACT 2A-1, TRACT 2A-2, TRACT 2A-3 AND TRACTS 2A-11,
TOGETHER WITH LOTS 1 THROUGH 42 AND LOTS 99 THROUGH 122, ALL OF THE
SUBDIVISION PLAT OF VERANDA BAY PHASE 2A, AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 40,
PAGES 65 THROUGH 70, OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA.

Page 24 of 391



EXHIBIT “B”

¢ 8 3
Leslie St o i =
]
5 E 5.0
Mariin Ln £ 3 Forest Rd
s Knox
E St 8
8
(4]
Ave A
Veranda Bay )
Jacksonville h
Annexation L
[Bewson: ETM, Fragior Ciariy, Exei, tomarrasg]| s
[ ] i 20 Annexation Boundary 0 1,000 2,000
=) Froject Pods Feet
= city of Flagler Beach City Limits S
Orlando E I I I I
14775 Oid 5t Augusine Acad, Jacksonile .=L'|:.|:|:| izz-;a
204,542 BESD W, etmged com www.elminc.com
TAZ0ZEI26-001 W3S \Production’Visranda Bay Map Sefileranda Sayiverand Say Comp Plan. o Date: THE2025

Page 25 of 391



EXHIBIT “C”

e ODSEIVEr

25-00353F You. Your Nelghbors. Your Neighborhood.
Palm CoastObserver.com
Palm Coast Observer
Published Weekly CITY OF FLAGLER BEACH
Palm Coast, Flagler County, Florida NOTICE OF PUBLIC
COUNTY OF FLAGLER HEARING
The Comssigdon proposss. io sdopt Ondinancs No. 3@s-11 Entithed
AN {CE OF THE CITY OCOMMISSION OF THE CITY
FLAGLER FLORIDA, TO ANNEX FROFERTY T0 BE I%-
CLUTDED WITHIN THE CORPORATE AREA AND CITY LIMITS
OF THE CITY [IF FLAGLER BEACH; FOR THE AN-
: DESCRIRED 0§ EXAIRIE A" 70 THIS ORDINANCY AND LYTNG
STATE OF FLORIDA wé&wm"mmmﬁm&
Before the undersigned authority personally appeared Nancy Kay mmwﬁ
Bavmond who on oath says that he/she is Publisher's Representative of the Palm PROFERTY OF CORFORATE/CITY LIMITS, Fio-
Coast Observer a weekly newspaper published at Palm Coast, Flagler County, NIDEATIGN URON LAND USES; FROVIDING FOR EFFECT ON A
Florida; that the attached copy of advertisement, AN DLCUPATONS, FROVIIING PO R TAL'L ON BL BINESSES
AND FROVIDENG FOR. EVERABIL-
) : TV AND AN DATE
being a Public Hearing e e kO iy e o e
wmsended and fr—

Bubjec
. amneation s mdalinbed in Chapier 171, Pluihauuﬂ.
in the matter of Ondinance 2025-21 PUBLIC HEARINGS ARE SCHEDULED TO DE HELD AT CITY HALL, 108
5. IND STREET, HLAGLIER BEACH, Fl.nn.ln\.nmu.m
FLANNING AND ARCIHITECTURAL KEVT

TOBER 7, 308 AT i Sami
in the Court, was published in said newspaper by print in the UST READING, {7V COMMISSION: TIHURSDAY, OCTOBER.; 3035 AT
n::nul.muanunnmnmmu BLE.
THUHRSDAY, ROVEMBNER 13,

SIS0
" mus:mrxuumﬁ:mmmnﬂmﬂi
issues of 9252025 ﬁuﬁnﬁm“hm
~ Affiant further says tha the Palm Coast Observer complies with all legal MW#Q
requirements for publication in chapter 50, Florida Statutes. %““ﬁtxm”
Spcibon LS 0105, Florids Statuics. In
*This Notice was placed on the newspaper's website and floridapublicnotices.com ot o e e el b st s
o o same day the notics appened in The Dywepeger. ke ko ot 361309 Bk, 300w 48 b s 1 i

Loestion Map

Sworn to and subscribed, and personally appeared by physical presence before me,
25th day of September, 2025 A.D.

by Mancy Kay Ra; is personally known to me.
- gf*"\ﬁ‘: l - e 25-sonsr
Notary Public, State of Florida
(SEAL)

,.9# U,

AR

woum. E:q:um

peeTL LI
E:
;:;r 5?
."'5- 5,5
'mmil*

DFF\-

Page 26 of 391



Return to:

City of Flagler Beach
City Clerk

105 2" Street

Flagler Beach, FL 32136

VERANDA BAY PRE-ANNEXATION AGREEMENT

THIS PRE-ANNEXATION AGREEMENT (“Agreement’) is made and entered into by
and between the City of Flagler Beach, a municipal corporation organized and existing under
the laws of the State of Florida (hereinafter referred to as the “City”), whose address is 105 South
2nd Street, Flagler Beach, Florida 32136, and Palm Coast Intracoastal, LLC, a Florida limited
liability company (“PCI”) whose address is 3129 Springbank Lane, Charlotte, North Carolina
28226, and Veranda Bay Investments, LL.C, a Florida limited liability company (“Veranda”)
whose address is 3129 Springbank Lane, Charlotte, North Carolina 28226 (hereinafter collectively
referred to as the “Owners”) this _ day of , 2025, (the “Effective Date”) and shall
automatically become null and void unless the events described in Section 12(C), below, have
occurred on or before the date set forth therein.

RECITALS

A.  The parties desire to annex the following properties (the “Annexed Property”,
Exhibit. “A”) into the City of Flagler Beach.

B.  PCI is the owner of certain real property located in Flagler County, Florida
consisting of approximately 93 acres, which real property is more particularly described in
Exhibit “A” attached hereto (hereinafter referred to as the “PCI Property™);

C.  Veranda is the owner of certain real property located in Flagler County, Florida
consisting of approximately 58 acres, which real property is more particularly described in
Exhibit “A” attached hereto (hereinafter referred to as the “Veranda Property”);

D.  PCIconveyed parcels of land and lots of records to third parties (the “Sold Parcels™)
generally identified in those final plats recorded at Plat Book 40, Pages 59 through 64 (Phase 1A)
and Plat Book 40, Pages 65 through 70 (Phase 2A). Pursuant to Section 3.2(r) of the Master
Declaration of Covenants, Conditions, Restrictions and Easements for Veranda Bay, recorded in
Official Records Book 2723, Page 302, all of Public Records of Flagler County, Florida, the
owners of the Sold Parcels consented to their respective Sold Parcel being annexed into the City
of Flagler Beach and delegated to PCI the power and authority to do so. The Sold Parcels are
more particularly described on “Exhibit A”;

E. PCI is also the declarant and developer of a mixed-use project generally known as
Veranda Bay (f/k/a The Gardens at Hammock Beach) (the “Project’’) encompassing the Annexed
Property subject to numerous governmental approvals (the “Approvals”) which include but are
not limited to those identified on Exhibit “B”;

F. The Annexed Property is presently located in the unincorporated areas of Flagler
County and is assigned the Agriculture & Timberlands future land use designation under the
provisions of the Flagler County Comprehensive Plan;

Page 1 of 23

Page 27 of 391



G. The Annexed Property is assigned the Planned Unit Development zoning
classification under the provisions of the Flagler County Land Development Code and is subject
to that PUD Development Agreement (the “PUD DA”) recorded at Official Records Book 1429,
Page 19 et seq, as identified in the Approvals;

H.  As negotiated in the PUD DA, the Owners, as a successor, previously conveyed
approximately 1,100 acres of land designated as environmental lands to Flagler County for the
purpose of preservation, conservation and public recreation for the benefit of citizens of Flagler
County (the “Dedicated Lands”);

L. The City desires to annex the Annexed Property into the City of Flagler Beach
recognizing that (i) the Annexed Property is intended to be developed as a mixed-use development
consistent with the Approvals, and (ii) the Parties to this Agreement desire to amend the
comprehensive plan designation and rezone the Annexed Property;

J. Under Section 171.044(1), Florida Statutes, property sought to be annexed must be
reasonably compact and contiguous to the boundaries of the annexing municipality;

K.  The Annexed Property is reasonably compact and contiguous and will satisfy all
requirements for voluntary annexation set forth in Chapter 171, Florida Statutes;

L. Section 171.062(1), Florida Statutes, provides as follows:

“An area annexed to a municipality shall be subject to all laws, ordinances and
regulations in force in that municipality and shall be entitled to the same privileges and
benefits as other parts of that municipality upon the effective date of the annexation.”;

M.  Section 166.021(8) (b) and (c), Florida Statutes, specifically states, with regard to
economic development, that:

“(b) The governing body of a municipality may expend public funds to attract and
retain business enterprises, and the use of public funds toward the achievement of such
economic development goals constitutes a public purpose. The provisions of this chapter
which confer powers and duties on the governing body of a municipality, including any
powers not specifically prohibited by law which can be exercised by the governing body
of a municipality, shall be liberally construed in order to effectively carry out the purpose
of this subsection.”

and

“(c) For the purposes of this subsection, it constitutes a public purpose to expend
public funds for economic development activities, including, but not limited to,
developing or improving local infrastructure, issuing bonds to finance or refinance the
cost of capital projects for industrial or manufacturing plants, leasing or conveying real
property, and making grants to private enterprises for the expansion of businesses existing
in the community or the attraction of new businesses to the community.”;

N. The City desires to ensure that any amendment to the Approvals and the
development of the Annexed Property is compatible with surrounding land uses, that adequate

public facilities exist or will be in place concurrent with the impact of such development in the
manner required by applicable law;

Page 2 of 23

Page 28 of 391



0.  The City has taken action to (1) expand the capacity of its potable water, waste water
and reuse water utility services and (ii) increase the rates of its adopted impact fees both
anticipating that the Annexed Property will be developed at a greater density and intensity than
as presently provided in the Approvals.

P. In the event the Approvals are amended, the City and the Owners desire to (i)
implement land use densities and intensities that are compatible with the economic development
goals of the City and (ii) develop the Annexed Property at its highest and best use-and; aligned
with the limiting policy accompanying the map amendment voluntarily limiting certain development
entitlements.

Q.  The City represents to the Owners that adequate public facilities and services,
including but not limited to potable water and wastewater, currently exist to serve the Annexed
Property or will be available at the time of development in accordance with applicable laws
regarding concurrency;

R.  This Agreement is authorized by, permitted by, and consistent with the provisions
of the City’s Home Rule Charter; the City’s Comprehensive Plan, Chapter 163, Florida Statutes,
Chapter 166, Florida Statutes, the State Comprehensive Plan (Chapter 187, Florida Statutes);
Article VIII, Section 2(b), Constitution of the State of Florida, Chapter 171, Florida Statutes; and
other applicable law; and serves and advances a vital public purpose;

S. The City finds and determines that the City’s interest will be best served by
annexing the Annexed Property into its municipal boundaries and by entering into this Agreement
to ensure that the proposed development of the Annexed Property is consistent with the Approvals
and, if amended, is in accordance with the City’s Comprehensive Plan;

T. Owners seek to obtain for the Annexed Property the benefits and privileges of
inclusion within the boundaries of the City, which include the designation of the Annexed
Property on the City’s Future Land Use Map and the assignment of zoning categories to allow
for the development of the Annexed Property consistent with the Approvals and the provisions of
all services, facilities, and utilities as are available to all residents of the City; and

U.  The purpose of this Agreement is to set forth the understandings and agreements of
the Parties with respect to the foregoing, and other matters set forth herein;

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements
contained herein, and other good and valuable consideration each to the other provided, the receipt
and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the Parties agree as follows:

Section 1. Recitals

(A) The above recitals are adopted as the findings of the City of Flagler Beach City
Commission.

(B)  The above recitals are true and correct, are incorporated into this Agreement by
reference, and form a material part of this Agreement upon which the Parties have relied, including,

but not limited to, the assertions that the Owners own a portion of the Annexed Property and have
legal authority and are empowered to enter into this Agreement to make binding commitments.

Page 3 of 23

Page 29 of 391



Section 2. Annexation.

(A) This Agreement, upon execution by the Owners, shall serve as and constitute an
annexation petition by the Owners for the annexation of the Annexed Property into the City,
provided that the City shall thereafter annex the Annexed Property into the City subject to the
terms and conditions of this Agreement.

(B) This Agreement is entered into under the authority of the Florida Constitution
(including Article VIII, Section 2(b) thereof), the general powers conferred upon municipalities
by statute and otherwise (including Chapter 163 and 166, Florida Statutes), and the City’s Charter.
The persons executing this Agreement represent that they have full authority and the necessary
approval and authorization to enter into and execute this Agreement on behalf of the applicable
Party and all landowners of the Annexed Property. The City hereby represents, warrants, and
covenants to and with the Owners that this Agreement has been validly approved by the Flagler
Beach City Commission, that it has been duly executed and delivered by the City, that it is
consistent with the City's Comprehensive Plan (adopted by the City pursuant to Chapter 163, Part
II, Florida Statutes) and the land development regulations of the City of Flagler Beach (including,
without limitation, the City’s Land Development Regulations and, collectively, the “City
Regulations”), and that the enforceability hereof is not subject to impairment on the basis of any
public policy or police power.

(C) The Owners consent to or petitioned for annexation of their respective properties.
The Owners have delegated and assigned to PCI the right and responsibility for negotiating this
Agreement on behalf of all the Owners.

Seetion 3—INTENHONALLY DEHETED

Section 4. Development Conditions and Public Facilities

(A)  Water/Sewer/Reuse: The Annexed Property, after the effective date of this
Agreement, shall be located within the City’s urban service boundary. Except as provided herein,
the City’s municipal services including but not limited to water, sanitary sewer and reuse water
(“Services”) shall be provided to the Annexed Property. As a material part of this Agreement, the
City represents to the Owners that it shall provide at a minimum 111,000 gallons/day of water
and wastewater treatment capacity to the Annexed Property!. Therefore, the City shall reserve
sufficient potable, wastewater, and reuse water capacity for the Annexed Property. However, in
the event the City cannot immediately provide and pay for one or any of these Services to the
Annexed Property upon the Owners’ written request, the Owners shall be permitted, without
objection by the City, to either (i) obtain Services from third parties and/or (ii) construct such
Services. For example, in the event the City cannot provide water sanitary sewer to the Annexed
Property as provided above, the City shall permit the Owners to obtain such service from an
adjacent provider or construct facilities to provide such services. The City shall not charge fees
to a community development district or a property owners’ association for the use of City reuse
water for common areas the later of (i) January 1, 2036 or (ii) for ten (10) years after the City

11n 2024, the City executed a utility agreement providing 31,000 gallons per day of water and sewer capacity for
development in Tract 1-A of the Annexed Property.

Page 4 of 23

Page 30 of 391



provides reuse water to the Annexed Property. Moreover, the City shall not require the Declarant

to prepay water and sewer “impact”, “connection” or “CIAC” fees until the City issues a building
permit for a residential or non-residential structure.

(B)  Solid Waste: Solid waste collection services are available to serve the demands
generated by the Annexed Property as they are to any other owner of City property and will be
available concurrent with the impacts of the development of the Annexed Property. If reasonably
possible, the Owners shall utilize the City’s solid waste collection franchise.

(C)  Public Safety: The City will provide fire (having a first response agreement with
Flagler County as part of its service network), police, and EMS facilities, including the equipment
and services necessary to serve the Annexed Property at a level consistent with the City’s adopted
level of service. All such public services are available to support the development of the Annexed
Property.

(D)  Transportation: Transportation issues and transportation impacts will be addressed
through the City’s concurrency management system as presently adopted, Chapter 163, Florida
Statutes, and traffic studies performed by a qualified engineer. The City shall not require any above
or below grade crossings for any intersection.

(E)  Permitting and Permit Review. As provided herein, the Parties recognize and agree
that certain provisions of this Agreement will require the City and/or its boards, departments or
agencies, acting in their governmental capacity to consider certain changes in the City
Comprehensive Plan, zoning ordinances or other applicable City codes, plans or regulations, as
well as to consider other governmental actions as set forth in this Agreement. All such
considerations and actions shall be undertaken in accordance with established requirements of the
City’s jurisdiction under its police power, processed in good faith and in a timely fashion. Nothing
in this Agreement is intended to limit or restrict the powers and responsibilities of the city in acting
on applications for Comprehensive Plan changes and applications for other development actions.
The Parties further recognize and agree that these proceedings will be conducted openly, fully,
freely, and fairly in accordance with law, and with both procedural and substantive due process to
be accorded the applicant and any member of the public. Nothing contained in this Agreement
shall entitle Owners to compel the City to take actions, except to timely process such applications.
Owners must process any final plats of the Annexed Property for approval by the City which shall
allow for the posting of proper bonds as provided by Florida law. The Owners are permitted to
market for sale any parcel or lot pending approval and recording of final plats (as may be bonded),
provided that title to such will not be conveyed to third party purchasers prior to the recording of
final plats.

(F)  Buffers/Open Space/Trees: For any future development, the Owners shall place
an encumbrance or easement on its property adjacent to John Anderson Highway ensuring that the
buffer along John Anderson Highway is one-hundred foot (100’) in average width along the
eastern side of the right of way. In addition, the Owner shall provide a minimum of forty percent
(40%) of land as open space as may be defined by its current Land Development Regulations
(LDR) or subsequent development agreements. In consideration of these commitments and the
Dedicated Lands, the Project shall be exempt from all other City tree preservation, protection and

Page 5 of 23

Page 31 of 391



mitigation rules and ordinances unless otherwise agreed to in writing by the parties. This
commitment to provide land in open space shall allow under brushing and passive recreation
including non-habitable structures within the open space.

(G)  Stormwater, Flood Plain, Compensating Storage. In the event that the Owners
or a CDD undertakes responsibility for all or part of the stormwater management system developed
on the Annexed Property, the parties shall enter into a separate agreement to adjust a portion of
the stormwater service charge collected by the City to account for stormwater that is treated by the
Annexed Property’s systems, as applicable or as may be exempt. The City further acknowledges
that the stormwater management plan and compensating storage plans for the Annexed Property
shall be solely regulated and permitted by State and Federal government agencies (“Stormwater
Plans. The City agrees to cooperate with Owners’ efforts to obtain Conditional Letters of Map
Revision ("CLOMR.s") and Final Letters of Map Revisions ("LOMRs") with FEMA on an
expedited basis.

(H)  Mass Grading/Phased Infrastructure: The Annexed Property shall be developed in
phases with some infrastructure being shared between phases (“Shared Infrastructure”). The
parties agree that the Owners shall have the right to mass grade and construct Shared Infrastructure
in portions of the Annexed Property not subject to a preliminary plat or site plan development
order so long as such Shared Infrastructure is related to an approved development order. The
Owners shall have the right but not the obligation to create overall master plan and mass grade
plan for roadways, utility infrastructure and stormwater system generally depicting infrastructure
that may be shared between phases (stormwater systems, roads, etc.). Such plans shall permit
phased construction of such improvements in advance of future phases of development at the
Owners’ election, subject to approval by the City Manager.

(K)  Phasing/Timelines: The City agrees that the Owners have satisfied any and all
phasing obligations as may be provided by City regulations and ordinances including but not
limited to City Ordinance 2024-06. Specifically, the City agrees and acknowledges that it (i) has
complied with said requirements, (ii) is not subjected to being deemed lapsed and (iii) all vested
rights shall remain and not subject to forfeiture.

(L) Community Development Districts: The City agrees and acknowledges that the
Annexed Property is subject to the Gardens at Hammock Beach Community Development
District, Flagler County, Florida (“District”), pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, which
was initially established by Flagler County. The City agrees that it shall accept and acknowledge
the powers granted to the District pursuant to state law. The City agrees to execute all documents
that may be necessary or take any action necessary to transfer the local government jurisdiction
affecting the District to the City, to the extent such may be necessary. In addition, the City agrees
and acknowledges that it shall, in good faith, assist the Owners, at the Owner’s sole discretion, to
amend the District’s existing boundaries.

(N)  Miscellaneous: Owners will be permitted to conduct marketing and sales events on
the Annexed Property on an ongoing basis without further approval in a manner not inconsistent
with City Code.

Section 5. General Obligations/Commitments of the Parties

Page 6 of 23

Page 32 of 391



(A)  The City has reviewed the Approvals affecting the Annexed Property and finds that
the Approvals including but not limited to present zoning classification and development
agreement are consistent with the City’s comprehensive plan. Moreover, the City Staff has
generally evaluated the suitability to amend the Approvals affecting the Annexed Property for
development of a mixed-use community including but not limited to residential uses (single-family
and multi-family), office, retail, commercial, a marina and open space areas as generally depicted
on the Conceptual Plan (Exhibit “C”). The City Staff and Commission generally concur that the
Annexed Property is suitable for development as a multi-use, master planned community as
depicted on the Conceptual Plan, and that such development can provide for a pattern of
harmonious and transitioned land uses, generally comports with sound and generally accepted land
use planning and development practices and principles, and that such use will benefit the City’s
residents. The City and Owners agree that a golf course, as provided in the Approvals, is not an
appropriate use of the Annexed Property for various reasons including environmental impacts from
pesticides or herbicides to the surrounding lands.

(B)  Notwithstanding the above, the Parties acknowledge that the City cannot contract
to approve specific Comprehensive Plan amendments or rezoning requests; provided, however,
that this provision shall not serve to otherwise limit the terms of this Agreement. The City’s only
obligation with respect to Comprehensive Plan amendments and rezoning requests is to timely
process the Owners’ applications expeditiously, consider all evidence presented in support of and
in opposition to the applications, and make decisions to approve or deny the applications based
upon the legal standards that govern such applications.

(C)  The City agrees that all concurrency requirements related to the Annexed Property
are vested by the Approvals, as may be amended and reviewed in accordance with Chapter 163,
Florida Statutes, and other applicable regulatory requirements.

(D)  The City agrees that, if requested by the Owners, their affiliates or designees, it will
promptly process for City Commission the consideration to annex other lands of Owners or their
affiliates consistent with the terms of this Agreement and State law.

(E)  The City shall honor, accept, and approve the development on Tract A-1, as shown
in the Concept Plan, Plats and previously approved construction plans even if such development
might be inconsistent with the City’s rules and regulations. Notwithstanding, the parties may by
mutual agreement amend any development order presently affecting the Annexed Property.

Section 6. De-annexation/Contraction. Any potential proposed de-annexation(s) or
contractions of (i) the Annexed Property or (i1) any part or parts of the Annexed Property will be
considered in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 171, Florida Statutes. In the event of (i)
litigation brought by any third party or other governmental entity including, but not limited to,
Flagler County, Florida, as a result of the annexation or this Agreement, or (ii) any termination of
this Agreement under Sections 12(B) or (C), the City agrees, in good faith, to cooperate in any de-
annexation or contraction requested by the Declarant to remove the Annexed Property from the
City within sixty (60) days of Declarant’s written request and permit the Owners to terminate this
Agreement.

Page 7 of 23

Page 33 of 391



Section 7. Duty To Cooperate/Comprehensive Plan Amendment, etc.

(A)  The City and the Owners agree to cooperate at all times in a timely manner and in
good faith in the acquisition and exercise of development rights and entitlements in the Annexed
Property. The good faith cooperation by the City and the Owners shall extend to the acquisition
by the Owners of all applicable necessary local, State and Federal permits, development orders,
licenses, easements and other approvals or rights in connection with the development of the
Annexed Property in accordance with all applicable land use, zoning, land development, building
and construction regulations.

(B)  The City will consider the adoption of a Comprehensive Plan Map and Text
Amendment contemplated by this Agreement, and the Owners will cooperate with the City by
providing the City with all requested data and analysis to include the Annexed Property in the City
Comprehensive Plan. The City shall promptly consider the proposed Comprehensive Plan
Amendment and, if approved, immediately transmit the adopted Comprehensive Plan Amendment
to the Florida Department of Economic Opportunity (FDEO). Upon the FDEO’s review of the
adopted Comprehensive Plan Amendment, the City shall work in good faith with the Owners to
address any questions or concerns raised by the FDEO prior to the City’s final adoption.

Section 8. Limitation of Funding Obligations. Except as provided in Section 4 of this
Agreement, the City shall have no obligation to Owners to fund any public facilities or
infrastructure within the Annexed Property. Rather, the City shall have a good faith obligation to
provide off-site Services and infrastructure necessary to develop the Annexed Property consistent
with the Approvals and their intended amendments.

Section 9. Further Assurances. In addition to the acts recited in or set forth in this
Agreement, the City and the Owners agree to perform or cause to be performed, in a timely manner,
any and all further acts as may be reasonably necessary to implement the provisions of this
Agreement including, but not limited to, the execution and/or recordation of further instruments;
provided, however, that the City’s obligations shall be subject to such limitations of law as may
be applicable to municipalities.

Section 10. Remedies. Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to limit the right of
either the Owners or the City to pursue any and all available remedies, if any, under non-tort or
constitutional law related to a Party’s non-performance under this Agreement. The City shall not
be deemed to have waived sovereign immunity in any manner or respect, provided this provision
shall not limit the City’s contractual obligations under this Agreement.

Section 11. Disclaimer of Third-Party Beneficiaries. This Agreement is solely for the
benefit of the formal Parties to this Agreement, and no right or cause of action shall accrue by
reason hereof to or for the benefit of any third party not a formal Party hereto. Nothing in this
Agreement, expressed or implied, is intended or shall be construed to confer upon or give any
person or entity any right, remedy or claim under or by reason of this Agreement or any provisions
or conditions hereof, other than the Parties hereto and their respective designated representatives,
successors and assigns as provided in Section 15. In the event that a party files an action in court

Page 8 of 23

Page 34 of 391



relating to this Agreement, the parties agree that they shall submit to mediation within sixty (60)
days after the parties’ responsive pleadings are filed.

Section 12. Effectiveness of Agreement

(A) This Agreement shall serve as an annexation petition upon execution by the
Owners, which may be relied on by the City in accordance with the terms of this Agreement upon
the Owners’ execution of the Agreement but shall become effective as an agreement between the
Owners and the City upon its being duly executed by the City. If the City does not execute this
Agreement or does not complete the annexation of the Annexed Property, both within 30 days of
the date that Owners have executed this Agreement, then the petition for annexation may be
revoked by the Owners and, upon demand, the City shall immediately release and deliver the
Annexation Petition to the Owners, and the City shall record, at the City’s expense, a Notice of
Termination of this Agreement and any pending annexation petition for the Annexed Property in
the Public Records of Flagler County, Florida. Upon annexation and receipt of a request by
Owners, the City shall expeditiously process a Comprehensive Plan Amendment and Rezoning.

(B)  Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Agreement, the Owners may, at its
sole discretion, terminate this Agreement by notifying the City, in writing, of such termination
within thirty (30) days following a legal challenge to the annexation of the Annexed Property filed
by any third parties, including, but not limited to, Flagler County, Florida.

(C)  To the extent allowed by law and notwithstanding any other provisions of this
Agreement, if the Comprehensive Plan Amendment and anticipated Rezoning for the Annexed
Property have not been adopted, approved and finalized, with all applicable appeal periods having
expired within sixty (60) days following the Effective Date of this Agreement (the “Condition
Subsequent™), (i) this Agreement, and any annexation pursuant thereto, shall become null and void
and of no further force and effect, unless prior to such date Owners have delivered to the City a
written notice expressly waiving or extending the Condition Subsequent; and (ii) the City shall
immediately consider the request to de-annex the Annexed Property from the City as provided
herein and by state law.

Section 14. Time Of the Essence. Time is of the essence of the lawful performance of
the duties and obligations contained in this Agreement. The Parties covenant and agree that they
shall diligently and expeditiously pursue their respective obligations set forth in this Agreement.

Section 15. Successors and Assigns. This Agreement and the terms and conditions hereof
shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the City and the Owners and their respective
assignees and successors in interest.

Section 16. Applicable Law. This Agreement and the provisions contained herein shall
be construed, controlled and interpreted according to the laws of the State of Florida. Further, to
the extend permissible under the laws of the State of Florida, if there is a conflict between this
Agreement and the terms of the City Regulations, the terms of this Agreement shall control.

Page 9 of 23

Page 35 of 391



Section 17. Binding Effect. Each Party hereto represents to the other that it has undertaken
all necessary actions to execute this Agreement, and that it has the legal authority to enter into this
Agreement and to undertake all obligations imposed on it.

Section 18. Recording. Within five (5) business days after the approval of this Agreement
by the City and the Owners’ execution of this Agreement, the City shall, at its sole cost and
expense, record a fully executed copy of this Agreement in the Public Records of Flagler County,
Florida.

Section 19. Choice of Law and Venue. Florida law shall govern the interpretation and
enforcement of this Agreement. In any action or proceeding required to enforce or interpret the
terms of this Agreement, venue shall be in Flagler County, Florida and Orlando Middle District
for federal actions.

Section 20. Effect on Change in Law. If State or Federal laws are enacted after execution
of this Agreement which are applicable to and preclude the Parties’ compliance with the terms of
this Agreement, this Agreement shall be modified or revoked as is necessary to comply with the
relevant State or Federal laws and the intent of the Parties hereto; provided, however, that the City
agrees that it shall not modify this Agreement in any manner which would in any way be
inconsistent with the intent of the Parties to provide for development of the Annexed Property in
accordance with the terms and conditions hereof, except where required by law.

Section 21. Construction or Interpretation of the Agreement. This Agreement is the
result of bona fide arm’s length negotiations between the City and the Owners, and all Parties have
contributed substantially and materially to the preparation of the Agreement. Accordingly, this
Agreement shall not be construed or interpreted more strictly against any one Party than against
any other Party.

Section 22. Permits, Conditions, Terms or Restrictions. The failure of this Agreement
to address a particular permit, condition, terms, or restriction existing at the time of execution of
this Agreement shall not relieve Owners of the necessity of complying with the law governing said
permitting requirement, condition, terms, or restriction.

Section 23. Attorneys’ Fees and Costs. In the event of any action to enforce the terms of
this Agreement, the prevailing Party shall be entitled to recover reasonable attorneys’ fees,
paralegals’ fees, and costs incurred, whether the same be incurred in pre-litigation negotiation,
litigation at the trial level, or upon appeal or any bankruptcy or collection proceedings.

Section 24. Captions/Exhibits.

(A) The headings or captions of the sections and subsections contained in this
Agreement are used for convenience and reference only, and do not, in themselves, have any legal
significance and shall not be afforded any.

Page 10 of 23

Page 36 of 391



(B)  The exhibits to this Agreement are hereby incorporated into this Agreement and are
an integral part of this Agreement. If an exhibit is inconsistent with any term of this Agreement,
such term(s) of this Agreement shall govern and take priority.

Section 25. Parties Bound. Following the recordation of this Agreement, the benefits and
burdens of this Agreement shall become a covenant running with the title to the Annexed Property,
and all parts and parcels thereof, and this Agreement shall be binding upon the inure to the benefit
of both the City and the Owners and their assigns and successors in interest to the said Annexed
Property, and all parts and parcels thereof.

Section 26. Severability. If any provision of this Agreement, the deletion of which would
not adversely affect the receipt of any material benefits by any Party to the Agreement or
substantially increase the burden of any Party to the Agreement, shall be held to be
unconstitutional, invalid or unenforceable to any extent by a court of competent jurisdiction, such
portion shall be deemed a separate, distinct, and independent provision and the same shall not
affect in any respect whatsoever the validity or enforceability of the remainder of the Agreement.

Section 27. Notices. Any notice that is to be delivered hereunder shall be in writing and
shall be deemed to be delivered (whether or not actually received) when (i) hand delivered to the
official hereinafter designated; (ii) upon receipt of such notice when deposited in the United States
mail, postage prepaid, certified mail, return receipt requested: or (iii) upon receipt of such notice
when deposited with Federal Express or other nationally recognized overnight or next day courier,
addressed to the Parties as follows (facsimile transmittal is not acceptable as a form of notice in
this Agreement):

To the City: City Manager
City of Flagler Beach
City Hall
105 S. 2" Street
Flagler Beach, FL 32136

To the Owners: Palm Coast Intracoastal, LLC
3129 Springbank Lane
Charlotte, NC 28226

Veranda Bay Investments, LLC
3129 Springbank Lane
Charlotte, NC 28226

With copies to: Michael D. Chiumento III, Esq.
Chiumento Law, PLLC
145 City Place, Suite 301
Palm Coast, FL 32164

Section 28. Entire Agreement. This Agreement constitutes the complete and entire
agreement between the City and the Owners with respect to the subject matter hereof, and

Page 11 of 23

Page 37 of 391



supersedes any and all prior agreements, arrangements or understandings, whether oral or written,
between the Parties relating thereto with respect to the terms of this Agreement, all of which have
been integrated herein. Specifically, the parties agree that any and all obligations of the Owners as
provided in the Settlement Agreement, recorded at Official Records Book 1560, Page 471 et seq
and Interlocal agreement, recorded at Official Records Book 2129, Page 1549 et seq, are void and
unenforceable against the Owners or their respective successors and assigns.

Section 29. Modification. This Agreement may not be amended, changed, or modified,
and material provisions hereunder may not be waived, except by a written document, of equal
dignity herewith approved by the City.

Section 30. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of
counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which, taken together, shall
constitute one and the same document.

THE REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE
INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

Page 12 of 23

Page 38 of 391



WHEREFORE, the Parties hereto have caused these presents to be signed all as of the
date and year first above written.

ATTEST: CITY OF FLAGLER BEACH
City Clerk City Manager
STATE OF FLORIDA
COUNTY OF FLAGLER

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by means of physical
presence or online notarization by as City Manager of the
City of Flagler Beach, on its behalf, and who is personally known to me on this day of

,2025.
NOTARY PUBLIC

For the use and reliance of the City of
Flagler Beach only. Approved as to form and
Legal sufficiency.

City Attorney

Page 13 of 23

Page 39 of 391



WITNESSES PALM COAST INTRACOASTAL, LLC, a
Florida limited liability company

Signature
Print Name: By:
William G. Allen Jr., Manager

Signature

Print Name:
STATE OF
COUNTY OF

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by means of physical
presence or online notarization by William G. Allen Jr., as Manager of Palm Coast
Intracoastal, LLC and who is personally known to me on this day of , 2054.
NOTARY PUBLIC

VERANDA BAY INVESTMENTS, LLC, a

WITNESSES Florida limited liability company

Signature By:

Print Name: William G. Allen Sr., Manager

Signature

Print Name:
STATE OF
COUNTY OF

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by means of physical
presence or online notarization by William G. Allen Sr., as Manager of Veranda Bay
Investments, LLC and who is personally known to me on this day of ,2025.
NOTARY PUBLIC

Page 14 of 23

Page 40 of 391



EXHIBIT “A”

E & f w2
-
Eadlio > ; Ew 5 E Pine Tree 5t
Mariin.Ln £ & 3 Forest R4
s Knox
E St 8
s -
(%]
Ave A B !-;
9
Fl
L]
;
=
A\ £
%
k)
2
5
b
A}
*
)
L)
1)
)
‘\\
1)
A
.
L
%
E"u
Veranda Bay i
Jacksonville N
_ LN
Annexation A5
[ouros: ETM, Fiagter Coursy, Esrl, timarrap] s
9 it 20 Annexation Boundary 0 1,000 2,000
) Froject Pads Feet
=] city of Flagler Beach City Limits R
Orlando ETI I I R

TAZ0Z6126-001 V015 \Produrtion'Leranda Bay Map Sefilieranca

Sayilerand Say Comp Pland.apm

Page 15 of 23

14775 Oid 5t Augusiine Rcad. Jacksonyile, Flarda 3-225-3
B04.642.B550 | www.elimgeo.com | www.etminc.com

Date: THER2025

Page 41 of 391



PART OF PHASE 1-A AND 2-A VERANDA BAY AND PART OF SECTION 38 , TOWNSHIP
12 SOUTH, RANGE 31 EAST, FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA,

A PART OF VERANDA BAY PHASE 1A AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 40, PAGES 59
THROUGH 64 OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA TOGETHER
WITH A PART OF VERANDA BAY PHASE 2A AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 40, PAGES
65 THROUGH 70 OF SAID PUBLIC RECORDS ALSO TOGETHER WITH A PART OF OF
SECTION 38, TOWNSHIP 12 SOUTH, RANGE 31 EAST, FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA,
AND BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: FOR A POINT OF
BEGINNING, COMMENCE AT THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF TRACT 1A-4 OF SAID
VERANDA BAY PHASE 1A; THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE WESTERLY LINES OF
SAID TRACT 1A-4 THE FOLLOWING TWELVE COURSES: THENCE NORTH 18°15°20”
WEST, A DISTANCE OF 260.49 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 71°44°40” WEST, A DISTANCE
OF 140.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 18°15°20” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 20.00 FEET;
THENCE NORTH 71°44°40” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 140.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH
18°15°20” WEST, A DISTANCE 960.00 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 71°44°40” WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 140.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 18°15°20” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 20.00
FEET; THENCE NORTH 71°44°40” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 140.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH
18°15°20” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 244.38 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 78°03°28” WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 137.96 FEET TO A POINT ON A CURVE OF A CURVE CONCAVE TO THE
EAST AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 475.00 FEET AND A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 10°47°207;
THENCE NORTHEASTERLY ALONG SAID CURVE AN ARC DISTANCE OF 89.44 FEET
AND BEING SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF NORTH 06°32°52” WEST; AND
CHORD DISTANCE OF 89.31 FEET TO A POINT ON SAID CURVE; THENCE NORTH
86°59°44” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 140.07 FEET; THENCE NORTH 01°09°12” WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 568.36 FEET; THENCE NORTH 88°50°48” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 63.62
FEET; THENCE NORTH 01°07°10” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 161.55 FEET; THENCE
NORTH 88°54°24” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 176.36 FEET; THENCE NORTH 11°52°10” EAST
ALONG A WESTERLY LINE OF TRACT 1A-5 OF SAID VERANDA BAY PHASE 1A , A
DISTANCE OF 25.29 FEET; THENCE NORTH 13°13'08" EAST CONTINUING ALONG A
WESTERLY LINE OF SAID TRACT, A DISTANCE OF 0.37 FEET; TO THE INTERSECTION
WITH THE NORTH LINE OF SAID TRACT OF 1A-5; THENCE NORTH 88°54°24” EAST,
ALONG SAID NORTHERLY LINE OF TRACT 1A-5 AND CONTINUING ALONG THE
NORTHERLY LINE OF SAID VERANDA BAY PHASE 1A, A DISTANCE OF 1304.54 FEET
TO THE POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF FLORIDA INTRACOASTAL
WATERWAY AND THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF VERANDA BAY PHASE IA ;
THENCE ALONG SAID WEST RIGHT OF WAY LINE AND THE EASTERLY LINE OF
SAID VERANDA BAY PHASE 1A, SOUTH 13°58°25” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 1950.55
FEET TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID VERANDA BAY PHASE 1A AND ALSO
TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF SAID VERANDA BAY PHASE 2A; THENCE
CONTINUE SOUTH 13°58°25” EAST ALONG SAID RIGHT OF WAY LINE AND ALONG
THE EASTERLY LINE OF SAID VERANDA BAY PHASE 2A, A DISTANCE OF 799.39
FEET, THENCE SOUTH 21°17°55” EAST, CONTINUING ALONG SAID RIGHT OF WAY
LINE AND EASTERLY LINE, A DISTANCE OF 1265.37 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 03°54°39”

Page 16 of 23

Page 42 of 391



WEST ALONG SAID EASTERLY LINE, A DISTANCE OF 90.51 FEET TO THE
SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID VERANDA BAY PHASE 2A; THENCE CONTINUE
SOUTH 03°54°39” WEST, ALONG A WESTERLY LINE OF THE HISTORIC CHANNEL OF
HAW LOVERS CREEK, A DISTANCE OF 57.72 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 19°27°17” EAST,
A DISTANCE OF 644.30 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 68°58°11” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 113.95
FEET TO A POINT ON SAID INTRACOASTAL RIGHT OF WAY, THENCE SOUTH
21°17°55” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 338.95 FEET TO THE NORTHERLY LINE OF TRACT
“PL-3” OF GARDENS AT HAMMOCK BEACH AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 35, PAGES
80 THROUGH ; THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID NORTHERLY LINE THE
FOLLOWING FIVE COURSES: SOUTH 69°58°00” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 666.02 FEET;
THENCE SOUTH 20°00°08” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 243.62 FEET; THENCE SOUTH
69°00°06” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 512.95 FEET TO THE POINT OF CURVE OF A CURVE
CONCAVE NORTHERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 475.00 FEET AND AN ARC
DISTANCE OF 298.48 FEET AND SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH
86°59°57” WEST AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 293.59 FEET TO THE POINT OF
TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE; THENCE NORTH 75°04°31” WEST, A DISTANCE OF
102.42 FEET; THENCE NORTH 43°30°12” WEST, DEPARTING FROM SAID NORTHERLY
LINE, A DISTANCE OF 153.12 FEET TO A POINT ON THE MOST SOUTH POINT OF SAID
VERANDA BAY PHASE 2A; THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE WEST LINES OF SAID
VERANDA BAY PHASE 2A THE FOLLOWING NINE COURSES: THENCE NORTH
32°58°38” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 357.54; THENCE NORTH 12°24°49” WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 43.38 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 71°49°46”> WEST, A DISTANCE OF 68.04
FEET, THENCE NORTH 18°10°14” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 152.62 FEET; THENCE
NORTH 16°36°36” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 82.23 FEET; THENCE NORTH 73°23°24” WEST,
A DISTANCE OF 139.49 FEET TO A POINT ON A CURVE OF A CURVE CONCAVE TO
THE SOUTHEAST AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 25.00 FEET AND A CENTRAL ANGLE
OF 11°32°10”; THENCE SOUTHWESTERLY ALONG SAID CURVE AN ARC DISTANCE
OF 5.03 FEET AND SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH 22°22°42” WEST
AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 5.03 FEET TO A POINT ON SAID CURVE; THENCE
NORTH 73°23°24” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 50.00 FEET TO A POINT ON A CURVE OF A
CURVE CONCAVE TO THE WEST AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 25.00 FEET AND A
CENTRAL ANGLE OF 11°32°13”; THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG SAID CURVE AN ARC
DISTANCE OF 5.03 AND SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF NORTH 10°50°29”
EAST AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 5.03 FEET TO A POINT ON SAID CURVE; THENCE
NORTH 21°20°50” WEST, DEPARTING FROM SAID WESTERLY LINE, A DISTANCE OF
114.14 FEET TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF TRACT 2A-11 OF SAID VERANDA BAY
PHASE 2A; THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE WESTERLY LINES OF SAID TRACT 2A-
11 AND ALSO THE WESTERLY LINES OF SAID VERANDA BAY PHASE 2A THE
FOLLOWING THIRTEEN COURSES: THENCE NORTH 16°36'36" EAST, A DISTANCE OF
18.72 FEET TO A POINT ON A CURVE OF A CURVE CONCAVE WESTERLY AND
HAVING A RADIUS OF 365.00 FEET AND A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 34°46°’50”; THENCE
NORTHERLY ALONG SAID CURVE AN ARC DISTANCE OF 221.57 FEET AND
SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF NORTH 00°46°49” WEST AND A CHORD

Page 17 of 23

Page 43 of 391



DISTANCE OF 218.18 FEET TO THE POINT OF TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE; THENCE
NORTH 18°10°14” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 24.44 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 71°49°46” WEST,
A DISTANCE OF 140.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 18°10°14” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 20.00
FEET; THENCE NORTH 71°49°46” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 140.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH
18°10°14” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 935.73 FEET; THENCE NORTH 01°32°26” WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 384.95 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 88°27°34” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 140.00
FEET; THENCE NORTH 01°32°26” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 20.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH
88°27°34” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 140.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 01°32°26” WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 49.29 FEET; THENCE NORTH 18°10°14” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 809.39
FEET TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF SAID TRACT 2A-11; THENCE NORTH
06°57°26” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 101.95 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.
CONTAINING 210.7 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.

Page 18 of 23

Page 44 of 391



VERANDA BAY
PROPERTIES OWNED BY VERANDA BAY INVESTMENTS, LLC

TRACT 2A-A OF THE SUBDIVISION PLAT OF VERANDA BAY PHASE 2A, AS
RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 40, PAGES 65 THROUGH 70, OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF
FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA. CONTAINING 22.64 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.

TOGETHER WITH:

A PART OF SECTION 38, TOWNSHIP 12 SOUTH, RANGE 31 EAST, FLAGLER COUNTY,
FLORIDA, AND BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: FOR A
POINT OF BEGINNING COMMENCE AT THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF TRACT 2A-4 OF
VERANDA BAY PHASE 2A AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 40, PAGES 65 THROUGH 70
OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF SAID COUNTY AND SAID CORNER ALSO LIES ON THE
WESTERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF THE FLORIDA INTRACOASTAL WATERWAY;
THENCE SOUTH 03°54°39” WEST, ALONG A WESTERLY LINE OF THE HISTORIC
CHANNEL OF HAW LOVERS CREEK, A DISTANCE OF 57.72 FEET; THENCE SOUTH
19°27°17” EAST CONTINUING ALONG SAID WESTERLY LINE, A DISTANCE OF 644.30
FEET; THENCE SOUTH 68°58°11” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 113.95 FEET TO A POINT ON
SAID FLORIDA INTRACOASTAL RIGHT OF WAY, THENCE SOUTH 21°17°55” EAST, A
DISTANCE OF 338.95 FEET TO THE NORTHERLY LINE OF TRACT “PL-3” OF GARDENS
AT HAMMOCK BEACH AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 35, PAGES 80 THROUGH ;
THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID NORTHERLY LINE THE FOLLOWING FIVE
COURSES: SOUTH 69°58°00” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 666.02 FEET; THENCE SOUTH
20°00°08” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 243.62 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 69°00°06” WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 512.95 FEET TO THE POINT OF CURVE OF A CURVE CONCAVE
NORTHERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 475.00 FEET AND A CENTRAL ANGLE OF
36°00'11" AND AN ARC DISTANCE OF 298.48 FEET AND SUBTENDED BY A CHORD
BEARING OF SOUTH 86°59°57” WEST AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 293.59 FEET TO
THE POINT OF TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE; THENCE NORTH 75°04°31” WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 102.42 FEET; THENCE NORTH 43°30°12” WEST, DEPARTING FROM SAID
NORTHERLY LINE, A DISTANCE OF 153.12 FEET TO A POINT ON THE MOST SOUTH
POINT OF SAID VERANDA BAY PHASE 2A; THENCE NORTHESTERLY AND
EASTERLY ALONG THE EASTERLY AND SOUTHERLY LINES OF SAID VERANDA
BAY PHASE 2A THE FOLLOWING EIGHTEEN COURSES: THENCE NORTH 40°42°12”
EAST, A DISTANCE OF 202.16; THENCE NORTH 10°41°45” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 133.22
FEET; THENCE NORTH 24°30°13” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 127.26 FEET; THENCE
NORTH 69°22°08” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 232.49 FEET; THENCE NORTH 20°51°44”
WEST, A DISTANCE OF 115.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 69°22°08” EAST, A DISTANCE
OF 129.58 FEET TO A POINT ON A CURVE OF A CURVE CONCAVE TO THE
SOUTHWEST AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 25.00 FEET AND A CENTRAL ANGLE OF

Page 19 of 23

Page 45 of 391



11°10°11”; THENCE NORTHWESTERLY ALONG SAID CURVE AN ARC DISTANCE OF
4.87 FEET AND SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF NORTH 26°34°59” WEST AND
A CHORD DISTANCE OF 4.87 FEET TO A POINT ON SAID CURVE; THENCE NORTH
69°44°10” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 50.00 FEET TO A POINT ON A CURVE OF A CURVE
CONCAVE TO THE SOUTHEAST AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 25.00 FEET AND A
CENTRAL ANGLE OF 90°22°02”; THENCE NORTHEASTRLY ALONG SAID CURVE AN
ARC DISTANCE OF 39.43 AND SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF NORTH
24°11°07” EAST AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 35.47 FEET TO A POINT ON SAID CURVE;
THENCE NORTH 21°21°56” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 50.00 FEET TO A POINT ON A
CURVE OF A CURVE CONCAVE NORTHERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 25.00 FEET
AND A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 11°10°11”; THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID CURVE AN
ARC DISTANCE OF 4.87 FEET AND SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH
74°57°14” WEST AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 4.87 FEET TO A POINT ON SAID CURVE;
THENCE NORTH 20°59'54"WEST, A DISTANCE OF 822.65 FEET TO A POINT OF A
CURVE OF A CURVE CONCAVE SOUTHEASTERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 5.00
FEET AND A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 90°00°00”; THENCE NORTHEASTRLY ALONG SAID
CURVE AN ARC DISTANCE OF 7.85 FEET AND SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING
OF NORTH 24°00°06” EAST AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 7.07 FEET TO THE POINT OF
TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE; THENCE NORTH 69°00°06” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 503.11
FEET; THENCE SOUTH 20°54°52” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 180.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH
69°00°06” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 85.08 FEET TO A POINT ON A CURVE OF A CURVE
CONCAVE NORTHEASTERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 65.00 FEET AND A
CENTRAL ANGLE OF 140°24°30”; THENCE SOUTHEASTERLY ALONG SAID CURVE AN
ARC DISTANCE OF 159.29 FEET AND SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH
41°16°28” EAST AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 122.32 FEET TO THE POINT OF
TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE ; THENCE NORTH 69°00°58” EAST, A DISTANCE OF
250.79 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. CONTAINING 35.44 ACRES, MORE OR
LESS.

Page 20 of 23

Page 46 of 391



VERANDA BAY
SOLD TRACTS AND PLATTED LOTS

TRACT 1A-A, PART OF TRACT 1A-1, TRACT 1A-4, TRACT 1A-6, TRACT 1A-9, TRACT
1A-10, PART OF TRACT 1A-11, AND PART OF TRACT 1A-12, TOGETHER WITH LOTS
43 THROUGH 98, ALL OF THE SUBDIVISION PLAT OF VERANDA BAY PHASE 1A, AS
RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 40, PAGES 59 THROUGH 64, OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF
FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA.

TOGETHER WITH:

TRACT 2A-B, PART OF TRACT 2A-1, TRACT 2A-2, TRACT 2A-3 AND TRACTS 2A-11,
TOGETHER WITH LOTS 1 THROUGH 42 AND LOTS 99 THROUGH 122, ALL OF THE
SUBDIVISION PLAT OF VERANDA BAY PHASE 2A, AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 40,
PAGES 65 THROUGH 70, OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA.

Page 21 of 23

Page 47 of 391



10.

1.

12.

EXHIBIT “B”
APPROVALS

GOVERNMENTAL APPROVALS

Gardens at Hammock Beach Planned Unit Development Agreement effective November
17, 2005 and recorded on May 3, 2006 in Official Records Book 1429, Page 19, Public
Records of Flagler County, Florida.

Interlocal Agreement Water and Wastewater Service Area John Anderson Corridor dated
May 16, 2016 and recorded on May 19, 2016 in Official Records Book 2129, Page 1549,
Public Records of Flagler County, Florida.

Army Corps of Engineers Permit number SAJ-1996-00918 effective December 3, 2020.

Florida Department of Environmental Protection Water Permit 0080281-030-DSGP
effective January 6, 2021.

Florida Department of Environmental Protection Wastewater Permit 0018857-024-DWC
effective January 6, 2021.

Public School Proportionate Share Mitigation Agreement with the Flagler County School
Board effective January 19, 2020 and recorded on January 22, 2021 in Official Records
Book 2518, Page 920, Public Records of Flagler County, Florida.

Flagler County Right of Way Permit issued on 4/18/2023 for offsite installation of reuse
main and fittings along John Anderson Highway.

St. Johns River Water Management District ERP Permit number 80599-6 issued April 23,
2021 (Hammock Beach River Club Transfer — now known as Veranda Bay).

St. Johns River Water Management District ERP Permit number 80599-8 issued October
7, 2021 (Gardens Phase 1A, 1B, 1C, 2A, 2B and 2C — now known as Veranda Bay).

Utility Service Agreement with City of Flagler Beach recorded on March 29, 2022 in
Official Records Book 2672, Page 74, Public Records of Flagler County, Florida.

Recorded Plat of Veranda Bay Phase 1A, recorded on July 21, 2022 in Plat Book 40, Pages
59 through 64, Public Records of Flagler County, Florida.

Recorded Plat of Veranda Bay Phase 2A, recorded on July 21, 2022 in Plat Book 40, Pages
65 through 70, Public Records of Flagler County, Florida.

Page 22 of 23

Page 48 of 391



EXHIBIT “C”

| O T 'ﬁ@l‘
[
® = 0 1,000 2,000
Elssc

Czam

47T O . g R ARt Fiora RITSH
A BT B e e e | wes e coe
T TRRFILT A7 romeacin 0 e o oo e PP cacin e Vv (i oy Tl ok By or g By Cowrp PO s Do 77102005

Page 23 of 23

Page 49 of 391



Application No.: PAN25-0001

City of Flagler Beach
POBox70 105 South 2" Street
Flagler Beach, Florida 32136
Phone (386) 517-2000. Fax (386) 517-2008

PETITION FOR VOLUNTARY LAND ANNEXATION

PLEASE TYPE OR PRINT THE FOLLOWING INFORMATION:

Palm Coast Intracoastal, LLC PHONE: 386-986-2411

OWNER’S NAME:
3129 Springbank Lane, #201 Charlotte NC 28226

ADDRESS:

T/We the undersigned state that /We am/are the sole owner(s) of the property described as (Provide Legal Description of Property):
See attached Exhibit "A"

SUBDIVISION LOT BLOCK

Whereas, the land is situated in the County of Flagler and the State of Florida and

Whereas, on information and behef the above-named property is either partially within or contiguous to the City of Flagler Beach,
Flagler County, Florida,

Whereas, the property us reasonably compact

Therefore, the undersigned Owner(s) request(s) that the above-described property be annexed to the City of Flagler Beach by the City
Commission of the City of Flagler Beach

Palm Coast Intracoastal, LLC

e
A/%

Signature of Owner on

William G. Allen, Jr Manage

Signature of Owner two (2)

Subscribed and Sworn to ( or aﬂ'lrmegd) before me by

This | % day of July 2025

Who is personally known to me or has produced
as identification.

Me 190061 0'02(26

Commission Number & Expiration

Q\')J\g_\.uu Q. ess)k&u.w

LNotary Public

Subscribed and Sworn to (or affirmed) before me by

This day of , 20
Who is personally known to me or has produced
as identification.

Commission Number & Expiration

Notary Public

SNBRY P
= =
Petition for Voluntary Land Annexation 2

B, TRACEY A. BENAVIDES
6 > Notary Public-State of Florida
"2 Commission # HH 190061
=5 Rees My Commission Expires
} oy January 02, 2026

Created 12/09/2003

* AR S T

Page 50 of 391




Signature of Owner three (3)

Subscribed and Sworn to (or affirmed) before me by

This day of o ,20 .
Who is personally known to me or has produced

Commission Number & Expiration

Notary Public

as identification.

Signature of Owner four (4)

Subseribed and Sworn to (or affirmed) before me by

This day of ,20 .
Who is personally known to me or has produced
as identification.

Commission Number & Expiration

Notary Public

Petition for Voluntary Land Annexation

Created 12/09/2003

Page 51 of 391




CITY OF FLAGLER BEACH
BUILDING AND PLANNING DEPARTMENT

GENERAL APPLICATION
(] Final Site Plan G Preliminary Plat
() Master Site Plan 0 Final Plat
D Site Development Plan(s) D Plat Vacating
D Rezoning D Subdivision Master Plan
0O Comprehensive Plan Amendment D Non-statutory Land Division/Parcel Reconfiguration
D Future Land Use Map Amendment ) SitePlan Modification (Post approval)
(] special Exception () Development Order Modification
() Variance (O Wireless Communication Facility (new structure)

Application Submittal Date:

Fee Paid: S . Date Received:

Employee Accepting Application (print name):

Rejected Date: . Rejected by:

Reason for Rejection:

A. PROJECT NAME: _Veranda Bay

B. LOCATION OF SUBJECT PROPERTY (PHYSICAL ADDREss): NN Anderson Drive, Flagler Beach

C. PROPERTY APPRAISER’S PARCEL ID NUMBER(s): __ S€€ attached Exhibit "B"

" 11
D. LEGAL DESCRIPTION:S€€ attached Ex. "Al pqivicion Name;

Section; Block(s); Lot(s);

E. SUBJECT PROPERTY ACRES / SQUARE FOOTAGE:

Agriculture/Timberlands PUD
F. FUTURE LAND USE MAP DESIGNATION: EXISTING ZONING DISTRICT:
OVERLAY DISTRICT:
G. FLOOD ZONE: FEMA COMMUNITY PANEL NUMBER: DATE:
Vacant

H. CURRENT USE OF PROPERTY:

1. DESCRIPTION OF REQUEST/PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT (ATTACH ADDITIONAL SHEETS)

J. PROPOSED NUMBER OF LOTS (If Applicable): Development Phasing: YesD No D

11.22.21 GENERAL APPLICATION Page 1 0f 2

Page 52 of 391



CITY OF FLAGLER BEACH
BUILDING AND PLANNING DEPARTMENT

K. LIST BELOW ANY APPLICATIONS CURRENTLY UNDER REVIEW OR RECENTLY APPROVED ASSOCIATED WITH THIS

APPLICATION:

L. WATER/SEWER PROVIDER:

M. EXISTING MORTGAGE?

Yes[:] Now

OWNER:

APPLICANT/AGENT:

name:Palm Coast Intracoastal, LLC

Name: Michael D. Chiumento lll, Esq.

Mailing Address:3129 Springbank Ln #201, Charlotte NC 282

6Mailing Address: 145 City Place, Suite 301 Palm C

Phone Number: 386-986-2411

Phone Number: 386-445-8900 ext 102

E-mail Address: kenbelshe@yahoo.com

E-mail Address: Michael3@legalteamforlife.com

MORTGAGE HOLDER:

ENGINEER OR PROFESSIONAL:

Name:

Name: Lindsay Haga

Mailing Address:

Mailing Address:

Phone Number:

Phone Number: 904-376-6296

E-mail Address:

E-mail Address: HagaL@etminc.com

SURVEYOR:

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT:

Name:

Name:

Mailing Address:

Mailing Address:

Phone Number:

Phone Number:

E-mail Address:

E-mail Address:

PLANNER:

TRAFFIC ENGINEER:

Name:

Name:

Mailing Address:

Mailing Address:

Phone Number:

Phone Number:

E-mail Address:

E-mail Address:

ATTORNEY OF RECORD:

DEVELOPER:

Name: Michael D. Chiumento lll, Esq.

Name:

Mailing Address: 145 City Place, Suite 301 , Palm Coast

Mailing Address:

Phone Number: 386-445-8900 ext 102

Phone Number:

E-mail Address; Michael3@legalteamforlife.com

E-mail Address:

| HEREBY CERTIFY THAT ALL INFORMATION ON THIS APPLICATION IS CORRECT:

Signature of owner OR person authorized to represent this application:

Ay g

Signature(s):

P
Printed or typed name(s):

William“G. Allen, Jr., as Manager of Palm Coast Intracoastal, LLC

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by means of __ physical presence or__ online notarization
20 E vailliam G. Allen, Jr., as Manager of Palm Coast Intracoastaliddidual submitted

this [ & "day of, July

by +” Personal Knowledge ___Satisfactory Evidence: Type

QSJ\.G-.LLH A Reuwauiden

(SEAL)

Signature of Notary Public, State of Florida

g,
MURY Py //,/

11.22.21

P
Yy OF POy
A

TRACEY A. BENAVIDES
<= Notary Public-State of Florida
Commission # HH 190061
My Commission Expires
January 02, 2026

GENERAL APPLICATION Page 2 of 2

Page 53 of 391

st FL



EXHIBIT “A”

PART OF PHASE 1-A AND 2-A VERANDA BAY AND PART OF SECTION 38 , TOWNSHIP
12 SOUTH, RANGE 31 EAST, FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA,

A PART OF VERANDA BAY PHASE 1A AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 40, PAGES 59
THROUGH 64 OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA TOGETHER
WITH A PART OF VERANDA BAY PHASE 2A AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 40, PAGES
65 THROUGH 70 OF SAID PUBLIC RECORDS ALSO TOGETHER WITH A PART OF OF
SECTION 38, TOWNSHIP 12 SOUTH, RANGE 31 EAST, FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA,
AND BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: FOR A POINT OF
BEGINNING, COMMENCE AT THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF TRACT 1A-4 OF SAID
VERANDA BAY PHASE 1A; THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE WESTERLY LINES OF
SAID TRACT 1A-4 THE FOLLOWING TWELVE COURSES: THENCE NORTH 18°15°20”
WEST, A DISTANCE OF 260.49 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 71°44°40” WEST, A DISTANCE OF
140.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 18°15°20” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 20.00 FEET; THENCE
NORTH 71°44°40” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 140.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 18°15°20” WEST,
A DISTANCE 960.00 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 71°44°40” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 140.00
FEET; THENCE NORTH 18°15°20” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 20.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH
71°44°40” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 140.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 18°15°20” WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 244.38 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 78°03°28” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 137.96
FEET TO A POINT ON A CURVE OF A CURVE CONCAVE TO THE EAST AND HAVING A
RADIUS OF 475.00 FEET AND A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 10°47°20”; THENCE
NORTHEASTERLY ALONG SAID CURVE AN ARC DISTANCE OF 89.44 FEET AND BEING
SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF NORTH 06°32°52” WEST; AND CHORD
DISTANCE OF 89.31 FEET TO A POINT ON SAID CURVE; THENCE NORTH 86°59°44”
EAST, A DISTANCE OF 140.07 FEET; THENCE NORTH 01°09°12” WEST, A DISTANCE OF
568.36 FEET; THENCE NORTH 88°50°48” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 63.62 FEET; THENCE
NORTH 01°07°10” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 161.55 FEET; THENCE NORTH 88°54°24” EAST,
A DISTANCE OF 176.36 FEET; THENCE NORTH 11°52°10” EAST ALONG A WESTERLY
LINE OF TRACT 1A-5 OF SAID VERANDA BAY PHASE 1A, A DISTANCE OF 25.29 FEET;
THENCE NORTH 13°13'08" EAST CONTINUING ALONG A WESTERLY LINE OF SAID
TRACT, A DISTANCE OF 0.37 FEET; TO THE INTERSECTION WITH THE NORTH LINE
OF SAID TRACT OF 1A-5; THENCE NORTH 88°54°24” EAST, ALONG SAID NORTHERLY
LINE OF TRACT 1A-5 AND CONTINUING ALONG THE NORTHERLY LINE OF SAID
VERANDA BAY PHASE 1A, ADISTANCE OF 1304.54 FEET TO THE POINT ON THE WEST
RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF FLORIDA INTRACOASTAL WATERWAY AND THE
NORTHEAST CORNER OF VERANDA BAY PHASE 1A ; THENCE ALONG SAID WEST
RIGHT OF WAY LINE AND THE EASTERLY LINE OF SAID VERANDA BAY PHASE 1A,
SOUTH 13°58°25” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 1950.55 FEET TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER
OF SAID VERANDA BAY PHASE 1A AND ALSO TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF SAID
VERANDA BAY PHASE 2A; THENCE CONTINUE SOUTH 13°58°25” EAST ALONG SAID
RIGHT OF WAY LINE AND ALONG THE EASTERLY LINE OF SAID VERANDA BAY
PHASE 2A, A DISTANCE OF 799.39 FEET, THENCE SOUTH 21°17°55” EAST,

Page 54 of 391



CONTINUING ALONG SAID RIGHT OF WAY LINE AND EASTERLY LINE, A DISTANCE
OF 1265.37 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 03°54°39” WEST ALONG SAID EASTERLY LINE, A
DISTANCE OF 90.51 FEET TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID VERANDA BAY
PHASE 2A; THENCE CONTINUE SOUTH 03°54°39” WEST, ALONG A WESTERLY LINE
OF THE HISTORIC CHANNEL OF HAW LOVERS CREEK, A DISTANCE OF 57.72 FEET;
THENCE SOUTH 19°27°17” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 644.30 FEET; THENCE SOUTH
68°58°11” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 113.95 FEET TO A POINT ON SAID INTRACOASTAL
RIGHT OF WAY, THENCE SOUTH 21°17°55” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 338.95 FEET TO THE
NORTHERLY LINE OF TRACT “PL-3” OF GARDENS AT HAMMOCK BEACH AS
RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 35, PAGES 80 THROUGH ; THENCE WESTERLY ALONG
SAID NORTHERLY LINE THE FOLLOWING FIVE COURSES: SOUTH 69°58°00” WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 666.02 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 20°00°08” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 243.62
FEET; THENCE SOUTH 69°00°06” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 512.95 FEET TO THE POINT OF
CURVE OF A CURVE CONCAVE NORTHERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 475.00 FEET
AND AN ARC DISTANCE OF 298.48 FEET AND SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF
SOUTH 86°59°57” WEST AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 293.59 FEET TO THE POINT OF
TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE; THENCE NORTH 75°04°31” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 102.42
FEET; THENCE NORTH 43°30°12” WEST, DEPARTING FROM SAID NORTHERLY LINE, A
DISTANCE OF 153.12 FEET TO A POINT ON THE MOST SOUTH POINT OF SAID
VERANDA BAY PHASE 2A; THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE WEST LINES OF SAID
VERANDA BAY PHASE 2A THE FOLLOWING NINE COURSES: THENCE NORTH
32°58°38” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 357.54; THENCE NORTH 12°24°49” WEST, A DISTANCE
OF 43.38 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 71°49°46” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 68.04 FEET; THENCE
NORTH 18°10°14” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 152.62 FEET; THENCE NORTH 16°36°36” EAST,
A DISTANCE OF 82.23 FEET; THENCE NORTH 73°23°24” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 139.49
FEET TO A POINT ON A CURVE OF A CURVE CONCAVE TO THE SOUTHEAST AND
HAVING A RADIUS OF 25.00 FEET AND A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 11°32°10”; THENCE
SOUTHWESTERLY ALONG SAID CURVE AN ARC DISTANCE OF 5.03 FEET AND
SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH 22°22°42” WEST AND A CHORD
DISTANCE OF 5.03 FEET TO A POINT ON SAID CURVE; THENCE NORTH 73°23°24”
WEST, A DISTANCE OF 50.00 FEET TO A POINT ON A CURVE OF A CURVE CONCAVE
TO THE WEST AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 25.00 FEET AND A CENTRAL ANGLE OF
11°32°13”; THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG SAID CURVE AN ARC DISTANCE OF 5.03 AND
SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF NORTH 10°50°29” EAST AND A CHORD
DISTANCE OF 5.03 FEET TO A POINT ON SAID CURVE; THENCE NORTH 21°20°50”
WEST, DEPARTING FROM SAID WESTERLY LINE, A DISTANCE OF 114.14 FEET TO THE
SOUTHWEST CORNER OF TRACT 2A-11 OF SAID VERANDA BAY PHASE 2A; THENCE
NORTHERLY ALONG THE WESTERLY LINES OF SAID TRACT 2A-11 AND ALSO THE
WESTERLY LINES OF SAID VERANDA BAY PHASE 2A THE FOLLOWING THIRTEEN
COURSES: THENCE NORTH 16°36'36" EAST, A DISTANCE OF 18.72 FEET TO A POINT
ON A CURVE OF A CURVE CONCAVE WESTERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 365.00
FEET AND A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 34°46’50”; THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG SAID
CURVE AN ARC DISTANCE OF 221.57 FEET AND SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING

Page 55 of 391



OF NORTH 00°46°49” WEST AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 218.18 FEET TO THE POINT
OF TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE; THENCE NORTH 18°10°14” WEST, A DISTANCE OF
24.44 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 71°49°46” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 140.00 FEET; THENCE
NORTH 18°10°14” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 20.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 71°49°46” EAST,
A DISTANCE OF 140.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 18°10°14” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 935.73
FEET; THENCE NORTH 01°32°26” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 384.95 FEET; THENCE SOUTH
88°27°34” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 140.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 01°32°26” WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 20.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 88°27°34” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 140.00
FEET; THENCE NORTH 01°32°26” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 49.29 FEET; THENCE NORTH
18°10°14” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 809.39 FEET TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF SAID
TRACT 2A-11; THENCE NORTH 06°57°26” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 101.95 FEET TO THE
POINT OF BEGINNING. CONTAINING 210.7 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.

Page 56 of 391



VERANDA BAY
PROPERTIES OWNED BY VERANDA BAY INVESTMENTS, LLC

TRACT 2A-A OF THE SUBDIVISION PLAT OF VERANDA BAY PHASE 2A, AS
RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 40, PAGES 65 THROUGH 70, OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF
FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA. CONTAINING 22.64 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.

TOGETHER WITH:

A PART OF SECTION 38 , TOWNSHIP 12 SOUTH, RANGE 31 EAST, FLAGLER COUNTY,
FLORIDA, AND BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: FOR A
POINT OF BEGINNING COMMENCE AT THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF TRACT 2A-4 OF
VERANDA BAY PHASE 2A AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 40, PAGES 65 THROUGH 70
OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF SAID COUNTY AND SAID CORNER ALSO LIES ON THE
WESTERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF THE FLORIDA INTRACOASTAL WATERWAY;
THENCE SOUTH 03°54°39” WEST, ALONG A WESTERLY LINE OF THE HISTORIC
CHANNEL OF HAW LOVERS CREEK, A DISTANCE OF 57.72 FEET; THENCE SOUTH
19°27°17” EAST CONTINUING ALONG SAID WESTERLY LINE, A DISTANCE OF 644.30
FEET; THENCE SOUTH 68°58°11” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 113.95 FEET TO A POINT ON
SAID FLORIDA INTRACOASTAL RIGHT OF WAY, THENCE SOUTH 21°17°55” EAST, A
DISTANCE OF 338.95 FEET TO THE NORTHERLY LINE OF TRACT “PL-3” OF GARDENS
AT HAMMOCK BEACH AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 35, PAGES 80 THROUGH ;
THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID NORTHERLY LINE THE FOLLOWING FIVE
COURSES: SOUTH 69°58°00” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 666.02 FEET; THENCE SOUTH
20°00°08” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 243.62 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 69°00°06” WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 51295 FEET TO THE POINT OF CURVE OF A CURVE CONCAVE
NORTHERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 475.00 FEET AND A CENTRAL ANGLE OF
36°00'11" AND AN ARC DISTANCE OF 298.48 FEET AND SUBTENDED BY A CHORD
BEARING OF SOUTH 86°59°57” WEST AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 293.59 FEET TO
THE POINT OF TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE; THENCE NORTH 75°04°31” WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 102.42 FEET; THENCE NORTH 43°30°12” WEST, DEPARTING FROM SAID
NORTHERLY LINE, A DISTANCE OF 153.12 FEET TO A POINT ON THE MOST SOUTH
POINT OF SAID VERANDA BAY PHASE 2A; THENCE NORTHESTERLY AND EASTERLY
ALONG THE EASTERLY AND SOUTHERLY LINES OF SAID VERANDA BAY PHASE 2A
THE FOLLOWING EIGHTEEN COURSES: THENCE NORTH 40°42°12” EAST, ADISTANCE
OF 202.16; THENCE NORTH 10°41°45” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 133.22 FEET; THENCE
NORTH 24°30°13” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 127.26 FEET; THENCE NORTH 69°22°08” EAST,
A DISTANCE OF 232.49 FEET; THENCE NORTH 20°51°44” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 115.00
FEET; THENCE NORTH 69°22°08” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 129.58 FEET TO A POINT ON A
CURVE OF A CURVE CONCAVE TO THE SOUTHWEST AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 25.00
FEET AND A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 11°10°11”; THENCE NORTHWESTERLY ALONG SAID

Page 57 of 391



CURVE AN ARC DISTANCE OF 4.87 FEET AND SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF
NORTH 26°34°59” WEST AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 4.87 FEET TO A POINT ON SAID
CURVE; THENCE NORTH 69°44°10” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 50.00 FEET TO A POINT ON
A CURVE OF A CURVE CONCAVE TO THE SOUTHEAST AND HAVING A RADIUS OF
25.00 FEET AND A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 90°22°02”; THENCE NORTHEASTRLY ALONG
SAID CURVE AN ARC DISTANCE OF 39.43 AND SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING
OF NORTH 24°11°07” EAST AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 35.47 FEET TO A POINT ON
SAID CURVE; THENCE NORTH 21°21°56” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 50.00 FEET TO A POINT
ON A CURVE OF A CURVE CONCAVE NORTHERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 25.00
FEET AND A CENTRALANGLE OF 11°10°11”; THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID CURVE
AN ARC DISTANCE OF 4.87 FEET AND SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH
74°57°14” WEST AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 4.87 FEET TO A POINT ON SAID CURVE;
THENCE NORTH 20°59'54"WEST, A DISTANCE OF 822.65 FEET TO A POINT OF A CURVE
OF A CURVE CONCAVE SOUTHEASTERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 5.00 FEET AND
A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 90°00°00”; THENCE NORTHEASTRLY ALONG SAID CURVE AN
ARC DISTANCE OF 7.85 FEET AND SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF NORTH
24°00°06” EAST AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 7.07 FEET TO THE POINT OF TANGENCY
OF SAID CURVE; THENCE NORTH 69°00°06” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 503.11 FEET;
THENCE SOUTH 20°54°52” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 180.00 FEET, THENCE NORTH
69°00°06” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 85.08 FEET TO A POINT ON A CURVE OF A CURVE
CONCAVE NORTHEASTERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 65.00 FEET AND A CENTRAL
ANGLE OF 140°24°30”; THENCE SOUTHEASTERLY ALONG SAID CURVE AN ARC
DISTANCE OF 159.29 FEET AND SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH
41°16°28” EAST AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 12232 FEET TO THE POINT OF
TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE ; THENCE NORTH 69°00°58” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 250.79
FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. CONTAINING 35.44 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.

Page 58 of 391



VERANDA BAY
SOLD TRACTS AND PLATTED LOTS

TRACT 1A-A, PART OF TRACT 1A-1, TRACT 1A-4, TRACT 1A-6, TRACT 1A-9, TRACT
1A-10, PART OF TRACT 1A-11, AND PART OF TRACT 1A-12, TOGETHER WITH LOTS 43
THROUGH 98, ALL OF THE SUBDIVISION PLAT OF VERANDA BAY PHASE 1A, AS
RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 40, PAGES 59 THROUGH 64, OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF
FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA.

TOGETHER WITH:

TRACT 2A-B, PART OF TRACT 2A-1, TRACT 2A-2, TRACT 2A-3 AND TRACTS 2A-11,
TOGETHER WITH LOTS 1 THROUGH 42 AND LOTS 99 THROUGH 122, ALL OF THE
SUBDIVISION PLAT OF VERANDA BAY PHASE 2A, AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 40,
PAGES 65 THROUGH 70, OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA.

Page 59 of 391



EXHIBIT “B”

OWNER POD AREA TAX PARCEL ACREAGE

Veranda Bay Investments B&C Future Dev Tract 2A-A (38-12-31-7220-00000-2A04) 22.64
Part of unplatted East side of John Anderson south of Phase 2A plat (Parcels E&M)
Veranda Bay Investments E&M 13-12-31-0000-01010-0000 30.44
APPROX TOTAL VBI ACREAGE 58.08

OWNER POD AREA TAX PARCEL ACREAGE
APPROVED PROPERTIES
Palm Coast Intracoastal Al / Conservation 13-12-31-7201-00000-1A05 {Phase 1A, Tract 1A-5) - with conservation 42.09
Palm Coast Intracoastal Al 13-12-31-7201-00000-1A07 {Phase 1A, Tract 1A-7) 5.67
Palm Coast Intracoastal Al 13-12-31-7201-00000-1A08 (Phase 1A, Tract 1A-8) 2.66
Palm Coast Intracoastal Al / Conservation 13-12-31-7201-00000-1A13 (Phase 1A, Tract 1A-13) 0.39
Palm Coast Intracoastal Al 38-12-31-7220-00000-2A01 (Phase 2A, Tract 2A-1) PART OF PRESIDIO EXTENSION ROAD 2.89
Palm Coast Intracoastal Al 38-12-31-7220-00000-2A04 (Phase 2A, Tract 2A-4) 3.59
Palm Coast Intracoastal Al 38-12-31-7220-00000-2A05 (Phase 2A, Tract 2A-5) 1.63
Palm Coast Intracoastal Al 38-12-31-7220-00000-2A06 (Phase 2A, Tract 2A-6) 0.30
Palm Coast Intracoastal Al 3§-12-31-7220-00000-2A07 (Phase 2A, Tract 2A-7) 0.62
Palm Coast Intracoastal Al 35-12-31-7220-00000-2A08 (Phase 2A, Tract 2A-8) 0.81
Palm Coast Intracoastal Al 38-12-31-7220-00000-2A09 (Phase 2A, Tract2A-9) 0.62
Palm Coast Intracoastal Al 38-12-31-7220-00000-2A10 (Phase 2A, Tract 2A-10) 27.19
Palm Coast Intracoastal Al 38-12-31-7220-00000-2A12 (Phase 2A, Tract 2A-12) 0.37
Palm Coast Intracoastal Al 38-12-31-7220-00000-2A13 {Phase 2A, Tract 2A-13) 0.55
Palm Coast Intracoastal Al 38-12-31-7220-00000-2A14 {Phase 2A, Tract 2A-14) 0.39
Palm Coast Intracoastal Al 38-12-31-7220-00000-2A15 (Phase 2A, Tract 2A-15) PART OF TRACT 0.03
Palm Coast Intracoastal Al 38-12-31-7220-00000-2A22 (Phase 2A, Tract 2A-22) 2.69

APPROX TOTAL PCI ACREAGE 92.49

OWNER POD AREA TAX PARCEL ACREAGE
SOLD TRACTS & PLATTED LOTS
City of Flagler Beach Al 13-12-31-7201-00000-1A0A (Phase 1A, Tract 1A-A) 0.06
City of Flagler Beach Al 38-12-31-7220-00000-2A0B (Phase 2A, Tract 2A-B) 0.06

13-12-31-7201-00000-1A01 (Phase 1A, Tract 1A-1) CORONADO ROAD NORTH AND PART OF
Gardens CDD Al BUENA VISTA BLVD. 4.29
Gardens CDD Al 13-12-31-7201-00000-1A04 {Phase 1A, Tract 1A-4) 8.82
Gardens CDD Al 13-12-31-7201-00000-1A06 (Phase 1A, Tract 1A-6) 3.82
Gardens CDD Al 13-12-31-7201-00000-1A09 {Phase 1A, Tract 1A-9) 0.87
Gardens CDD Al 13-12-31-7201-00000-1A10 {Phase 1A, Tract 1A-10) 1.40
Gardens CDD Al 13-12-31-7201-00000-1A11 (Phase 1A, Tract 1A-11) PART OF TRACT 0.52
Gardens CDD Al 13-12-31-7201-00000-1A12 (Phase 1A, Tract 1A-12) PART OF TRACT 0.40
13-12-31-7201-00000-2A01 (Phase 2A, Tract 2A-1) CORONADO ROAD SOUTH OF BUENA
Gardens CDD M VISTA & P/O PRESIDIO BLVD. 28
Gardens CDD Al 38-12-31-7220-00000-2A02 (Phase 2A, Tract 2A-2) 4.50
Gardens CDD Al 38-12-31-7220-00000-2A03 (Phase 2A, Tract 2A-3) 0.41
Gardens CDD Al 38-12-31-7220-00000-2A11 (Phase 24, Tract 2A-11) 10.83
Phase 1A Platted Lot Owners Al Lots 43 through 98, Phase 1A Plat 10.36
Phase 2A Platted Lot Owners Al Lots 1 through 42 and 99 through 122, Phase 2A Plat 10.95
APPROX TOTAL SOLD TRACTS & PLATTED LOTS ACREAGE 60.13

TOTAL EAST SIDE ANNEXATION ACREAGE

Page 60 of 391



Staff Report

Planning & Architectural Review Board Regular

. “TCENTENNIAL
Meeting e
October 7, 2025
To: Planning & Architectural Review Board
From: Lupita McClenning, Planner
Meeting Date: October 7, 2025
Item Name: PFLUMA25-0001 Ordinance 2025-23 (Veranda Bay): AN ORDINANCE

OF THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF FLAGLER BEACH, FLORIDA,
AMENDING THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN FUTURE LAND USE MAP
DESIGNATION FOR APPROXIMATELY 233.92 ACRES OF CERTAIN REAL
PROPERTY WITH ACCOMPANYING TEXT POLICY AMENDMENT TO
VOLUNTARILY LIMIT DEVELOPMENT TO A MAXIMUM OF 377
RESIDENTIAL UNITS, A MAXIMUM OF 16,200 SQUARE FEET OF NON-
RESIDENTIAL USES, A MAXIMUM OF 150 MARINA BERTHS PROVIDING
FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS; AND PROVIDING FOR
AN EFFECTIVE DATE.

Background:

The applicant proposes to amend the Future Land Use (FLUM) map for approximately +/- 234
acres of Flagler County land use designations from Agriculture, Conservation, and Mixed-Use
High Intensity to the City of Flagler Beach FLUM designations of Low Density Residential (LDR),
and General Commercial (GC). The applicant proposes a text amendment voluntarily limiting
the maximum number of residential units to 377 units, a maximum of 16,200 square feet of
nonresidential uses, and a maximum of 150 marina berths. Land uses permitted within the Low
Density Residential and Commercial Future Land Use designation shall be allowed as permitted
in the City Comprehensive Plan and Land Development Regulations (July 2025). Changes to the
Development Plan may be permitted providing the net new external trips (PM peak hour) do
not increase.

Fiscal Impact:
N/A

Staff Recommendation:

Staff recommends that the Planning and Architectural Review Board (PARB) find the Large-Scale
Future Land Use Amendment (FLUM) map and Text Amendment consistent with the
Comprehensive Plan and SB 180, and to recommend to the City Commission to approve the
Future Land Use Map amendment from unincorporated land use designations to the City of

Page 61 of 391



Flagler Beach land use designations of Low Density Residential and General Commercial; and
recommend to the City Commission to approve the limiting site specific policy text amendment.

Attachments:

1. Large Scale Future Land Use (FLUM) Amendment_Analysis Findings Veranda Bay w MAPS
2. Ord 2025-23 Veranda Bay Comprehensive Plan Amendment

3. VB_Application Comp Plan signed w exhibits

Page 62 of 391



VERANDA BAY DEVELOPMENT
FINDINGS REPORT

Large-Scale
Future Land Use Amendment

Prepared by

Lupita McClenning, City Planner
City of Flagler Beach, FL
Imcclenning@cityoftflaglerbeach.com

Page 63 of 391



TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.  APPLICATION INFORMATION .....cccoiiiiiiiiiiieiieeee ettt 4
1.1 JULISAICHION ..ttt e e e et e e a e e e eae e enseessneeens 4
1.2 APPIICANT ...ttt ettt e ta e nae e 4
1.3 INEEIE ..t 4
2. PROJECT DESCRIPTION .....ccociiiiiiiiieiieeie ettt ettt ettt et ssae s eseae e 5
2.1 Summary and Background..............ccceveviiieiiiieiiieceeee e 5
3. PARCEL DATA ...ttt ettt ettt ettt st e s sbeesseesasaesnaeenne 5
3.1 S1Z€ OF PTOPETLY ... vviiieiiectiee ettt e e e e e e enaeas 5
3.2 General LOCAtION. ......cccuieiiieiiecie ettt et et e e 5
33 Access and FTONTAZE ........coovvieiiiiieeiceceeee et 5
4. LAND USE INFORMATION .....oooiiiiiiiiieiiienite ettt esiee et seesaeessneseveessnesnseens 6
4.1 Aerial Photograph ........c.oooiiiiiiiiie e 6
4.2 BUilt FEAtUIES ....cuviiiieiiiciiece ettt 6
43 Current Zoning DeSiZNation ............cccueereeriieiiieniieiie et 6
4.4 Proposed Master Planned Development (MPD).........ccccoevevieiiiiniienieniecieeee, 7
5. BASIC DATA ...ttt ettt ettt ettt e e stesse e e e saenseenseense e 7
5.1 City of Flagler Beach Population.............cccceevieeiieniiiniiienieciecie e 7
5.2 Proposed Population Veranda Bay ..........cccccoiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeee, 7
53 Total Projected Population............ccceevieiieiiiiniieeiieie e 8
54 Proposed Non-Residential (Commercial) Square Footage...........cccceveeeeenneee. 8
5.5 Open Space, Buffers and Recreation .............ccceeecvieriieeiienieeiieenieeieeeee e 8
6. CONSISTENCY AND COMPATIBILITY ANALYSIS....cooiiieieeeeeeeeeee 8
6.1 Land Use Compatibility ........cccoviieiiiieiiiieciieeceeeiee et 8
6.2 Surrounding Zoning Designations: ...........ceoeevereenieriineenenieneeee e 8
7. PUBLIC FACILITIES / IMPACT ANALYSIS ....oooiiiieeeeeee e 8
7.1 Potable Water Data and Analysis ........ccoceevieriieiienieeiecee e 9
7.1.2  Residential Potable Water Demand ............cccceevviviiniieiniiiiiece e, 9
7.1.3  Non-Residential Potable Water Demand..............ccccoiiiiiiiniiiiiiniicceiees 9
7.1.4  Findings Residential and Non-Residential Potable Water.............ccccevuneeeee. 10
7.2 Wastewater Data and ANalysis ........coceevieriiinieiiiiiieeee e 10
7.2.1  Residential Wastewater Demand ...........ccccoeeveeviiiieniiiieniieeiecee e 10
7.2.2  Non-Residential Wastewater Demand..............ccccoeviiiiiiiiinniiiiiiieeeee 10
7.2.3  Findings Residential and Non-Residential Wastewater.............cccceeveerueennne. 11
7.3 Solid Waste Data and ANalysSis.........cceccueeriieriieiiieniieiieeie e 11
7.3.1  Solid Waste Demand.............ccceecuireiiieeiieeeieeeiie et 11
7.3.2  Solid Waste Demand Residential.............ccceeviirniiniiiiniiiiieieeicee e 11
7.3.3  Solid Waste Demand Non-Residential ..............cccoevcuiieniiiiiniieiniieciee e 11
7.4 Stormwater Management ............c.eeeruieerieeeriiieeiee ettt e s 12
7.4.1  Stormwater FINAINGS ......ccveeeiiiieiiieeiieeeccecee et 12
7.5 Transportation IMPACES .......cc.eeviiiiiieiiieiieie e 12
7.5.1 Roadway Segments and Intersections Within the Study Area........................ 12

Page 64 of 391



7.5.2  Pertinent Developments Included in Transportation Study..........ccccveevnennnee. 13
7.5.3  Findings Transportation Modifications/Improvements Required................... 13
7.6 SChOOIS IMPACT......oiiiiiiieiiiece e 13
7.6.1  MeEthOAOLOZY ...ecovvieniieiiieiiecie ettt ettt et e e ssae b e nnee e 14
7.6.2 2024 FC School Board Student Generation Rate Analysis ...........ccceeveuveennee. 14
7.7 PUDIIC SAfRLY ...t 14
7.8 Economic Impact Data and Analysis.........cccceeeueeeriieeniieeniie e 14
8. Undeveloped Lands and Cultural, Historical, and Natural Resources.................. 15
8.1 N Te3 1 Y o TSR 15
8.1.2  TopOZraphy MaP......ccceeeuieiiiiiieiieeie ettt ettt e e s et e s e enreenenes 15
8.1.3  Habitat UPlands .........ccccuiieeiiieeiieeciie ettt 15
.14 WERLIANAS ..o 16
8.1.5  SUITACE WALETS ....eeeiiiiieciie ettt e sab e e eeeaaeeennneas 16
8.1.6  Wildlife ODSEIrVAtIONS ......eevuieeiieiiieiieiie ettt ettt sreesiee e e e 17
8.1.7  Protected SPECIES ...cuviieiiieciieeeiee ettt e e eaeeas 17
8.1.8  Findings GOPhEr TOTtOISE ......ccvverurieiieriieeiieiieeieesiie et eeiee e eseneeveeseeeereesenes 17
8.1.9 List of Species ObSErved .......ccuvieciiieiiiieeiieeeiie et 17
8.1.10 Findings of Species ObSEIved.........cccveriiriiieriieiienieeieecieeieeseee e 18
9.  CONSISTENCY WITH CITY OF FLAGLER BEACH COMPREHENSIVE
PLAN ettt ettt ettt et b ettt sa e e a e a et 18
9.1 PUDBIIC FACIIITIES. . cccviiieiiie et e e 19
9.1.2  Findings Public FacCilities.........ccceevuiiriiiriiieiieeiieieeeie e 19
9.2 Future Land Use Element ............cccvieeiiiiiiiiiiiiiceeeeee e 19
9.2.1  Findings Future Land Use Element .............cccccoeviiniieniiiciieniecicecee e 20
9.3.1  Findings Housing Element.............cccccoiiiiiiiiiiiiiie e 21
9.4 Public Facilities EICMENt ..........cc.ccouieiiieiiieeiieiecie et 21
9.4.1 Findings Public Facilities Element .............cccoccoeviiiiiiiiiiiiieiicee e 21

Page 65 of 391



1.1

1.2

1.3

APPLICATION INFORMATION

Jurisdiction

City of Flagler Beach
Veranda Bay Development

Applicant

Michael D. Chiumento, Esq

45 City PI, Suite 301

Palm Coast, FL 32164

on behalf of Veranda Bay, LLC; Palm Coast Intracoastal, LLC; and Highway 100
Commercial, LLC

Intent

The intent of the development is to develop the property into Low Density Residential,
General Commercial, and a Marina Village. The residential uses include multiple types of
housing opportunities including single-family and multi-family units with an anticipated
2035 build out.

The applicant proposes to amend the Future Land Use (FLUM) map for approximately
+/- 234 acres of Flagler County land use designations of Agriculture, Conservation, and
Mixed-Use High Intensity to the City of Flagler Beach FLUM designations of Low
Density Residential (LDR), and General Commercial (GC).

The FLUM amendment includes a planning analysis which considers the character of
undeveloped lands, the availability of, and the impacts to the City’s facilities and
services; an analysis of the soils, topography, natural resources, and historic resources on
site, and analysis of the minimum amount of land needed to achieve goals and
requirements.

A voluntary companion site specific text amendment outlines the maximum development
threshold for the Veranda Bay Project:

Policy A.1.1.3.H — Development of the Property shall be limited to a maximum of 377
residential units, a maximum of 16,200 square feet of nonresidential uses and a maximum
of 150 marina berths (“Development Plan’). Land uses permitted within the Low Density
Residential and Commercial Future LLand Use designation shall be allowed as permitted
in the City Comprehensive Plan and Land Development Regulations (July 2025).
Changes to the Development Plan may be permitted providing the net new external trips
(PM peak hour) do not increase as certified by the Developer’s traffic engineer.

Page 66 of 391



2. PROJECT DESCRIPTION

2.1 Summary and Background

A mixed-use residential development is currently under development on +/-160.99 acres.
The remainder of the property is vacant and undeveloped.

In 2005 a Master Development Agreement (MDA) was approved for a Planned
Development (PUD) in Flagler County for a mixed-use development of approximately
1,999 acres known as Hammock Beach River Club PUD.

The 2005 MDA approved 453 residential units (including 150 of the 453 as multi-family
residential units); 230,694 SQ FT of commercial/retail/office; accessory and recreational
uses, ancillary amenities and facilities; an 18-hole golf course; dedicated utility site; a
dedicated public boat ramp site; and a dedicated fire station site. As part of the FLUM
and MDA agreement, approximately 1,100 acres were transferred to Flagler County as
environmental/conservation lands.

Project 899.09 +/- Acres
Residential Units 377 units (3units/ac)
Commercial Density 16,200 ft
Open Space (40%) Forty percent (40%)

3. PARCEL DATA

31 Size of Property

The site 1s approximately 234 +/- acres

3.2 General Location

The City of Flagler Beach is located in southern Flagler County and covers
approximately 3.8 square miles (2,420 acres) in area.

The subject property is in unincorporated Flagler County, located east and west of John
Anderson Highway and south State Road 100.

The site 1s bordered to the north by State Road 100 (a major arterial road); to the east by
the boundaries of the City of Flagler Beach; to the south by the boundaries of
unincorporated Flagler County; and to the west by the boundaries of unincorporated
Flagler County.

3.3 Access and Frontage

The development is on the East Side County Road (CR) 201 (John Anderson Highway).
Access will be provided on John Anderson Highway and via SR 100 (Moody Blvd) at
Colbert Lane as a new fourth leg approach of a signalized intersection. Access to
Veranda Bay East is from John Anderson Highway.

5

Page 67 of 391



4. LAND USE INFORMATION

4.1 Aerial Photograph

BULOW GRANT
1

BULOW GRANT

4.2 Built Features

Approximately 160.99 +/- acres are currently under development with roads, water,
sewer, reuse (purple pipe) and model home sites. Approximately 738.1 +/- acres of the
property is undeveloped.

4.3 Current Zoning Designation

According to Flagler County’s Zoning, the current zoning designation of the subject
property is Planned Unit Development (PUD).

The purpose and intent of the PUD is to provide an opportunity for innovative urban
design techniques, improved use of land, protection of valuable natural features in the
community, desirable land use mis, open space, and more economical public services.

The purpose and intent of the planned unit development is to encourage the unified
development of large tracts of land using creative and flexible concepts in site planning

6

Page 68 of 391



4.4

than would otherwise be possible through the strict application of minimum and
maximum requirements of conventional land use districts established.

Proposed PUD’s must be in harmony with the county’s comprehensive plan. The design
and construction shall follow a carefully devised plan of development which must be
prepared in accordance with requirements, procedures, and approvals.

Proposed Master Planned Development (MPD)

The City of Flagler Beach Master Planned Development (MPD) district is established and
intended to encourage innovative land planning and site design concepts that support a
high quality of life and achieve a high quality of development, environmental sensitivity,
energy efficiency, and other City goals and objectives by:

1. Reducing or diminishing the inflexibility or uniform design that sometimes results

from strict application of zoning and development standards designed primarily for
individual lots;

2. Allowing greater freedom in selecting the means of providing access, open space,
and design amenities;

3. Allowing greater freedom in providing a well-integrated mix of residential and
nonresidential land uses in the same development, including a mix of housing types,
lot sizes, and densities;

4. Providing for efficient use of land resulting in smaller networks of utilities and
streets and thereby lowering development and housing costs; or

5. Promoting quality design and environmentally sensitive development that respects
surrounding established land use characteristics and respects and takes advantage of
a site’s natural and man-made features.

5. BASIC DATA

5.1

5.2

City of Flagler Beach Population

According to the 2024 American Community Survey (ACS) of the U.S. Census, the City
of Flagler Beach has a population of approximately 5,667, a 9.8% increase from the 2020
Census. Source: ACS, May 2024

The effects on population provided in the following section.

Proposed Population Veranda Bay

The analysis takes into consideration the current population of the City of Flagler Beach
plus the number of proposed units in the Master Planned Development of 377 single and
multi-family residential units on 234 acres.

Proposed MDA Population City of Flagler Beach = 2.08 persons/DU’s *377DU’s = 784
persons

Source:
https.:.//www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/flaglerbeachcityflorida,.flaglercountyflorida/PST045223

Page 69 of 391



5.3 Total Projected Population
Existing City of Flagler Beach + Proposed Veranda Bay Population = 6451 persons

54 Proposed Non-Residential (Commercial) Square Footage

The analysis takes into consideration the proposed non-residential development of 16,200
SQ FT.

5.5 Open Space, Buffers and Recreation

In addition to the 1,100 acres of conservation lands transferred to Flagler County, the
development proposes 90.42 acres of conservation; 45.06 acres of landscape/wetland
buffers; 64.47 acres of open space; and 6.72 acres of recreation; total of 206.67 acres;
plus 153 acres of dedicated waterfront.

6. CONSISTENCY AND COMPATIBILITY ANALYSIS

6.1 Land Use Compatibility

Surrounding Future Land Use Designations:

North: Mixed Use (City of Palm Coast designation); Medium Density, Commercial,
Other Public Facilities, Mixed Use, Low Density (City of Flagler Beach
designations); Agriculture, Conservation (Flagler County designations).

South: Agriculture, and Conservation (Flagler County designations).
East: Salt Water Marsh (City of Flagler Beach designation).

West: Agriculture, Conservation, and Mixed-Use High Intensity (Flagler County
designations).

The proposed amendment is consistent with the surrounding land use designations.

6.2 Surrounding Zoning Designations:

North: Commercial, Multifamily Residential, and Public/Semipublic (City of Palm Coast
designations); Highway Commercial, Medium Density Residential, Single Family
Residential, Light Industrial, and General Commercial (City of Flagler Beach
designations); and Agricultural and Rural Residential (Flagler County designations).
South: Planned Unit Development (Flagler County designation).

East: Conservation, and Preservation (City of Flagler Beach designations).

West: Planned Unit Development, General Commercial & Shopping Center, and
Agricultural (Flagler County designations

The proposed MPD zoning amendment is consistent with the surrounding zoning
designations.

7. PUBLIC FACILITIES / IMPACT ANALYSIS

In January 2007, the City of Flagler Beach, Flagler County, the City of Palm Coast, and
a private developer entered into a stipulated settlement agreement that delineated the
water and wastewater services areas for each utility provider.

8

Page 70 of 391



The City has taken action to expand the capacity of its potable water, wastewater, and
reuse water utility services and represents that adequate public facilities and services exist
and/or to exist to serve the subject property at its full build out 2035.

71 Potable Water Data and Analysis

The City of Flagler Beach is the only potable water supplier within its municipal limit.
The city is financially responsible for the maintenance and improvements to the potable
water system within its service area.

The potable water demand is calculated by summing the estimates from residential and
non-residential calculations.

7.1.2 Residential Potable Water Demand
City of Flagler Beach Existing Residential Potable Water Demand

The residential potable water demand is estimated by multiplying the existing population
served by 125 gallons per capita per day (GPCD).

Existing potable water demand = population served * 125 GPCD
City of FB Population = 3,576 units * 2.08 persons per unit = 7,438
Existing Potable Water Demand = 7,438 persons * 125 GPCD
Existing Potable Water Demand = 929,750 GPD

Veranda Bay Proposed Residential Potable Water Demand

The residential proposed water demand is estimated by multiplying the proposed
population by 125 gallons per capita per day (GPCD).

Proposed potable water demand = population served * 125 GPCD
Population = 377 units * 2.08 persons per unit = 784
Proposed potable water demand = 784 persons * 125 GPCD
Proposed potable water demand = 98,020 GPD
Total Existing + Proposed Projected Potable Water Demand
Total projected potable water demand = total population served * 125GPCD
Total Projected Potable Water Demand = 8222 persons * 125 GPCD
Total Projected Potable Water Demand = 1,027750 GPD

7.1.3 Non-Residential Potable Water Demand
City of Flagler Beach Existing Non-Potable Water Demand

The non-residential potable water demand is calculated at a rate of 2,000 gallons per
acre per day. The City currently has 13.41% of its land use zoned non-residential, or 324
acres with an average General Commercial impervious surface of 75% or 243 acres.

The non-residential wastewater demand is calculated as follows:

Existing non-residential potable water demand = number of acres * 2000 GPD

9

Page 71 of 391



Existing wastewater demand = 243 acres * 2000 GPD
Existing non-residential demand = 486,000 GPD
Veranda Bay Proposed Non-Residential Water Demand

The proposed non-residential potable water demand for Veranda Bay is estimated by
multiplying the non-residential square footage by .10 gallons per day (GPD).

Proposed non-residential water demand = 16,200 * .10 GPD/SQFT

Proposed non-residential water demand = 1,620 GPD

7.1.4 Findings Residential and Non-Residential Potable Water

The proposed FLUM and Zoning amendment will have a maximum potential demand
for potable water of 487,600 GPD. As part of the site plan/plat review process, the city
and developer will determine the appropriate engineering requirements (size of water
line, pump stations, etc.) for potable water service.

7.2 Wastewater Data and Analysis

The City currently owns and operates one wastewater treatment plant (WWTP), located
three miles east of the WTP. The wastewater treatment plant is being upgraded to a
capacity of 1.5 with capacity to upgrade to 2.0 mgd. The WWTP provides advanced
secondary treatment and disposes of the effluent into the Intracoastal Waterway.

The wastewater demand is calculated by summing the estimates from residential and non-
residential calculations.

7.2.1 Residential Wastewater Demand

City of Flagler Beach Existing Residential Wastewater Demand

The residential wastewater demand for each residential unit is calculated at
119/gal/person * 2.08 persons = 248 GPD/unit:

Existing wastewater demand = *units served *248 GPD/unit
Existing wastewater demand = 3576 * 248 GPD/unit
Existing wastewater demand = 886,848 GPD

Veranda Bay Proposed Residential Wastewater Demand

The proposed residential wastewater demand is calculated as follows:
Proposed wastewater demand = Total number units *248 GPD/unit
Population = 377 units * 248 GPD/unit
Proposed wastewater demand = 93,496 GPD

7.2.2 Non-Residential Wastewater Demand
City of Flagler Beach Existing Non-Residential Wastewater Demand

10

Page 72 of 391



The City of Flagler Beach currently has 13.41% of its land use zoned non-residential, or
324 acres. The average impervious surface in GC is 75% or 243 acres.

The non-residential wastewater demand is calculated as follows:

Existing non-residential wastewater demand = number of acres * 2000 GPD
Existing non-residential wastewater demand = 243 acres * 2000 GPD
Existing non-residential wastewater demand = 486,000 GPD

Veranda Bay Proposed Non-Residential Wastewater Demand
Proposed non-residential wastewater demand = SQ FT * .10 GPD/SQFT
Proposed non-residential wastewater demand = 16,200 SQFT * .10 GPD
Proposed non-residential wastewater demand = 16,200 GPD

7.2.3 Findings Residential and Non-Residential Wastewater

The proposed FLUM and Zoning amendment will have a maximum potential net increase
in demand for sanitary sewer treatment of 109,496 GPD. As part of the site plan/plat
review process, the property owner and/or developer will need to coordinate with the City
of Flagler Beach Utility Department to determine the appropriate engineering
requirements (size of sewer line, lift stations, etc.) for wastewater service.

7.3 Solid Waste Data and Analysis

Solid waste is operated by the City of Flagler Beach. The City is required to review its
Interlocal Agreements on Solid Waste Disposal with Flagler County and Solid Waste
Services with the Town of Beverly Beach to ensure that it includes specific and
adequate resources and capacity.

7.3.1 Solid Waste Demand
The level of service standards to be met by the City for solid waste shall be the
equivalent of 3.7 pounds per capita per day.

7.3.2 Solid Waste Demand Residential

Each individual discards 3.7 lbs. of solid waste per day. The daily demand per unit for
solid waste is calculated as 3.71bs/person * 2.08 persons = 7.70 1bs./per day/per unit.

City of Flagler Beach Existing Solid Waste Demand

Existing solid waste demand = units served * 7.7 1bs./per day/unit
Existing solid waste demand = 3576 * 7.7 Ibs./per day/unit
Existing solid waste demand = 27,535 LBS/Per Day

Veranda Bay Proposed Residential Solid Waste Demand

Proposed solid waste demand = units served * 7.7 lbs./per day/unit
Proposed solid waste demand = 377 * 7.7 1bs. per day/unit
Proposed solid waste demand = 2903 LBS/Per Day

7.3.3 Solid Waste Demand Non-Residential

Veranda Bay Proposed Non-Residential Solid Waste Demand
Proposed solid waste demand = SQ FT * 0.01 LBS/per day

11

Page 73 of 391



Proposed solid waste demand = 16,200 SQFT * 0.01 LBS/per day
Proposed solid waste demand = 162 LBS/Per Day

74 Stormwater Management

The project site drains to a portion of the Intraacoastal Waterway (ICW) that is listed as
impaired by Florida Department of Environmental Protection (FDEP). Therefore, the
stormwater management facilities will be designed such that the amount of Total
Nitrogen and Total Phosphorus discharged from the development sites in the post-
development condition will be less than that in the pre-development condition. The
design storms to be analyzed include the Mean-year/24-hour, 25-year/25-hour, and the
100-year/24-hour storms.

The stormwater management facilities will be designed such that the peak rate of
discharge in the post-development condition will be less than the pre-development
condition and will discharge to the same location.

The design will incorporate Best Management Practices (BMP’s) to ensure no adverse
hydrologic impacts to surrounding wetlands or communities. BMP’s will also be utilized
to ensure no discharge of sediment will occur. Portions of the subject site exist within the
FEMA 100-year floodplain, thus any proposed filling of the 100-year floodplain shall be
offset in the form of compensatory storage.

7.4.1 Stormwater Findings

The declarant shall be responsible for designing, permitting, constructing, and
maintaining the means of conveyance of stormwater runoff within the Project, including
not limited to all stormwater lines, ditches, culverts, and other stormwater facilities that
are necessary to convey and treat stormwater runoff.

In addition to incorporating BMP’s, stormwater treatment facilities are reviewed for
consistency with LOS during technical site plan review as LOS standards for stormwater
quantity and quality adhere to requirements established by the St. Johns River Water
Management District (SJRWMD), and other applicable regulatory requirements.

7.5 Transportation Impacts

The 234+/- acre site proposes a mixed-use development with an anticipated full build
out in 2035. A voluntary site-specific policy text amendment is incorporated so that PM
peak hours do not exceed 3,749 peak PM gross trip.

A Segment Traffic Analysis was CTS Solutions to assess the impact of the proposed
development. A voluntary site-specific policy text amendment is incorporated so that
PM peak hours do not exceed 3,749 peak PM gross trip. The report analyzes the impact
of the proposed mixed-use low-density project as defined in the Site-Specific
Amendment.

7.5.1 Roadway Segments and Intersections Within the Study Area

The report identified specific segments within the study area to determine the total traffic
volume on each study area segment. The project is examined in one, five (5) year period
(2025-2030). Tracts/Parcels Al, B, C, E and M are being annexed into the City of Flagler
Beach.

12

Page 74 of 391



The study area is a 2.5-mile radius surrounding the Subject property. The following
segments were studied:

©)
©)

©)

Segment 1: SR 100 (Moody Boulevard) from Colbert Lane to Tuscany Boulevard
Segment 2: SR 100 (Moody Boulevard) from CR 201 (John Anderson Highway)
to Colbert Lane

Segment 3: SR 100 (Moody Boulevard) from SR A1A to CR 201 (John Anderson
Highway)

Segment 4: SR A1A from S 14th Street to Ocean Marina Drive

Segment 5: Colbert Lane from Roberts Road to SR 100 (Moody Boulevard)
Segment 6: CR 201 (John Anderson Highway) from Walter Boardman Lane to SR
100 (Moody Boulevard)

Segment 7: Roberts Road from SR 100 (Moody Boulevard) to Colbert Lane

7.5.2 Pertinent Developments Included in Transportation Study

The following pertinent developments were included:

Coquina Shores Phase I Single Family Residential Subdivision: 233 units
Ocean Village Apartments: 416 units
Colbert Landings Single Family Residential Subdivision: 482 units
Lighthouse Harbor Luxury Apartments: 240 units
Lighthouse Harbor Mixed-Use Development:

o Commercial: 160,000 SQ FT

o Marina: 80 wet/ 200 dry

o Single Family / Townhomes / Apartments: 663 units
Barnes Office Building: 11,200 SQ FT
The Reserves East Single-Family Residential Subdivision: 217 units
Roberts Road Multi-Family Apartments (aka Flagler Beach apartments): 240
units
Beach Village Park Multi-Family Apartments (aka Beach Park Village
subdivision): 110 units

7.5.3 Findings Transportation Modifications/Improvements Required

7.6

Declarant obligated to comply with FDOT requirements for impacts to SR 100; and shall
construct improvements as may be provided for impacts to John Anderson Highway at
time deemed necessary; and shall be obligated for all costs of design, permitting, and
construction of all traffic improvements identified in the Transportation Study.

For the existing year 2025, all roadway segments currently operate at LOS D or better.
Background growth includes the approved, entitled Tracts/Parcels of Al, A2, and A3 as
committed trips. The Veranda Bay Segment Analysis demonstrates the project
development program will not result in a reduction in the adopted Level of Service during
the build out year through (2030).

Schools Impact

According to the Flagler County School Board 2024 Student Generation Rate Analysis,
School Concurrency entails evaluating the growth of residential areas and estimating the
potential student population these areas will generate for the school district. This
evaluation is achieved through the application of a Student Generation Rate (SGR) to

13

Page 75 of 391



planned residential development. The SGR represents the average number of students in
a household derived from an analysis of residential land use patterns and locations of
student addresses.

By multiplying the SGR by the number of planned residential units within a school zone,
school districts can project the expected number of students in each area.

Source:2024 Student Generation Analysis PDF (resources.finalsite.net)

7.6.1 Methodology

To accurately categorize residential land uses for parcels within Flagler County, the
School Board relies on Land Use Description and Codes from the Florida Department of
Revenue (DOR). Each parcel in the County is assigned a DOR code for tax assessments
assigned by the Flagler County Property Appraiser to distinguish between businesses,
homes and other classifications. DOR codes include various housing categories including
Single-family, Multi-family and Mobile/Manufactured homes. Single-family include
dwelling types such as single-family homes, townhouses, and duplexes. Multi-family
includes multi-family apartments, condominiums, Tri- and Quad-plexes.

7.6.2 2024 FC School Board Student Generation Rate Analysis

The SGR i1s derived by dividing the number of relevant students by the number of units.
To calculate the SGR, the number of students living in a specific housing type is divided
by the overall number of that specific housing type’s units.

2024 Single Multi Family Mobile
Family Home
Elementary,
Middle, High 0.212 0.079 N/A
Schools

7.7 Public Safety

Through mutual aid, fire and police are currently provided to this unincorporated area.
The Developer previously donated to Flagler County a three (3) acre parcel of land for a
fire station to serve the Project and the residents along John Anderson Highway.

Fire protection requirements for the Project will be met through a system of fire hydrants
installed on the Project by the Developer in accordance with City standards. The
locations of fire hydrants shall be shown on all construction documents, technical site
plans, or preliminary plats. The Project shall comply with the City’s fire protection
requirements. The City will provide fire protection services to the Project in accordance
with established local response agreements.

7.8 Economic Impact Data and Analysis

The developer submitted economic benefit data of the proposed project (2024) for FLUM
amendment for 899+/- acres with the following data:

Residential Property Tax:  $999,530,156
Commercial Property Tax: $17,850, 979

14

Page 76 of 391



8.1

8.1.2

8.1.3

School Impact Fee: $12.265,864
Flagler Beach Impact Fees: $336,572,169

Undeveloped Lands and Cultural, Historical, and Natural
Resources

Atlantic Ecological Services conducted a site survey of the Veranda Bay property. The
subject property consists of open land areas currently under construction for a residential
neighborhood, and undeveloped upland and wetland habitats. The property contains
approximately 768.39 acres of uplands, 133.24 acres of wetlands, and 1.31 acres of
upland cut surface waters. No protected flora or fauna species are expected to inhabit the
subject property. The results of the site assessment are described in this section of the
Finding Report.

Soils Map

Soil information is part of a geotechnical investigation that helps determine how the soil
will react to proposed changes, anticipate conditions and provide preliminary
foundation recommendations. The wetlands are detailed on the Soi/ Map Veranda Bay
Flagler County, Florida and reflect the boundaries that were delineated in the field
pursuant to state and federal guidelines (Chapter 62-340 F.A.C. and the 1987 Corps of
Engineers Wetlands Delineation Manual).

Topography Map

The topographic map uses contour lines to illustrate the elevation changes on the
property’s surface. Contour lines join points of equal elevation throughout the map. The
topographic map shows water features, geographic place names, and cultural features.

Habitat Uplands

Open Lands Under Construction- Approximately 160.99 acres of the subject property
consists of land currently under construction for a residential development.

Herbaceous - Approximately 10.88 acres of the site exists as herbaceous non-forested
uplands. These areas were cleared during the original construction start of the project in
2007. Clearing and grading occurred, but no infrastructure was constructed. The area
consists primarily of bahia grass (Paspalum notatum) and a mix of ruderal weeds.

Sand Pine - Approximately 5.48 acres of the subject property consists of sand pine
habitat which was historically scrub. The canopy consists of 100% coverage of sand pine
(Pinus clausa).

Hardwood Conifer Mixed - Approximately 300.24 acres of the uplands found on the site
are considered mixed pine oak hammock habitat. Canopy species consisted of mature
trees and include live oak (Quercus virginiana) and sand live oak (Quercus geminata),
slash pine (Pinus elliottii), sand pine, southern magnolia (Magnolia grandifolia), pignut
hickory (Carya glabra), laurel oak (Quercus laurifolia), and sweetgum (Liquidambar
styraciflua). Subcanopy species included red cedar (Juniperus virginiana) and hackberry
(Ceftis occidentalis). The understory is dominated by a thick cover of saw palmetto
(Serenoa repens). Other species found, but at a much lesser extent, include red bay
(Persea borbonia), wax myrtle (Myrica cerifera), yaupon holly (lex vomitoria), wax

15

Page 77 of 391



myrtle (Myrica cerifera), greenbriar (Smilax spp.), and bracken fem (Pteridium
aquilinum).

Pine Plantation - Multiple upland areas on the subject property totaling 292.74 acres are
considered active pine plantation and include only slash pine (Pinus elliottii). The
understory is dominated primarily by saw palmetto, but also contains wax, fetterbush
(Lyonia ferrigunea), gallberry (flex glabra), and pine needle litter.

Disturbed Land - Approximately 3.01 acres of the subject property consists of disturbed
uplands associated with prior earthwork on the site in preparation for the former
development. This area differs from the herbaceous areas previously described in the in
that this area includes heavy grading and road frontage land work. The elevations in this
area are not natural and in such have re-vegetated in a non-native form. Large areas of
open sand are found in this habitat. The vegetation consists of dogfennel (Eupatorium
capillifolium), saltbush (Baccharis halimifolia), slash pine, bahia grass, St. Augustine
grass (Stenotaphrum secundatum), and other weeds.

8.1.4 Wetlands

Mangrove - Approximately 8.63 acres of the subject property consists of estuarine
mangrove habitat with mosquito ditching open water. This area consists primarily of
black mangroves (4Avicenia germinans) and red mangroves (Rhizophora mangle).

Mixed Wetland Hardwoods - Approximately 79.39 acres of the site consists of a mixed
hardwood wetland slough. The dominant canopy species includes laurel oak,
hackberry, live oak, American elm (Ulmus americana), red maple (Acer rubrum), and
cabbage palm (Sabal palmetto). The understory is dominated by saw palmetto, shiny
lyonia (Lyonia lucida), dahoon holly (flex cassine), wax myrtle, buttonbush
(Cephalanthes occidentalis), sawgrass (Cladium jamaicense), swamp fem (Blechnum
serrulatum), royal fem (Osmunda regalis), Virginia chain fem (Woodwardia virginica),
and cinnamon fem (Osmunda cinnamomea).

Wetland Mixed Forest -Approximately 2.96 acres of the site consists of wetland mixed
forest. These habitats are located along the eastern boundary of the site along the
Intracoastal Waterway (ICW). Vegetation includes slash pine, live oak, laurel oak,
yaupon holly, cedar, wax myrtle, salt bush, and saw grass.

Wetland Scrub - Approximately 34.95 acres of the site consists of wetland scrub
habitat. The dominant species is Carolina willow (Salix caroliniana), saltbush, slash
pine, laurel oak, cabbage palm, sand cordgrass (Spartina bakeri), royal fem, swamp
fem, and leather fem (Acrostichum danaeifolium).

Saltwater Marsh - Approximately 7.31 acres of the site consists of tidal saltmarsh
habitat. The dominant species includes needle rush (Juncus roemerianus), black
mangrove, sand cordgrass, marsh elder (Iva frutescens), sawgrass, saltwort (Batis
maritima), and glasswort (Salicornia spp.).

8.1.5 Surface Waters

Ditches - Multiple man-made surface water ditches (totaling approximately 0.35 acres)
are located on the site. Each surface water was originally cut through upland habitats.

16

Page 78 of 391



Surface Water Pond - Approximately 0.96 acres of upland cut surface water pond is
located on the subject property.

8.1.6 Wildlife Observations

Wildlife observations, both direct and indirect, were made throughout the course of the site
ivestigation. A list of species observed is provided in the following table:

Taxon Common Name Scientific Name Protected
Birds
American Crow Corvus brachyrhynchos No
Northern cardinal Cardina/is cardinalis No
Black vulture Coragyps atratus No
Red shouldered hawk Buteo lineatus No
Blue Jay Cyanocitta cristata No
Mammals
Florida Black Bear Ursus Americanus No
floridanus
Gray Squirrel Sciurus carolinensis No
White Tailed Deer Odocoileus virginianus No
Reptiles
Gopher Tortoise Gopherus polyphemus Yes
Diamondback rattlesnake | Crotalus adamanteus No
Cottonmouth Agkistrodon piscivorus No
Southern black racer Coluber constrictor No

8.1.7 Protected Species

A preliminary gopher tortoise survey was conducted on May 28-30, 2024, in accordance
with the techniques outlined in the publication, Ecology and Habitat Protection Needs of
Gopher Tortoise (Gopherus polyphemus) Populations Found on Lands Slated for
Development in Florida. A total of twenty-nine (29) potentially occupied gopher tortoise
burrows were 1dentified. Surveys are valid for a period of 90 days. Prior to clearing and
construction an FWC conservation permit will be required and all gopher tortoise
burrows must be excavated and tortoises relocated to an offsite recipient site.

8.1.8 Findings Gopher Tortoise

All tortoise burrows identified on the site will be permitted and excavation of the
burrows will occur. If commensal species are identified during the excavation of the
burrows, then each will be relocated to an appropriate relocation site.

8.1.9 List of Species Observed

The eastern indigo snake (Drymarchon corais couperi) has a moderate likelihood to
occur on the subject property due to the presence of gopher tortoise burrows and a mix
of upland and wetland hammock. The indigo snake is a gopher tortoise commensal
species due to its association with and utilization of gopher tortoise burrows for their life
requisites.

Mixed wetland hardwood habitats within the property provide suitable foraging habitat
for the wood stork, however the nearest wood stork rookery is located 18 miles
southwest of the subject property.

17

Page 79 of 391



Long-legged waders have a moderate likelihood to utilize wetlands. The subject property
is not located within core foraging habitat.

A Florida black bear was observed within the subject property. The project area lies
within the Central Bear Management Unit. The Florida black bear is no longer a
protected species by FWC but is a managed species. FWC will be a commenting agency
during the ERP permitting process.

The FWC's Eagle Nest Locator website was queried for data regarding documented
southern bald eagle (Haliaeetus I. leucocephalus) nests in the project vicinity. The
southern bald eagle is protected under the Bald and Golden Eagle Protection Act.
Development guidelines are required for any proposed projects with 330 feet for urban
areas and 660 feet for non-urban areas. The nearest known nest is located 1.4 miles
south of the property. Therefore, this project is not likely to adversely affect the southern
bald eagle.

8.1.10 Findings of Species Observed
Indigo Snake

Best Management Practices during construction for the eastern indigo snake will be
incorporated. Eastern indigo snake signage will be installed at the construction office for
instruction on procedures if an indigo snake enters the construction area. With the above
measures being incorporated, development of the subject property is not anticipated to
adversely affect the eastern indigo snake.

Wood Stork

All suitable habitat within a 13-mile radius of a known rookery is considered core
foraging habitat. Since the subject property is not located within core foraging habitat,
no impact to this species is anticipated.

Long Legged Waders

No wading bird rookeries are known or were identified on or near the subject property,
and the project is not likely to adversely affect any wading bird populations.

Florida Black Bear

FWC will likely provide comment that Florida black bear specific BMP's, construction
and design specifications be utilized for project.

Southern Bald Eagle

Development guidelines are required for any proposed projects with 330 feet for urban
areas and 660 feet for non-urban areas. The nearest known nest is located 1.4 miles
south of the property. Therefore, this project is not likely to adversely affect the
southern bald eagle.

9. CONSISTENCY WITH CITY OF FLAGLER BEACH
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Policy A.2.4.1 - Future Land Use Map amendments shall include the following analyses:

18

Page 80 of 391



a. An analysis of the availability of facilities and services.

b. An analysis of the sustainability of the plan amendment for its proposed use
considering the character of undeveloped land, soils, topography, natural resources,
and historic resources on site.

c. An analysis of the minimum amount of land needed to achieve the goals and
requirements of Objective A.2.4

9.1 Public Facilities
Policy H.6.7.1

The City shall review all proposed transportation plans and improvements to determine
the impacts such projects or proposals will have on the City’s transportation network.

Policy H.6.7.2

The City shall review all proposed development and require developers of new
subdivisions or commercial development to submit information concerning the traffic
impact of the project. The impact upon the adopted LOS standard and consistency with
the Comprehensive Plan and shall follow the provisions of the concurrency management
system in ensuring that the LOS is maintained for all roadways.

Policy D.1.2.3

Consistent with public health and safety, sanitary sewer, solid waste, drainage, adequate
water supplies, and potable water facilities shall be in place and available to serve new
development no later than the issuance by the local government of a certificate of
occupancy or its functional equivalent. Prior to approval of a building permit or its
functional equivalent, the local government shall consult with the applicable water
supplier to determine whether adequate water supplies to serve the new development will
be available no later than the anticipated date of issuance by the local government of a
certificate of occupancy or its functional equivalent.

9.1.2 Findings Public Facilities

A comprehensive analysis was completed to examine the demand and impact to the
City’s public facilities and services.

Studies were provided by licensed and/or professionals who surveyed the site and/or
modeled the impacts to maintain the LOS.

The proposed development is consistent with the Public Facilities Element and the
Comprehensive Plan.

9.2 Future Land Use Element

Policy A.1.2.2 -Application filing procedures shall require topographic, soil condition,
flood hazard zone, and wetland zone surveys filed in support of a land use amendment,
zoning change, or land subdivision.

Objective A.1.4 -The City shall seek to improve its ad valorem tax base by encouraging
development.

19

Page 81 of 391



9.2.1

9.3

Policy A.1.4.1 -The City shall investigate opportunities for annexation of commercial and
value-added properties.

Policy A.1.1.1 - The City shall not issue a building permit or other development orders until
the City Manager or his or her designee certifies that required public facilities and services
will be provided concurrent with the needs of development. No Certificate of Occupancy
shall be issued until facilities and services are in operation

Policy A.1.1.2 = The City shall maintain Land Development Regulations (LDRs), which
contain the specific and detailed provisions that are necessary to implement the adopted
Comprehensive Plan.

Policy A.1.1.4 - The City Manager or his or her designee shall apply concurrency
management to all new development and subdivisions to ensure that private development
and public facility construction remain coordinated. Such a test for concurrency will be a
requirement of the developer and will be based upon developer commitment.

a. Concurrency shall be measured against Levels of Service (LOS) established for
water, sewer, recreation, drainage, roads, and solid waste identified in each appropriate
element and the Capital Improvement Element of this plan. Application of LOS criterion
will be in accordance with the minimum requirements for concurrency as identified in
163.3180(2), F.S.

Policy A.1.2.2 - Application filing procedures shall require topographic, soil condition,
flood hazard zone, and wetland zone surveys filed in support of a land use amendment,
zoning change, or land subdivision.

Policy A.1.3.1 - The donation of utility service facility sites to the City shall be a
condition of development approval where applicable.

Policy A.1.4.1 - The City shall investigate opportunities for annexation of commercial and
value-added properties.

Policy A.1.4.3 -The City shall encourage the use of innovative LDRs, which may include
provisions for master planned developments, mixed land use development techniques and
the clustering of commercial uses in appropriate nodes.

Policy A.2.1.4 - The City shall require a buffer of no less than 25 feet adjacent to and
surrounding all wetlands (including saltwater marsh). This buffer shall consist of existing
vegetation native to the site, which shall be preserved or replanted between the site of
actual development activity and the boundary of the wetland/saltwater marsh.

Findings Future Land Use Element

A comprehensive analysis was completed to examine how the proposed development
supports the goals and objectives of the Land Use Element and is found to be consistent
with the Future Land Use Element of the City’s Comprehensive Plan.

Housing Element
Policy C.1.1.3

To reduce the high cost of land for development of affordable housing, the City shall
consider the use of innovative land development techniques such as zero-lot-line, Master

20

Page 82 of 391



Planned Development, use of smaller sized lots and density bonuses for development of
affordable housing units.

9.3.1 Findings Housing Element

A comprehensive analysis was completed to examine how the proposed development
supports the policies of Housing Element and is found to be consistent with the Housing
Element of the City’s Comprehensive Plan.

9.4 Public Facilities Element

Policy D.1.5.3

The City shall permit development only where the capacity of public facilities meets
concurrency requirements as established by Section 163.3180, F.S. and that the developer
shall be required to guarantee that adopted LOS be maintained.

9.4.1 Findings Public Facilities Element

A comprehensive analysis was completed to examine the demand and impact to the
City’s public facilities and services.

Studies were provided by licensed and/or professionals who surveyed the site and/or
modeled the impacts to maintain the LOS.

The proposed development is consistent with the Public Facilities Element and the
Comprehensive Plan.

Staff Recommendation

Based on the data, analysis and findings, staff recommends that the Planning and Architectural
Review Board (PARB) find the Large-Scale Future Land Use Amendment (FLUM) map and
Text Amendment consistent with the Comprehensive Plan, and SB 180, and recommend to the
City Commission to approve the Future Land Use Map amendment from unincorporated land
use designations to the City of Flagler Beach land use designations of Low Density Residential
and General Commercial; and approve the limiting site specific policy text amendment.

21

Page 83 of 391



Exhibits —-Maps
1. Aerial Map
Soils Map
Topographic Map

. Habitat Map

2

3

4. Gopher Tortoise Burrow Location Map

5

6. Existing Zoning City of Flagler Beach/ Unincorporated Flagler County
7

. Existing FLUM City of Flagler Beach/ Unincorporated Flagler County

22

Page 84 of 391



, Florida 32258
www.etminc.com
eDdb: of 8bs5

I
Pag

Augustine Road, Jacksonville
| www.etmgeo.com

14776 Od St
904 6428990

ts

ity Lim

Boundary
ty of Flagler Beach C

on

Annexat

.2
—c

@
o
<
o
k3]
£
Q
5
w

Jacksonv
\\ETM-FILE-19\Projects-0612025\25-021\GIS\Production\Veranda Bay Map Sef\Veranda Bay\Verand Bay Comp Plan1.aprx




Page 8607139425

=

8

€

£

:

£
8
3
j=
E
g
]
&
o~
3
=«
&

[Source: ETM, Flagler County, SSURGO, Esn, Nearmap
[C—J) Subject Property

UE

Annexation Boundary
[ city of Flagler Beach City Limits

=
0
coo

X

AR
s

Immokalee
Pomello
Astatula
Adamesville
Samsula
Turnbull
Cassia
EauGallie
Jacksonville

Myakka
Placid
Orsino
Water

’
’

N
!

S ..ﬁ%

13,

Hydric Soils
E-19\Projects-0612025\25-021\GIS\Production\Veranda Bay Map Sef\Veranda Bay\Verand Bay Comp Plan1.aprx

|| 35,Quartzipsamments
Bimini

i
1l 12
: |
RE
20
{1 22
1 23
24
il 126
o 27
36
| | 38,Pacla




Jacksonville
Q

) [C—] Subject Property

F="h Annexation Boundary

ooo

[ City of Flagler Beach City Limits
—— Flagler County 5ft Contours

14776 Old St. Augustine k:o;\villo, Florida 3226
9046428990 | www.etmgeo.com | www.etminc.com

\ETM-FILE-19\Projects-06\2025\25-021\GIS\Production\Veranda Bay Map Sef\Veranda Bay\Verand Bay Comp Plan1.aprx Page 8afeof/B9b25




© Gopher Tortoise Burrow (29)
Project Area

mage Source: ESRI 2022

Date: 5-31-24
0 600 1,200 @
N fect

Section 3, Item c.

Gopher Tortoise Burrow Location Map

Veranda Bay
Flagler County, Florida VWWWATLANTICECO
504-347-9133 | jody@atlenticec:

201 Basque Rd | St. Augustine, FL

Page 88 of 391



9

i

Project Area - 905.85 ac
Habitat
180 - Open Land Under Construction - 160.99
T 310-Herbaceouos - 8.84 ac
B 413 - Sand Pine - 5.48
71424 - Hardwood Conifer Mix- 300 24 ac
441 - Pine Plantation - 292.74 ac. ac
.513-Ditch - 0.35 ac
B 530 - Surface Water - 0.96 ac
B 6 12-Mangrove - 8.63 ac.
I 677 - Mixed Wetland Hardweods - 78.3¢ ac
"~ 630-Wetland Mixed Forest - 2.96 ac.
B 831-WWetland Scrub - 34.95 ac
B 542-Salt Marsh - 7 31 ac.
I 740-Disturbed Land - 2.01 ac.

Image Source: ESRI 2022 Habltat Map
Date: 5-23-24 Ve ra nda Bay

0 600 1200 Flagler County, Florida
) feet

Page 89 of 391




o/ /ey

WRN)ILIGHT
(R1)ILIGHT S ;

P- PRESERVATION
o _ ‘? Ay ’.»)v

»

v

City of Flagler Beach Zoning (Flagler County)

[ C- CONSERVATION

[ | GC- GENERAL COMMERICAL

[ ] LDR-LOW DENSITY

[ ] LI-LIGHT INDUSTRIAL

|| MDR- MEDIUM DENSITY RESIDENTIAL

[ | P- PRESERVATION

| PUD- PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT

[ | R-RESERVED

[ | REC- RECREATION

[ ] SFR- SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL (R1)

[ | TC-TOURIST COMMERICAL

Flagler County Wide Unincorporated Zoning
AC: AGRICULTURAL
PUD: PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT 1)
R-1: RURAL RESIDENTIAL ?“, z_;,. .

. — . .,_‘.‘.".‘-‘
AL TR R S g W e SO A

j_} Jacksonville
Q

e VR

N
Zoning W E
[Source: ETM, Flagier County, Esn, Nearmap] S
o [C—J) Subject Property 0 1,000 2,000
¥ =% Annexation Boundary

[ city of Flagler Beach City Limits

Orlando
o) ¢
ENGLAND-THIMS &MILLER Sarwmumon s Tin ot 10
14775 Old St. Augustine Road, Jacksonville, Florida 32258
9046428990 | www.etmgeo.com | www.etminc.com

ETM-FILE-19\Projects-06\2025125-021\GIS\ProductiomVeranda Bay Map Sefi\Veranda Bay\Verand Bay Comp Plan1.aprx Page B88eof/ 89025




| Pod Acres | FLU Jurisdiction
Al 152.61 | AG-Timber | Flagler County
‘IB&cC 22.66 | AG-Timber | Flagler County
|E&M 35.44 | AG-Timber | Flagler County N
F 23.27 | Low-Density | ity Of Flagler Beach -
.'\_‘. Total (Annexation) | 210.71
| Total 233.98
— - =
City of Flagler Beach Future Land Use
Medium Density

Low Density
I Commercial \ &
[ Conservation

Public Buildings & Grounds

I Other Public Facilities % \f AT : .
Flagler County Wide Future Land Use 2 \\ A 5
AG-TIMBER el e e
- CONS o '.';'\\\;Lv & “ S ";;';//.,/
. NG e ¥ 24

rcial

AN W2 %

ey

A

Veranda Bay

!

Jacksonville
Q

Future Land Use

[Source: ETM, Flagier County, Esn, Nearmap]

[CJ) Project Pods
=% Annexation Boundary

coo

[ city of Flagler Beach City Limits

Orlando
O

\\ETM-FILE-19\Projects-0612025\25-021\GIS\Production\Veranda Bay Map Sef\Veranda Bay\Verand Bay Comp Plan1.aprx

()
k
)
%
N
w;%E
s
0 1,000 2,000
Feet

14775 Old St Augustine Road, Jacksonville, Florida 32258
9046428990 | www.etmgeo.com | www.etminccom

Pagendi: of89bs5




ORDINANCE 2025-23
VERANDA BAY COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AMENDMENT
APPLICATION NO. PFL.UMA25-0001

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF

FLAGLER BEACH, FLORIDA, AMENDING THE COMPREHENSIVE

PLAN FUTURE LAND USE MAP DESIGNATION FOR APPROXIMATELY

233.92 ACRES OF CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY; PROVIDING FOR

SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS; AND PROVIDING

FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE.

WHEREAS, the City Commission of the City of Flagler Beach enacted Ordinance 2018-
11, adopting the 2035 Comprehensive Plan which includes the City of Flagler Beach Future Land
Use Map (FLUM), which Plan and FL.LUM have been amended from time-to-time; and

WHEREAS, Secction 163.3161 et seq., Florida Statutes established the Community
Planning Act; and

WHEREAS, Section 163.3184, Florida Statutes, establishes a process for adoption of
comprehensive plans or plan amendments amending the future land use designation of property;
and

WHEREAS, the City of Flagler Beach is desirous of amending the future land use
designation of property located within the City from Agriculture, Conservation, and Mixed Use:
High-Intensity (Flagler County Designations), and Low and Medium Density (City of Flagler
Beach Designations) to Low Density Residential and Commercial {City of Flagler Beach
Designations); and

WHEREAS, the Developer has offered a limiting policy to accompany the map
amendment voluntarily limiting certain development entitlements as set forth herein; and

WHEREAS, the City of Flagler Beach Planning and Architectural Review Board (PARB)
acting as the City’s Local Planning Agency, considered the proposed map amendments at public
hearing on October 7, 2025, and voted to recommend APPROVAL of the proposed Comprehensive
Plan Amendment; and

WHEREAS, on October 9, 2025, and November 13, 2025, the City of Flagler Beach City
Commission held public hearings on this Comprehensive Plan amendment after due public notice
and upon thorough and complete consideration and deliberation, adopted the proposed

Comprehensive Plan amendment; and

Page 92 of 391




WHEREAS, the Comprehensive Plan amendment adopted by this Ordinance comiplies
with the requirements of the Community Planning Act, the State Comprehensive Plan as set forth
in Chapter 187, Florida Statutes, as well as other applicable law, and is consistent with the goals,
objectives, and policies and the overall land use plan of the City’s Comprehensive Plan; and

WHEREAS, the City Commission of the City of Flagler Beach hereby reaffirms its
commitment to the goal of enacting and implementing sound growth management practices within
the City; and

WHEREAS, the City Commission of the City of Flagler Beach finds that this Ordinance

is in the best interest of the health, safety, and welfare of the citizens of Flagler Beach,

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED BY THE CITY COMMISSION
OF FLAGLER BEACH, FLORIDA, THAT THE FUTURE LAND USE MAP IS AMENDED
AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1. LEGISLATIVE AND ADMINISTRATIVE FINDINGS. The above

recitals (whereas clauses) are hereby adopted as the legislative and administrative findings of the

City Commission of the City of Flagler Beach.

SECTION 2. COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AND FUTURE LAND USE MAP
AMENDED. The Future Land Use Map designation {or the approximately 233.92 acre subject
area generally located along the east and west of John Anderson Highway, and directly south of
State Road 100 as legally described in Exhibit “A” and depicted in Exhibit “B”, attached hereto,
is amended from Agriculture, Conservation, and Mixed Use: High-Intensity (Flagler County
Designations), and Low and Medium Density (City of Flagler Beach Designations) to Low Density
Residential and Commercial (City of Flagler Beach Designations) with a Text Policy Amendment
to limit development as described in Exhibit “C”.

SECTION 3. CONFLICTS. All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith
are hereby repealed.

SECTION 4. NON-CODIFICATION. As this amendment only changes the Future Land
Use Map, it is not necessary to codify this Ordinance.

SECTION 5. SEVERABILITY. If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase pr

provision of this Ordinance is held to be unconstitutional or otherwise invalid by a court of

Page 93 of 391




competent jurisdiction, such unconstitutionality or invalidity shall not be construed as to render
unconstitutional or invalid the remaining provisions of the Ordinance.
SECTION 6. EFFECTIVE DATE. The effective date of this plan amendment, if the

amendment is not timely challenged, shall be 31 days after the state land planning agency notifies

the local government that the plan amendment package is complete. If timely challenged, this
amendment shall become effective on the date the state land planning agency or the Administration
Commission enters a final order determining this adopted amendment to be in compliance. No
development orders, development permits or land use dependent on this amendment may be issued
or commence before it has become effective. If a final order of noncompliance is issued by the
Administration Commission, this amendment may nevertheless be made effective by adoption of
a resolution affirming its effective status, a copy of which resolution shall be sent to the state land
planning agency.

APPROVED on first reading after due public notice and hearing the 9" day of October
2025.

ADOPTED on second reading after due public notice and public hearing this 13" day of
November 2025.

ATTEST: CITY OF FLAGLER BEACH, FLORIDA
CITY COMMISSION
CITY CLERK Patti King, Mayor

APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGALITY:

DREW SMITH, CITY ATTORNEY

Page 94 of 391




EXHIBIT "A”

PART OF PHASE 1-A AND 2-A VERANDA BAY AND PART OF SECTION 38, TOWNSHIP
12 SOUTH, RANGE 31 EAST, FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA,

A PART OF VERANDA BAY PHASE 1A AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 40, PAGES 59
THROUGH 64 OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA TOGETHER
WITH A PART OF VERANDA BAY PHASE 2A ASRECORDED INPLAT BOOK 40, PAGES
65 THROUGH 70 OF SAID PUBLIC RECORDS ALSO TOGETHER WITH A PART OF OF
SECTION 38, TOWNSHIP 12 SOUTH, RANGE 31 EAST, FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA,
AND BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: FOR A POINT OF
BEGINNING, COMMENCE AT THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF TRACT 1A-4 OF SAID
VERANDA BAY PHASE A; THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE WESTERLY LINES OF
SAID TRACT 1A-4 THE FOLLOWING TWELVE COURSES: THENCE NORTH 18°15'20”
WEST, A DISTANCE OF 260.4%9 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 71°44°40” WEST, A DISTANCE
OF 140.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 18°15'20” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 20.00 FEET;
THENCE NORTH 71°44'40" EAST, A DISTANCE OF 140.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH
18°15°20” WEST, A DISTANCE 960.06 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 71°44°40” WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 140.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 18°15°20” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 20.00
FEET; THENCE NORTH 71°44'40” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 140.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH
18°15°20” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 244.38 FEET, THENCE SOUTH 78°03'28" WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 137.96 FEET TO A POINT ON A CURVE OF A CURVE CONCAVE TO THE
EAST AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 475.00 FEET AND A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 10°47°20%;
THENCE NORTHEASTERLY ALONG SAID CURVE AN ARC DISTANCE OF 8%.44 FEET
AND BEING SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF NORTH 06°32'52" WEST; AND
CHORD DISTANCE OF 8%9.31 FEET TO A POINT ON SAID CURVE; THENCE NORTH
86°59°44” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 140.07 FEET; THENCE NORTH 019097 12" WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 568.36 FEET; THENCE NORTH 88°50°48™ EAST, A DISTANCE OF 63.62
FEET; THENCE NORTH 01°07’10" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 161.55 FEET; THENCE
NORTH 88°54°24™ EAST, A DISTANCE OF 176,36 FEET; THENCE NORTH §1°52'10” EAST
ALONG A WESTERLY LINE OF TRACT 1A-5 OF SAID VERANDA BAY PHASE A A
DISTANCE OF 2529 FEET; THENCE NORTH 13°13'08" EAST CONTINUING ALONG A
WESTERLY LINE OF SAID TRACT, A DISTANCE OF 0.37 FEET; TO THE INTERSECTION
WITH THE NORTH LINE OF SAID TRACT OF 1A-5; THENCE NORTH 88°54'24” EAST,
ALONG SAID NORTHERLY LINE OF TRACT 1A-5 AND CONTINUING ALONG THE
NORTHERLY LINE OF SAID VERANDA BAY PHASE 1A, A DISTANCE OF 1304.54 FEET
TO THE POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF FLORIDA INTRACOASTAL
WATERWAY AND THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF VERANDA BAY PHASE 1A ;
THENCE ALONG SAID WEST RIGHT OF WAY LINE AND THE EASTERLY LINE OF
SAID VERANDA BAY PHASE 1A, SOUTH 13°58'25" EAST, A DISTANCE OF 1950.55
FEET TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID VERANDA BAY PHASE 1A AND ALSO
TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF SAID VERANDA BAY PHASE 2A; THENCE
CONTINUE SOUTH 13°58'25" EAST ALONG SAID RIGHT OF WAY LINE AND ALONG
THE EASTERLY LINE OF SAID VERANDA BAY PHASE 2A, A DISTANCE OF 799,39
FEET, THENCE SOUTH 21°17°55” EAST, CONTINUING ALONG SAID RIGHT OF WAY
LINE AND EASTERLY LINE, A DISTANCE OF 1265.37 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 03°54°39"
WEST ALONG SAID EASTERLY LINE, A DISTANCE OF 90.51 FEET TO THE
SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID VERANDA BAY PHASE 2A; THENCE CONTINUE
SOUTH 03°54°39" WEST, ALONG A WESTERLY LINE OF THE BISTORIC CHANNEL OF
HAW LOVERS CREEK, A DISTANCE OF 57.72 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 19°27°17" EAST,
A DISTANCE OF 644.30 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 68°58’ 11" EAST, A DISTANCE OF 113.95
FEET TO A POINT ON SAID INTRACOASTAL RIGHT OF WAY, THENCE SOUTH
21°17°55” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 338.95 FEET TO THE NORTHERLY LINE OF TRACT
“PL-3" OF GARDENS AT HAMMOCK BEACH AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 35, PAGES
80 THROUGH ; THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID NORTHERLY LINE THE
FOLLOWING FIVE COURSES: SOUTH 69°58°00" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 666,02 FEET,
THENCE SOUTH 20°060°08” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 243.62 FEET; THENCE SOUTH
69°00°06” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 512.95 FEET TO THE POINT OF CURVE OF A CURVE
CONCAVE NORTHERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 475.00 FEET AND AN ARC

Page 95 of 391




DISTANCE OF 298.48 FEET AND SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH
86°59°57” WEST AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 293.59 FEET TO THE POINT OF
TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE; THENCE NORTH 75°04'31” WEST, A DISTANCE OF
102,42 FEET; THENCE NORTH 43°30°{2” WEST, DEPARTING FROM SAID NORTHERLY
LINE, A DISTANCE OF 153.12 FEET TO A POINT ON THE MOST SOUTH POINT OF SAID
VERANDA BAY PHASE 2A; THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE WEST LINES OF SAID
VERANDA BAY PHASE 2A THE FOLLOWING NINE COURSES: THENCE NORTH
32°58°38” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 357.54; THENCE NORTH 12°24'49" WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 43,38 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 71°49°46” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 68.04
FEET; THENCE NORTH 18°i0°14* WEST, A DISTANCE OF 152.62 FEET; THENCE
NORTH 16°36’36” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 82.23 FEET; THENCE NORTH 73°23°24” WEST,
A DISTANCE OF 139.49 FEET TO A POINT ON A CURVE OF A CURVE CONCAVE TO
THE SOUTHEAST AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 25.00 FEET AND A CENTRAL ANGLE
OF 11°32'10”; THENCE SOUTHWESTERLY ALONG SAID CURVE AN ARC DISTANCE
OF 5.03 FEET AND SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH 22°22°42” WEST
AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 5.03 FEET TO A POINT ON SAID CURVE; THENCE
NORTH 73°23'24” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 50.00 FEET TO A POINT ON A CURVE OF A
CURVE CONCAVE TO THE WEST AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 25.00 FEET AND A
CENTRAL ANGLE OF 11°32°13%; THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG SAID CURVE AN ARC
DISTANCE OF 5,03 AND SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF NORTH 10°50°2%"
EAST AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 5.03 FEET TO A POINT ON SAID CURVE; THENCE
NORTH 21°20°50” WEST, DEPARTING FROM SAID WESTERLY LINE, A DISTANCE OF
114,14 FEET TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF TRACT 2A-11 OF SAID VERANDA BAY
PHASE 2A; THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE WESTERLY LINES OF SAID TRACT 2A-
11 AND ALSO THE WESTERLY LINES OF SAID VERANDA BAY PHASE 2A THE
FOLLOWING THIRTEEN COURSES: THENCE NORTH 16°36'36" EAST, A DISTANCE GF
18.72 FEET TO A POINT ON A CURVE OF A CURVE CONCAVE WESTERLY AND
HAVING A RADIUS OF 365.00 FEET AND A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 34°46°50”; THENCE
NORTHERLY ALONG SAID CURVE AN ARC DISTANCE OF 221.57 FEET AND
SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF NORTH 00°46’4%” WEST AND A CHORD
DISTANCE OF 218.18 FEET TO THE POINT OF TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE; THENCE
NORTH 18°10°14” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 24.44 FEET; THENCE SCUTH 71°49’46"” WEST,
A DISTANCE OF 140.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 18°10'14” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 20.00
FEET; THENCE NORTH 71°49°46” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 140.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH
181014 WEST, A DISTANCE OF 935,73 FEET; THENCE NORTH 01°32'26” WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 384,95 FEET; THENCE SOUTIH 88°27'34" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 140.00
FEET; THENCE NORTH 041°32'26" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 20.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH
88°27°34” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 140.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 01°32°26” WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 49.29 FEET; THENCE NORTH 18°10'14” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 809,39
FEET TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF SAID TRACT 2A-11; THENCE NORTH
06°57°26” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 101.95 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.
CONTAINING 210.7 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.

TOGETHER WITH

A PARCEL OF LAND IN SECTION 12, TOWNSHIP 12 SOUTH, RANGE 31 EAST,
FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

BEGIN AT THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF SAID GOVERNMENT SECTION 12, THENCE
DEPARTING SAID SOUTHERLY LINE NORTH 01°30'23" WEST A DISTANCE OF 1203.23
FEET ALONG THE WESTERLY LINE OF SAID SECTION 12; THENCE NORTH 88°52'15"
EAST, A DISTANCE OF 649,96 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 19°00'52" EAST, A DISTANCE OF
1,265.64 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 88°56'30" WEST, ALONG SAID SECTION LINE, A
DISTANCE OF 1,030.73 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. CONTAINING 23.22
ACRES, MORE OR LESS.

Page 96 of 391




e

MAP SHOWING SKETCH OF LEGAL

B
Shykys
ESFiE]

)

)

4

-
-~

N

Y

oqyEsed,
wummmm

CES ]
ity

i il
: mwm mmmmmw.wmmm

k1 -

Yka? Ia
]
Bl
wmumm“mmu.ummmmw.
F 5 mm .mmmm

R
321
20

1 2x-11

o %

LT

25 (§aandp g
T
st
R mlum nuumuUmn
i uumummm«mmmJ.n
HE R uuumMN
e
wmmmuwmmmm T

;mnuku
e
mc
B

=

e

|

uwumgmw»

Sgineieit

10

(]

GRAPHIC SCALE
Hir

1

o
-
OF—-WAY LINE

RITCE

L
T Buelsabs
129841508
matiBcomeart nal

ik

LAND SURVEYING
iy
5404 EMAIL

FProfasviocal Bwris,
a6 ¥ 5T 2

FHONE (P04} 831~

HOWA

m

)
.

Lid
56 R/ 5 PLR URDA EAST COASE

CANKL WP BOOK 4, PACES 16 & 17

PLORZA NTRACOASTAL WATERWAY

WEST RIGHTE—

2 £, 5 SATANE OF LESSLH FIAT,

[

youn
ADHE, oA

T 4D ST Y LUl WAL 5 3T

234
ar

PHASE 1A

PHASE 1A

SEGTION 13 LANGS

T¥ STUBA, MLAIE 35 1UST, STAGLGE COLNTY, FUOEOA WEREE PANECULLILY CCICENEY 18

L

Page 97 of 391

o o
-, 040148

MG N G T b 1CT, AL ST

S=LTCA OF LFCL,

23,

uar 37,

"

x jrarceai W e i, K faum)

| HEREEY CERTFY wur s




EXHIBITC

Veranda Bay (“Property”) Comprehensive Plan Text Amendment

Policy A.1.1.3.H - Development of the Property shall be limited to a maximum of 377
residential units, a maximum of 16,200 square feet of nonresidential uses and a maximum
of 150 marina berths (“Development Plan”). Land uses permitted within the Low Density
Residential and Commercial Future Land Use designation shall be allowed as permitted in
the City Comprehensive Plan and Land Development Regulations (July 2025). Changes to
the Development Plan may be permitted providing the net new external trips (PM peak

hour) do not increase as certified by the Developer’s traffic engineer.

Page 98 of 391




e Observer

25-00351F You. Your Neighbors. Your Neighborhood.
Palm CoastObserver.com

Palm Coast Observer
Published Weekly CITY|OF FLAGLER BEACH

Palm Coast, Flagler County, Florida NOTICE OF PUBLIC
COUNTY OF FLAGLER HEARING

The City Commission feoposes 1 adopt Orinascs No. 203534 Entitled:

AN F THE CITY IN OF THE CITY OF FLAGLER BEACH,
FLORIDA, THE OFFICIAL ZONING MAF DESIGNATION FOR AFPROX}
MATELY 234 ACRES OF CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY;
ONFLICTS: FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE

“The City Commission propases o sdopt Ondinance No

STATE OF FLORIDA 7025-23 Entitle:
ax ce e THE CITY OF THE CITY OF FLAGLER BEACH,

FLORIDA, AMENDING THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN FUTURE LAND USE MAF DES-

IGNATION FOR ARPROXIMATELY 238.93 ACRES OF CERTAIN REAL PROFENTY

Raymond who on oath says that he/she is Publisher's Representative of the Palm e S st e sy o sl T4 Sodipmeet (04

. ‘Reserved (R), and Singl h&mﬂllmmhuﬂmmﬂihﬂ]ﬂl—ﬂ
Coast Observer a weekly newspaper published at Palm Coast, Flagler County, (MPD) Zoning Ditrict, 10 s e P Lase Use M desgaation of th propertyfom Agrcul
Florida; that the attached copy of advertisement, s o e e
PUBLIC HEARINGSARE SCHEDULED TO BE HELD AT CITY HALL. 108 £ 2ND STREET. FLA-

GLER BEACH, FLORITMA AS FOLLOWS:
being a Public Notice PLANNING AND ARCHITECTURAL REVIEW BOARD TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 3025 AT 5:30 PM.
g 1ST READING CTTY|COMMISSION THURSDAY, OCTOBER 6, 2025 AT 5:30 PM. ORL AS SOON

THEREAFTER AS POSBIBLE.

2ND READING CTTY COMMISSION THURSDAY, NOVEMBER 13, 2035 AT 5:30 PM. OR AS

in the matter of Ordinance No 2025-23, 2025-24 e ppid
ALL INTERESTED PRRTIES ARE INVITED TO ATTEND.

PLEASE DIRECT ANY QUESTIONS TO THE CTTY OF FLAGLER BEACH AT (386-517-2000) EXT.

in the Court, was published in said newspaper by print in the e poblic heaings ey b comtimee 1 ftredate o dates.Thetieen s den of sy ot
of & public hearing shal{ be snoounced during the public learing withou sy further pablished oute.

The request will be beary a1 5:30 PM, or s son therrafier as possible, in the Oty Commissian chambers
3 located a1 105 South Secpud Street, Flagler Beach, Flonda.
15sucs 0f9f25,2025 If & persen decides 14| appeal any decision made with sespeet 10 any matter conadered] o the abow
referenced henrings, he/kbe will need & recond of the procredings. For sudh prerpses, it may be necessary
o ensure that & verbatin rocond of the procesdings s made, which rooond includes the testimony and

Affiant further says that the Palm Coast Observer complies with all legal B P iipeamns o
requirements for publication in chapter 50, Florida Statutes. T P T it
ment ol (386) 517-2000{Ext 231 The public may inspect information that is moee detalled during office
hours st the HOO 5. Deytona Ave

*This Notice was placed on the newspaper’s website and floridapublicnotices.com
on the same day the notice appeared in the newspaper.

Nancy Kay Kaymond
Sworn to and subscribed, and personally appeared by physical presence before me,

25th day of September, 2025 A.D.

by Nancy Kay Raymond who is.Tersonally own to me.

Notary Public, State of Florida
(SEAL)

iy,

S WUBER

et te, (/

*
S KRRV .,

)22
v, RS
", ;?T ATE 0? =

R

Page 99 of 391




BUILDING AND PLANNING DEPT.
800 S Daytona Ave
FLAGLER BEACH, FL 32136
Phone (386) 517-2000. Ext. 231

' REZONING/FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT

REQUIRED ATTACHMENTS

INTAKE SUBMITTAL
0 Application
] Application fee
[ Concurrency fee (May be deferred until site development application)
[ Ownership Disclosure form (Add’l documentation required if the property owner is a trust or corporation)
[d0 Owner Authorization Form (Required if the applicant and/or consultant is not the owner)

[ Detailed narrative of amendment (PD Major/Minor Amendment only)

PROJECT No. PFLUMA25-0001

ALL INFORMATION MUST BE PROVIDED FOR APPLICATION TO BE DETERMINED COMPLETE
FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT/ REZONING

APPLICATION TYPES

[g/LARGE SCALE FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT
[[] REZONE

[[] SMALL SCALE FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT
[] REZONE

MTEXT AMENDMENT ASSOCIATED WITH LAND USE AMENDMENT

[C] REZONE (NON-PD)**

[C] PDREZONE**

[J pprEZONE

Page 100 of 391



BUILDING AND PLANNING DEPT.
800 S Daytona Ave
FLAGLER BEACH, FL 32136
Phone (386) 517-2000. Ext. 231

PROJECT
PROJECT NAME: Veranda Bay

PARCEL ID #(S): See attached Exhibit "B"

LOCATION: John Anderson Drive, Flagler Beach

EXISTING USE(S): Vacant PROPOSED USE(S):

TOTAL ACREAGE:

WATER PROVIDER: SEWER PROVIDER:

CURRENT ZONING: PUD PROPOSED ZONING: PUD
CURRENT FUTURE LAND USE:  AG PROPOSED FUTURE LAND USE:

Page 101 of 391



J

BUILDING AND PLANNING DEPT.
800 S Daytona Ave
FLAGLER BEACH, FL 32136
Phone (386) 517-2000. Ext.231

PROJECT

PROJECT NAME: Veranda Bay

PARCEL ID #(S): See attached Exhibit "B"

LOCATION: John Anderson Drive, Flagler Beach

| EXISTING USE(S): - ;’ESFBSED uséiS): ]
TOTAL ACREAGE: BCC DISTRICT:
WATER PROVIDER: SEWER PROVIDER:

CURRENT ZONING: PUD

PROPOSED ZONING: PUD

CURRENT FUTURE LAND USE:  AG

PROPOSED FUTURE LAND USE:

APPLICANT

EPLAN PRIVILEGES: VIEW ONLY [ | UPLOAD [] NONE[]

NAME: Michael D. Chiumento Ill, Esq. COMPANY:  Chiumento Law, PLLC
ADDRESS: 145 City Place, Suite 301
cry: Palm Coast STATE: FL zip; 32164

PHONE: 386-445-8900

EMAIL: Michael3@legalteamforlife.com

CONSULTANT

EPLAN PRIVILEGES: VIEW ONLY [ ] UPLOAD [ | NONE[ ]

' NAME: Lindsay Haga

COMPANY: ETM

| ADDRESS:

CITY:

STATE: ZIP:

PHONE: 904-376-6296

EMAIL: HagaL@etminc.com

OWNER(S)

(INCLUDE NOTARIZED OWNER’'S AUTHORIZATION FORM)

NAME(S): Palm Coast Intracoastal, LLC

- ADDRESS: 3129 Springbank Lane, #201

CITY: Charlotte

STATE: NC ZIp: 28226

PHONE: 386-986-2411

EMAIL:

kenbelshe@yahoo.com

Page 102 of 391



BUILDING AND PLANNING DEPT.
800 S Daytona Ave
FLAGLER BEACH, FL 32136
Phone (386) 517-2000. Ext. 231

CONCURRENCY REVIEW MANAGEMENT SYSTEM (SELECT ONE)

[] 1elect to defer the Concurrency Review that is required by Chapter 163, Florida Statutes, per Seminole County’s
Comprehensive Plan for the above listed property until a point as late as Site Plan and/or Final Engineering
submittals for this proposed development plan. | further specifically acknowledge that any proposed
development on the subject property will be required to undergo Concurrency Review and meet all
Concurrency requirements in the future. MPD Final Development Plan may not defer.

[] 1 hereby declare and assert that the aforementioned proposal and property described are covered by a valid
previously issued Certificate of Vesting or a prior Concurrency determination (Test Notice issued within the past
two years as identified below. Please attach a copy of the Certificate of Vesting or Test Notice.)

TYPE OF CERTIFICATE CERTIFICATE NUMBER DATE ISSUED
VESTING:
TEST NOTICE:

[[] concurrency Application and appropriate fee are attached. | wish to encumber capacity at an early point in the
development process and understand that only upon approval of the Development Order and the full payment
of applicable facility reservation fees is a Certificate of Concurrency issued and entered into the Concurrency

Management monitoring system.

| hereby represent that | have the lawful right and authority to file this application.

PALM COAST INTRACOASTAL, LLC

/f % William G. Allen, Jr., as Manager
THORIZED AGENT

SIGNATURE OF OWNER/
(PROOF OF PROPERTY OWNER’S AUTHORIZATION IS REQUIRED

IF SIGNED BY SOMEONE OTHER THAN THE PROPERTY OWNER)

M-16-25
DATE

Page 103 of 391



OWNER AUTHORIZATION FORM

the application); or

An authorized applicant is defined as:
4+  The property owner of record; or
+  An agent of said property owner (power of attorney to represent and bind the property owner must be submitted with

4+  Contract purchase (a copy of a fully exccuted sales contract must be submitted with the application containing a clause
or clauses allowing an application to be filed).

t ]

property [Parcel ID Number(s)] _See attached Exhibit "B"

I William G. Allen, as Manager of Palm Coast Intracoastal, LLC _ the owner of record for the following described

hereby designates

Michael D. Chiumento I, Esq.

application(s) for:

to act as my authorized agent for the filing of the attached

O Alcohol License

O Arbor Permit

[ Construction Revision

O Final Engineering

[ Final Plat d Future Land Use Amendment | OJ Lot Split/Reconfiguration | [ Minor Plat
[ Preliminary Subdivision Plan G’ Rezone O Site Plan [OJ Special Event
{3 Special Exception O Temporary Use Permit O Vacate O Variance

OTHER: Petition for Annexation

and make binding statements and commitments regarding the request(s). I certify that 1 have examined the attached
application(s) and that all statements and diagrams submitted are true and accurate to the best of my knowledge. Further, I
understand that this application, attachments, and fees become part of the Official Records of Seminole County, Florida and

are not returnable. Palm Coast Intracoastal, LLC

11— (6-258 M/é?”: -
Date Property Owner’s Signafure
William G. Allen, Jr., as Manager
Property Owner’s Printed Name
STATE OF FLORIDA .

COUNTYOF (oer=R
SWORN TO AND SUBSCRIBED before me, an officer duly authorized in the State of Florida to take

acknowledgements, appeared _William G. Allen, Jr., as Manager of Palm Coast Intracoastal, LLC (property owner),

0O by means of physical presence or [J online notarization; and @who is personally known to me or [J who has produced

as identification, and who executed the foregoing instrument and

e SN

sworn an oath on this 16 o day of

Q\Dmmﬂ- Rouauiles

Notary Public *

RACEY A. BENAVIDES
otary Public-State of Florida
Commission # HH 190061
My Commission Expires
January 02, 2026

Page 104 of 391



CITY OF FLAGLER BEACH
BUILDING AND PLANNING DEPARTMENT

GENERAL APPLICATION
(] FinalSite Plan () Preliminary Plat
(O Master Site Plan 0 Final Plat
(O site Development Plan(s) (O Plat Vacating
D Rezoning D Subdivision Master Plan
Q’ Comprehensive Plan Amendment D Non-statutory Land Division/Parcel Reconfiguration
D Future Land Use Map Amendment D Site Plan Modification (Post approval)
D Special Exception D Development Order Modification
D Variance D Wireless Communication Facility (new structure)

Application Submittal Date:

Fee Paid: § . Date Received:

Employee Accepting Application (print name):

Rejected Date: . Rejected by:

Reason for Rejection:

A. PROJECT NAME: Veranda Bay

B. LOCATION OF SUBIECT PROPERTY (PHYSICAL ADDRESS); John Anderson Drive, Flagler Beach

ilhié 1 "
C. PROPERTY APPRAISER'S PARCEL ID NUMBER(s): _S€€ attached Exhibit "B

D. LEGAL DESCRIPTION: O€€ attached Ex"A™ ¢ oo Name:

Section; Block(s); Lot(s);

E. SUBJECT PROPERTY ACRES / SQUARE FOOTAGE:

F. FUTURE LAND USE MAP DESIGNATION: AG EXISTING ZONING DISTRICT: PUD

OVERLAY DISTRICT:

G. FLOOD ZONE: FEMA COMMUNITY PANEL NUMBER: DATE:
Vacant

H. CURRENT USE OF PROPERTY:

|. DESCRIPTION OF REQUEST/PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT (ATTACH ADDITIONAL SHEETS)

J. PROPOSED NUMBER OF LOTS (If Applicable): Development Phasing:  Yes(J no ()

11.22.21 GENERAL APPLICATION Pagelof2

Page 105 of 391



CITY OF FLAGLER BEACH
BUILDING AND PLANNING DEPARTMENT

K. LIST BELOW ANY APPLICATIONS CURRENTLY UNDER REVIEW OR RECENTLY APPROVED ASSOCIATED WITH THIS
APPLICATION:

L. WATER/SEWER PROVIDER:

M. EXISTING MORTGAGE?  Yes(J) NoEZj

OWNER; APPLICANT/AGENT:

| Name: Palm Coast Intracoastal, LLC Name: Michael D. Chiumento Ill, Esq.

Mailing Address3252 >Prindoan  Charlotte NC| wmailing Address:145 City Place, Suite 301, Palm Coast, FL 32164
=TT 386-986-2411 Phone Number: 386-445-8900 ext 102

Phone Number:
E-mail Address:  kenbelshe@yahoo.com E-mail Address: Michael3@legalteamforlife.com

MORTGAGE HOLDER: ENGINEER OR PROFESSIONAL:
Name: Name: Lindsay Haga

Mailing Address: Mailing Address:

Phone Number: Phone Number: 904-376-6296

E-mail Address: E-mail Address: Hagal @etminc.com |

SURVEYOR: LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT:
Name: Name:

Mailing Address: Mailing Address:

Phone Number: Phone Number:

E-mail Address: E-mail Address:

PLANNER: TRAFFIC ENGINEER:

Name:

Name:

Mailing Address:

Mailing Address:

Phone Number:

Phone Number:

E-mail Address:

E-mail Address:

ATTORNEY OF RECORD:

DEVELOPER:

Name: Michael D. Chiumento lll, Esq.

Name:

Mailing Address:145 City Place, Suite 301, Palm Coast

Mailing Address:

| Phone Number: 386-445-8900 ext 102

Phone Number:

E-mail Address: pm;j ife com

E-mail Address:

| HEREBY CERTIFY THAT ALL INFORMATION ON THIS APPLICATION IS CORRECT:

Signature of owner OR person authorized to represent this application:

P e 1

Signature(s):

Printed or typed name(s):

William G. Allen, Jr., as Manager of Palm Coast Intracoastal, LLC

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by means of

this_| b™4ay of July 225 by William G. Allen, Jr.

__physical presence or___online notarization

individual submitted

by _\Z Personal Knowledge ___ Satisfactory Evidence: Type

Q&L%Q_RJZAQU des
Signature of Notary Public, State of Florida

W, TRACEY A.

2,
Ox7,

11.22.21

i,
CRRY

=

&

#
& o O

- Notary Public-State of Florida
@ Commission # HH 190061
My Commission Expires
”fml\‘ January 02, 2026

BENAVIDES

(SEAL)

GENERAL APPLICATION Page 2 of 2

Page 106 of 391



EXHIBIT “A”

PART OF PHASE 1-A AND 2-A VERANDA BAY AND PART OF SECTION 38 , TOWNSHIP
12 SOUTH, RANGE 31 EAST, FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA,

A PART OF VERANDA BAY PHASE 1A AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 40, PAGES 59
THROUGH 64 OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA TOGETHER
WITH A PART OF VERANDA BAY PHASE 2A AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 40, PAGES
65 THROUGH 70 OF SAID PUBLIC RECORDS ALSO TOGETHER WITH A PART OF OF
SECTION 38, TOWNSHIP 12 SOUTH, RANGE 31 EAST, FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA,
AND BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: FOR A POINT OF
BEGINNING, COMMENCE AT THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF TRACT 1A-4 OF SAID
VERANDA BAY PHASE 1A; THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE WESTERLY LINES OF
SAID TRACT 1A-4 THE FOLLOWING TWELVE COURSES: THENCE NORTH 18°15°20”
WEST, A DISTANCE OF 260.49 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 71°44°40” WEST, A DISTANCE
OF 140.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 18°15°20” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 20.00 FEET;
THENCE NORTH 71°44°40” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 140.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH
18°15°20” WEST, A DISTANCE 960.00 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 71°44°40” WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 140.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 18°15°20” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 20.00
FEET; THENCE NORTH 71°44°40” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 140.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH
18°15°20” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 244.38 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 78°03°28” WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 137.96 FEET TO A POINT ON A CURVE OF A CURVE CONCAVE TO THE
EAST AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 475.00 FEET AND A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 10°47°207;
THENCE NORTHEASTERLY ALONG SAID CURVE AN ARC DISTANCE OF 89.44 FEET
AND BEING SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF NORTH 06°32°52” WEST; AND
CHORD DISTANCE OF 89.31 FEET TO A POINT ON SAID CURVE; THENCE NORTH
86°59°44” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 140.07 FEET; THENCE NORTH 01°09°12” WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 568.36 FEET; THENCE NORTH 88°50°48” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 63.62
FEET, THENCE NORTH 01°07°10” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 161.55 FEET; THENCE
NORTH 88°54°24” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 176.36 FEET; THENCE NORTH 11°52°10” EAST
ALONG A WESTERLY LINE OF TRACT 1A-5 OF SAID VERANDA BAY PHASE 1A , A
DISTANCE OF 25.29 FEET; THENCE NORTH 13°13'08" EAST CONTINUING ALONG A
WESTERLY LINE OF SAID TRACT, A DISTANCE OF 0.37 FEET; TO THE INTERSECTION
WITH THE NORTH LINE OF SAID TRACT OF 1A-5; THENCE NORTH 88°54°24” EAST,
ALONG SAID NORTHERLY LINE OF TRACT 1A-5 AND CONTINUING ALONG THE
NORTHERLY LINE OF SAID VERANDA BAY PHASE 1A, A DISTANCE OF 1304.54 FEET
TO THE POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF FLORIDA INTRACOASTAL
WATERWAY AND THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF VERANDA BAY PHASE 1A ;
THENCE ALONG SAID WEST RIGHT OF WAY LINE AND THE EASTERLY LINE OF
SAID VERANDA BAY PHASE 1A, SOUTH 13°58°25” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 1950.55
FEET TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID VERANDA BAY PHASE 1A AND ALSO
TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF SAID VERANDA BAY PHASE 2A; THENCE
CONTINUE SOUTH 13°58°25” EAST ALONG SAID RIGHT OF WAY LINE AND ALONG
THE EASTERLY LINE OF SAID VERANDA BAY PHASE 2A, A DISTANCE OF 799.39
FEET, THENCE SOUTH 21°17°55” EAST, CONTINUING ALONG SAID RIGHT OF WAY
LINE AND EASTERLY LINE, A DISTANCE OF 1265.37 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 03°54°39”
WEST ALONG SAID EASTERLY LINE, A DISTANCE OF 90.51 FEET TO THE
SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID VERANDA BAY PHASE 2A; THENCE CONTINUE
SOUTH 03°54°39” WEST, ALONG A WESTERLY LINE OF THE HISTORIC CHANNEL OF
HAW LOVERS CREEK, A DISTANCE OF 57.72 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 19°27°17” EAST,
A DISTANCE OF 644.30 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 68°58°11” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 113.95
FEET TO A POINT ON SAID INTRACOASTAL RIGHT OF WAY, THENCE SOUTH
21°17°55” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 338.95 FEET TO THE NORTHERLY LINE OF TRACT
“PL-3” OF GARDENS AT HAMMOCK BEACH AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 35, PAGES
80 THROUGH ; THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID NORTHERLY LINE THE
FOLLOWING FIVE COURSES: SOUTH 69°58°00” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 666.02 FEET;
THENCE SOUTH 20°00°08” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 243.62 FEET; THENCE SOUTH
69°00°06” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 512.95 FEET TO THE POINT OF CURVE OF A CURVE
CONCAVE NORTHERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 475.00 FEET AND AN ARC

Page 107 of 391



DISTANCE OF 298.48 FEET AND SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH
86°59°57” WEST AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 293.59 FEET TO THE POINT OF
TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE; THENCE NORTH 75°04°31” WEST, A DISTANCE OF
102.42 FEET; THENCE NORTH 43°30°12” WEST, DEPARTING FROM SAID NORTHERLY
LINE, A DISTANCE OF 153.12 FEET TO A POINT ON THE MOST SOUTH POINT OF SAID
VERANDA BAY PHASE 2A; THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE WEST LINES OF SAID
VERANDA BAY PHASE 2A THE FOLLOWING NINE COURSES: THENCE NORTH
32°58°38” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 357.54; THENCE NORTH 12°24°49” WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 43.38 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 71°49°46”> WEST, A DISTANCE OF 68.04
FEET; THENCE NORTH 18°10°14” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 152.62 FEET; THENCE
NORTH 16°36°36” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 82.23 FEET; THENCE NORTH 73°23°24” WEST,
A DISTANCE OF 139.49 FEET TO A POINT ON A CURVE OF A CURVE CONCAVE TO
THE SOUTHEAST AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 25.00 FEET AND A CENTRAL ANGLE
OF 11°32°10”; THENCE SOUTHWESTERLY ALONG SAID CURVE AN ARC DISTANCE
OF 5.03 FEET AND SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH 22°22°42” WEST
AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 5.03 FEET TO A POINT ON SAID CURVE; THENCE
NORTH 73°23°24” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 50.00 FEET TO A POINT ON A CURVE OF A
CURVE CONCAVE TO THE WEST AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 25.00 FEET AND A
CENTRAL ANGLE OF 11°32°13”; THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG SAID CURVE AN ARC
DISTANCE OF 5.03 AND SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF NORTH 10°50°29”
EAST AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 5.03 FEET TO A POINT ON SAID CURVE; THENCE
NORTH 21°20°50” WEST, DEPARTING FROM SAID WESTERLY LINE, A DISTANCE OF
114.14 FEET TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF TRACT 2A-11 OF SAID VERANDA BAY
PHASE 2A; THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE WESTERLY LINES OF SAID TRACT 2A-
11 AND ALSO THE WESTERLY LINES OF SAID VERANDA BAY PHASE 2A THE
FOLLOWING THIRTEEN COURSES: THENCE NORTH 16°36'36" EAST, A DISTANCE OF
18.72 FEET TO A POINT ON A CURVE OF A CURVE CONCAVE WESTERLY AND
HAVING A RADIUS OF 365.00 FEET AND A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 34°46°50”; THENCE
NORTHERLY ALONG SAID CURVE AN ARC DISTANCE OF 221.57 FEET AND
SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF NORTH 00°46°49” WEST AND A CHORD
DISTANCE OF 218.18 FEET TO THE POINT OF TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE; THENCE
NORTH 18°10°14” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 24.44 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 71°49°46” WEST,
A DISTANCE OF 140.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 18°10°14” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 20.00
FEET; THENCE NORTH 71°49°46” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 140.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH
18°10°14” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 935.73 FEET; THENCE NORTH 01°32°26” WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 384.95 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 88°27°34” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 140.00
FEET; THENCE NORTH 01°32°26” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 20.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH
88°27°34” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 140.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 01°32°26” WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 49.29 FEET; THENCE NORTH 18°10°14” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 809.39
FEET TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF SAID TRACT 2A-11; THENCE NORTH
06°57°26” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 101.95 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.
CONTAINING 210.7 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.

TOGETHER WITH

A PARCEL OF LAND IN SECTION 12, TOWNSHIP 12 SOUTH, RANGE 31 EAST,
FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

BEGIN AT THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF SAID GOVERNMENT SECTION 12, THENCE
DEPARTING SAID SOUTHERLY LINE NORTH 01°30223" WEST A DISTANCE OF 1203.23
FEET ALONG THE WESTERLY LINE OF SAID SECTION 12; THENCE NORTH 88°52'15"
EAST, A DISTANCE OF 649.96 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 19°00'52" EAST, A DISTANCE OF
1,265.64 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 88°56'30" WEST, ALONG SAID SECTION LINE, A
DISTANCE OF 1,030.73 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. CONTAINING 23.22
ACRES, MORE OR LESS.

Page 108 of 391



LOT 11

LOT 10 BLOCK
BLOCK D

O.R.B. 63

CORNER 6’ CHAIN
BARBED WIRE AT

]
[
l
|
[
|
[
|
[
|
I
|
[
I
I

FENCE WITH 3 STRAND
.9" NORTH, .8' WEST
CORNER 4" WIRE FENCE

PART OF PHASE 1—A AND 2—A VERANDA BAY AND PART OF SECTION 38 , TOWNSHIP 12 SOUTH, RANGE 31 EAST, FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA,

A PART OF VERANDA BAY PHASE 1A AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 40, PAGES 59 THROUGH 64 OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA TOGETHER WITH A PART OF VERANDA BAY
PHASE 2A AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 40, PAGES 65 THROUGH 70 OF SAID PUBLIC RECORDS ALSO TOGETHER WITH A PART OF OF SECTION 38, TOWNSHIP 12 SOUTH, RANGE 31 EAST, FLAGLER
COUNTY, FLORIDA, AND BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: FOR A POINT OF BEGINNING, COMMENCE AT THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF TRACT 1A—4 OF SAID VERANDA BAY PHASE 1A;
THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE WESTERLY LINES OF SAID TRACT 1A—4 THE FOLLOWING TWELVE COURSES: THENCE NORTH 18'15'20" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 260.49 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 71°44'40"
WEST, A DISTANCE OF 140.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 18'1520” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 20.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 71°44'40" EAST, A DISTANCE OF 140.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 18'1520" WEST, A
DISTANCE 960.00 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 71°44’40" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 140.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 181520" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 20.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 71°44'40” EAST, A DISTANCE OF
140.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 18'1520" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 244.38 FEET, THENCE SOUTH 78°0328” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 137.96 FEET TO A POINT ON A CURVE OF A CURVE CONCAVE TO THE
EAST AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 475.00 FEET AND A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 10°47'20"% THENCE NORTHEASTERLY ALONG SAID CURVE AN ARC DISTANCE OF 89.44 FEET AND BEING SUBTENDED BY A
CHORD BEARING OF NORTH 06°32'52" WEST; AND CHORD DISTANCE OF 89.31 FEET TO A POINT ON SAID CURVE; THENCE NORTH 86°59'44" EAST, A DISTANCE OF 140.07 FEET; THENCE NORTH
01°0912" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 568.36 FEET, THENCE NORTH 88'50'48" EAST, A DISTANCE OF 63.62 FEET, THENCE NORTH 01°0710” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 161.55 FEET; THENCE NORTH 88°5424"
EAST, A DISTANCE OF 176.36 FEET; THENCE NORTH 11°5210" EAST ALONG A WESTERLY LINE OF TRACT 1A—5 OF SAID VERANDA BAY PHASE 1A , A DISTANCE OF 25.29 FEET, THENCE NORTH
13"13'08”" EAST CONTINUING ALONG A WESTERLY LINE OF SAID TRACT, A DISTANCE OF 0.37 FEET; TO THE INTERSECTION WITH THE NORTH LINE OF SAID TRACT OF 1A—5; THENCE NORTH 88°54'24"
EAST, ALONG SAID NORTHERLY LINE OF TRACT 1A—5 AND CONTINUING ALONG THE NORTHERLY LINE OF SAID VERANDA BAY PHASE 1A, A DISTANCE OF 1304.54 FEET TO THE POINT ON THE WEST
RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF FLORIDA INTRACOASTAL WATERWAY AND THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF VERANDA BAY PHASE 1A ; THENCE ALONG SAID WEST RIGHT OF WAY LINE AND THE EASTERLY LINE OF
SAID VERANDA BAY PHASE 1A, SOUTH 13'58'25" EAST, A DISTANCE OF 1950.55 FEET TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID VERANDA BAY PHASE 1A AND ALSO TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF SAID
VERANDA BAY PHASE 2A; THENCE CONTINUE SOUTH 13°58°25" EAST ALONG SAID RIGHT OF WAY LINE AND ALONG THE EASTERLY LINE OF SAID VERANDA BAY PHASE 2A, A DISTANCE OF 799.39 FEET,
THENCE SOUTH 21717'55" EAST, CONTINUING ALONG SAID RIGHT OF WAY LINE AND EASTERLY LINE, A DISTANCE OF 1265.37 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 03°54'39" WEST ALONG SAID EASTERLY LINE, A
DISTANCE OF 90.51 FEET TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID VERANDA BAY PHASE 2A; THENCE CONTINUE SOUTH 03°54'39" WEST, ALONG A WESTERLY LINE OF THE HISTORIC CHANNEL OF HAW
LOVERS CREEK, A DISTANCE OF 57.72 FEET, THENCE SOUTH 19°27"17" EAST, A DISTANCE OF 644.30 FEET, THENCE SOUTH 68°58"1"” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 113.95 FEET TO A POINT ON SAID
INTRACOASTAL RIGHT OF WAY, THENCE SOUTH 21*17'55” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 338.95 FEET TO THE NORTHERLY LINE OF TRACT PL—3" OF GARDENS AT HAMMOCK BEACH AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK
35, PAGES 80 THROUGH ; THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID NORTHERLY LINE THE FOLLOWING FIVE COURSES: SOUTH 69°58'00” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 666.02 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 20°00'08” WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 243.62 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 69°00'06” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 512.95 FEET TO THE POINT OF CURVE OF A CURVE CONCAVE NORTHERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 475.00 FEET AND AN
ARC DISTANCE OF 298.48 FEET AND SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH 86°59'57” WEST AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 293.59 FEET TO THE POINT OF TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE; THENCE
NORTH 75°04'31" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 102.42 FEET; THENCE NORTH 43°3012" WEST, DEPARTING FROM SAID NORTHERLY LINE, A DISTANCE OF 153.12 FEET TO A POINT ON THE MOST SOUTH POINT
OF SAID VERANDA BAY PHASE 2A; THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE WEST LINES OF SAID VERANDA BAY PHASE 2A THE FOLLOWING NINE COURSES: THENCE NORTH 32°58°'38” WEST, A DISTANCE OF
357.54; THENCE NORTH 12°24°49" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 43.38 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 71°49'46"
THENCE NORTH 16°36'36” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 82.23 FEET; THENCE NORTH 73°2324" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 139.49 FEET TO A POINT ON A CURVE OF A CURVE CONCAVE TO THE SOUTHEAST AND
THENCE SOUTHWESTERLY ALONG SAID CURVE AN ARC DISTANCE OF 5.03 FEET AND SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF
SOUTH 22°22'42" WEST AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 5.03 FEET TO A POINT ON SAID CURVE; THENCE NORTH 73°2324" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 50.00 FEET TO A POINT ON A CURVE OF A CURVE
CONCAVE TO THE WEST AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 25.00 FEET AND A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 11°3213% THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG SAID CURVE AN ARC DISTANCE OF 5.03 AND SUBTENDED BY A
CHORD BEARING OF NORTH 10°50729" EAST AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 5.03 FEET TO A POINT ON SAID CURVE; THENCE NORTH 21°20°50" WEST, DEPARTING FROM SAID WESTERLY LINE, A DISTANCE
OF 114.14 FEET TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF TRACT 2A—11 OF SAID VERANDA BAY PHASE 2A; THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE WESTERLY LINES OF SAID TRACT 2A—11 AND ALSO THE WESTERLY
LINES OF SAID VERANDA BAY PHASE 2A THE FOLLOWING THIRTEEN COURSES: THENCE NORTH 16°36'36” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 18.72 FEET TO A POINT ON A CURVE OF A CURVE CONCAVE WESTERLY
AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 365.00 FEET AND A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 34°46°50"% THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG SAID CURVE AN ARC DISTANCE OF 221.57 FEET AND SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF
NORTH 00°46'49" WEST AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 218.18 FEET TO THE POINT OF TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE; THENCE NORTH 18°1014" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 24.44 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 71°49'46"
WEST, A DISTANCE OF 140.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 18'1014" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 20.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 71°49'46" EAST, A DISTANCE OF 140.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 18'1014” WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 935.73 FEET; THENCE NORTH 01°3226" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 384.95 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 88°27'34" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 140.00 FEET, THENCE NORTH 01°32'26" WEST, A DISTANCE
OF 20.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 88°27'34" EAST, A DISTANCE OF 140.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 01°32'26" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 49.29 FEET; THENCE NORTH 18'1014" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 809.39
THENCE NORTH 06°57°26" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 101.95 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. CONTAINING 210.7 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.

HAVING A RADIUS OF 25.00 FEET AND A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 11°3210%

FEET TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF SAID TRACT 2A-11;

MAP SHOW

NG SKETCH OF [EGAL

TOGETHER WITH

A PARCEL OF LAND IN SECTION 12, TOWNSHIP 12 SOUTH, RANGE 31 EAST, FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

BEGIN AT THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF SAID GOVERNMENT SECTION 12, THENCE DEPARTING SAID SOUTHERLY LINE NORTH 01°30'23” WEST A DISTANCE OF 1203.23 FEET ALONG THE WESTERLY LINE OF
SAID SECTION 12; THENCE NORTH 88°52'15" EAST, A DISTANCE OF 649.96 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 19°00'52" EAST, A DISTANCE OF 1,265.64 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 88°56'30" WEST, ALONG SAID SECTION
LINE, A DISTANCE OF 1,030.73 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. CONTAINING 23.22 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.

[72) w
a1 8
= =
=2 B
=
_Z]
o
=
D o
3
PG. 138 X
-
N
(=]
W
LINK N
o “
~~
Cl

N 88'52'15" E_649.96'

o\ 1.2 SOUTH, .5' WEST >N \
\&\ , / , #14 /I #13 \\ #12 \
\ﬁ _k PGNT W BEGMNG S 88'5630- VI/ 1030.73 / \ \‘; CONSERVATION
= NB8'51'29°F  913.24 (F) © CHAN lnK=3 STRAND BW _ NORTH _LINE_OF : e ay = ASEMEN
\ NORTH LINE OF SECTION 14, T12S, R31E B 47 ON 13, 1125, R31 T30 N 8854'24" E 1304.54 o ESGF, EGT765
A TRACT # 14=12-31-0000—01010-0010 (, s 3H P - TRACT —
\2 NOW OR FORMERLY DANNER, ROBERT L & RUTH A & ,t,é" L3 O 1A=4 —
\-o Z OFFICIAL RECORDS BOOK 801, PAGE 1414 N @ (| & & L9 "eA” —
o\ CORNER 4 WRE FENCE S=alES A PORTION OF TRACT "CA1”, — NOTICE REGARDING
\\2 < 7.6' WEST v3§ r‘:zos = GARDENS AT HAMMOCK BEACH, INTRACOASTAL
i\*&,_ CORNER 4' WIRE FENCE alE= PLAT BOOK 35, PAGES 80—100 — WATERWAY RIGHT OF
2 o e \r Q — WAY RECORDED APRIL
\\@__T_RA_CT_#_M_;_M_O_O(;—_MEO_;)O_O_Eu - g 16, 1998 IN OFFICIAL
> ~12-31- - aald ol = RECORDS BOOK 611,
= NOW OR FORMERLY BED & BISCUT INNS OF AMERICA 2SN ]
\ T OFFICIAL RECORDS BOOK 927, PAGE 1938 &8P o PAGE 1739.
= o3|l h “8 =
\-/ CORNER 4' WRE FENCE- ) Sp
& WRE FENCE 17.4' WEST, 4.0' NORTH A lz’ g
VIO NORTH  Nggra7'52"E 710.35" (D) P38 & WEST RIGHT—OF—WAY LINE
\ \/ Nes4724°E  710.39 (F) g CONSERVATION EASEMENT FLORIDA INTRACOASTAL WATERWAY
\ \i/ A L8 O.RB. 1859, PG 1057 500" R/W AS PER FLORIDA EAST COAST
\‘.
\ al \7_=2 CANAL MAP BOOK 4, PAGES 16 & 17
\'.\ \ I a ‘05
) | & 8
)
\ 2, A2, o
g al@ o=
o e G
Z %fz’ '-;é
= o ) S
IN o)
’ PHASE 1A ) !
b %) SECTION 13 LANDS \ — "
S % s 3
3 [ 3

(l
"‘ CONSERVATION EASEMENT
\
\

O.R.B. 1859, PG 1057

3
]
! 0.R.B.
]
‘\

~ -

CURVE [RADIUS [ARC LENGTH|DELTA ANGLE [CHORD BEARING JCHORD LENGTH
C1 475.00'[89.44 10°47°20" N 06°32'52" W_[89.31"
C2 475.007]298.48’ 36°00'117 S 8659’57 W _[293.59’
C3 25.00" [5.03 11°32'107 S 2222742 W_[5.03
C4 25.00" [5.03 11°32137 N 10°50'29" E [5.03
C5 365.00 [221.57" 34°46'50" N _00'46'49"” W |218.18

[NE [BEARING DISTANCE

1 |S 71°44°40” W [140.00°

[2 [N 181520 W [20.00°

3 [N 71°44’40" E [140.00°

4 |S 71°44’40” W [140.00’

[5 [N 181520 W [20.00°

16 [N 71°44’40” E [140.00°

[ 7 |S 78°03'28" W [137.96"

L8 [N 86°59'44" E [140.07’

9 [N 8850'48" E [63.62°

10 [N 01°0710" W [161.55

11 |S 68°5811"_E [113.95

[12 [N 750431 W[102.42

113 [N 12°24’49" W [43.38’

[ 14 |S 71°49°46" W |68.04°

115 [N 181014 W [152.62

[ 16 [N 16°36'36" E [82.23

17 [N 73°2324” W[139.49°

18 [N 732324" W[50.00

19 [N 21°20°50" W [114.14

[ 20 [N 16°36'36" E [18.72

(21 [N 181014" W [24.44

[ 22 |S 71°49'46" W [140.00°

(23 [N 181014" W [20.00’

[ 24 [N 71°49746" E [140.00°

125 |S 88°27°34” W [140.00°

[ 26 [N _01°32726" W [20.00

27 N 88°27'34” E [140.00°

[ 28 [N 01°32'26" W |49.29’

L29 [N 06°57'26” W[101.95

L30 [N 88°5424" E [176.36°

L31 [N 1152107 E [25.29

L32 [N 1313'08" E [0.37

LINE LEGEND

= BOUNDARY LINE

—_——_—— - SECTION LINE

BUNNELL DEVELOPMENT LOT LINE

ROADWAY CENTERLINE LINE
FENCE LINES

EASEMENT LINE
FLOOD ZONE LINE

PHASE 1A

LESS OUT

1837 PG. 1021

PARCEL C

23.22 ACRES =

-\
N\

PHASE 2C

TRACT # 12—-12-31-0000-04020-0020
NOW OR FORMERLY HAMMOCK BEACH RIVER CLUB LLC

UNPLATTED LANDS

PLATTED CUSTER'S PALM

(
[
[
[
[
[
[
[
[
[
[
[
| / \
[

|

PLAT BOOK 27, PAGE 10

WEST, A DISTANCE OF 68.04 FEET; THENCE NORTH 18%1014" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 152.62 FEET;

D)
K

GRAPHIC SCALE

300 0 150 300 600 1200
( IN FEET )
1 inch = 300 ft.

\
HARBOR \

POINT OF
BEGINNING

PHASE 2B

PHASE 1A

PA

Q.R.B.

M .92.2¢.10 N

PHASE 2A
97.66 ACRES + /-

RCEL "E”

1837 PG. 1021

210.7 ACRESS &+

;' WESTERLY LINE OF

/ HAW LOVER'S CREEK

SECTION 38 S 03'54'39" W

148.22'

WESTERLY UINE OF
HAW LOVER'S CREEK

WESTERLY LINE OF

/HAW LOVER'S CREEK

~

TRACT "PL—37
PLAT OF GARDENS AT HAMMOCK BEACH

PLAT BOOK 35, PAGE 80
** NOT INCLUDED **

N 43°30"12" W
153.12
L1

2

SOUTHERLY LINE OF GARDENS
AT HAMMOCK BEACH — A REPLAT

UNPLATTED LANDS
TRACT # 38—12—31—-0000—02030—0000
NOW OR FORMERLY ROWLAND, PETER G. & NAN
OFFICIAL RECORDS BOOK 1384, PAGE 1371

HOWATT LAND SURVEYING, LLC

Professional Surveyor and Mapper Business
316 13TH ST SAINT AUGUSTINE, FL 32084-1405
PHONE (904) 631-5484 EMAIL ghowatt@comcast.net

| HEREBY CERTIFY THAT THIS SKETCH OF LEGAL SURVEY,

PERFORMED UNDER MY RESPONSIBLE DIRECTION, MEETS THE STANDARDS OF PRACTICE FOR LAND SURVEYORS IN ACCORDANCE WITH CHAPTER 2014-147, FLA. ADMINISTRATIVE
CODE (PURSUANT TO SECTION 472.027, FLORIDA STATUTES.)

GIL D. HOWATT, REGISTERED LAND SURVEYOR FLA. NO. 4718

MAY 27, 2025 LICENSED BUSINESS NUMBER 8488

SURVEYED

BEARING DATUM BASED ON EAST RIGHT OF WAY OF JOHN ANDERSON N1815'00"W PER DEED

IN_FILE
300’

_ DATA | pace(s) _COLLECTED
0401188 THE GARDENS.DWG

FIELD BOOK NO.: LEGAL: WORK ORDER NO.:

COMPUTER FILE NAME: SCALE: 1" = FILE NO.: 040118

Page 109 of 391



Staff Report

Planning & Architectural Review Board Regular
Meeting

“ CENTENNIAL

~—
October 7, 2025
To: Planning & Architectural Review Board
From: Lupita McClenning, Planner
Meeting Date: October 7, 2025
Item Name: PRZ 25-0001 Ordinance 2025-24 (Veranda Bay MPDA): AN

ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF FLAGLER
BEACH, FLORIDA, AMENDING THE OFFICIAL ZONING MAP
DESIGNATION FOR APPROXIMATELY 234 ACRES OF CERTAIN REAL
PROPERTY; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR
CONFLICTS; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE

Background:

The City of Flagler Beach is in receipt of a request to amend the official zoning map for
approximately 234+/- acres generally located along the east and west of John Anderson
Highway, directly south of State Road 100, amending zoning from the Flagler County
designation Planned Unit Development and City of Flagler Beach designations of Reserved and
Single Family Residential and rezoning to Master Planned Development (MPD).The applicant
request to amend the 2005 Flagler County Development Plan and submit a Master Planned
Development Agreement (MPDA) that aligns with and is in compliance with the City of Flagler
Beach Comprehensive Plan, Ordinance 2024-06 Master Planned District (MPD) Zoning
Ordinance, and SB 180.

Fiscal Impact:
N/A

Staff Recommendation:

Staff recommends the Planning and Architectural Review Board recommend to the City
Commission to approve the Master Planned Development Agreement (MPDA) for Veranda Bay
finding the rezoning to be consistent with the purposes, goals, objectives, and policies of the
City of Flagler Beach Comprehensive Plan; rezoning is compatible with the Land Development
Regulations, is consistent with the uses and character of the surrounding land uses; that
rezoning results in a logical, timely and orderly development pattern; is in compliance with SB
180 as the developer can propose to use the property under a set of self-imposed restrictions
that are more stringent than the city's general zoning code and that the city can approve based
on its determination restrictions are in the public's interest.

Page 110 of 391



Attachments:
1. Veranda Bay_Updated 10062025 Item 6¢ Ordinance 2025-24 Veranda Bay MPDA Rezone

Staff Report
2. Ordinace 2025-24 Veranda Bay Rezone & MPD Agreement_FINAL DRAFT
3. Application Rezone for submittal

Page 111 of 391



Updated 10/06/2025 Item 6¢ | Lupita McClenning

To: Planning and Architectural Review Board

From: Lupita McClenning, City Planner

Applicant: Michael Chiumento

Property: 234 +/- acres located west of John Anderson and south of SR 100 Veranda Bay

Request: Amend Official Zoning Map to Master Planned District (MPD) and Adopt Master
Planned Development Agreement (MPDA) for Veranda Bay.

Date: September 29, 2025

Applicant requests 234 +/- acres currently zoned Planned Unit Development (Flagler County
Designation), Reserved and Single Family Residential (City of Flagler Beach Designations) be
amended on official zoning map as Master Planned Development, City of Flagler Beach.

Staff Recommendation

Staff recommends that the Planning and Architectural Review Board recommend the City
Commission consider the following findings of fact and approve amending the official zoning map
property from the Flagler County designation of Planned Unit Development and City of Flagler
Beach designations of Reserved and Single Family Residential to Master Planned Development
(MPD) and approve accompanying Master Planned Development Agreement (MPDA) for 234+/-
acres of as:

1. Therezoningis consistent with the purposes, goals, objectives, and policies of the City
of Flagler Beach Comprehensive Plan;

2. The rezoning is compatible with the Land Development Regulations, and generally
consistent with the uses and character of the land surrounding and in the vicinity of
the land proposed for rezoning;

3. The rezoning will result in a logical, timely and orderly development pattern;

4. The staff report has demonstrated sufficient justification that there are changed

circumstances, which would require the rezoning request.

Staff Report MPDA Veranda Bay Zoning Amendment

Page 112 of 391



Updated 10/06/2025 Item 6¢ | Lupita McClenning
Table of Contents

APPLICANT REQUEST: AMEND 2005 FLAGLER COUNTY PLAN ...c..ctiiiirtteee ettt 4
SECTION 1 - RECITALS ...ttt ettt ettt ettt sttt st ettt et e st st e sat e et eshe e et e e sbe e et e enbeeembeenbeesaneenneesane 4
SECTION 2. OWNER AUTHORIZATION ....ciiiiiiiiiieeiieiiettee e e ettt e e e e e e e e e s eeeeeeeeee e s e e s annneeeeeeas 5
SECTION 3. PROJECT AND MPDA VERANDA BAY MARINA ... e e e e e e e e e eeeeeeeeeeeenees 5
Mixed-Use DEVEIOPMENT 234 ACIES ...uveeieiiiiieeeeiiiieeeesiiteeeeesrteeeesssteeessssstaeeesssraeeeesssseeeessssssensssssnsens 5
SECTION 4 —MPD REVIEW AND APPROVAL PROCESS......coiottiitieriieiee ettt 5
Section 4. MPD Development REVIEW PrOCESS .......ccviiiiiiiiieee ettt e st estree e e e evee e e e e abae e e e e eanrae e e e ennres 6
SECTION 5. MODIFICATIONS TO DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT AND MPD MASTER PLAN ......ccccciiireeeen. 6
SECTION 6. PERMITTED USES ...ttt ettt s e s e s e s e e e e e e e eaeeseseeeeeeennnens 6
RESIAENTIAI USES...eeueeiiiiieiie ettt et sttt st b e st e e n e sae e e bt e smnesneesneesaneens 7
COMMEICIAI USES ..ttt ettt ettt e b e st e b e st e bt e sae e s bt e sae e et e e saeeeateenneeenreennees 7
Open SPACe fOrty PEICENT (B0%6)....ccuuieeceieeeiieeieieeeiieesiteeestteesrteeessteeessbaeesaeeesraeesseesssaeessseessseeesnseens 7
SECTION 7. VEHICULAR/NON-VEHICULAR, PEDISTRIAN ACCESS AND INTERCONNECTIVITY ......ccovenuene. 7
SECTION 8. LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE AND PARTIAL NON-APPLICABILITY ..eeeeieieeeieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeceeeeeees 7
SECTION 9. FACILTITY COMMITIMENTS ....eiiiiiiiiieteeste ettt ettt st sttt st smee e 8
PE. L0 OF A7 IMIPDA ...ttt e e ettt e e et e e e e et e e e et a e e e e e abaeeeeasstaeeeeanssaaeasansseaeeeannssaeesennnsens 8
SECTION 10. DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS .....ciiiiiiieiettttte e ettt et e e e e e e s ee et e e e e e e e s e s nnseeeeeeas 9
Lo [ ] =PSRRI 9
(0] o<1 4 I o F- Lol O T T TP PP PP PTPPPPPPPPP 9
W ater/WaSTEWALEI/REUSE ...veeeiierieeeeeetteee e ettt e e e ettt e e s eetaeeessaeabteessassateessassaeeessasaeeessasssaeessassseesssns 9
TrANSPOITATION .. ceetitiiieiiiiiitrerere st e e e e e e e e e et ettt ettt et e e ee e aeaebe bbb aasasaseesesasaeeeeeeeeeeseeenesesnesnsssssannnnnnnnn 9
[T Y1 = P 9
Landscaping, Tree, and Vegetation ProteCtion......ccccvciiiiiiiiiieii ittt 10
John Anderson HighWay BUFFEI ........uieiiiiiiec et e e e e e e 10
[T =4 o a1 oV -SSR RRP 10
FIF@ PrOt@CHION oot s 10
L L] AT TP PURTTPR 11
N EICONNECTIVITY . ..ettieeiieieie ettt e et e e e e sttt e et e e e e e e s e s aabbarteeeeeeeessessaannssbeaaeeeeeessnnns 11
WELIaNd PrOtECLION ..ottt ettt sttt st ne e saresneesaneeas 11
) T4 F= TSSO TP PP PPPPPPOUPPRPPPPORt 11
BT 00] o T 1= 1 VA - 11 L1 A = PSSP 11
TN = | I oY= - [ o PRSP 11
1Y T Lo T PO UTP PP PPPOP 11
2

Staff Report MPDA Veranda Bay Zoning Amendment

Page 113 of 391



Updated 10/06/2025 Item 6¢ | Lupita McClenning
F Y=l =TS o ot {0 o PO OO PP PP PRSPPI 12
AACCESSONY USES ..ottt s e s s s e s e e e e e e e e e eeeeeae e e e e e e e et e e e e e et st et e easa s anaeeaseeeaaaaaeeeeeaenereenanes 12
SECTION 11. PHASING OF DEVELOPIMENT ..ceiieiie ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e eeeeeeeneneeee 12
YT 1 o] T o o T TSP 12
2 0e T [o LV YU RPP 12
ClRANNG/GradiNG. ... veeeeieie ettt ettt et ete e et e e et e e e e be e e e beeeebeeesabeeeeateeesabeeeanteseeteeeenbeseanseeenares 13
SECTION 12. LOT AND BUILDING STANDARDS .....eeiitiieteteee ettt e e e e e e et e e e e e e e e s e snrnseeeeeeas 13
[T o 1< oA T | OOV R O PPPTPPPP 13
Commercial and Mixed-Use (residential @bove) .........ccuvivciiiiiiiiecciec e 14
F N ol Y=ot (U T | B Y [ SRR 14
SECTION 13. PERMITS AND APPROVALS.....coieiiieitt ettt e et e e e e e e e s e nreeeeeeas 15
SECTION 14. DEVELOPMENT FEES .....eeeiiiiiiiee ettt e e e e e et ee e e e e e e e s e nreeeeeeas 15
SECTION 15. LONG-TERM MAINTENANCE COMMON AREAS.....coo e e e e eeeeeeeeeeeeeens 16
SECTION 16. BREACH, ENFORCEMENT, ALTERNATIVE DISPUTE AND CONFLICT RESOLUTION .............. 17
SECTION 17. NOTICES ...t eiteeite ettt ettt ettt ettt st ettt et e sat e et esbe e et e e s be e et e e beesmbeebeesaneeneesaneeas 17
SECTION 18. SEVERABILITY ittt ettt e e e e e ettt e e e e e s e s e beber e e e e e e e e s e s s nnnrnreneeeeas 17
SECTION 19. SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS. ...ttt s e e e e e e e e e e e e eeeeeeeneneene 17
SECTION 20. GOVERNING LAW, VENUE AND COMPLIANCE WITH LAW. ....uuiiiiirieeeeeeeee e 17
SECTION 21. TERM/EFFECTIVE DATE. ...veivirteitieieeieeieeiteiteit ettt ettt ettt ettt sbe b st b sbe st sbesbeneens 17
SECTION 22. RECORDATION .....cottiiittitteittt ettt ettt sttt sit et esate s bt e sbee e bt esbeeeabeeabeeemseebeesaneeneesaneens 17
SECTION 23. THIRD PARTY RIGHTS ..ttt ettt e e e e e e st e e e e e e e e s e s nrsreeeeeeas 17
SECTION 24. SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE / TIME IS OF THE ESSENCE .....cveeiieeiieciieeteecte e esiee e esinesane s 17
SECTION 25. ATTORNEYS’ FEES.....ooiiiiiiiiie ettt ettt ettt e e e s ctte e e e s eatee e e s seabte e e e e s aaae e e e snbeeesessnseeeessnnsenes 17
SECTION 26. FORCE MAJEURE .....coiuiiiiietteitteite ettt ettt ettt ettt st sbe e st smee s e b e sane s b e saneens 17
SECTION 27. INDEMNIFICATION ...ttt ettt e e e e e e e s et e e e e e e e e e e snnnrnneeeeeeas 17
SECTION 28. ENFORCEMENT: CITY’S RIGHT TO TERMINATE DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT.................... 17
SECTION 29. CAPTIONS. ...ttt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e et et ettt ettt et s e s s s s s e s e e seseeeaeaaeeaeaesensenennene 17
SECTION 30. EXHIBITS.....ceotieeiieett ettt sttt et ettt e sbe e st e neesaneeneesaneeneesaneeas 17
SECTION 31. INTERPRETATION ..ottt ettt ettt sttt sttt ettt st sbe e st e b e st e b e sanesneesaneens 17
SECTION 32. FURTHER ASSURANCES ......cetttiiiiiiiiiiiitet et e e e e ettt e e e e e e e s e ee e e e e e e e e s e s snnnenreeeeeeas 17
SECTION 33. COUNTERPARTS ..ttt ettt e e e e e e e ettt e e e e e e e s e bbb beeeeeaeeeeeessannnrnreeeeeeas 17
SECTION 34. MODIFICATIONS, AMENDMENTS AND NON-WAIVER ....outtiiiiciirieeeee e eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee 17
SECTION 35. ENTIRE AGREEMENT AND EFFECT ON PRIOR AGREEMENTS .....ccoviiiieiieniieienieesiee e 17
3

Staff Report MPDA Veranda Bay Zoning Amendment

Page 114 of 391



Updated 10/06/2025 Item 6¢ | Lupita McClenning

APPLICANT REQUEST: AMEND 2005 FLAGLER COUNTY PLAN

Developer desires to amend the 2005 Flagler County Development Plan and submit a Master Planned
Development Agreement (MPDA) that aligns, and in compliance with the City of Flagler Beach
Comprehensive Plan, Ordinance 2024-06 Master Planned District (MPD) Zoning Ordinance, City’s Land
Development Code excluding LDR Code Sections for:

e Lot standards and dimensions, Master Planned District Planned Unit Development (PUD)
e lLandscaping requirements for common areas, development standards for residential and
commercial areas;

VERANDA BAY MARINA
Acres POD FLUM

153 acres +/- Al Low Density

23 acres +/- B&C Low Density

35 acres +/- E&M Mixed-Use, Marina, Low

Density, Commercial
23.27 acres +/- F Low Density
TOTAL 234 Acres

This staff report more describes the MPDA performance standards (not limited to density, intensity,
setbacks, accessory structures, permitted uses, signage, and open space, site plan process, required
improvements) as detailed in Ordinance 2025-24 Master Planned Development Agreement, 47-page
document for Veranda Bay.

The details recited in the development agreement are here forward transcribed into definitions, charts,
tables, and performance standards for Veranda Bay Marina Planned Development.

SECTION 1 - RECITALS

Subject Property a single-integrated mixed-use community including a marina and amenities.

Developers/owners can apply to amend the zoning, alighed with MPD District and MPDA to Planning and
Architectural Review Board (PARB) and to City Commission who will utilize the MDP and MPDA for its
findings in considering and recommending zoning amendments.

Per FL Statute, acres less than <50 acres considered a small-scale amendment, + />50 acres a large-scale
amendment and transmitted to DOE;

The Subject Property is designated as Low Density Residential and Commercial on the City’s Future Land
Use Map.

The request is in accordance with the Future Land Use Map designation of the subject property, and is
compliant with applicable Objectives and Policies of the City of Flagler Beach Comprehensive Plan.

Developer desires to rezone Subject Property, subject to this Development Agreement.

The MPD Master Plan generally depicts the layout of the Project and delineates the approximate property
boundaries, Project entrances, general location of Tracts and intended uses, all of which may be further
refined in the future at the discretion of the Declarant.

Staff Report MPDA Veranda Bay Zoning Amendment

Page 115 of 391



Updated 10/06/2025 Item 6¢ | Lupita McClenning

The MPD Master Plan satisfies the requirements of the City’s Comprehensive Plan, the LDR, and other City
regulations, including but not limited to City Ordinance 2024-06 and can proceed directly to applications
for preliminary plat or site plan approval.

This agreement does not affect the entitlements, rights, or responsibility of vested rights in 2005
Development Agreement for 110 acres of +/- 899 acres.

Once annexed and in the city proper, the city will manage land use and development for the remaining
+/- 756 acres combined acreage Veranda Bay Marina and Summertown.

Timing and phasing; requirements of Comp Plan; LDR; and development deemed to be ongoing;
notwithstanding in event development activities cease for period of ten (10) years Agreement shall expire
unless otherwise mutually agreed to.

SECTION 2. OWNER AUTHORIZATION
SECTION 3. PROJECT AND MPDA VERANDA BAY MARINA

Mixed-Use Development 234 Acres
(a) The Project
(b) Veranda Bay Marina is a mixed-use, low-density development providing for commercial
and significant open space, including preserved lands. Preserved lands subject to passive
recreation, conservation areas, a marina basin, buffers, and wetlands. See Exhibit D FLUM
pods A1, B&C, E&M and F;
e Veranda Bay Marina 377 DU
o 1.6 units per acre gross residential development
o 3 units an acre per pod
e Marina Village
o 16,200 SQFT Commercial
e Open Space
o Minimum of forty percent (40%)

Mixed Use adjacent to Intracoastal Waterway (ICW) intended to be developed into a commercial
or private marina and may include:

e Ship store,

e Fueling station,

e Restaurants,

e Retails uses, and

e Commercial uses integrated with residential uses.

( c) Master Plan is conceptual and subject to change (location of internal sidewalks, stormwater ponds,
and other improvements.) Parties agree such improvements include engineered site plans that locate
improvements on each tract as developed and approved by the City.

SECTION 4 —MPD REVIEW AND APPROVAL PROCESS

(a) Master Plan generally depicts layout and delineates property boundaries, project entrances,
tracts and intended uses,

Staff Report MPDA Veranda Bay Zoning Amendment

Page 116 of 391



Updated 10/06/2025 Item 6¢ | Lupita McClenning

(b) Development submittals to proceed with permitting to contain level of detail for Site Plan/Plat
Site Plan.

(c) Should declarant obtain title to Public Lands 13-12-31-2850-OPL previously dedicated to the
County, in good faith parties shall annex, amend land use and MPD consistent with 2025 MPDA.

Section 4. MPD Development Review Process

The MPD Master Plan generally depicts the layout of the Project and delineates the approximate property
boundaries, project entrances, general location of tracts and intended uses, which may be further refined.
MPD Master Plan satisfies the requirements of the City’s Comprehensive Plan, the LDR, and other City
regulations, including but not limited to City Ordinance 2024-06 and can proceed directly to applications
for preliminary plat or site plan approval.

Including the exception of PUD performance standards, as outlined in Ordinance 2024-06, Master
Planned District zoning category, the Veranda Bay MPD aligns with the City’s Land Development
Regulations.

Projected Projected Start of Projected
Tract Type of Development Uflits Djevelopment Comeletion
Low Density Single-Family
Al Residential (SFR) Units 122 units Q4 2022 Q4 2030
Low Density Residential
B Units, Townhomes, Condos 58 Q4 Q4
or Single Family units 2026 2030
Low Density Residential
C Units, Townhomes, Condos 45 Q4 Q4
or Single Family units 2027 2030
£ Multi-Family Condos 152  units Q4 2026 Q4 2030
Yacht Club - Commercial 16,200 sq. ft. Q4 2025 Q4 2030
M Marina / Yacht Basin 12 Acres Q4 2025 Q4 2030

In the event development activities cease for a period of ten (10) years, the agreement expires unless
agreed to by both parties.

SECTION 5. MODIFICATIONS TO DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT AND MPD MASTER PLAN

Minor Modifications — are modifications to location of tracts, roadways, sidewalks/pathway systems and
other improvements and deemed to be de minimis and approved administratively through designated
Land Use Authority (LUA).

Minor modifications do not include:

(1) modifications to the maximum building height (35’) nor
(2) changes to the maximum permitted residential units.

SECTION 6. PERMITTED USES

Staff Report MPDA Veranda Bay Zoning Amendment

Page 117 of 391



Updated 10/06/2025 Item 6¢ | Lupita McClenning

Residential Uses
e Single Family
e Townhome
e Duplex Condominium
e  Multi-Family

Commercial Uses
e Commercial or Private Marina
e Ship Store
e Fueling Station
e Personal and Professional Services
e Retail
e Restaurants
e Farmers Markets
e Mooring Docks
e Water Taxi
e Mixed Use
e Townhome/Duplex
e  Multi-family
e Condominium

Open Space forty Percent (40%)
e Preserved Lands
e Passive Recreation
e Conservation area
e Marina Basin
e Buffers and wetlands

SECTION 7. VEHICULAR/NON-VEHICULAR, PEDISTRIAN ACCESS AND INTERCONNECTIVITY
Master Plan integrates pedestrian, bicycle, and vehicular traffic circulation system within the project and
adjacent Right-of-ways. All uses have access to roadways or shared driveways. The City shall be granted
access at all times to the private roadway to ensure safety and compliance. Declarant to coordinate
with Flagler County School District for school bus stop location.

SECTION 8. LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE AND PARTIAL NON-APPLICABILITY

Master Planned Development (MPD) Master Plan - conflict between terms of Development
Agreement and Master Plan, provisions of Development Agreement shall prevail. In event of
inconsistency or conflict between terms of Development Agreement and Land Development
Code, Development Agreement shall prevail. Where requirements are not contained in
Development Agreement, the Land Development Code shall apply.

Excluding performance standards for the Veranda Bay Marina Master Planned District (MPD)
zoning outlined in Master Plan and codified through the Development Agreement, the City’s
Land’s Development Code in effect when annexed into the City proper, shall be applied.
Subsequent changes.

Staff Report MPDA Veranda Bay Zoning Amendment

Page 118 of 391



Updated 10/06/2025 Item 6¢ | Lupita McClenning

SECTION 9. FACILTITY COMMITMENTS

Pg. 10 of 47 MPDA
(a) The city is not responsible for construction or creation of public facilities, or to facilitate the
development within the project. The city warrants it has and shall maintain potable water
and wastewater capacity for the Project. The declarant may at its sole discretion and without
objection, construct private services or obtain services from other providers including
adjacent municipalities.
(b) Private and Public Improvements — the declarant agrees to construct the following on-site
improvements, at declarant’s sole and exclusive expense, as a condition of the Development
Agreement, and in addition to payment of all impact fees, unless otherwise provided:
(1) Private Improvements:
a. Parking areas
Utilities
Master stormwater system
Sidewalks
Lighting
Recreational facilities
Perimeter buffer
Landscaping

i. Trails /Hubs

The City has shown nexus between legitimate City interest, and the conditions imposed herein. Conditions
imposed are proportional to the impacts the development has on the public, based on determination by
studies that conditions are related in nature and to the extent of impacts from proposed project.

S®m 0 oo T

Disclosure: the declarant acknowledges impact fees in effect (pg. 10 of 47. Line 22). The City discloses the
that Veranda Bay and Summertown’s impact are taken into consideration in the current Mobility Plan
Assessment as required to implement a mobility impact fee. Additionally, the City discloses the upcoming
Parking Plan Assessment, and hereby disclose it has yet to assess/study impacts and subsequently what
the impact if any for a marina, dry, and wet slips.

iii. Nothing herein shall be deemed a prohibited exaction Section 70.45 Florida Statute, and declarant
agrees he has not suffered any damages under that statute.

(c) Sidewalks and Pedestrian Paths: Internal, integrated system of sidewalks. Pedestrian maintain access
to all uses, as reasonable and practical, and homeowners responsible for community 5’ sidewalks, internal
roadway system. Declarant provide stabilized pedestrian trails as permissible for purposes of providing
recreational opportunities, connectivity, and open space.

(d) Stormwater system — the declarant shall be responsible for designing, permitting, constructing, and
maintaining the means of conveyance of stormwater runoff within the Project, including not limited to all
stormwater lines, ditches, culverts, and other stormwater facilities that are necessary to convey and treat
stormwater runoff. Conceptual model included subject to final permitting including not limited to City’s
site plan/plat approval.

Staff Report MPDA Veranda Bay Zoning Amendment

Page 119 of 391



Updated 10/06/2025 Item 6¢ | Lupita McClenning

(e) Parks and Recreation: 1100 acres, boating ramp, active and passive recreation, plus declarant shall
dedicate or cause to be conveyed to City a two (2) acre park site with direct access to John Anderson
Highway, satisfies the City’s Park and Recreation LOS.

(f) Community Development Districts: acknowledges that the Annexed Property is subject to Gardens at
Hammock Beach CDD, initially established by Flagler County. The agrees it shall accept and acknowledge
the powers granted to the CDD by law, and agree to execute all documents necessary or take action to
transfer local government jurisdiction to the City, and agrees that in good faith will assist to amend the
district’s existing boundaries. DREW pg. 12 lines 10-17.

SECTION 10. DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS

Parking
a. Parking requirements for each Tract shall be consistent with the LDR, unless provided for
elsewhere in the MPD Agreement. Aggregate number of parking spaces shall be satisfied (shared
parking and facilities may serve more than one tract/use) including mixed uses with different
operating times and peak hour parking. Multifamily development shall require 1.75 parking
spaces/unit

Open Space
b. Open Space to be maintained by Community Development District or HOA. Open Space 40% of
gross area, equivalent to 42 acres, of which 17% of the project dedicated to as conservation.
Open Space to be maintained by Community Development District or HOA. Open Space
Requirement met.

Water/Wastewater/Reuse
c. Declarant shall convey all on site water, wastewater, and reuse improvements. The City shall not
charge fees to CDD or property owners for use of City reuse for common areas the later of
01/01/2036 or for ten years after the City provides reuse water to Project. The City shall not
require declarant to pre-pay water and sewer impact, connection, or CIAC fees until City issues
building permit.

Transportation

d. Transportation — Declarant obligated to comply with FDOT requirements for impacts to SR 100; and
shall construct improvements as may be provided for impacts to John Anderson Highway at time
deemed necessary; and shall be obligated for all costs of design, permitting, and construction of all
traffic improvements identified in the Transportation Study.

Drainage

e. Drainage — Declarant shall construct and maintain stormwater management system that provides
treatment and attenuation as required by SJRWMD (SJRWMD) and the LDR. Stormwater piping,
swales, and ditches shall be designed to convey a five (5) year, twenty-four (24) hour storm event.
Stormwater detention facilities shall be designed to meet water quality and attenuation
requirements of SIRWMD.

Staff Report MPDA Veranda Bay Zoning Amendment

Page 120 of 391



Updated 10/06/2025 Item 6¢ | Lupita McClenning

Landscaping, Tree, and Vegetation Protection

f.  Landscaping, Tree and Vegetation Protection: Declarant shall record an encumbrance or easement
on its property adjacent to John Anderson Highway ensuring the buffer along John Anderson
Highway is 100’ average width along the eastern side of the ROW. — See Buffers Map @mtg 09/18.

a. Landscaping design shall comply with Exhibit D. No potable water shall be used for
irrigation after sufficient stormwater or reclaimed water capacity becomes available.

b. Efforts to preserve and enhance design through relation of building, parking, roadway,
stormwater includes supplemental landscaping to blend and accentuate residential area,
entrances, and other common spaces.

c. General landscaping parking lots, roadways, entrances, residential, commercial, and
other common areas to be landscaped.

i. Native materials to be used most as possible.

ii. Residential common areas — fifty percent (50%) total planted consist of native,
drought-tolerant or waterwise.

iii. Native or drought-tolerant include SMRWMD Waterwise Florida Landscapes,
Florida Native Plant Society, Gardner’s Guide to FL native plant (Osorio 2001) or
comparable prepared by FL Dept of Ag, Florida Fish & Wildlife, FDEP. All
ornamental beds and lawn will have supplemental irrigation.

iv. Shall require three (3) shade trees SFR detached and commit to incorporate
drought-tolerant vegetation, and investment in in reuse water distribution
system, removal of trees and vegetation protection allowed to extent removal is
necessary to provide for stormwater, utilities, recreational opportunities,
building footprint, roadways, sidewalks, paths, and dying trees as noted by a
licensed arborist may be removed and/or are exempt. All species of pine trees
may be removed without mitigation or permit.

v. During site plan and/or platting tracts, declarant shall provide the City a tree
survey depicting location of viable specimen trees within tract with DMB 30” or
greater. LIST OF DISTINCT TREES and add to DEFINITION page 16 line 8

vi. Distinct Tree Mitigation Fee $25 per diameter inch of Distinct Tree Removed.
Removal of any one (1) Distinct Tree shall not exceed $4000. page 16 line 18

John Anderson Highway Buffer

(g) Declarant shall record an encumbrance or easement on its property adjacent to John Anderson
Highway ensuring buffer along John Anderson Highway is one-hundred foot (100’) in average width
along eastern side of right-of-way.

Lighting
(h)  Future development phases, including pole mounted lighting shall be designed to minimize light
pollution to off-site properties.

Fire Protection

(i) Fire Protection: Declarant previously donated to Flagler County a three (3) acre parcel of land for
a fire station to serve the Project and residents along John Anderson Highway. Fire protection for
the project will be met through a system of fire hydrants installed on the Project. Location of fire
hydrants shall be shown on all construction documents, technical site plans, and plats. The Project

10
Staff Report MPDA Veranda Bay Zoning Amendment

Page 121 of 391



Updated 10/06/2025 Item 6¢ | Lupita McClenning

shall comply with the City’s fire protection requirements and provide fire protections services in
accordance with established local response times.

Utilities

1] The declarant is responsible for any costs associated with extension of City utilities to the Subject
Property that may be required to serve this project.

Interconnectivity
(k) Units within the Project shall be interconnected by roadways and sidewalks, as called for by the
City’s Comprehensive Plan.

The Project shall provide and maintain the minimum number of access drives onto John Anderson
Highway.

Wetland Protection

(n All wetlands within the MPD identified using the methodology outlined in Florida Administrative
Code. Wetland delineations shall be conducted by a qualified Florida environmental professional
The survey shall clearly delineate the wetland jurisdictional line and the required upland buffer
boundary.

Signage
(m) Signs shall comply with the LDR, unless otherwise provided herein.

Neighborhood entrance shall have a maximum height of twelve (12) feet and a maximum signage
area of one hundred (100) square feet.

Commercial Ground signs shall be permitted with a maximum signage area per sign of three
hundred twenty (320) square feet and a maximum height of ten (10) feet.

Entrance features such as walls, architectural icons, water features, landforms, landscaping, or
other effects that announce and signify arrival are permitted.

Temporary Facilities

(n) Temporary support facilities shall be permitted for a period of ten (10) years, at which time sales
offices, model homes, development trailers and real estate offices shall be transitioned into a
permanent use.

Model homes shall not be deemed commercial activities.
The City shall permit the construction of Model Homes during the development of phase /or tract.

Rental Program

(o) All or any portion of the Project’s Tracts, (except Tract A-1 and Tract F) permitted for long-term,
short-term, resort residential, or resort condominium rental programs or any third-party rental
program operators approved by the Declarant.

Short-term vacation rentals shall be prohibited.

Marina
(p) The design, permitting and construction of the Marina located on Tract M shall be governed by
permits issued by State and Federal agencies.

11
Staff Report MPDA Veranda Bay Zoning Amendment

Page 122 of 391



Updated 10/06/2025 Item 6¢ | Lupita McClenning

The development of the Marina shall:
(i) participate in the FDEP Clean Marina program, and
(ii) remain exempt from Chapter 22, Art IV of the City Code of Ordinances.

The Marina may, at Declarant’s sole discretion, include wet and dry slips, transient or permanent
slips, fueling facilities, pump out station, a boat ramp and any uses permitted as commercial use.

Dry slips shall be used solely for the maintenance and repair of boats and not for long-term
storage.

City Planner comments: The City discloses it has yet to assess/study impacts and accordingly what
impacts if any subsequently from a marina, dry, and wet slips.

Age Restriction

(q) Nothing in the Development Agreement shall prohibit any age restriction requirements or use
permitted by Federal or State law.

Accessory Uses

(r) Typical residential accessory uses will be allowed, including but not limited to: decks, swimming
pools, patios, air conditioning units, walkways, and sidewalks.

Accessory uses and structures will be allowed in accordance provided uses and structures are
customarily incidental and clearly subordinate to the principal use.

Pools, covered pools, patios, outdoor fireplaces, decks, and gazebos, either attached or detached
from the principal use structure, may be constructed up to a minimum of five (5) feet from the
rear or side property boundary.

SECTION 11. PHASING OF DEVELOPMENT

Multiple Phases
The Declarant shall submit a Preliminary Plat or Site Plan for the relevant phase.

Each Tract of the Project will include infrastructure to support the proposed uses,
including water and wastewater service, drainage, private roads, vehicular, and
pedestrian access facilities.

All infrastructure necessary to support each phase that is constructed on the Subject
Property shall be constructed concurrently with, or prior to construction of that phase of
the Project, as approved by the City, and prior to the issuance of building permits for that
phase.

Roadways
Roadways shall be constructed concurrently with development of adjacent lots.

Contiguous roadways will be available at all times prior to the issuance of building permits for
that phase

12
Staff Report MPDA Veranda Bay Zoning Amendment

Page 123 of 391



Updated 10/06/2025 Item 6¢ | Lupita McClenning

Internal sidewalks shall be constructed adjacent to each residential lot at the time the home is
constructed and prior to the Certificate of Occupancy.

Clearing/Grading
The City may issue permits for clearing, grading, and earthwork for portions of the Subject
Property before approving final construction plans; however, permits required for land clearing,
grading, and earthwork must be obtained.

SECTION 12. LOT AND BUILDING STANDARDS

Residential

10 10 10
20 20 20
35’ 35 35’
15’ 15’ 10’
10 10 10

20 N/A 20

10 10 10

4,000 sf N/A 1,600 sf

40’ N/A i

16

* If Town Houses are developed within a Commercial District, the dimensional standards for Town
Houses shall control.

** In the event the City increases its max building height limitations, the Declarant may elect to increase
its maximum building height to such new limit.

13
Staff Report MPDA Veranda Bay Zoning Amendment

Page 124 of 391



Updated 10/06/2025 Item 6¢ | Lupita McClenning

*** Impervious Surface Ratios shall be applicable to each Tract.

***X*Minimum open space shall be forty percent (40%) of the entire MPD gross area.

Commercial and Mixed-Use (residential above)

If Town Houses are developed within a Commercial District, the dimensional standards for Town Houses
shall control.

** |n the event the City increases its max building height limitations, the Declarant may elect to increase
its maximum building height to such new limit.

*** Impervious Surface Ratios shall be applicable to each Tract.

***X*Minimum open space shall be forty percent (40%) of the entire MPD gross area.

Architectural Style
All architectural standards and requirements shall be determined, approved, and enforced by the
Developer.

14
Staff Report MPDA Veranda Bay Zoning Amendment

Page 125 of 391



Updated 10/06/2025 Item 6¢ | Lupita McClenning

Developer voluntarily electing to impose the City’s existing Commercial Architectural Design Standards
that are governed by the City’s LDR, Section 2.04.02.

Flagler Beach design guidelines were based on existing land uses, zoning classifications, desired
development characteristics and geographic locations.

To represent the distinct commercial district character of Flagler Beach and create a functional whole,
commercial and mixed- use districts each will emulate the design guidelines to illustrate general principles
that will assist to preserve and enhance the desired character. Per the LDR, Section. 2.02.04, the design
guidelines are not be construed as prescriptive standards — they offer designers a flexible tool for quality
and innovation.

Common elements are Streetscape Design, Sidewalks, Street Trees, Lighting, Signage, Street Furniture,
Parking and Vehicular Circulation, Public Open Space, Service, Refuse, and Delivery Design, Landscaping,
Architectural Style.

While the architectural requirements do not recommend a specific design theme, the recommended four
(4) architectural styles a include:

e Florida Frame Vernacular,
e Key West Caribbean Style,
e Bungalow Style, and

e (Classic Revival.

SECTION 13. PERMITS AND APPROVALS

The failure of the Development Agreement to address any specific State or Federal permit, condition,
term, or restriction shall not relieve the Declarant of the requirement of complying with the law governing
said permitting requirements, conditions, terms, or restrictions.

All required City, County, State, or Federal permits shall be obtained prior to commencement of
construction

Development Agreement is not a Preliminary Plat approval, and the Declarant remains responsible for
complying with all provisions of the LDR, unless provided elsewhere in this Development Agreement.

Open burning shall be prohibited during development and property owners shall be subject to the City’s
LDR.

SECTION 14. DEVELOPMENT FEES

The Declarant acknowledges and agrees that the City has enacted citywide impact fees and may in the
future increase the amount of those fees.

The Declarant acknowledges that the Project shall be subject to all fees in effect at the time of permitting.

Declarant shall not be charged impact fees for the marina wet slips or dry slips. *City DISCLOSURE

15
Staff Report MPDA Veranda Bay Zoning Amendment

Page 126 of 391



Updated 10/06/2025 Item 6¢ | Lupita McClenning

Conditions imposed are proportional to the impacts the development has on the public, based on
determination by studies that conditions are related in nature and to the extent of impacts from proposed
project.

Disclosure: the declarant acknowledges impact fees in effect (pg. 10 of 47. Line 22). The City discloses the
that Veranda Bay and Summertown’s impact are taken into consideration in the current Mobility Plan
Assessment as required to implement a mobility impact fee. Additionally, the City discloses the upcoming
Parking Plan Assessment, and hereby disclose it has yet to assess/study impacts and subsequently what
the impact if any for a marina, dry, and wet slips.

iii. Nothing herein shall be deemed a prohibited exaction Section 70.45 Florida Statute, and declarant
agrees he has not suffered any damages under that statute.

SECTION 15. LONG-TERM MAINTENANCE COMMON AREAS

The Declarant shall dedicate maintenance and control of common areas to:
(i)  the existing community development district,
(i)  a property owners association or

(iii) other entity accepted by the LUA.

16
Staff Report MPDA Veranda Bay Zoning Amendment

Page 127 of 391



Updated 10/06/2025 Item 6¢ | Lupita McClenning

SECTION 16. BREACH, ENFORCEMENT, ALTERNATIVE DISPUTE AND CONFLICT
RESOLUTION

SECTION 17. NOTICES

SECTION 18. SEVERABILITY

SECTION 19. SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS.

SECTION 20. GOVERNING LAW, VENUE AND COMPLIANCE WITH LAW.
SECTION 21. TERM/EFFECTIVE DATE.

SECTION 22. RECORDATION

SECTION 23. THIRD PARTY RIGHTS

SECTION 24. SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE / TIME IS OF THE ESSENCE
SECTION 25. ATTORNEYS’ FEES

SECTION 26. FORCE MAJEURE

SECTION 27. INDEMNIFICATION

SECTION 28. ENFORCEMENT: CITY’S RIGHT TO TERMINATE DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT.

SECTION 29. CAPTIONS

SECTION 30. EXHIBITS

SECTION 31. INTERPRETATION

SECTION 32. FURTHER ASSURANCES

SECTION 33. COUNTERPARTS

SECTION 34. MODIFICATIONS, AMENDMENTS AND NON-WAIVER
SECTION 35. ENTIRE AGREEMENT AND EFFECT ON PRIOR AGREEMENTS

Staff Report MPDA Veranda Bay Zoning Amendment

17

Page 128 of 391



ORDINANCE 2025-24
VERANDA BAY REZONING
APPLICATION NO. PRZ25-0001

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF
FLAGLER BEACH, FLORIDA, AMENDING THE OFFICIAL ZONING
MAP DESIGNATION FOR APPROXIMATELY 234 ACRES OF CERTAIN
REAL PROPERTY; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING
FOR CONFLICTS; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE.

WHEREAS, the City Commission of the City of Flagler Beach, as the governing body of
the City, pursuant to the authority vested in Chapter 163 and Chapter 166, Florida Statutes and the
City of Flagler Beach Land Development Regulations, is authorized and empowered to consider
applications relating to zoning; and

WHEREAS, the City of Flagler Beach is in receipt of a request to amend the official
zoning map for the property described herein; and

WHEREAS, the above described property is presently zoned Planned Unit Development
(Flagler County Designation), Reserved and Single Family Residential (City of Flagler Beach
Designations) and the request is to have the property rezoned as Master Planned Development;
and

WHEREAS, the request is in accord with the Future Land Use Map designation of the
subject property, and is complaint with all applicable Objectives and Policies of the City of Flagler
Beach Comprehensive Plan; and

WHEREAS, the Planning and Architectural Review Board (PARB) has recommended the
City Commission change the Official Zoning Map to reflect a new designation for the subject
property as Master Planned Development; and

WHEREAS, the City Commission has considered the findings in the staff report and the
following findings of fact:

1. The rezoning is consistent with the purposes, goals, objectives, and policies of the City

of Flagler Beach Comprehensive Plan;

2. The rezoning is compatible with the Land Development Regulations, and generally

consistent with the uses and character of the land surrounding and in the vicinity of the
land proposed for rezoning;

3. The rezoning will result in a logical, timely and orderly development pattern;

Page 129 of 391



4. The staff report has demonstrated sufficient justification that there are changed

circumstances, which would require the rezoning request.

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED BY THE CITY COMMISSION
OF THE CITY OF FLAGLER BEACH, FLORIDA, AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1. LEGISLATIVE AND ADMINISTRATIVE FINDINGS. The above

recitals (whereas clauses) are hereby adopted as the legislative and administrative findings of the
City Commission of the City of Flagler Beach.
SECTION 2. OFFICIAL ZONING MAP AMENDED. The approximately 234 acre

subject area generally located along the east and west of John Anderson Highway, and directly
south of State Road 100 as legally described in Exhibit “A” and depicted in Exhibit “B”, attached
hereto, is hereby amended from the Flagler County designation of Planned Unit Development and
City of Flagler Beach designations of Reserved and Single Family Residential to Master Planned
Development (MPD).

SECTION 3. CONFLICTS. All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith

are hereby repealed.

SECTION 4. INCORPORATION OF DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT. The

Veranda Bay Master Planned Development Agreement attached hereto as Exhibit “C” is

incorporated into this Ordinance by reference as if fully set forth herein and development upon the

property here rezoned shall be consistent with its terms..

SECTION 5. SEVERABILITY. If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase or

provision of this Ordinance is held to be unconstitutional or otherwise invalid by a court of
competent jurisdiction, such unconstitutionality or invalidity shall not be construed as to render
unconstitutional or invalid the remaining provisions of the Ordinance.

SECTION 6. EFFECTIVE DATE. This Ordinance shall become effective immediately
upon the effective date of Ordinance No. 2025-

, as adopted by the City Commission of the

City of Flagler Beach, Florida. If Ordinance No. 2025- does not become effective, then this

Ordinance shall become null and void.

APPROVED on First Reading the day of 2025.

Page 130 of 391



ADOPTED on Second Reading after due public notice and public hearing this day
of , 2025.

ATTEST: CITY OF FLAGLER BEACH, FLORIDA
CITY COMMISSION
CITY CLERK Patti King, Mayor

APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGALITY:

DREW SMITH, CITY ATTORNEY

Page 131 of 391



- Observer

25-00351F You. Your Neighbors. Your Neighborhood.
Palm CoastObserver.com

Palm Coast Observer
Published Weekly
Palm Coast, Flagler County, Florida
COUNTY OF FLAGLER

STATE OF FLORIDA

Before the undersigned authority personally appeared Nancy Kay
Ravmond who on oath says that he/she is Publisher's Representative of the Palm
Coast Observer a weekly newspaper published at Palm Coast, Flagler County,
Florida; that the attached copy of advertisement,
being a Public Notice
in the matter of Ordinance No 2025-23, 2025-24
in the Court, was published in said newspaper by print in the
issues of 9/25/2025

Affiant further says that the Palm Coast Observer complies with all legal
requirements for publication in chapter 50, Florida Statutes.

*This Notice was placed on the newspaper’s website and floridapublicnotices.com
on the same day the notice appeared in the newspaper.

Sworn to and subscribed, and personally appeared by physical presence before me,

25th day of September, 2025 A.D.

byN;ncyKaanymmdwbo’ lly&awnmme.
g% 2 <
Notary Public, State of Florida
(SEAL)
{111
SUBER ",
» il |
§ Q?b ARY .. %
5. AT %
foiaess R
x5 Sfr\wq ZF
s oS
‘%,.‘.‘ Sr 5 Hf"\%(\,ij
" ATE OF o

OF FLAGLER BEACH
CE OF PUBLIC
HEARING

PR b e e T 355030 bt

KIF 1 CETY CCOEMISSINN OF TIE CITY OF FLAGLER SRACH,
§NG THN ONPICIAL AONING MAF DERGNATION FUR ATFROKS

WAL PROTERTY)
VI DATE.

P e ahgs Ombramen

s cery FRALER SRACH,
FLAN PUTURE LAND USE MAP DO

PrACOUMATILY 28459 ACKED OF CRETAIN REAL FROFENTY.
PROTIUING FOR CORPLICTR: A%S FROVER G

T
I wdmtiod 1o rese (b pogert) o Mussnd Ust Deveioprss: (FUDL
— 1 e Mt ot [t

e Ty At

JANE SCTTEERITAR TO &8 MIELD AT SET¥ MALL wit & 35D RTREET, FiA
M A2 PLLOWS

EITHCTURAL MENTEW BRI TURSOAT, CUTORER 1. mtas AT 40w £
KCOMMISSION TIFTIIDAY, CCTUMER & 300 AT %38 FAL O AS 300N

-
§ COMMISRION THURSIAY, NOVIMEER 1, 3038 AT 50 1M OR A8

Ab ol x

ATIES ARE INVETED 10 ATTEND
AT (s e, KXY

YO THE COYY OF L

| ho shbem s duriag o g st v aay b G (bt b e
e,

——

o Swe, Plagher Banch, Tiorsba.

| omal a3 dnmaw S wOh vt Lo Sk Cbiaan] & (M
- — ot vk praryen, § ey b ——

b et of G oo 'x wd. Ak vl ks (e destiny sl
oyt & o b bt

2300t 8 b

(Dat 2. Tho publlc £y mepee! wibervatons ok » (s dsadnd 412¢ ST
o Db iog (rparmerd 85 5 Uy A

Page 132 of 391



Exhibit “C”

Veranda Bay

Master Planned Development Agreement

Page 133 of 391



N Nk W N =

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

Michael D. Chiumento I1I, Esq.
Chiumento Law, PLLC.

145 City Place, Suite 301

Palm Coast, FL 32164

[SPACE ABOVE THIS LINE FOR RECORDING DATA]

VERANDA BAY
MASTER PLANNED DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

THIS MASTER PLANNED DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (this “Development
Agreement”) is made and entered into this  day of , 2025 by and between the CITY
OF FLAGLER BEACH, a Florida municipal corporation (the “City”), with an address at 105 S.
Second St., Flagler Beach, Florida, 32136, and the master developer of the Subject Property, PALM
COAST INTRACOASTAL, LLC, a Florida limited liability company with an address at 3129
Springbank Lane, Suite 201, Charlotte, NC 28226 (“PCI” or the “Declarant””) and VERANDA BAY
INVESTMENTS, LLC, 3129 Springbank Lane, Suite 201, Charlotte, NC, 28226 (“Veranda Bay”).
RECITALS

A. In 2005, Flagler County adopted Ordinance 2005-22 recorded at O.R. Book 1429,

Page 19, et seq., Public Records of Flagler County, Florida which rezoned and

approved the negotiated PUD Development Agreement (the “2005 Development

Agreement”) for a mixed-use development affecting approximately 1,999 acres of land.

B. As negotiated in the 2005 Development Agreement, the owner conveyed

approximately 1,100 acres of land designated as environmental lands to Flagler County

for the purpose of public services, preservation, conservation, and public recreation for

to benefit the citizens of Flagler County. In addition, the owner conveyed to the County

Ordinance No. 2025-24
Page 1 of47

Page 134 of 391



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

two parcels of land for a public boat ramp and for public safety. These lands conveyed
to the County are collectively called the “Public Land”.

C. Asnegotiated in the 2005 Development Agreement, the remaining +/- 899 acres of
land (the “2005 PUD Property”) is permitted to be developed as a mixed-use
development with a portion of its (234 acres) having been annexed into the City of
Flagler Beach, Flagler County, Florida, on the Effective Date of this Agreement

D. PCI owns vacant land totaling +/- 93 acres (the “PCI Land”) which was recently
annexed into the City of Flagler Beach (Exhibit “A”).

E. Subsequent to the effective date of the 2005 Development Agreement, PCI properly
developed and conveyed a portion of the 2005 PUD Property (the “Approved
Properties”; Exhibit “A”) to third parties for uses including but not limited to single-
family residential lots. The Approved Properties were recently annexed into the City of
Flagler Beach.

F. Veranda Bay owns vacant land, totaling +/- 58 acres (the “Veranda Bay Land”)
which was recently annexed into the City of Flagler Beach (Exhibit “A”).

G. The Declarant desires to amend the presently approved development plan for the
PCI Land, the Approved Properties and the Veranda Bay Land (collectively, the
“Subject Property”; Exhibit “A”) by creating a single integrated mixed-use community
including a marina and amenities.

H. PCI has the sole authority to rezone the Subject Property as permitted by law and
shall be referred to hereinafter as the “Declarant”.

I. The City’s Comprehensive Plan shows the Subject Property, designated as Low
Density Residential and Commercial on its Future Land Use Map.

Ordinance No. 2025-24
Page 2 of 47

Page 135 of 391



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

J. Based upon the finding of facts and conclusions of law, the City Commission
determines that this Development Agreement is consistent with the City’s
Comprehensive Plan, the City’s Land Development Regulations (2025) (the “LDR”),
and that the conditions, terms, restrictions, and requirements set forth herein are
necessary for the protection of the public health, safety, and welfare of the citizens of
the City.
K. The City Commission further finds that this Development Agreement is consistent
with an exercise of the City’s powers under the Municipal Home Rule Powers Act,
Article VIII, Section 2(b) of the Constitution of the State of Florida, Chapter 166,
Florida Statutes, the City Charter, other controlling laws, and the City’s police powers.
L. This is a non-statutory Development Agreement which is not subject to or enacted
pursuant to the provisions of Sections 163.3220 -163.3243, Florida Statutes.
M. The Parties, therefore, desire to rezone the Subject Property, making it subject to
this Development Agreement.
NOW, THEREFORE, it is hereby resolved and agreed by and between the City and the Declarant
that the Declarant’s rezoning application for a Master Planned Development is approved, subject
to the Development Agreement’s following terms and conditions:

SECTION 1. RECITALS.

The above recitals are taken as true, incorporated herein by this reference and form a material

part of this Development Agreement upon which the City and the Declarant have relied.

Ordinance No. 2025-24
Page 3 of 47

Page 136 of 391



Ne)

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

SECTION 2. REPRESENTATIONS OF DECLARANT.

The Declarant hereby represents and warrants to the City that the Declarant is an owner or
authorized agent of the Subject Property in accordance with the title opinion or title certification
provided by the Declarant to the City issued by an attorney or title insurance company licensed to
provide services in the State of Florida, with said title opinion or certification showing all liens,
mortgages, and other encumbrances not satisfied or released of record relative to the Subject Property.

SECTION 3. THE PROJECT & MPD MASTER PLAN.

(a) The Declarant shall continue to develop the Subject Property as a mixed-use
development generally consistent with the MPD Master Plan (Exhibit “B”) hereinafter referred to as
the “Project”.

(b) This Project is a mixed-use, low-density development focused on providing
significant Open Space, including preserved lands. The Project provides for low-density residential
development and a marina village. The residential uses shall include multiple types of housing
opportunities such as low-density residential development, medium-density multi-family uses, and
high-density multi-family uses; none exceeding thirty-five feet (35”) in height. The mixed-use areas
identified adjacent to the Intracoastal Waterway (“ICW”) are intended to be developed into a
commercial or private marina which may include a ship store, fueling station, restaurants, retail uses,
or other commercial uses integrated with medium-density to high-density residential uses. The Project
will preserve a minimum of forty percent (40%) of the Project’s area as Open Space, which includes,
but is not limited to, preserved lands subject to passive recreation, conservation areas, a marina basin,
buffers and wetlands. Recognizing that approximately 1,100 acres of land were previously dedicated to
the County for (i) preservation, (ii) access to the ICW, and (iii) public safety, the Parties agree that the

Project benefits the entire Flagler County community, including the residents of the City of Flagler

Ordinance No. 2025-24
Page 4 of 47

Page 137 of 391



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

Beach. The Project’s density and intensity are provided below.

Project 234 ac.
Residential units (max.) 377 units (1.6 units/ac)
Commercial density (max.) 16,000 sq ft
Open Space >40
(c) The MPD Master Plan is conceptual in nature and subject to change as permitted by

this Development Agreement. The locations of improvements are graphical in nature and will be
located as the Project is designed, permitted and approved by the City. For example, the location of
sidewalks, stormwater ponds, and other improvements noted on the MPD Master Plan are not required
to be constructed in the exact locations as shown. The Parties agree that all such improvements will
be engineered and located on each tract, or portion thereof, as developed and subsequently approved
by the City.

SECTION 4. APPROVAL OF MPD DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT, MPD MASTER

PLAN APPROVAL, AND DEVELOPMENT REVIEW PROCESS.

The City Commission, at its regular meeting on , 2025 and pursuant to

Ordinance 2025-__, adopted this Development Agreement affecting the Subject Property.

(a) The MPD Master Plan generally depicts the layout of the Project and delineates the
approximate property boundaries, Project entrances, general location of Tracts and intended uses, all
of which may be further refined in the future at the discretion of the Declarant. Moreover, the MPD
Master Plan satisfies the requirements of the City’s Comprehensive Plan, the LDR, and other City
regulations, including but not limited to City Ordinance 2024-06 and can proceed directly to
applications for preliminary plat or site plan approval.

(b) This Development Agreement (i) does not affect the entitlements, rights or

Ordinance No. 2025-24
Page 5 of 47

Page 138 of 391



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

responsibilities of any owner of the Approved Properties and (ii) affirms any and all vested rights of
the Approved Properties as provided in the 2005 Development Agreement and the Approvals as
defined by City of Flagler Beach Ordinance 2025-_ (the “Pre-Annexation Agreement”).

(c) The development of the Project has commenced, satisfies all timing or phasing
requirements by the City’s Comprehensive Plan and LDR, and is therefore deemed to be ongoing.
Absent written notice from the Declarant to the City abandoning the Project or terminating this
Agreement, this Agreement shall not expire or lapse. Notwithstanding, in the event development
activities cease for a period of ten (10) years, this Agreement shall expire unless otherwise agreed to by
the parties.

(e)  The Parties agree and acknowledge that, in the event, the Declarant obtains title to any
portion of those Public Lands (13-12-31-2850-0PL30-0000) previously dedicated to the County, the
Parties shall in good faith annex such into the City, amend its land use designation and rezone the

property in a manner that is consistent with adjacent lands owned by the Declarant or its assigns.

SECTION 5. MODIFICATIONS TO THE DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT & MPD

MASTER PLAN.

Modifications to the exact location of Tracts, roadways, primary sidewalk/pathway systems,
and other improvements generally depicted on the MPD Master Plan are anticipated to change
(“Minor Modifications™) and shall be approved by the City Manager or its designee (the “Land Use
Administrator” or “LUA”) during review of construction documents, site plans, or Preliminary Plat for
the Project or portions thereof, as long as the development standards contained in this Development
Agreement are maintained. Moreover, the Land Use Administrator shall approve a Minor
Modification in writing, without City Commission approval, for modifications to the Development

Agreement, MPD Master Plan and any construction documents and Preliminary Plat for the Subject

Ordinance No. 2025-24
Page 6 0of 47

Page 139 of 391



10
11
12
13
14
15

16

17
18
19

20

Property, provided that: (1) the maximum building height and maximum number of residential units
permitted are not exceeded or (2) the approved plans maintain the general development standards in
this Development Agreement. The Declarant may challenge the LUA’s denial of a Minor
Modification and, in writing, request a hearing before the City Commission which will, in good faith,
decide whether the change is deemed a Minor Modification. Only proposed changes that affect criteria
(1) or (2) above shall require City Commission approval or be deemed to require a rezoning, as
provided by Florida Statutes, Chapter 163, or the City’s regulations. Otherwise, a Minor
Modification or other change shall be deemed to be de minimis and shall be approved by the LUA as
provided above.

SECTION 6. PERMITTED USES.

The Declarant agrees to fully comply with the following uses and restrictions on the Subject
Property. The Declarant must develop the Project generally consistent with the MPD Master Plan with
the following approved uses on each Tract, as provided by the table below. The design standards for the
permitted use on each Tract shall comply with design standards provided in Section 12.1, Lot

Dimensional Standards, below:

ZONING
TRACT PISTRICT APPROVED USES
A-1 Residential SFR, Town House and Conservation
B Residential SFR, Town House, Multi-family
C Residential SFR, Town House, Multi-family
‘ Mixed-Use, Commercial, Town House,
E Mixed Use Multi-family, Marina, SFR
F Residential SFR and Private Amenity.
. Mixed-Use, SFR, Commercial, Town
M Mixed Use House, Multi-family, Marina

(a) SFR: The purpose of the Single-Family Residential (SFR) uses is to provide

areas for detached single-family dwellings and accessory use, including ancillary dwelling units

Ordinance No. 2025-24
Page 7 of 47

Page 140 of 391



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

permitted by State statutes and the Declarant. SFR uses adjacent to the ICW shall be permitted to
construct docks in any configuration designated by the Declarant, subject only to State and Federal

permitting requirements.

(b) Town House: This use permits two or more attached or shared wall single- family
units. Town House may include fee-simple or condominium ownership models. Town House units
may be constructed with one car garages, so long as minimum parking standards are met. In addition,
duplex homes under single ownership are permitted.

(c) Multi-family: The purpose of multi-family use is to provide areas for attached
housing, and medium-density to high-density apartments or condominiums. These uses also allow
for assisted living or nursing homes.

(d) Commercial: This use is to provide areas for general commercial, and office uses
to meet the community-wide demand for retail, services, business, and employment opportunities.
Specific uses are provided by the City Ordinance 2024-06 with additional permitted uses being
amphitheaters, farmers markets, mooring docks, water taxi service, and marina facilities. Commercial
uses may also include residential uses to establish mixed-use neighborhood nodes consistent with
Section 16, below or as provided in Section 6(e).

(e) Mixed-Use: This use supports economic development by providing a specific,
defined location where multiple opportunities for working, shopping, entertainment, lodging, and
living are provided. Recognizing that Tracts may include both commercial and residential uses, the
mixed-use allows development to integrate commercial use with or adjacent to residential (attached
or detached) uses to achieve this goal. For example, mixed-use allows for buildings to provide
commercial uses on the first floor with residential above.

€3] Conservation: This use allows areas within the Project to generally remain in their

Ordinance No. 2025-24
Page 8 0of 47

Page 141 of 391



O 0 3 O\ Wn

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

natural vegetative state upon which development may proceed with restrictions. The uses
permitted to be developed in Conservation areas are restricted to: 1) open space parks, 2) recreation
areas, 3) public facilities/utilities, and 4) uninhabitable structures. The Conservation use
designation shall be permitted on any Tract despite not being designated in the table above.

SECTION 7. VEHICULAR/NON-VEHICULAR AND PEDESTRIAN ACCESS., AND

INTERCONNECTIVITY.

(a) The MPD Master Plan integrates pedestrian, bicycle, and vehicular traffic
circulation systems within the Project and within adjacent right-of-way(s). All uses shall have access
to a roadway or shared driveway(s) and may, but are not required to, front on a dedicated road. The
City, but not the general public, shall be granted access at all times to all private roadways to ensure
that public safety is maintained.

(b) During the subsequent design and development stage of the Project, the Declarant
shall coordinate with the Flagler County School District for a school bus stop location.

(c) Vehicular and pedestrian access from the Project to Palm Drive shall be expressly
prohibited.

SECTION 8. LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE PARTIAL NON-APPLICABILITY.

The development of the Project shall proceed in accordance with the terms of this
Development Agreement. In the event of a conflict between the terms of this Development
Agreement and the MPD Master Plan, the provisions of this Development Agreement shall prevail.
In the event of an inconsistency or conflict between the terms of this Development Agreement and
the LDR, the terms and provisions of this Development Agreement shall prevail. Where specific
requirements are not contained in this Development Agreement, the LDR shall apply to the extent
that it does not conflict with the provisions of this Development Agreement or the general intent of

Ordinance No. 2025-24
Page 9 of 47

Page 142 of 391



10

11

12

13

14

15

16
17
18
19

20
21

22

23

24

the MPD Master Plan. Moreover, the Parties agree that the City’s LDR (2025) shall be applied and
any subsequent changes to such shall have no effect unless the Declarant elects, at its sole discretion,

to comply with such change to the LDR.

SECTION 9. FACILITY COMMITMENTS.

(a) Unless provided elsewhere in this Development Agreement or other Agreement, the
Declarant agrees that the City is not responsible for the construction or creation of public facilities or
capacity to facilitate the development within the Subject Property. As a material inducement for
entering into this Agreement, the City represents and warrants that it presently has and shall maintain
potable water and wastewater capacity for the Project, each of which is estimated to be 111,000
gallons per day, and the failure to provide such shall be deemed a breach of this Agreement, subject
to damages. Therefore, the City shall reserve sufficient potable, wastewater, and reuse water capacity
for the Project, and if such reservation cannot be immediately satisfied by the City when requested
by the Declarant, the Parties agree that the Declarant may, at its sole discretion and without objection
from the City, construct private services or obtain such services from other providers including

adjacent municipalities. The City discloses that Veranda Bay and Summertown’s impact are taken into

consideration in the current Mobility Plan Assessment as required to implement a mobility impact fee.

Additionally, the City discloses the upcoming Parking Plan Assessment and hereby disclose it has vyet to

assess/study impacts and subsequently what the impact if any for a marina, dry, and wet slips.

(b) Private & Public Improvements: The Declarant agrees to construct the

following on-site improvements at the Declarant’s sole and exclusive expense as a condition of this
Development Agreement, and in addition to the payment of all impact fees relating to the
development of the Subject Property, unless otherwise provided for herein:

1. Private Improvements: The parking areas, utilities, master stormwater

Ordinance No. 2025-24
Page 10 of 47

Page 143 of 391



10
11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

system, sidewalks, lighting, recreational facilities, and perimeter buffer landscaping.

il. The Declarant agrees that the City has shown an essential nexus between a
legitimate City interest and the conditions, if any, imposed herein. The Declarant further agrees that
all proposed conditions are roughly proportional to the impact the development will have upon the
public, based upon an individualized determination by the City that the required conditions are related
in both nature and extent to the impacts of the proposed Project.

iii. Nothing herein shall be deemed a prohibited exaction under Florida Statutes,
Section 70.45, and Declarant agrees it has not suffered any damages under that statute.

(c) Sidewalks and Pedestrian Paths: The Declarant shall provide an internal

integrated system of sidewalks to ensure that pedestrians maintain access to all uses, so long as such
is reasonable and practicable. The Declarant shall require homeowners to construct community
sidewalks a minimum of five (5) feet wide on at least one side of the internal roadway system, as may
be determined by the Declarant. In addition, the Declarant may provide stabilized pedestrian trails in
other areas of the Project, as permissible for the purpose of providing recreational opportunities,
connectivity, and open space.

(d) Stormwater System: The Declarant shall be responsible for designing, permitting,

constructing, and maintaining the means of conveyance of stormwater runoff within the Project
including, but not limited to, all stormwater lines, ditches, culverts, and other stormwater facilities that
are necessary to convey and treat stormwater runoff (the “Stormwater System”), as generally depicted
on Exhibit “C”. This is graphical in nature, subject to change and intended to only provide a
conceptual model subject to final permitting including but not limited to the City’s preliminary plat
approvals.

(e) Parks And Recreation: Given (i) the prior conveyance of the Public Lands,

Ordinance No. 2025-24
Page 11 of 47

Page 144 of 391



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

including the public boating facility land to Flagler County, and (ii) the active and passive recreational
obligations found herein, and a private, active amenity for the residents, the Project satisfies the City’s
Comprehensive Plan and the City’s recreational level of service.

In addition to the above, the Declarant shall dedicate or cause to be conveyed to the City: (i)
a two (2) acre park site with direct access to John Anderson Highway. The parties may mutually agree
in writing to the Declarant’s design, permitting, and construction of improvements on the
aforementioned City park site. In the event such an agreement requires the Declarant to make
improvements to the park site, the Declarant shall be entitled to receive City park impact fee credits
for the costs of such park improvements.

® Community Development Districts: The City agrees and acknowledges that

the Annexed Property is subject to the Gardens at Hammock Beach Community Development District,
Flagler County, Florida (“District”), Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, which was initially established by
Flagler County. The City agrees that it shall accept and acknowledge the powers granted to the District
pursuant to State law. The City agrees to execute all documents that may be necessary or take any
action necessary to transfer the local government jurisdiction to the City, to the extent such may be
necessary. The City agrees and acknowledges that it will, in good faith, assist the Declarant, at
Declarant’s sole discretion, to amend the District’s existing boundaries.

SECTION 10. DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS.

(a) Parking: Parking requirements for each Tract shall be consistent with the LDR, unless
provided for elsewhere in this MPD Agreement. Minor deviations to parking requirements may be
approved by the LUA. The calculation of minimum parking space requirements for the development
of any Tract or subsequently platted lot may include excess parking spaces from another Tract or lot,

so long as the aggregate number of parking spaces required for both is satisfied. Additionally, the

Ordinance No. 2025-24
Page 12 of 47

Page 145 of 391



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

Declarant may have shared parking facilities serving more than one use or Tract, only if the Declarant
provides analysis from a traffic engineer that the different uses or mixed-uses will have different peak
hour parking demands and sufficient parking will be provided as required by the LDR. The
calculation of minimum parking space requirements for the development of any Tract may be
determined by the Declarant, subject to the recommendation of a duly licensed traffic engineer. Multi-
family developments shall require 1.75 parking spaces/unit or more, as determined by the Declarant.

(b) Open Space: Minimum open space shall be forty percent (40%) of the Project in its
entirety, with a minimum of 42 acres (/7% of the Project) being dedicated as conservation. Tracts
may be developed with less open space, so long as the aforementioned requirement for the Project is
maintained. Open space is defined by Ordinance 2024-06 and the flexibility defined therein shall be
approved by the Land Use Administrator. Open space shall be maintained by either the Community
Development District, a property owners association, a mutually agreeable conservation easement, or
other method satisfactory to the Declarant. Based on the obligations of this Development Agreement
and the prior conveyance of the Public Lands, the City’s open space requirements provided in its
Comprehensive Plan, LDR, and other regulations are satisfied.

(c) Water/Wastewater/Reuse: The Declarant shall convey all on site water, wastewater

and reuse improvements being served by the City to the City, pursuant to the City’s standard utility
agreement. The City shall not charge fees to a community development district or a property owners
association for the use of City reuse water for common areas the later of (i) January 1, 2036 or (ii)
for ten (10) years after the City provides reuse water to the Project. Moreover, the City shall not
require the Declarant to prepay water and sewer “impact”, “connection” or “CIAC” fees until the City
issues a building permit for a residential or non-residential structure.

(d) Transportation: The Parties accept the traffic study performed by Chindalur

Ordinance No. 2025-24
Page 13 of 47

Page 146 of 391



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

Traffic Solutions, Inc. (the “Transportation Study”), including its conclusions which are incorporated
herein by reference. Notwithstanding, the Declarant shall be obligated to comply with the Florida
Department of Transportation requirements for its impacts to SR100. As for impacts to John Anderson
Highway, the Declarant shall construct improvements as may be provided in the Transportation Study
and as depicted on the MPD Master Plan (“Traffic Improvements”) at such time as deemed necessary
in the Transportation Study. The Declarant shall be obligated for all costs of design, permitting, and
construction of all required Traffic Improvements identified in the Transportation Study. The Project
shall be deemed vested and no additional off-site transportation improvements shall be required by the
Declarant.

(e) Drainage: The Declarant shall construct and maintain a stormwater
management system that provides treatment and attenuation as required by St. Johns River Water
Management District (SJRWMD) and the LDR. Stormwater piping, swales and ditches shall be
designed to convey a five (5) year, twenty-four (24) hour storm event. Stormwater detention facilities
shall be designed to meet the water quality and attenuation requirements of SIRWMD. Any impact to
a flood zone shall be solely regulated by SJRWMD, FEMA or other applicable State and Federal
agencies. Permits issued by these agencies shall be determined to ensure that the proposed impact
satisfies all City requirements, including but not limited to the City’s Comprehensive Plan. As
provided in the Pre-Annexation Agreement and upon request, the City shall timely cooperate with
Declarant to obtain a CLOMR(s) or LOMAR(s) as issued by FEMA. In addition, the Declarant shall
adopt and require construction standards for residential homes to have a finished floor elevation at or
above the FEMA 100-year floodplain elevation.

() _Landscaping, Tree and Vegetation Protection: For any future development, the

Declarant shall cause the recording of an encumbrance or easement on its property adjacent to John

Ordinance No. 2025-24
Page 14 of 47

Page 147 of 391



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

Anderson Highway ensuring that the buffer along John Anderson Highway is 100 ft in average width
along the eastern side of the right of way.

All other landscaping design and requirements shall comply with those standards provided in
Exhibit “D”, which may be amended from time to time. No potable water shall be used for irrigation
after sufficient stormwater or reclaimed water capacity becomes available for the entire Project.
Efforts to preserve and enhance the Project’s design will be achieved by the Declarant, through
adjustments of building, parking, roadway, and stormwater locations and through supplemental
landscaping that will blend with the natural look yet carefully accentuate the residential areas,
entrances, and other common spaces. General landscaping around parking lots, roadways, entrances,
residential and commercial buildings, and other common areas will be landscaped. Native plant
materials may be used when possible. Within future residential common areas, fifty percent (50%) of
the total planted vegetation, by aerial extent, shall consist of native, drought-tolerant or waterwise
vegetation. Native or drought-tolerant plants include those in the SJRWMD’s Waterwise Florida
Landscapes, the Florida Native Plant Society’s list of native landscape plants for Flagler County, A
Gardener’s Guide to Florida’s Native Plants (Osorio 2001), or comparable guidelines prepared by the
Florida Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services, SJRWMD, Florida Fish and Wildlife
Conservation Commission or Florida Department of Environmental Protection. All ornamental
landscape beds and lawn areas will have supplemental irrigation. Flexibility of the MPD Master Plan
shall allow for further refinement of site development and landscaping.

The Declarant shall require (1) three (3) shade trees for each future single-family detached lot.
Tree and vegetation protection, removal, conservation, and mitigation requirements shall be governed
by this Development Agreement. In consideration of (i) the approximately 1,100 acres previously
conveyed to the County, (i1) the forty percent (40%) minimum open space required for the Project as

Ordinance No. 2025-24
Page 15 of 47

Page 148 of 391



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

provided in Section 10(b) above, (iii) the Declarant’s commitment herein to require three (3) shade
trees for each single-family detached lot, (iv) the Declarant’s commitment herein to incorporate
drought-tolerant vegetation and (v) the Declarant’s commitment to a significant investment in a reuse
water distribution system, the removal of trees and vegetation shall be allowed to the extent the
removal of such is necessary as solely determined by the Declarant, to provide infrastructure,
stormwater, utilities, recreational opportunities or finished lots. Mitigation for tree and vegetation
removal shall be required as provided in the paragraph below.

During the platting process of individual tracts, the Declarant shall provide the City a tree survey
depicting the location of viable specimen trees within the tract being platted as defined by the City’s
LDR (excluding pine and palm trees) with diameters of thirty inches (30”) or greater (“Distinct Trees”).
The Declarant shall make efforts to protect Distinct Trees as part of its design and development of
individual tracts. If the Declarant or its assigns determines that it is necessary to remove Distinct Trees,
the removal shall be allowed, and the Declarant shall mitigate said tree removal by paying to the City
a fee (the “Distinct Tree Mitigation Fee”). The Distinct Tree Mitigation Fee shall be calculated as
twenty-five dollars ($25.00) per diameter inch of Distinct Trees removed. The Distinct Tree Mitigation
Fee shall be due and payable within sixty (60) days after Final Plat approval. Notwithstanding the
above, the cost to mitigate the removal of any one Distinct Tree as provided in this section shall not
exceed four thousand dollars ($4,000.00). Diseased or dying trees, as certified by a licensed arborist,
may be removed by the Declarant and exempt from mitigation as provided in this section.

All other trees and vegetation, including but not limited to all species of pine trees and palm trees, may
be removed without mitigation or permit.

A Community Development District, Property Owners Association, or Homeowners
Association shall be permitted to use temporary wells and stormwater for the Project’s irrigation until

Ordinance No. 2025-24
Page 16 of 47

Page 149 of 391



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

sufficient reuse capacity is available for the entire Project, subject only to permits issued by the state
or federal agencies. Notwithstanding the foregoing, private wells shall be prohibited on individual
single-family lots.

(2) John Anderson Buffer. For any future development, the Declarant shall cause the

recording of an encumbrance or easement on its property adjacent to John Anderson Highway
ensuring that the buffer along John Anderson Highway is one-hundred foot (100’) in average width
along the eastern side of the right of way.

(h) Lighting: For all future development phases, lighting, including but not limited to all
pole mounted lighting, shall be designed to minimize light pollution to oft-site properties and to comply
with the LDR, unless otherwise agreed to by the LUA.

(1)  Fire Protection: The Declarant previously donated to Flagler County a three (3) acre
parcel of land for a fire station to serve the Project and the residents along John Anderson Highway.
Fire protection requirements for the Project will be met through a system of fire hydrants installed on
the Project by the Declarant in accordance with City standards. The locations of fire hydrants shall
be shown on all construction documents, technical site plans, or preliminary plats. The Project shall
comply with the City’s fire protection requirements. The City will provide fire protection services to
the Project in accordance with established local response agreements.

) Utilities: The Declarant shall be responsible for any costs associated with the
extension of City utilities to the Subject Property that may be required to serve this Project.

(k) Interconnectivity and Access:  All units within the Project shall be interconnected

by roadways and sidewalks, as called for by the City’s Comprehensive Plan. The Project shall
provide and maintain the minimum number of access drives onto John Anderson Highway, as

generally depicted on the MPD Master Plan.

Ordinance No. 2025-24
Page 17 of 47

Page 150 of 391



DN B W N =

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

(I)  Wetland Protection and Management:

(1) Purpose and Intent

The purpose of this section is to provide protection, maintenance, enhancement, and
sustainable utilization of wetlands and associated upland buffers within the Project in a manner that
reasonably aligns with the City’s Comprehensive Plan, state regulatory standards, and best
environmental practices. This approach balances ecological sustainability with efficient land
development, promoting no net loss of wetland functions while allowing for practical site design.
Wetlands will be preserved to support wildlife habitat, water quality, flood control, and aesthetic
values, consistent with oversight from agencies such as the SIRWMD and FDEP.

(i1) Wetland Identification and Survey

All wetlands within the MPD shall be identified using the methodology outlined in the
Florida Administrative Code. Wetlands may include forested swamps, sloughs, freshwater and tidal
marshes, wet prairies, saltwater marshes, and areas adjacent to the Intracoastal Waterway. Roadside
ditches, conveyance swales, utility-related drainage features, and stormwater management systems
are exempt from these regulations.

Wetland delineations shall be conducted by a qualified Florida environmental
professional, and boundaries shall be surveyed by a Florida registered land surveyor, including
topographical data. The survey shall clearly delineate the wetland jurisdictional line and the required
upland buffer boundary. This information shall be incorporated into all subdivision plats, and
development applications submitted for approval.

(ii1))  Allowed Activities and Development in Wetlands and Buffers

Ordinance No. 2025-24
Page 18 of 47

Page 151 of 391



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

To facilitate reasonable development while preserving wetland integrity, the following
activities are permitted within wetlands and required upland buffers, provided they do not result in
adverse impacts to wetland functions:

° Authorized wetland restoration, enhancement, monitoring, or mitigation
activities with approved permits from FDEP, SJRWMD, or the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers
(ACOE).

. Elevated walkways, paths, nature trails, hiking trails, or walking paths not
exceeding six (6) feet in width, constructed of wood, environmentally friendly materials,
natural materials, or open grid systems.

o Minor drainage structures such as swales or outfall pipes.

o Pruning or planting of suitable native vegetation, including removal of exotic
and nuisance plant species (as defined by the Florida Exotic Pest Plant Council Invasive Plant
List).

J Manual clearing with hand tools of vegetation on single parcels, maintaining

ecological functions like wildlife habitat and nutrient filtration.

° Bona fide agricultural, fire control, silviculture, and mosquito control activities

following best management practices from relevant state agencies.

. Utility facilities, including crossings, easements, or rights-of-way for service
provision.

J Custodial maintenance of stormwater management systems.

. Driveway installations for single-family units in existing subdivisions where

wetland crossings are the only access point, maintaining hydrologic connections and using

best management practices.

Ordinance No. 2025-24
Page 19 of 47

Page 152 of 391



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

J Activities qualifying for de minimis alterations under state general permits or
Florida Statutes.

. Wetland impacts for access to permissible uses or linear projects, following an
approved alternatives analysis for avoidance and minimization, including Florida Department
of Transportation projects.

All allowed activities must comply with applicable landscaping and tree protection as
provided for in this Agreement.

(iv)  Measures to Avoid or Minimize Wetland Impacts

Development within the Subject Property shall prioritize avoidance and minimization
of wetland impacts through practicable design modifications. Modifications shall not require
fundamental changes to project type or function, nor shall they include economically unviable or
technically infeasible options that endanger public safety. Stormwater management systems must not
cause net adverse impacts on wetland or surface water functions unless offset by appropriate
mitigation per state requirements.

An alternatives analysis shall be conducted for optimal and moderate wetlands (as
defined herein) to demonstrate avoidance and minimization efforts.

(v) Wetland Impact Review and Mitigation

Wetland impacts shall be categorized based on quality assessments and require the

following analysis and mitigation:

Wetland Category

Description

Requirements

Optimal Wetlands

Named systems associated
with surface waters or quality
score 0.71 - 1.0

Wetland impact analysis;
alternatives analysis;
assurance of no net loss of
functions; mitigation
preferably within City

Ordinance No. 2025-24
Page 20 of 47

Page 153 of 391



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

boundaries or same
hydrologic basin per
SJIRWMD / FAC; copies of
federal/state permits.
Moderate Wetlands Quality Score 0.41 —0.70 Wetland impact analysis;
alternatives analysis;
mitigation in same hydrologic
basin; copies of federal/state
permits.

Minimal Wetlands Quality Score 0.0 — 0.40 Wetland impact analysis;
mitigation in same hydrologic
basin; copies of federal/state
permits.

Mitigation shall occur in accordance with Section 373.4135, Florida Statutes, allowing use of
mitigation banks or off-site regional options outside City jurisdiction if necessary. Impacts to optimal
wetlands shall achieve no net loss of functions. All impacts shall be governed by SIRWMD or FDEP
permits, which serve as evidence of compliance.

(vi)  Wetland Buffers

A natural upland buffer shall be provided adjacent to all wetlands, including saltwater marshes
and the Intracoastal Waterway, to protect ecological functions. The buffer shall average no less than
twenty-five (25) feet in width across the site, with a minimum width of fifteen (15) feet in constrained
areas, unless otherwise permitted by FDEP, SIRWMD or ACOE, provided the overall average meets
or exceeds twenty-five (25) feet. This averaging allows for flexible site planning while maintaining
equivalent protection.

Buffers shall not be created by filling jurisdictional wetlands. Existing vegetation within
buffers shall be preserved or revegetated with native species if disturbed. Allowed and activities
within buffers are outlined in Sections 10(1) (ii1) and (iv) above.

(vii) Lot Clearing and Development Permits

Prior to lot clearing or development, applicants shall submit:

Ordinance No. 2025-24
Page 21 of 47

Page 154 of 391



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

e A survey delineating wetland and buffer lines.

e Documentation from a qualified environmental professional confirming no detriment to
buffer functions.

e Plans for preserving or replanting native vegetation in buffers, as applicable.

e C(Clearing approvals must also comply with tree and vegetation removal guidelines
provided for in this Agreement. Development permits, to the extent required, shall

incorporate SIRWMD, FDEP and ACOE approvals for wetland-related activities.

(m) Signage: Signs shall comply with the LDR, unless otherwise provided herein. The
design and intent of signage is to ensure adequate means of communication through signage while
maintaining the attractive visual appearance within the Project. Signage shall meet the following
requirements:

(1)  Thoroughfare Neighborhood Entrance Signs. Signage located along any

internal road or at any neighborhood entrance shall have a maximum height of twelve (12) feet and
a maximum signage area of one hundred (100) square feet. Any entrance feature shall have a

maximum height of twenty (20) feet.

(11) Commercial Signage. Ground signs shall be permitted for the
commercial area of the Project with a maximum signage area per sign of three hundred twenty (320)
square feet and a maximum height of ten (10) feet. Additional commercial signage and wall signage
shall be permitted, including signage at the Marina and Intracoastal Waterway.

(i11)) Signage Area. Signage area shall be calculated using the actual text and, if
applicable, logo graphics area only. Walls or architectural effects shall not count toward the signage

area square feet restriction but shall meet the height restrictions set forth above.

Ordinance No. 2025-24
Page 22 of 47

Page 155 of 391



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

(iv) Entrance Features. Walls, architectural icons, water features, landforms,

landscaping, or other effects that announce and signify arrival are permitted for the signage on the
Subject Property. Where a sign is incorporated in an entrance feature, the sign height shall be
measured from the bottom to the top of the sign copy area.

(V) Ground signage provided for in this section shall be permitted to be
constructed in the public right of way.

(n) Temporary Facilities/Model Homes: Temporary support facilities shall be

permitted for a period of ten (10) years, at which time sales offices, model homes, development trailers
and real estate offices shall be transitioned into a permanent use within the Project. This time period
may be extended for successive periods of three (3) years by the LUA. Temporary support facility
approval and extension shall be processed by the LUA. The initial application for temporary support
facilities will be reviewed and approved by City Staff. Following City Staff approval, a building
permit application will be submitted to the City Building Department for review and approval.
Residential units may be used as model homes and sales centers (collectively, “Model Homes”). Up
to five (5) Model Homes can be constructed, occupied, and operated as sales centers for each Tract of
the Project. Sales and leasing activities shall be limited to properties located within the Project.
Construction and Certificates of Occupancies shall be issued consistent with the City and State rules,
regulations, and codes for residential structures. Model homes shall not be deemed commercial
activities. The City shall permit the construction of Model Homes during the development of a Tract
so long as a stabilized subbase of an adjacent roadway is available.

(0) Rental Program: Developer reserves the right to place all or any portion of the

Project’s Tracts, except Tract A-1 and Tract F, in long-term, short-term, resort residential, or resort

condominium rental programs operated by Declarant, its affiliates or any third-party rental program

Ordinance No. 2025-24
Page 23 of 47

Page 156 of 391



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

operators approved by the Declarant. Otherwise, short-term vacation rentals shall be prohibited.

(p) Marina: The design, permitting and construction of the Marina located on
Tract M shall only be governed by permits issued by State and Federal agencies. Future operations
and maintenance shall be governed by City regulations to the extent they are not in conflict with State
or Federal laws. The City agrees that said permits shall be deemed to be consistent with the City’s
Comprehensive Plan, the LDR and other City ordinances. The development of the Marina shall: (i)
participate in the FDEP Clean Marina program, and (ii) remain exempt from Chapter 22, Art IV of
the City Code of Ordinances. The Marina may, at Declarant’s sole discretion, include wet and dry
slips, transient or permanent slips, fueling facilities, pump out station, a boat ramp and any uses
permitted as commercial use. However, dry slips shall be used solely for the maintenance and repair
of boats and not for long-term storage.

(q) Age Restrictions: Nothing in the Development Agreement shall prohibit any age

restriction requirements or use permitted by Federal or State law.

(r) Accessory Uses: Typical residential accessory uses will be allowed, including but

not limited to: decks, swimming pools, patios, air conditioning units, walkways, and sidewalks.
Accessory uses and structures will be allowed in accordance with this Development Agreement,
provided such uses and structures are of a nature customarily incidental and clearly subordinate to
the permitted or principal use of a structure. Accessory uses or structures contained within or
attached to the building containing the principal use shall be considered a part of the principal
building and not an accessory building and shall meet the same requirements for setbacks as the
main use structure. However, pools, covered pools, patios, outdoor fireplaces, decks, and gazebos,
either attached or detached from the principal use structure, may be constructed up to a minimum
of five (5) feet from the rear or side property boundary. In no case shall the water's edge of a

Ordinance No. 2025-24
Page 24 of 47

Page 157 of 391



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

swimming pool be located closer than five (5) feet from the side and rear property line. Air
conditioning and heating units, pool mechanical equipment, utility meters and other mechanical or
utility service features may be located in any required side or rear yard up to a minimum two (2)
foot setback to the property line. No accessory structure, excluding yard ornaments, shall be located
within the required front yard.

SECTION 11. PHASING OF DEVELOPMENT.

(a) The Project may be developed in multiple phases. Prior to the issuance of any permit
for any phase of the Project (and prior to any construction of any improvement, building, or structure
on the Subject Property), the Declarant shall submit a Preliminary Plat or Site Plan for the relevant
phase. Each Tract of the Project will include infrastructure to support the proposed uses, including
water and wastewater service, drainage, private roads, vehicular, and pedestrian access facilities. All
infrastructure necessary to support each phase that is constructed on the Subject Property shall be
constructed concurrently with, or prior to construction of that phase of the Project, as approved by
the City, and prior to the issuance of building permits for that phase. Adequate emergency vehicle
access and turnarounds shall be provided at all times.

(b) Roadways shall be constructed concurrently with development of adjacent lots to
ensure that contiguous roadways are available at all times prior to the issuance of any building permits
for that phase. To avoid unnecessary construction and repair costs, internal sidewalks shall be
constructed adjacent to each residential lot at the time the home is constructed and prior to the
Certificate of Occupancy, and each home’s building permit shall be conditioned on this requirement.
Model Homes shall be exempt from this standard until no longer being used as such at which time
the owner shall construct the required sidewalk.

(c) The City may issue permits for clearing, grading, and earthwork for portions of the

Ordinance No. 2025-24
Page 25 of 47

Page 158 of 391



ot ek ek
W No—=O O

14

16
17
18

Subject Property before approving final construction plans; however, all Federal and State permits
required for land clearing, grading, and earthwork must be obtained.

SECTION 12. LOT AND BUILDING STANDARDS.

(a) Lot Dimensional Standards: Dimensional standards for each use shall comply with

the LDR except as follows:

Type SF Multi-family | Town House Multi-family
Marina
Min. Distance 10° 10° 10° 10°
Between Buildings*
Min. Bldg. Setback to 200 200 200 10
Water
Max. Bldg. Height++ 35 35 35 3
Min. Front Bldg. 15 15 10° 10
Setback to Property
Line
Min. Bldg. Rear Yard 10 10° 10 10
Setback***
Minimum Front 200 N/A 200 N/A
Setback from Right of
Way
Minimum Bldg. Side 10 10 10 10
Street or Rear Yard
Setback
Min. Lot Size (SF) 4,000 sf N/A 1,600 sf N/A
Minimum Lot Width 40° N/A 16’ N/A
Max. Impervious 70% 80% 80%**** 80%****
Surface Ratio****

* Shall be measured as the distance between walls of adjacent structures.

** In the event the City increases its max building height limitations, the Declarant may elect to increase its maximum building height to
such new limit. Notwithstanding, residential structures presently under construction or constructed may exceed this height limitation.

***Except as provided in Section 10 (r ), above.

**#% Impervious Surface Ratios shall be applicable to each Tract.

Ordinance No. 2025-24
Page 26 of 47

Page 159 of 391



0 NN Uk

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

Commercial or Mixed-Use with Residential Above Commercial
Site Development Requirements

Min. Lot Width 60°*
Min. Lot Size 12,000 sf
Min. Bldg. Side Setback 0’
Min. Bldg. Street-Side 10
Setback
Min. Bldg. Front Setback 10°
Max. Bldg. Height** 35
Min. Bldg. Rear Setback 10°
Minimum Bldg. Setback to 200
MPD Property Line
Max. Impervious Surface 80%****
Ratio***

* If Town Houses are developed within a Commercial District, the dimensional standards for Town Houses shall control.

** In the event the City increases its max building height limitations, the Declarant may elect to increase its maximum building height to
such new limit.

*** Impervious Surface Ratios shall be applicable to each Tract.

***#*Minimum open space shall be forty percent (40%) of the entire MPD gross area.

(b) Mixed-Use Dimensional Standards: If a mixed-use is being developed for both

residential and commercial uses on the same Lot, then the dimensional standards for the dominant
use shall be utilized (residential or commercial uses having the most building gross floor area), unless
commercial uses are on the first floor and the residential uses are on above floor(s), then the standards
in the above table shall be used. Any conflict in dimensional or design standards for a mixed-use
development may be resolved by the Land Use Administrator.

(©) Architecture: All architectural standards and requirements shall be determined,
approved and enforced by the Declarant. Notwithstanding, commercial architectural requirements

shall be governed by the City’s LDR.

Ordinance No. 2025-24
Page 27 of 47

Page 160 of 391



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21
22

23

24

25

SECTION 13. LIST OF OUTSTANDING PERMITS/APPROVALS AND PROPER

SEQUENCING.

(a) The failure of the Development Agreement to address any specific State or Federal
permit, condition, term, or restriction shall not relieve the Declarant of the requirement of complying
with the law governing said permitting requirements, conditions, terms, or restrictions.

(b) All required City, County, State, or Federal permits shall be obtained prior to
commencement of construction. This Development Agreement is not a Preliminary Plat approval,
and the Declarant remains responsible for complying with all provisions of the LDR, unless provided
elsewhere in this Development Agreement. The subdivision of the Subject Property to provide for
any Tract shall not require platting as required by Chapter 177, Florida Statutes, and therefore the
Declarant may convey a Tract by metes and bounds and without platting.

(c) Open burning shall be prohibited during development and property owners shall be
subject to the City’s LDR.

SECTION 14. DEVELOPMENT FEES.

The Declarant acknowledges and agrees that the City has enacted citywide impact fees and may
in the future increase the amount of those fees. The Declarant acknowledges that the Project shall be
subject to all fees in effect at the time of permitting. Notwithstanding the above, the Declarant shall not
be charged impact fees for the marina wet slips or dry slips.

SECTION 15. COMMON AREAS AND MAINTENANCE.

To ensure the long-term maintenance and control of common areas, the Declarant shall
dedicate such areas to (i) the existing community development district, (i1) a property owners

association or (iii) other entity accepted by the LUA.

Ordinance No. 2025-24
Page 28 of 47

Page 161 of 391



W N

(SN

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22
23
24
25
26
27
28

SECTION 16. BREACH. ENFORCEMENT., ALTERNATIVE DISPUTE AND

CONFLICT RESOLUTION.

(a) In the event of a breach of this Agreement by either Party, the other party hereto shall
have all rights and remedies allowed by law, including the right to specific performance of the
provisions hereof.

(b) In the event that a dispute arises between the Parties, the City and Declarant shall
attempt to resolve all disputes informally and if they cannot, the Parties agree to engage in pre-suit
mediation before a certified Circuit Court mediator selected by the Parties within thirty (30) days of
either party making a written request to the other. If the Parties fail to agree to a mediator, a certified
mediator will be selected solely by the City. The Parties shall equally pay all costs of mediation.

SECTION 17. NOTICES.

(a) All notices required or permitted to be given under this Development Agreement
must be in writing and must be delivered to the City or the Declarant at its address set forth below (or

such other address as may be hereafter designated in writing by such party).

(b) Any such notice must be personally delivered, sent by certified mail, or overnight
courier

(c) Any such notice will be deemed effective when received (if sent by hand delivery
receipt required) or on that date which is ten (10) days after such notice is deposited in the United

States mail (if sent by certified mail).

(d) The Parties’ addresses for the delivery of all such notices are as follows:
As to the City: City Manager
City of Flagler Beach
City Hall

105 S. 2" Street
Flagler Beach, FL 32136

Ordinance No. 2025-24
Page 29 of 47

Page 162 of 391



0NN N Rk WN

— e = e e e =
NN B W= O O

—_
O o&©

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

31

32
33

34

As to the Declarant: Palm Coast Intracoastal, LLC
Attn: Kenneth Belshe
3129 Springbank Lane, Ste 201
Charlotte, NC 28226

As to Veranda Bay: Veranda Bay Investments, LLC
Attn: Kenneth Belshe
3129 Springbank Lane, Ste 201
Charlotte, NC 28226

With copies to: Michael D. Chiumento III, Esq.
Chiumento Law, PLLC
145 City Place, Suite 301
Palm Coast, FL 32164

SECTION 18. SEVERABILITY.

The terms and provisions of this Development Agreement are not intended to be severable,
unless any term or provision shall be found to be invalid or illegal, in which case the remaining
portions of the Development Agreement shall remain valid and binding on the Parties.

SECTION 19. SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS.

This Development Agreement and the terms and conditions hereof shall be binding upon and
inure to the benefit of the City and Declarant and their respective successors-in-interest. The terms
and conditions of this Development Agreement shall similarly be binding upon the Subject Property
and shall run with the land and the title to the same.

(b) This Development Agreement touches and concerns the Subject Property.

(©) The Declarant has expressly covenanted and agreed to this provision and all other
terms and provisions of this Development Agreement.

SECTION 20. GOVERNING LAW., VENUE AND COMPLIANCE WITH LAW.

(a) This Development Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with

the laws of the State of Florida.
Ordinance No. 2025-24
Page 30 of 47

Page 163 of 391



11

12

13

14

15
16

17

18

19

20

21

22
23

24

25

(b) Venue for any dispute shall be in the Seventh Judicial Circuit Court in and for Flagler
County, Florida, or the Middle District if in Federal court.

(c) The Declarant shall fully comply with all applicable State, and Federal
environmental regulations and all other laws of similar type or nature.

(d) If State or Federal laws are enacted after execution of this Development Agreement
which are applicable to and preclude the Parties’ compliance with this Development Agreement, this
Development Agreement shall be modified as necessary to comply with the relevant law.

SECTION 21. TERM/EFFECTIVE DATE.

(a) This Development Agreement shall be effective upon approval by the City
Commission and execution of this Development Agreement by all Parties (the “Effective Date”).
(b) This Development Agreement will expire thirty (30) years from the Effective Date

unless renewed in writing by the Parties.

SECTION 22. RECORDATION.

Upon approval by the City Commission and execution of this Development Agreement by all
Parties, this Development Agreement and any and all amendments hereto shall be recorded by the
City with the Clerk of the Circuit Court of Flagler County within fourteen (14) days after its execution
by the City, and the Development Agreement shall run with the land. The Declarant shall pay the
costs to record this Development Agreement.

SECTION 23. THIRD PARTY RIGHTS.

This Development Agreement is not a third-party beneficiary contract, and shall not in any

way whatsoever create any rights on behalf of any third party.

SECTION 24. SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE / TIME IS OF THE ESSENCE.

Ordinance No. 2025-24
Page 31 of 47

Page 164 of 391



10

11

12

13
14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

(a) Strict compliance shall be required with each and every provision of this
Development Agreement. The Parties agree that each has the remedy of specific performance of these
obligations.

(b) Time is of the essence to this Development Agreement, and every right or
responsibility required herein shall be performed within the times specified.

SECTION 25. ATTORNEYS’ FEES.

In the event of any action to enforce the terms of this Development Agreement, the prevailing
party shall be entitled to recover reasonable attorneys’ fees, paralegals’ fees, and all costs incurred,

whether the same be incurred in a pre-litigation negotiation, litigation at the trial, or appellate level.

SECTION 26. FORCE MAJEURE.

The Parties agree that in the event that the failure by either party to accomplish any action
required hereunder within a specific time period (“Time Period”) constitutes a default under terms of
this Development Agreement, and if any such failure is due to any unforeseeable or unpredictable event
or condition beyond the control of such party, including, but not limited to: acts of God, acts of
government authority (other than the City’s own acts), acts of public enemy or war, terrorism, riots,
civil disturbances, power failure, shortages of labor or materials, injunction or other court proceedings
beyond the control of such party, or severe adverse weather conditions (“Uncontrollable Event”);
then notwithstanding any provision of this Development Agreement to the contrary, that failure shall
not constitute a default under this Development Agreement and any Time Period prescribed
hereunder shall be extended by the amount of time that such party was unable to perform solely due
to the Uncontrollable Event.

SECTION 27. INDEMNIFICATION.

Ordinance No. 2025-24
Page 32 of 47

Page 165 of 391



—_ O O 0 3 N

—_

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

The Declarant shall indemnify and save the City harmless from and against any and all
damages caused solely by the Declarant’s development of the Subject Property as provided in this
Development Agreement. This provision shall exclude any damages arising out of a third party
challenging this Development Agreement or any development order issued by the City affecting the

Subject Property as defined by State statute.

SECTION 28. ENFORCEMENT: CITY’S RIGHT TO TERMINATE DEVELOPMENT

AGREEMENT.

(a) This Development Agreement shall continue to be enforceable, unless lawfully

terminated, notwithstanding any subsequent changes in any applicable law.

(b) The failure by the Declarant to perform its material obligations hereunder shall
constitute a default, entitling the City to pursue whatever remedies are available to it under Florida
law or equity, including, without limitation, an action for specific performance and/or injunctive
relief, or alternatively, the termination of this Development Agreement. Prior to the City filing any
action or terminating this Development Agreement as a result of a default under this Development
Agreement, the City shall first provide the Declarant written notice of said default. Upon receipt of
said notice, the Declarant shall be provided a ninety (90) day period in which to cure the default to
the reasonable satisfaction of the City prior to the City filing an action or terminating this
Development Agreement. If ninety (90) days is not considered by the Parties to be a reasonable
period in which to cure the default, the cure period shall be extended to such cure period acceptable
to the City, but in no case shall that cure period exceed one hundred and eighty (180) days from initial
notification of default. Upon the judicial termination of the Development Agreement, the Declarant

shall immediately be divested of all rights and privileges granted hereunder.

Ordinance No. 2025-24
Page 33 of 47

Page 166 of 391



10

11
12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21
22

23
24

25
26

27
28

SECTION 29. CAPTIONS.

Sections and other captions contained in this Development Agreement are for reference
purposes only and are in no way intended to describe, interpret, define, or limit the scope, extent or
intent of this Development Agreement, or any provision hereof.

SECTION 30. EXHIBITS.

Each exhibit referred to and attached to this Development Agreement is an essential part of
this Development Agreement. The exhibits and any amendments or revisions thereto, even if not
physically attached hereto, shall be treated as if they are part of this Development Agreement.

SECTION 31. INTERPRETATION.

(a) The Declarant and the City agree that all words, terms and conditions contained herein
are to be read in concert, each with the other, and that a provision contained under one (1) heading
may be considered to be equally applicable under another in the interpretation of this Development
Agreement.

(b) This Development Agreement shall not be construed more strictly against either party
on the basis of being the drafter thereof, and both Parties have contributed to the drafting of this

Development Agreement.

SECTION 32. FURTHER ASSURANCES.

Each party agrees to sign any other and further instruments and documents consistent herewith
as may be necessary and proper to give complete effect to the terms of this Development Agreement.

SECTION 33. COUNTERPARTS.

This Development Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which

Ordinance No. 2025-24
Page 34 of 47

Page 167 of 391



10

11

12

13
14

15

16

17

18
19

shall be deemed an original, but all of which, taken together, shall constitute one (1) and the same
document.

SECTION 34. MODIFICATIONS, AMENDMENTS AND NON-WAIVER.

(a) Unless provided for in Section 5, above: (1) Amendments to and waivers of the
provisions herein shall be made by the Parties only in writing by formal amendment, and (2) This
Development Agreement shall not be modified or amended except by written agreement executed by
all Parties hereto and upon approval of the City.

(b) Failure of any party hereto to exercise any right hereunder shall not be deemed a
waiver of any such right and shall not affect the right of such party to exercise at some future date any
such right or any other right it may have.

SECTION 35. ENTIRE AGREEMENT AND EFFECT ON PRIOR AGREEMENTS.

This Development Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the Parties and
supersedes all previous oral discussions, understandings, and agreements of any kind and nature, as

between the Parties relating to the subject matter of this Development Agreement.

(SIGNATURES INTENTIONALLY TO NEXT PAGE)

Ordinance No. 2025-24
Page 35 of 47

Page 168 of 391



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Development Agreement on
the dates set forth below.

CITY OF FLAGLER BEACH, FLORIDA

, Mayor

ATTEST:

, City Clerk

APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGALITY:

, Esq.

City Attorney
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by means of [ ]| physical

presence or [_] online notarization, this day of , 2025, by ,

Mayor of the CITY OF FLAGLER BEACH, who is personally known to me.

Notary Public — State of Florida
Print Name:
My Commission expires:

Ordinance No. 2025-24
Page 36 of 47

Page 169 of 391



WITNESSES: “DECLARANT”
PALM COAST INTRACOASTAL, LLC

By:
William G. Allen, Jr., Manager

Witness Signature

Print
Print Witness Name
Address:

Witness Signature

Print
Print Witness Name
Address:

STATE OF

COUNTY OF

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by means of [ ] physical

presence or [ | online notarization, this day of , 2025, by William

G. Allen, Jr., Manager, of Palm Coast Intracoastal, LLC, a Florida limited liability company,
(check one) [ ] who 1s personally known to me or [ ] who produced

as identification.

Notary Public — State of Florida
Print Name:
My Commission expires:

Ordinance No. 2025-24
Page 37 of 47

Page 170 of 391



WITNESSES:

“VERANDA BAY”
VERANDA BAY INVESTMENTS, LLC

By:
William G. Allen, Manager

Witness Signature

Print

Print Witness Name
Address:

Witness Signature

Print

Print Witness Name
Address:

STATE OF

COUNTY OF

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by means of [ ] physical

presence or [ | online notarization, this day of , 2025, by William

G. Allen,, Manager, of VERANDA BAY, LLC, a Florida limited liability company, (check

one) [ ] who

personally known to me or [ ] who produced

as identification.

Notary Public — State of Florida
Print Name:
My Commission expires:

Ordinance No. 2025-24
Page 38 of 47

Page 171 of 391



EXHIBIT “A”

PALM COAST INTRACOASTAL, LLC
LEGAL DESCRIPTION

TRACTS 1A-5, 1A-7, 1A-8, AND 1A-13, AS LOCATED WITHIN THE SUBDIVISION PLAT OF
VERANDA BAY PHASE 1A, AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 40, PAGES 59 THROUGH 64, OF THE
PUBLIC RECORDS OF FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA.

TOGETHER WITH:

PART OF TRACT 2A-1, TRACTS 2A-4 THROUGH 2A-10, TRACTS 2A-12 THROUGH 2A-14, PART
OF TRACT 2A-15, AND TRACT 2A-22, AS LOCATED WITHIN THE SUBDIVISION PLAT OF
VERANDA BAY PHASE 2A, AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 40, PAGES 65 THROUGH 70, OF THE
PUBLIC RECORDS OF FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA.

ALSO, TOGETHER WITH:

A PARCEL OF LAND IN SECTION 12, TOWNSHIP 12 SOUTH, RANGE 31 EAST, FLAGLER
COUNTY, FLORIDA, MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

BEGIN AT THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF SAID GOVERNMENT SECTION 12, THENCE
DEPARTING SAID SOUTHERLY LINE NORTH 01°30223" WEST A DISTANCE OF 1,203.23 FEET
ALONG THE WESTERLY LINE OF SAID SECTION 12; THENCE NORTH 88°52'15" EAST, A
DISTANCE OF 649.96 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 19°00'52" EAST, A DISTANCE OF 1,265.64 FEET;
THENCE SOUTH 88°56'30" WEST, ALONG SAID SECTION LINE, A DISTANCE OF 1,030.73 FEET
TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.

PARCEL CONTAINING 23.22 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.

Ordinance No. 2025-24
Page 39 of 47

Page 172 of 391



APPROVED PROPERTIES
LEGAL DESCRIPTION

TRACT 1A-A, PART OF TRACT 1A-1, TRACT 1A-4, TRACT 1A-6, TRACT 1A-9, TRACT 1A-10, PART
OF TRACT 1A-11, AND PART OF TRACT 1A-12, TOGETHER WITH LOTS 43 THROUGH 98, ALL OF
THE SUBDIVISION PLAT OF VERANDA BAY PHASE 1A, AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 40,
PAGES 59 THROUGH 64, OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA.

TOGETHER WITH:

TRACT 2A-B, PART OF TRACT 2A-1, TRACT 2A-2, TRACT 2A-3 AND TRACT 2A-11, TOGETHER
WITH LOTS 1 THROUGH 42 AND LOTS 99 THROUGH 122, ALL OF THE SUBDIVISION PLAT OF
VERANDA BAY PHASE 2A, AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 40, PAGES 65 THROUGH 70, OF THE
PUBLIC RECORDS OF FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA.

Ordinance No. 2025-24
Page 40 of 47

Page 173 of 391



VERANDA BAY INVESTMENTS LLC

LEGAL DESCRIPTION

TRACT 2A-A OF THE SUBDIVISION PLAT OF VERANDA BAY PHASE 2A, AS RECORDED
IN PLAT BOOK 40, PAGES 65 THROUGH 70, OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF FLAGLER
COUNTY, FLORIDA. CONTAINING 22.64 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.

TOGETHER WITH:

A PART OF SECTION 38 , TOWNSHIP 12 SOUTH, RANGE 31 EAST, FLAGLER COUNTY,
FLORIDA, AND BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: FOR A POINT
OF BEGINNING COMMENCE AT THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF TRACT 2A-4 OF
VERANDA BAY PHASE 2A AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 40, PAGES 65 THROUGH 70 OF
THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF SAID COUNTY AND SAID CORNER ALSO LIES ON THE
WESTERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF THE FLORIDA INTRACOASTAL WATERWAY;
THENCE SOUTH 03°54°39” WEST, ALONG A WESTERLY LINE OF THE HISTORIC
CHANNEL OF HAW LOVERS CREEK, A DISTANCE OF 57.72 FEET; THENCE SOUTH
19°27°177 EAST CONTINUING ALONG SAID WESTERLY LINE, A DISTANCE OF 644.30
FEET; THENCE SOUTH 68°58°11” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 113.95 FEET TO A POINT ON SAID
FLORIDA INTRACOASTAL RIGHT OF WAY, THENCE SOUTH 21°17°55” EAST, A
DISTANCE OF 338.95 FEET TO THE NORTHERLY LINE OF TRACT “PL-3” OF GARDENS AT
HAMMOCK BEACH AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 35, PAGES 80 THROUGH ; THENCE
WESTERLY ALONG SAID NORTHERLY LINE THE FOLLOWING FIVE COURSES: SOUTH
69°58°00” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 666.02 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 20°00°08” WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 243.62 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 69°00°06” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 512.95 FEET
TO THE POINT OF CURVE OF A CURVE CONCAVE NORTHERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS
OF 475.00 FEET AND A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 36°00'11" AND AN ARC DISTANCE OF 298.48
FEET AND SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH 86°59°57” WEST AND A
CHORD DISTANCE OF 293.59 FEET TO THE POINT OF TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE;
THENCE NORTH 75°04°31” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 102.42 FEET; THENCE NORTH
43°30°12” WEST, DEPARTING FROM SAID NORTHERLY LINE, A DISTANCE OF 153.12
FEET TO A POINT ON THE MOST SOUTH POINT OF SAID VERANDA BAY PHASE 2A;
THENCE NORTHESTERLY AND EASTERLY ALONG THE EASTERLY AND SOUTHERLY
LINES OF SAID VERANDA BAY PHASE 2A THE FOLLOWING EIGHTEEN COURSES:
THENCE NORTH 40°42°12” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 202.16; THENCE NORTH 10°41°45”
EAST, A DISTANCE OF 133.22 FEET; THENCE NORTH 24°30°13” WEST, A DISTANCE OF
127.26 FEET; THENCE NORTH 69°22°08” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 232.49 FEET; THENCE
NORTH 20°51°44” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 115.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 69°22°08” EAST,
A DISTANCE OF 129.58 FEET TO A POINT ON A CURVE OF A CURVE CONCAVE TO THE
SOUTHWEST AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 25.00 FEET AND A CENTRAL ANGLE OF
11°10°11”; THENCE NORTHWESTERLY ALONG SAID CURVE AN ARC DISTANCE OF 4.87
FEET AND SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF NORTH 26°34°59” WEST AND A
CHORD DISTANCE OF 4.87 FEET TO A POINT ON SAID CURVE; THENCE NORTH 69°44°10”

Ordinance No. 2025-24
Page 41 of 47

Page 174 of 391



EAST, A DISTANCE OF 50.00 FEET TO A POINT ON A CURVE OF A CURVE CONCAVE TO
THE SOUTHEAST AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 25.00 FEET AND A CENTRAL ANGLE OF
90°22°02”; THENCE NORTHEASTERLY ALONG SAID CURVE AN ARC DISTANCE OF 39.43
AND SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF NORTH 24°11°07” EAST AND A CHORD
DISTANCE OF 35.47 FEET TO A POINT ON SAID CURVE; THENCE NORTH 21°21°56” WEST,
A DISTANCE OF 50.00 FEET TO A POINT ON A CURVE OF A CURVE CONCAVE
NORTHERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 25.00 FEET AND A CENTRAL ANGLE OF
11°10°11”; THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID CURVE AN ARC DISTANCE OF 4.87 FEET
AND SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH 74°57°14” WEST AND A CHORD
DISTANCE OF 4.87 FEET TO A POINT ON SAID CURVE; THENCE NORTH 20°59'54"WEST,
A DISTANCE OF 822.65 FEET TO A POINT OF A CURVE OF A CURVE CONCAVE
SOUTHEASTERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 5.00 FEET AND A CENTRAL ANGLE OF
90°00°00”; THENCE NORTHEASTRLY ALONG SAID CURVE AN ARC DISTANCE OF 7.85
FEET AND SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF NORTH 24°00°06” EAST AND A
CHORD DISTANCE OF 7.07 FEET TO THE POINT OF TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE;
THENCE NORTH 69°00°06” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 503.11 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 20°54°52”
EAST, A DISTANCE OF 180.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 69°00°06” EAST, A DISTANCE OF
85.08 FEET TO A POINT ON A CURVE OF A CURVE CONCAVE NORTHEASTERLY AND
HAVING A RADIUS OF 65.00 FEET AND A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 140°24°30”; THENCE
SOUTHEASTERLY ALONG SAID CURVE AN ARC DISTANCE OF 159.29 FEET AND
SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH 41°16°28” EAST AND A CHORD
DISTANCE OF 122.32 FEET TO THE POINT OF TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE ; THENCE
NORTH 69°00°58” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 250.79 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.
CONTAINING 35.44 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.

Ordinance No. 2025-24
Page 42 of 47

Page 175 of 391



EXHIBIT “B”

T e
Pod

. -1
&l B8sac

= eam
= F

Orlando

o

{4775 O 5 Augestine Rage. Jackacnile, Fiona 32258
SOLGAZB0M0 | wwwempes.com | wawetmnecom
| Dale: 7/18/2025

TETRAFILE - T0 v royocts- 00 2 M2 BT VS Fad o Vovanaa Say Moy Sef vanda BayiVerand Bay Coop Flan{.aone |

Ordinance No. 2025-24
Page 43 of 47

Page 176 of 391



TN,
i T
. 1
E LaEis e LLGER ||_._ walE
AR ]
IIIII o -k -

Page 177 of 391

EXHIBIT “C”

FARKER MYNCHENBERG

k REEQCIATEE, INC.

ZACHTET:

o ]
1

343
2 d

iq o
i 3
EEP
dud @
S
Emu u_.
o

Ordinance No. 2025-24
Page 44 of 47



EXHIBIT “D”

LANDSCAPE GUIDELINES

GENERAL:

All developed home sites shall be land scaped according to plans approved by the ARC. It is the intent of the ARC
that all residential planting be consistent in terms of quantity, mass and quality. Al plant material used shall

be classified as Florida Fancy. All walls require foundation plantings, and plant height and size shall accentuate
and compliment the home's architecture. Tree and palm staking shall be removed no later than 12 months from
installation. Landscaping as approved by the ARC shall be complete at the time of submittal of the Builders
Construction Completion Transmittal {Attachment #3) to the ARC. All shrubs, trees, grass and plantings of every
kind shall be kept well maintained, properly cultivated and free of trash and other unsightly material.

Each lot's landscaping shall have three general elements: front yard planting, side yard planting and rear yard
planting. Plant requirements for each area are contained in the Landscape Design Criteria along with the plant
requirements for each area

LANDSCAPING PLAN:

A basic landscape plan for each home site must be designed by a professional landscape architect or landscape
designer and be submitted to and approved by the ARC. The plan is to be submitted along with the other required
items at the time of application. It shall incorporate existing vegetation on the site, if any, and show any existing
trees to be removed. The landscape plan shall indicate all plant types by botanical and common names, sizes,
height, spread, caliper and plant spadng. Additionally, the plants shall be identified on the plan as well asin a
master plant list. Tree and shrub placement should take into account the location of utilities and minimize conflicts
with water, sewer and electric utilities.

EXISTING TREES:

In order that the natural beauty of the home site may be preserved, no living tree having a diameter of six (6)
inches or more, as measured one (1) foot above the natural grade, shall be destroyed and removed from the
property unless approved by the ARC in connection with its approval of the plans and specifications for the
construction of improvements on the property. The builder shall take special care during construction not to injure
or destroy trees or tree root systems including use of protective barriers to keep equipment away from trees.

SHRUBBERY:

In general, no hedge, shrubbery or vegetation of any kind shall be placed in the form of a fence on any lot across
the front street line or on either of the side lot lines. The ARC may approve, on a case-by-case bass, hedges on rear
side lot lines.

S0D:
All areas within each home site not covered with pavement, buildings, shrubs, or groundcover shall be completely
sodded (5t. Augustine or Floratam), unless otherwise approved by the ARC.

MULCH:
All planting areas within each home site shall be covered and maintained with two (2) inches or more of pine,
cypress, or other suitable mulch. The type of mulch shall be identified on the land scape plan. If rock is to be used,

it must be white, gray or brown river rock, and must be identified on the landscape plan.

Ordinance No. 2025-24
Page 45 of 47

Page 178 of 391



LANDSCAPE GUIDELINES

PLANT MATERIALS:

Plant materials shall equal or exceed the standards for Florida Fancy. The landscape plan shall indicate all plant
types by Bolanical and common names, sizes, height, spread, caliper and plant spacing. All plant materials are

subject to the review and approval of the ARC. No artificial vegetation will be permitied on the exterior of any
home.

IRRIGATION:

All landscaped areas shall be provided with an automatic underground irrigation system or sprinkling system
connected to a reclaimed water source, a central irrigation system, or 2 potable water supply. Irrigation must

be provided to the back of the curb of the adjacent street and to the shoreline of all portions of a lake, marsh or
other walercourse within or adjacent to the home sile, excepl thal irrigation of conservalion easements 1s nol
required, The use of rain sensors shall be incorporated into the design, The hormeowner will be subject to rules and
regulations concerning irrigation issued by the master association. Irrigation systems shall not draw water from
lakes, ponds, or other water management areas, unless approved by the ARC. No well of any kind shall be dug or
drilled on any residential lot.

FERTILIZERS AND PESTICIDES:
Only biodegradable fertilizers and pesticides approved by the US. Environmental Protection Agency and the
Florida Department of Environmental Regulation shall be used.

Ordinance No. 2025-24
Page 46 of 47

Page 179 of 391



LANDSCAPE DESIGN CRITERIA

FRONT YARD PLANTING:

All front yard planting to consist of the following:
18" - 24" on average height palm trees

5" accent tree

14" street tree (minimum 2" caliper) - shade tree
3-gallon shrub mass

3-gallon groundcover mass

1-gallon groundcover mass

10-gallon specimen accents

SIDE YARD PLANTING:

All side yard planting to consist of the following:

3-gallon foundation hedge

Foundation plantings to extend 1/3 the length of the home

REAR YARD PLANTING:

All rear yard planting to consist of the following:

Two - 6 shade trees

If any palm treeis to be used, they must be 18" - 24" on
average height palm trees

10-gallon shrub mass

3-gallon foundation shrub

3-gallon groundcover mass

10-gallon accent shrubs

Ordinance No. 2025-24
Page 47 of 47

Page 180 of 391



CITY OF FLAGLER BEACH
PLANNING & ZONING DEPARTMENT )
INTAKE APPLICATION
Final Site Plan Preliminary Plat
O
D Master Site Plan D Final Plat
() Ssite Development Plan(s) D Plat Vacating
M Rezoning () Subdivision Master Plan
D Comprehensive Plan Amendment D Non-statutory Land Division/Parcel Reconfiguration
D Future Land Use Map Amendment D Site Plan Modification (Post approval)
(O Sspecial Exception (O Development Order Modification
(O Vvariance (O Wireless Communication Facility (new structure)

Application Submittal Date:

Fee Paid: S . Date Received:

Employee Accepting Application (print name):

Rejected Date: . Rejected by:

Reason for Rejection:

A. PROJECT NAME: Veranda Bay

B. LOCATION OF SUBJECT PROPERTY (PHYSICAL ADDRESS): John Anderson Drive, Flagler Beach

C. PROPERTY APPRAISER’S PARCEL ID NUMBER(s): S€€ attached Exhibit "B"

D. LEGAL DESCRIPTION: See attached Ex "A" g pdivision Name;

Section; Block(s); Lot(s);

E. SUBJECT PROPERTY ACRES / SQUARE FOOTAGE:

F. FUTURE LAND USE MAP DESIGNATION: AG EXISTING ZONING DisTRIcT: PUD
OVERLAY DISTRICT:
G. FLOOD ZONE: FEMA COMMUNITY PANEL NUMBER: DATE:

H. CURRENT USE OF PROPERTY; Yacant

|. DESCRIPTION OF REQUEST/PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT (ATTACH ADDITIONAL SHEETS)

J. PROPOSED NUMBER OF LOTS (If Applicable): Development Phasing:  Yes(CJno (OJ

INTAKE APPLICATION Page 1of2

Page 181 of 391



CITY OF FLAGLER BEACH
PLANNING & ZONING DEPARTMENT

K. LIST BELOW ANY APPLICATIONS CURRENTLY UNDER REVIEW OR RECENTLY APPROVED ASSOCIATED WITH THIS

APPLICATION:

L. WATER/SEWER PROVIDER:

M. EXISTING MORTGAGE?

YesD No@

OWNER:

APPLICANT/AGENT:

Name: Palm Coast Intracoastal, LLC

Name: Michael D. Chiumento |ll, Esq.

Mailing Address: 31182932§pﬁngbank Lane, #2071 Charlotte NC

Mailing Address: 145 City Place, Suite 301, Palm Coast FL 32

164

Phone Number: 386-986-2411

Phone Number: 386-445-8900 ext 102

E-mail Address: _ kenbelshe@yahoo.com

E-mail Address: Michael3@legalteamforlife.com

MORTGAGE HOLDER:

ENGINEER OR PROFESSIONAL:

Name:

Name: Lindsay Haga

Mailing Address:

Mailing Address:

Phone Number:

Phone Number: 904-376-6296

E-mail Address:

E-mail Address: HagalL @etminc.com

SURVEYOR:

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT:

Name:

Name:

Mailing Address:

Mailing Address:

Phone Number:

Phone Number:

E-mail Address:

E-mail Address:

PLANNER:

TRAFFIC ENGINEER:

Name:

Name:

Mailing Address:

Mailing Address:

Phone Number:

Phone Number:

E-mail Address:

E-mail Address:

ATTORNEY OF RECORD:

DEVELOPER:

Name: Michael D. Chiumento I, Esq.

Name:

Mailing Address: 145 City Place, Suite 301, Palm Coast

Mailing Address:

Phone Number: 386-445-8900 ext 102

Phone Number:

E-mail Address: Michael3@legalteamforlife.com

E-mail Address:

I HEREBY CERTIFY THAT ALL INFORMATION ON THIS APPLICATION IS CORRECT:

Signature of owner OR person authorized to represent this application:

s

Signature(s):

Printed or typed name(s): William G. Allen, Jr., as Manager of Palm Coast Intracoastal, LLC

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by means of _-/physical presence or__ online notarization

this_{ &P day of, July

2025 by Wiliam G. Allen, Jr., as Manager of Palm Coast Intracoastal

individual submitted

by _t Personal Knowledge ___Satisfactory Evidence: Type

B aiiac . Ravin o d 4.

(SEAL)

Signature of Nota!ry Public, State of Florida

TRACEY A. BENAVIDES
Notary Public-State of Florida
= Commission # HH 190061
My Commission Expires
January 02, 2026

INTAKE APPLICATION Page 2 0of 2

Page 182 of 391



BUILDING AND PLANNING DEPT.
800 S Daytona Ave
FLAGLER BEACH, FL 32136
Phone (386) 517-2000. Ext. 231

REQUIRED ATTACHMENTS

INTAKE SUBMITTAL
O Application
] Application fee
] Concurrency fee (May be deferred until site development application)

‘ REZONING/FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT

1 Ownership Disclosure form (Add'l documentation required if the property owner is a trust or corporation)

[0 Owner Authorization Form (Required if the applicant and/or consultant is not the owner)
[0 Detailed narrative of amendment (PD Major/Minor Amendment only)

PROJECT No.

ALL INFORMATION MUST BE PROVIDED FOR APPLICATION TO BE DETERMINED COMPLETE

FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT/ REZONING
APPLICATION TYPES

D LARGE SCALE FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT ONLY
[] REZONE

(L] SMALL SCALE FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT ONLY
[] REZONE

[] TEXT AMENDMENT ASSOCIATED WITH LAND USE AMENDMENT

(] REZONE (NON-PD)**

[[] PDREZONE**

[J ppreEZONE

Page 183 of 391



BUILDING AND PLANNING DEPT.
800 S Daytona Ave
FLAGLER BEACH, FL 32136
Phone (386) 517-2000. Ext. 231

PROJECT
PROJECT NAME: Veranda Bay

PARCEL ID #(S): See attached Exhibit "B"

LOCATION: John Anderson Drive, Flagler Beach

EXISTING USE(S): Vacant PROPOSED USE(S):

TOTAL ACREAGE:

WATER PROVIDER: SEWER PROVIDER:

CURRENT ZONING: PUD PROPOSED ZONING: PUD
CURRENT FUTURE LAND USE:  AG PROPOSED FUTURE LAND USE:

Page 184 of 391



J

BUILDING AND PLANNING DEPT.
800 S Daytona Ave
FLAGLER BEACH, FL 32136
Phone (386) 517-2000. Ext.231

PROJECT

PROJECT NAME: Veranda Bay

PARCEL ID #(S): See attached Exhibit "B"

LOCATION: John Anderson Drive, Flagler Beach

| EXISTING USE(S): - ;’ESFBSED uséiS): ]
TOTAL ACREAGE: BCC DISTRICT:
WATER PROVIDER: SEWER PROVIDER:

CURRENT ZONING: PUD

PROPOSED ZONING: PUD

CURRENT FUTURE LAND USE:  AG

PROPOSED FUTURE LAND USE:

APPLICANT

EPLAN PRIVILEGES: VIEW ONLY [ | UPLOAD [] NONE[]

NAME: Michael D. Chiumento Ill, Esq. COMPANY:  Chiumento Law, PLLC
ADDRESS: 145 City Place, Suite 301
cry: Palm Coast STATE: FL zip; 32164

PHONE: 386-445-8900

EMAIL: Michael3@legalteamforlife.com

CONSULTANT

EPLAN PRIVILEGES: VIEW ONLY [ ] UPLOAD [ | NONE[ ]

' NAME: Lindsay Haga

COMPANY: ETM

| ADDRESS:

CITY:

STATE: ZIP:

PHONE: 904-376-6296

EMAIL: HagaL@etminc.com

OWNER(S)

(INCLUDE NOTARIZED OWNER’'S AUTHORIZATION FORM)

NAME(S): Palm Coast Intracoastal, LLC

- ADDRESS: 3129 Springbank Lane, #201

CITY: Charlotte

STATE: NC ZIp: 28226

PHONE: 386-986-2411

EMAIL:

kenbelshe@yahoo.com

Page 185 of 391



BUILDING AND PLANNING DEPT.
800 S Daytona Ave
FLAGLER BEACH, FL 32136
Phone (386) 517-2000. Ext. 231

CONCURRENCY REVIEW MANAGEMENT SYSTEM (SELECT ONE)

[] 1elect to defer the Concurrency Review that is required by Chapter 163, Florida Statutes, per Seminole County’s
Comprehensive Plan for the above listed property until a point as late as Site Plan and/or Final Engineering
submittals for this proposed development plan. | further specifically acknowledge that any proposed
development on the subject property will be required to undergo Concurrency Review and meet all
Concurrency requirements in the future. MPD Final Development Plan may not defer.

[] 1 hereby declare and assert that the aforementioned proposal and property described are covered by a valid
previously issued Certificate of Vesting or a prior Concurrency determination (Test Notice issued within the past
two years as identified below. Please attach a copy of the Certificate of Vesting or Test Notice.)

TYPE OF CERTIFICATE CERTIFICATE NUMBER DATE ISSUED
VESTING:
TEST NOTICE:

[[] concurrency Application and appropriate fee are attached. | wish to encumber capacity at an early point in the
development process and understand that only upon approval of the Development Order and the full payment
of applicable facility reservation fees is a Certificate of Concurrency issued and entered into the Concurrency

Management monitoring system.

| hereby represent that | have the lawful right and authority to file this application.

PALM COAST INTRACOASTAL, LLC

/f % William G. Allen, Jr., as Manager
THORIZED AGENT

SIGNATURE OF OWNER/
(PROOF OF PROPERTY OWNER’S AUTHORIZATION IS REQUIRED

IF SIGNED BY SOMEONE OTHER THAN THE PROPERTY OWNER)

M-16-25
DATE

Page 186 of 391



OWNER AUTHORIZATION FORM

the application); or

An authorized applicant is defined as:
4+  The property owner of record; or
+  An agent of said property owner (power of attorney to represent and bind the property owner must be submitted with

4+  Contract purchase (a copy of a fully exccuted sales contract must be submitted with the application containing a clause
or clauses allowing an application to be filed).

t ]

property [Parcel ID Number(s)] _See attached Exhibit "B"

I William G. Allen, as Manager of Palm Coast Intracoastal, LLC _ the owner of record for the following described

hereby designates

Michael D. Chiumento I, Esq.

application(s) for:

to act as my authorized agent for the filing of the attached

O Alcohol License

O Arbor Permit

[ Construction Revision

O Final Engineering

[ Final Plat d Future Land Use Amendment | OJ Lot Split/Reconfiguration | [ Minor Plat
[ Preliminary Subdivision Plan G’ Rezone O Site Plan [OJ Special Event
{3 Special Exception O Temporary Use Permit O Vacate O Variance

OTHER: Petition for Annexation

and make binding statements and commitments regarding the request(s). I certify that 1 have examined the attached
application(s) and that all statements and diagrams submitted are true and accurate to the best of my knowledge. Further, I
understand that this application, attachments, and fees become part of the Official Records of Seminole County, Florida and

are not returnable. Palm Coast Intracoastal, LLC

11— (6-258 M/é?”: -
Date Property Owner’s Signafure
William G. Allen, Jr., as Manager
Property Owner’s Printed Name
STATE OF FLORIDA .

COUNTYOF (oer=R
SWORN TO AND SUBSCRIBED before me, an officer duly authorized in the State of Florida to take

acknowledgements, appeared _William G. Allen, Jr., as Manager of Palm Coast Intracoastal, LLC (property owner),

0O by means of physical presence or [J online notarization; and @who is personally known to me or [J who has produced

as identification, and who executed the foregoing instrument and

e SN

sworn an oath on this 16 o day of

Q\Dmmﬂ- Rouauiles

Notary Public *

RACEY A. BENAVIDES
otary Public-State of Florida
Commission # HH 190061
My Commission Expires
January 02, 2026

Page 187 of 391



EXHIBIT “A”

VERANDA BAY
APPROVED PROPERTIES

LEGAL DESCRIPTION

TRACT 1A-A, PART OF TRACT 1A-1, TRACT 1A-4, TRACT 1A-6, TRACT 1A-9, TRACT 1A-10, PART OF
TRACT 1A-11, AND PART OF TRACT 1A-12, TOGETHER WITH LOTS 43 THROUGH 98, ALL OF THE
SUBDIVISION PLAT OF VERANDA BAY PHASE 1A, AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 40, PAGES 59
THROUGH 64, OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA.

TOGETHER WITH:

TRACT 2A-B, PART OF TRACT 2A-1, TRACT 2A-2, TRACT 2A-3 AND TRACT 2A-11, TOGETHER WITH
LOTS 1 THROUGH 42 AND LOTS 99 THROUGH 122, ALL OF THE SUBDIVISION PLAT OF VERANDA
BAY PHASE 2A, AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 40, PAGES 65 THROUGH 70, OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS
OF FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA.

Page 188 of 391



VERANDA BAY
PROPERTIES OWNED BY PALM COAST INTRACOASTAL, LLC

LEGAL DESCRIPTION

TRACTS 1A-5, 1A-7, 1A-8, AND 1A-13, AS LOCATED WITHIN THE SUBDIVISION PLAT OF VERANDA
BAY PHASE 1A, AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 40, PAGES 59 THROUGH 64, OF THE PUBLIC
RECORDS OF FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA.

TOGETHER WITH:

PART OF TRACT 2A-1, TRACTS 2A-4 THROUGH 2A-10, TRACTS 2A-12 THROUGH 2A-14, PART OF
TRACT 2A-15, AND TRACT 2A-22, AS LOCATED WITHIN THE SUBDIVISION PLAT OF VERANDA BAY
PHASE 2A, AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 40, PAGES 65 THROUGH 70, OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS
OF FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA.

ALSO, TOGETHER WITH:

A PARCEL OF LAND IN SECTION 12, TOWNSHIP 12 SOUTH, RANGE 31 EAST, FLAGLER COUNTY,
FLORIDA, MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

BEGIN AT THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF SAID GOVERNMENT SECTION 12, THENCE DEPARTING
SAID SOUTHERLY LINE NORTH 01°30'23" WEST A DISTANCE OF 1,203.23 FEET ALONG THE
WESTERLY LINE OF SAID SECTION 12; THENCE NORTH 88°52'15" EAST, A DISTANCE OF 649.96
FEET; THENCE SOUTH 19°00'52" EAST, A DISTANCE OF 1,265.64 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 88°56'30"
WEST, ALONG SAID SECTION LINE, A DISTANCE OF 1,030.73 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.
PARCEL CONTAINING 23.22 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.

Page 189 of 391



VERANDA BAY
PROPERTIES OWNED BY VERANDA BAY INVESTMENTS LLC

LEGAL DESCRIPTION

TRACT 2A-A OF THE SUBDIVISION PLAT OF VERANDA BAY PHASE 2A, AS RECORDED IN PLAT
BOOK 40, PAGES 65 THROUGH 70, OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA.
CONTAINING 22.64 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.

TOGETHER WITH:

A PART OF SECTION 38, TOWNSHIP 12 SOUTH, RANGE 31 EAST, FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA, AND
BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: FOR A POINT OF BEGINNING COMMENCE
AT THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF TRACT 2A-4 OF VERANDA BAY PHASE 2A AS RECORDED IN PLAT
BOOK 40, PAGES 65 THROUGH 70 OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF SAID COUNTY AND SAID CORNER
ALSO LIES ON THE WESTERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF THE FLORIDA INTRACOASTAL WATERWAY;
THENCE SOUTH 03°54’39” WEST, ALONG A WESTERLY LINE OF THE HISTORIC CHANNEL OF HAW
LOVERS CREEK, A DISTANCE OF 57.72 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 19°27°17” EAST CONTINUING ALONG
SAID WESTERLY LINE, A DISTANCE OF 644.30 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 68°58’11” EAST, A DISTANCE
OF 113.95 FEET TO A POINT ON SAID FLORIDA INTRACOASTAL RIGHT OF WAY, THENCE SOUTH
21°17’55” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 338.95 FEET TO THE NORTHERLY LINE OF TRACT “PL-3” OF
GARDENS AT HAMMOCK BEACH AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 35, PAGES 80 THROUGH ; THENCE
WESTERLY ALONG SAID NORTHERLY LINE THE FOLLOWING FIVE COURSES: SOUTH 69°58’'00”
WEST, A DISTANCE OF 666.02 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 20°00'08” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 243.62
FEET; THENCE SOUTH 69°00°06” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 512.95 FEET TO THE POINT OF CURVE OF
A CURVE CONCAVE NORTHERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 475.00 FEET AND A CENTRAL ANGLE
OF 36°00'11" AND AN ARC DISTANCE OF 298.48 FEET AND SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF
SOUTH 86°59’57” WEST AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 293.59 FEET TO THE POINT OF TANGENCY
OF SAID CURVE; THENCE NORTH 75°04’31” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 102.42 FEET; THENCE NORTH
43°30'12” WEST, DEPARTING FROM SAID NORTHERLY LINE, A DISTANCE OF 153.12 FEET TO A
POINT ON THE MOST SOUTH POINT OF SAID VERANDA BAY PHASE 2A; THENCE NORTHESTERLY
AND EASTERLY ALONG THE EASTERLY AND SOUTHERLY LINES OF SAID VERANDA BAY PHASE 2A
THE FOLLOWING EIGHTEEN COURSES: THENCE NORTH 40°42’12” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 202.16;
THENCE NORTH 10°41’45” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 133.22 FEET; THENCE NORTH 24°30°13” WEST,
A DISTANCE OF 127.26 FEET; THENCE NORTH 69°22°08” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 232.49 FEET;
THENCE NORTH 20°51’44” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 115.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 69°22'08” EAST,
A DISTANCE OF 129.58 FEET TO A POINT ON A CURVE OF A CURVE CONCAVE TO THE SOUTHWEST
AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 25.00 FEET AND A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 11°10'11”; THENCE
NORTHWESTERLY ALONG SAID CURVE AN ARC DISTANCE OF 4.87 FEET AND SUBTENDED BY A
CHORD BEARING OF NORTH 26°34’59” WEST AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 4.87 FEET TO A POINT
ON SAID CURVE; THENCE NORTH 69°44’10” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 50.00 FEET TO A POINT ON A
CURVE OF A CURVE CONCAVE TO THE SOUTHEAST AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 25.00 FEET AND A

Page 10of 2

Page 190 of 391



CENTRAL ANGLE OF 90°22°02”; THENCE NORTHEASTERLY ALONG SAID CURVE AN ARC DISTANCE
OF 39.43 AND SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF NORTH 24°11'07” EAST AND A CHORD
DISTANCE OF 35.47 FEET TO A POINT ON SAID CURVE; THENCE NORTH 21°21’56” WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 50.00 FEET TO A POINT ON A CURVE OF A CURVE CONCAVE NORTHERLY AND
HAVING A RADIUS OF 25.00 FEET AND A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 11°10°11”; THENCE WESTERLY
ALONG SAID CURVE AN ARC DISTANCE OF 4.87 FEET AND SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF
SOUTH 74°57°14” WEST AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 4.87 FEET TO A POINT ON SAID CURVE;
THENCE NORTH 20°59'54"WEST, A DISTANCE OF 822.65 FEET TO A POINT OF A CURVE OF A
CURVE CONCAVE SOUTHEASTERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 5.00 FEET AND A CENTRAL ANGLE
OF 90°00'00”; THENCE NORTHEASTRLY ALONG SAID CURVE AN ARC DISTANCE OF 7.85 FEET AND
SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF NORTH 24°00°06” EAST AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 7.07
FEET TO THE POINT OF TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE; THENCE NORTH 69°00'06” EAST, A DISTANCE
OF 503.11 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 20°54’52” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 180.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH
69°00°06” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 85.08 FEET TO A POINT ON A CURVE OF A CURVE CONCAVE
NORTHEASTERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 65.00 FEET AND A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 140°24’30”;
THENCE SOUTHEASTERLY ALONG SAID CURVE AN ARC DISTANCE OF 159.29 FEET AND
SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH 41°16’28” EAST AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF
122.32 FEET TO THE POINT OF TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE ; THENCE NORTH 69°00°58” EAST, A
DISTANCE OF 250.79 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. CONTAINING 35.44 ACRES, MORE OR
LESS.

Page 2 of 2

Page 191 of 391



EXHIBIT “B”

Future Dev Tract 2A-A (38-12-31-7220-00000-2A0A)

Part of unplatted East side of John Anderson south of Phase 2A plat (Parcels E&M)
13-12-31-0000-01010-0000

12-12-31-0000-04020-0020 (North of Phase 1A - with conservation)

13-12-31-7201-00000-1A05 (Phase 1A, Tract 1A-5) - with conservation

13-12-31-7201-00000-1A07 (Phase 1A, Tract 1A-7)

13-12-31-7201-00000-1A08 (Phase 1A, Tract 1A-8)

13-12-31-7201-00000-1A13 (Phase 1A, Tract 1A-13)

38-12-31-7220-00000-2A01 (Phase 2A, Tract 2A-1) PART OF PRESIDIO EXTENSION ROAD

38-12-31-7220-00000-2A04 (Phase 2A, Tract 2A-4)

38-12-31-7220-00000-2A05 (Phase 2A, Tract 2A-5)

38-12-31-7220-00000-2A06 (Phase 2A, Tract 2A-6)

38-12-31-7220-00000-2A07 (Phase 2A, Tract 2A-7)

38-12-31-7220-00000-2A08 (Phase 2A, Tract 2A-8)

38-12-31-7220-00000-2A09 (Phase 2A, Tract 2A-9)

38-12-31-7220-00000-2A10 (Phase 2A, Tract 2A-10)

38-12-31-7220-00000-2A12 (Phase 2A, Tract 2A-12)

38-12-31-7220-00000-2A13 (Phase 2A, Tract 2A-13)

38-12-31-7220-00000-2A14 (Phase 2A, Tract 2A-14)

38-12-31-7220-00000-2A15 (Phase 2A, Tract 2A-15) PART OF TRACT

Page 192 of 391



38-12-31-7220-00000-2A22 (Phase 2A, Tract 2A-22)

13-12-31-7201-00000-1A0A (Phase 1A, Tract 1A-A)

38-12-31-7220-00000-2A0B (Phase 2A, Tract 2A-B)

13-12-31-7201-00000-1A01 (Phase 1A, Tract 1A-1) CORONADO ROAD NORTH AND PART OF

BUENA VISTA BLVD.

13-12-31-7201-00000-1A04 (Phase 1A, Tract 1A-4)

13-12-31-7201-00000-1A06 (Phase 1A, Tract 1A-6)

13-12-31-7201-00000-1A09 (Phase 1A, Tract 1A-9)

13-12-31-7201-00000-1A10 (Phase 1A, Tract 1A-10)

13-12-31-7201-00000-1A11 (Phase 1A, Tract 1A-11) PART OF TRACT

13-12-31-7201-00000-1A12 (Phase 1A, Tract 1A-12) PART OF TRACT

13-12-31-7201-00000-2A01 (Phase 2A, Tract 2A-1) CORONADO ROAD SOUTH OF BUENA
VISTA & P/O PRESIDIO BLVD.

38-12-31-7220-00000-2A02 (Phase 2A, Tract 2A-2)

38-12-31-7220-00000-2A03 (Phase 2A, Tract 2A-3)

38-12-31-7220-00000-2A11 (Phase 2A, Tract 2A-11)

Lots 43 through 98, Phase 1A Plat

Lots 1 through 42 and 99 through 122, Phase 2A Plat

Page 193 of 391



Staff Report

Planning & Architectural Review Board Regular

. “TCENTENNIAL
Meeting e
October 7, 2025
To: Planning & Architectural Review Board
From: Lupita McClenning, Planner
Meeting Date: October 7, 2025
Item Name: PAN25-0002 ORDINANCE 2025-22 (Summertown): AN ORDINANCE OF

THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF FLAGLER BEACH, FLORIDA, TO
ANNEX PROPERTY WITHIN CITY LIMITS OF THE CITY OF FLAGLER
BEACH; PROVIDING FOR THE ANNEXATION OF APPROXIMATELY
514.06 ACRES OF PROPERTY TO BE INCLUDED WITHIN THE CITY LIMITS
OF FLAGLER BEACH; PROVIDING FOR ANNEXATION IN ACCORDANCE
WITH THE VOLUNTARY ANNEXATION PROVISIONS OF SECTION
171.044, FLORIDA STATUTES; PROVIDING FOR ANNEXATION OF REAL
PROPERTY/AMENDMENT OF CORPORATE/CITY LIMITS; PROVIDING
FOR RIGHTS AND PRIVILEGES RESULTING FROM ANNEXATION UPON
LAND USES; PROVIDING FOR EFFECT ON A VALOREM TAXES;
PROVIDING FOR EFFECT ON BUSINESSES AND OCCUPATIONS;
PROVIDING FOR EFFECT ON BUSINESSES AND OCCUPATIONS;
PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS, SEVERABILITY AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE.

Background:

The applicant desires to annex approximately 514+/- acres into the City of Flagler Beach,
recognizing that the Annexed Property is intended to be developed as a mixed-use
development consistent with approvals. Under Section 171.044(1), Florida Statutes, property
sought to be annexed is reasonably compact, contiguous, and satisfies all requirements for
voluntary annexation set forth in Chapter 171, Florida Statutes.

Fiscal Impact:
N/A

Staff Recommendation:

Staff recommends the Planning and Architectural Review Board find the Pre-Annexation and
Annexation Ordinance 2025-22 meets Ch 171 statutory requirements, is consistent with the
City’s Comprehensive Plan, and consistent with SB 180; and to forward to the City Commission
with the recommendation that the City Commission approve Pre-Annexation Agreement and

Page 194 of 391



Annexation Ordinance 2025-22 as it meets statutory requirements of Ch 171, and is consistent
with the City’s Comprehensive Plan and is consistent with SB 180.

Attachments:

1. Staff Report_Summer Town_Pre-Annexation_Final10022025

2. Summertown_Update 10062025 Item 6d Staff Report PAN 25-002 Ordinance 2025-22
Voluntary Annexation Veranda Bay10022025 (2)

3. Ordinance Annexation ST_FINAL DRAFT

4, Summertown Pre-annexation agreement 10.1.25 FINAL DRAFT

5. ST_Application for Annexation for submittal

Page 195 of 391



To: Planning Architectural Review Board
From: Lupita McClenning, City Planner
RE: Staff Memo | Pre-Annexation Agreement Summer Town | Ordinance 2025-22

Date: September 29, 2025

In Florida, a pre-annexation agreement is a contract between a municipality and property
owner(s) or developer in an adjacent unincorporated area. The agreement sets the terms and
conditions under which the property is to be developed and subsequently annexed into the city.
A pre-annexation agreement in Florida is a legally binding contract that outlines the terms for
annexation, typically including the geographic area, future land use, provision of public services,
and financing plans for the annexed area, before the actual annexation takes place.

Key components of a pre-annexation agreement

Pre-annexation agreements are primarily used for voluntary annexations initiated by a property
owner. The agreements define the following terms:

e Futureland use and zoning: A city may adopt zoning for an area it plans to annex to ensure
a smooth transition and consistent development standards.

e Provision of urban services: The annexing municipality is required to provide the new area
with urban services, including water, sewer, police, and fire protection, on substantially
the same basis as the rest of the city.

¢ Financial obligations: The agreement can outline the method for financing the extension
of services, including water and sewer mains, into the annexed area.

e Development standards: It can specify the terms of development, such as the maximum
number of dwelling units or square footage for specific land uses.

Florida statute
The process for annexation is primarily governed by Chapter 171, Florida Statutes. Key provisions
related to pre-annexation agreements include:

e Comprehensive plan consistency:
Any land use or zoning terms in a pre-annexation agreement must be consistent with the
city's comprehensive plan. Florida's Local Government Comprehensive Planning and Land
Development Regulation Act requires all land use decisions to align with the plan.

e Procedural requirements:
Pre-annexation Agreements must follow the notice and hearing requirements outlined in
Chapter 171 of the Florida Statutes.

¢ Valid conditional zoning
To be legally enforceable, a pre-annexation agreement must use a legitimate form of
"conditional zoning," where the developer makes a unilateral promise to the city.

Staff Report| Pre-Annexation Agreement | Summer Town Bay Ordinance 2025-22

Page 196 of 391



Examples of valid provisions:

e Voluntary restrictions: The developer can propose to use the property under a set of self-
imposed restrictions that are more stringent than the city's general zoning code. The city
can then approve the rezoning based on its determination that this restricted use is in the
public interest.

e Restrictive covenants: The agreement can legally incorporate restrictive covenants—
private, enforceable promises tied to the property's deed—as part of the annexation and
zoning process. This provides assurance that future development will meet certain
standards.

Statutes impose other limits on what can be negotiated in a pre-annexation agreement.

e A municipality cannot use a pre-annexation agreement to shirk its statutory duty to
provide urban services to the annexed area. The agreement must include a plan for
extending major services like water, sewer, police, and fire protection on substantially the
same basis as the rest of the city.

e The municipality cannot force the newly annexed property to finance the full cost of
extending major trunk water and sewer lines, though it can set a timetable for their
construction.

Senate Bill 180
Senate Bill 180 (2025) became law Florida June 2025. The law limits the ability of local
governments to enact moratoriums, restrict development, or impose burdensome procedures
for new construction and reconstruction within a specific radius of hurricanes after a federal
disaster declaration.
¢ In accordance with Senate Bill 180, the City discloses that the Developer has proposed
and can propose Voluntary restrictions and to use the property under a set of self-
imposed restrictions that are more stringent than the city's general zoning code. The city
can then approve the rezoning based on its determination that this restricted use is in the
public interest.
e Restrictive covenants: The agreement can legally incorporate restrictive covenants—
private, enforceable promises tied to the property's deed—as part of the annexation and
zoning process as assurance development will meet standards.

Planning Architectural Review Board
The City Commission will act on the Pre-Annexation Agreement(s) and Annexation Ordinance(s).
Forthcoming for review and considerations are staff report/findings for:

(2) Future Land Use Map Amendment(s);
(2) Site Specific Policy Text Amendment(s), and
(2) Master Planned Development Agreements(s); and

(6) Developer’s Application(s), Agreements, Maps, and Exhibits.

Page 197 of 391



Staff Finding:

Applicant: Michael D. Chiumento, Esq.

Site Location: West side of John Anderson Highway & South of SR 100

Total Acreage: 515 +/- acres

Veranda Bay is a voluntary annexation; in accordance with Ch 171 F.S. notice and hearing
requirements have been met and will be met up through adoption.

A feasibility study for the proposed annexation has been completed which includes maps,
description of general land use patterns, and demonstrates the City’s ability to provide municipal
services, including water and sewer services. Excerpt Feasibility Study Section 10, MPDA.

Demand on Potable Water / Capacity Analysis Summer Town

EXISTING POTABLE
WATER DEMAND
Flagler Beach

The residential potable water
demand is estimated by multiplying
the existing population served by 125
gallons per capita per day (GPCD) .

Existing potable water

demand = population served
*125 GPCD

City of FB Population served =
3,576 units * 2.08 persons per
unit = 7,438 GPCD

Existing Potable Water
Demand = 7,438 persons * 125
GPCD

PROPOSED POTABLE
WATER DEMAND
Summer Tow n

The residential proposed water
demand is estimated by multiplying
the proposed population by 125
gallons per capita per day (GPCD).

- Proposed potable water
demand = population served *

125 GPCD
- Population= 2,735 1,640 units
* 2.08 persons per unit = 3,411

- Proposed potable water
demand= 3,411 persons * 125
GPCD

- Proposed potable water

Total Existing +
Potable Water Demand

TOTAL RESIDENTIAL POTABLE WATER

DEMAND

Flagler Beach + Summer Town

Proposed

Total projected potable
water demand = total
population served * 125GPCD

Total Projected Potable

Water Demand = 10,849

persons * 125 GPCD

Total Projected Potable
Water Demand = 1,356,125
GPD

Existing Potable Water
Demand =929,750 GPD

demand = 426,400 GPD

Figure 1 Excerpt Potable Water Demand and City Ability to Meet Demand

Staff Recommendation
The Pre-Annexation Agreement and Annexation Ordinance 2025-22 meet Ch 171 statutory
requirements, and consistent with the City’s Comprehensive Plan.

Staff recommends the Planning and Architectural Review Board find the Pre-Annexation and
Annexation Ordinance 2025-22 meets Ch 171 statutory requirements, is consistent with the
City’s Comprehensive Plan, and consistent with SB 180; and to forward to the City Commission
with the recommendation the City Commission approve Pre-Annexation Agreement and
Annexation Ordinance 2025-22 as it meets statutory requirements of Ch 171, and is consistent
with the City’s Comprehensive Plan and is consistent with SB 180.

Staff Report| Pre-Annexation Agreement | Summer Town Bay Ordinance 2025-22

Page 198 of 391



e E A G

Source: Flagler County GIS Map 1 Annexation Veranda Bay & Summertow.

Page 199 of 391



Updated 10/06/2025 Item 6d| Lupita McClenning

City of Flagler Beach
Planning & Zoning Department
P.O. Box 70 * 800 S Daytona Ave.

Flagler Beach, FL 32136
www.cityoftlaglerbeach.com

To: Planning and Architectural Review Board
From: Lupita McClenning, City Planner

Re: Staff Report Voluntary Annexation Summertown
Application No. PAN 25-06064 25-0002 Ordinance 2025-24 2025-22

Date: October 1, 2025

Applicant: Michael Chiumento, Esq
Site Location: West of John Anderson Highway; South of SR 100
Total Acres: +/- 514 Acres

In accordance with Florida Statutes 177, applicant filed a petition to voluntarily annex +/-
514 acres into the City of Flagler Beach. The subject property is located south of State Road
(SR) 100, on the west side of John Anderson Highway in unincorporated Flagler County.

The proposed annexation meets the criteria set forth in Subsection 171.044, Florida Statutes
regarding the character of the area to be annexed, as the property sought to be annexed is
reasonably compact and contiguous to the City's boundary.

The required notice(s) of the annexation published once each week for 2 consecutive weeks
in local newspaper. The notice gave the ordinance number and a brief, general description
of the subject property.

The City represents facilities shall be in place and available to serve new development by the
issuance by the City of Flagler Beach of a certificate of occupancy or its functional equivalent.

The City of Flagler Beach currently provides water, wastewater; and through mutual aid
agreement provides police and fire services to nearby parcels in unincorporated Flagler
County.

In addition to the Florida Statutes 177, the proposed annexation is consistent with the goals
and policies of the City's Comprehensive Plan, specifically Policy A.1.4.1 which states that the
City shall investigate opportunities for annexation of commercial and value-added
properties.

Page 200 of 391


http://www.cityoftlaglerbeach.com/

Updated 10/06/2025 Item 6d| Lupita McClenning

RECOMMENDATION

Based on the findings stated above, the petition for annexation meets requirements for a
voluntary annexation and recommends the PARB recommend to the City Commission that
the +/- 514 Acres subject property be included within the corporate area and City limits of

Flagler Beach.

Page 201 of 391



ORDINANCE 2025-22
ANNEXATION OF SUMMERTOWN - APPLICATION NO. PAN25-0002

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF
FLAGLER BEACH, FLORIDA, TO ANNEX PROPERTY TO BE
INCLUDED WITHIN THE CORPORATE AREA AND CITY LIMITS OF
THE CITY OF FLAGLER BEACH; PROVIDING FOR THE
ANNEXATION OF APPROXIMATELY 514.06 ACRES OF PROPERTY
DESCRIBED IN EXHIBIT “A” TO THIS ORDINANCE AND LYING IN
THE AREAS PROXIMATE TO THE EXISTING CITY LIMITS OF THE
CITY OF FLAGLER BEACH, FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA;
PROVIDING FOR ANNEXATION IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE
VOLUNTARY ANNEXATION PROVISIONS OF SECTION 171.044,
FLORIDA STATUTES; PROVIDING FOR ANNEXATION OF REAL
PROPERTY/AMENDMENT OF CORPORATE/CITY LIMITS;
PROVIDING FOR RIGHTS AND PRIVILEGES RESULTING FROM
ANNEXATION UPON LAND USES; PROVIDING FOR EFFECT ON A
VALOREM TAXES; PROVIDING FOR EFFECT ON BUSINESSES AND
OCCUPATIONS; PROVIDING FOR EFFECT ON BUSINESSES AND
OCCUPATIONS; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS, SEVERABILITY AND
AN EFFECTIVE DATE

WHEREAS, a Petition for Annexation has been filed with the City Clerk of the City of
Flagler Beach, Florida, which petition contains the names of the property owners of the area
described in this Ordinance in Exhibit “A” and depicted in Exhibit “B”, and requests annexation
into the incorporated area and City Limits of the City of Flagler Beach, Florida; and

WHEREAS, the City’s staff has certified that the property owners have signed the petition
for Annexation; and

WHEREAS, the City Commission hereby finds that the property described hereinafter is
reasonably compact and contiguous to the corporate areas of the City of Flagler Beach, Florida,
and it is further determined that the annexation of said property will not result in the creation of
any enclaves, and it is further determined that the property otherwise fully complies with the
requirements of State law; and

WHEREAS, the City of Flagler Beach, Florida, is in a position to provide municipal
services to the property described herein, and the City Commission of the City of Flagler Beach,
Florida, deems it in the best interest of the City to accept said Petition for Annexation and to annex

said property; and

Page 202 of 391



WHEREAS, pursuant to, and in compliance with the law, notice has been given by
publication once a week for two consecutive weeks in a newspaper of general circulation notifying
the public of this proposed Ordinance and of public hearings to be held at City Hall in the City of
Flagler Beach, see the affidavit of publication, attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibit
“C”; and

WHEREAS, the provisions of this ordinance and the actions taken herein are consistent
with the City’s Comprehensive Plan and State law; and

WHEREAS, public hearings were held pursuant to the requirements of State law and in
conformity with the published notice described above at which hearings the parties in interest and
all others had an opportunity to be, and were in fact, heard; and

WHEREAS, it is the City’s best interest to annex property which provides economic and
other benefits to the City wherever possible.

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED BY THE CITY OF FLAGLER
BEACH, FLORIDA:

SECTION 1. LEGISLATIVE AND ADMINISTRATIVE FINDINGS.

(a) The property that is the subject of this Ordinance and the Petition for Annexation
is described in Exhibit “A” and depicted in Exhibit “B” in Section 2 of this Ordinance.

(b) The above recitals (whereas clauses) are hereby adopted as the legislative and
administrative findings of the City Commission of the City of Flagler Beach. The City
Commission of the City of Flagler Beach finds and determines that there is competent substantial
evidence to support the findings and determinations made in this Section.

(c) The City Commission of the City of Flagler Beach adopts as legislative and
administrative findings the fact that the land area described in Section 2 of this Ordinance
(hereinafter referred to as the “Area”) is reasonably compact and contiguous to the present
Corporate limits of the City of Flagler Beach, and that no part of the Area is within the boundary
of another municipality or the County in any manner or configuration that would contravene the
provisions of Florida law or be contrary to sound and generally accepted land use planning

practices and principles. The City Commission of the City of Flagler Beach finds that the

Page 203 of 391



annexation of the Area does not create and enclave and that the Area otherwise fully meets the
criteria established in Chapter 171, Florida Statutes.

(d) The City Commission of the City of Flagler Beach has applied the laws of the State
of Florida, Chapter 171, Florida Statutes, as well as the case law analyzing, construing and
applying said statutory provisions, and the legislative intent pertaining to said statutory provisions
as set forth in legislative reports. Further in compliance with Section 171.044, Florida Statutes,
the City of Flagler Beach published the notice of annexation in the Daytona Beach News Journal
once each week for two consecutive weeks as evidenced by the affidavit of publication attached
hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibit “C”.

(e) The City Commission of the City of Flagler Beach finds and determines that there
is competent substantial evidence to support the findings and determinations made in this Section
and that no other action of the City is required to fully implement an annexation of the Area as set

forth herein.

SECTION 2. ANNEXATION OF PROPERTY/AMENDMENT OF
CORPORATE/CITY LIMITS. The lands described in Exhibit “A” and shown on the map in
Exhibit “B” attached hereto (“Area”) be and they are hereby annexed to and included within the

corporate limits of the City of Flagler Beach, Florida.

SECTION 3. RIGHTS AND  PRIVILEGES RESULTING FROM
ANNEXATION/EFFECT OF ANNEXATION UPON LAND USES.

(a) Upon this Ordinance becoming effective, the property owner shall be entitled to all
the rights and privileges and immunities as are form time to time granted to property owners of
the City of Flagler Beach, Florida, as further provided in Chapter 171, Florida Statutes, and shall
further be subject to the responsibilities of ownership as may from time to time be determined by
the City Commission of the City of Flagler Beach, Florida, and the provisions of Chapter 171,
Florida Statutes.

(b) Upon annexation, the Area shall retain the zoning classification established by the
Land Development Code of Flagler County, the land development approvals granted by Flagler
County, and a land use designation as assigned by the Flagler County Comprehensive Plan in

accordance with the provisions of Section 171.062, Florida Statutes, until otherwise changed or

Page 204 of 391



amended by an appropriate ordinance or by a number of ordinances as may be enacted by the City

Commission of the City of Flagler Beach, Florida.

SECTION 4. EFFECT ON AD VALOREM TAXES. All property lying within the

boundaries of the Corporate/City Limits of the City of Flagler Beach, Florida as hereby revised,

shall hereafter be assessed for payment of municipal ad valorem taxes pursuant to law.

SECTION 5. EFFECTIVE ON BUSINESSES AND OCCUPATIONS. All persons

who are lawfully engaged in any occupation, business, trade or profession, within the Area upon
the effective date of this Ordinance, under a valid license or permit issued by Flagler County,
Florida, shall have the right to continue such occupation, business, trade or profession within the
corporate limits of the City of Flagler Beach, as revised, upon the securing of a valid business tax
receipt from the City of Flagler Beach, which receipt shall be issued upon payment of the
appropriate fee there, without the necessity of taking or passing any additional examination or test

relating to the qualifications of such licenses.

SECTION 6. CONFLICTS. All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with this

Ordinance are hereby repealed.

SECTION 7. SEVERABILITY. It is hereby declared to be the intention of the City

Commission that the sections, paragraphs, sentences, clauses and phrases of this Ordinance are
servable, and if any phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph or section of this Ordinance shall be
declared unconstitutional by the valid judgment or decree of a court of competent jurisdiction,
such constitutionality shall not affect any of the remaining phrases, clauses, sentences, paragraphs

and sections of this Ordinance.

SECTION 8. EFFECTIVE DATE. This Ordinance shall become effective immediately

upon adoption by the City Commission of the City of Flagler Beach, Florida, and pursuant to the
City Charter.

APPROVED on First Reading the day of , 2025.

Page 205 of 391



ADOPTED on Second Reading after due public notice and public hearing this day
of 2025.

ATTEST: CITY OF FLAGLER BEACH, FLORIDA
CITY COMMISSION
CITY CLERK Patti King, Mayor

APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGALITY:

DREW SMITH, CITY ATTORNEY

Attachments: Exhibit “A” — Legal Description of Annexation Area
Exhibit “B” — Depiction of Annexation Area
Exhibit “C” — Affidavit of Publication

Page 206 of 391



EXHIBIT “A”

A PORTION OF LOTS 1, 3,7, 8 AND 9, AND ALL OF LOTS 4, 10, 11 AND 12, BLOCK C,
BUNNELL DEVELOPMENT COMPANY’S LAND AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 1,
PAGE 1, IN THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA, TOGETHER
WITH A PORTION OF GOVERNMENT SECTION 14, 38, AND 39, TOWNSHIP 12 SOUTH,
RANGE 31 EAST, FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA, SITUATED IN GOVERNMENT
SECTIONS 11, 14, 38 AND 39, TOWNSHIP 12 SOUTH, RANGE 31 EAST, FLAGLER
COUNTY, FLORIDA, BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

COMMENCE AT THE INTERSECTION OF THE EAST RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF JOHN
ANDERSON HIGHWAY (STATE ROAD 201) AND THE NORTH LINE OF SAID SECTION
38-12-31; THENCE SOUTH 71°47°17” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 100.00 FEET TO A POINT
ON THE WEST RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF JOHN ANDERSON HIGHWAY (STATE ROAD
201), ALSO BEING THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE ALONG SAID WEST RIGHT
OF WAY LINE THE FOLLOWING THREE COURSES: SOUTH 18°10°26” EAST, A
DISTANCE OF 3,184.36 FEET TO A POINT OF CURVATURE OF A NON-TANGENT
CURVE CONCAVE NORTHEASTERLY HAVING A RADIUS OF 1,196.28 FEET, A
CENTRAL ANGLE OF 22°09°26” AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 459.74 FEET WHICH
BEARS SOUTH 29°14°21” EAST; THENCE SOUTHEASTERLY ALONG THE ARC OF SAID
CURVE A DISTANCE OF 462.62 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 40°21°41” EAST, A DISTANCE
OF 776.28 FEET; THENCE DEPARTING SAID WEST RIGHT OF WAY LINE SOUTH
69°18°47” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 1,433.82 FEET, THENCE NORTH 20°41°22” WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 995.98 FEET, THENCE NORTH 24°04°44” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 1,618.01
FEET; THENCE NORTH 86°17°06” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 2,604.28 FEET; THENCE
NORTH 60°37°10” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 341.50 FEET; THENCE NORTH 43°23°02”
WEST, A DISTANCE OF 2,172.87 FEET, THENCE NORTH 30°47°31” EAST, A DISTANCE
OF 1,526.35 FEET; THENCE NORTH 45°31°15” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 902.38 FEET;
THENCE NORTH 40°14°18” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 1,732.75 FEET; THENCE NORTH
06°10°40” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 189.68 FEET; THENCE NORTH 00°15°33” WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 614.90 FEET; THENCE NORTH 88°32°16” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 257.93
FEET; THENCE NORTH 01°27°08” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 1,087.72 FEET TO A POINT
ON THE SOUTH LINE OF STATE ROAD NO. 100; THENCE ALONG SAID SOUTH RIGHT
OF WAY LINE SOUTH 89°29°03” EAST A DISTANCE OF 959.81 FEET; THENCE
DEPARTING SAID SOUTH RIGHT OF WAY LINE SOUTH 00°30°57” WEST, A DISTANCE
OF 210.00 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 89°29°03” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 210.00 FEET;
THENCE SOUTH 00°30°57” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 389.92 FEET; THENCE SOUTH
89°28°38” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 822.42 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 00°06°48” EAST, A
DISTANCE OF 1,704.61 FEET; THENCE NORTH 88°51°12”EAST, A DISTANCE OF

Page 207 of 391



1,350.55 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 01°10°32” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 660.84 FEET; THENCE
NORTH 88°37°17” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 158.75 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 18°14°40” EAST,
A DISTANCE OF 330.09 FEET; THENCE NORTH 88°50°11” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 330.04
FEET TO A POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF JOHN ANDERSON
HIGHWAY (STATE ROAD 201); THENCE ALONG SAID RIGHT OF WAY LINE SOUTH
18°15°00” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 1,788.60 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.

LESS AND EXCEPT: THE LAND CONTAINED IN THE QUIT CLAIM DEED TO EAST
FLAGLER MOSQUITO CONTROL DISTRICT RECORDED IN OFFICIAL RECORDS BOOK
1620, PAGE 434, PUBLIC RECORDS OF FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA. CONTAINING
0.89 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.

LESS AND EXCEPT: THE LAND CONTAINED IN THE SPECIAL WARRANTY DEED TO
FLAGLER COUNTY RECORDED IN OFFICIAL RECORDS BOOK 1636, PAGE 1694,
PUBLIC RECORDS OF FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA. CONTAINING 81.32 ACRES,
MORE OR LESS.

LESS AND EXCEPT: THE LAND CONTAINED IN THE SPECIAL WARRANTY DEED TO
HIGHWAY 100 COMMERCIAL LLC RECORDED IN OFFICIAL RECORDS BOOK 1789,
PAGE 750, PUBLIC RECORDS OF FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA. CONTAINING 18.94
ACRES, MORE OR LESS.

LESS AND EXCEPT: TRACT PL-2 OF THE VACATED PLAT OF GARDENS AT
HAMMOCK BEACH, ACCORDING TO THE PLAT THEREOF AS RECORDED IN PLAT
BOOK 35, PAGES 80 THROUGH 100, PUBLIC RECORDS OF FLAGLER COUNTY,
FLORIDA. CONTAINING A TOTAL OF 13.17 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.

TOGETHER WITH

A PORTION OF TRACT "FD2", GARDENS AT HAMMOCK BEACH, AS RECORDED IN
MAP BOOK 35, PAGES 80 THROUGH 100 OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF FLAGLER
COUNTY, FLORIDA AND BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

FOR A POINT OF BEGINNING COMMENCE AT THE NORTHWESTERLY CORNER OF
SAID TRACT "FD2", SAID POINT ALSO BEING ON THE SOUTHERLY RIGHT OF WAY
LINE OF STATE ROAD 100 (A 200 FOOT RIGHT OF WAY AS ESTABLISHED); THENCE
SOUTH 89 DEGREES 29 MINUTES 03 SECONDS EAST, ALONG SAID SOUTHERLY
RIGHT OF WAY LINE, A DISTANCE OF 382.15 FEET TO THE INTERSECTION WITH
SOUTHWESTERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF VILLA DRIVE WEST (A VARIABLE
WIDTH PRIVATE RIGHT OF WAY AS ESTABLISHED), SAID POINT BEING THE POINT
OF CURVATURE OF A CURVE CONCAVE SOUTHWESTERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS
OF 35.00 FEET; THENCE ALONG SAID CURVE AND SAID SOUTHWESTERLY RIGHT
OF WAY LINE AN ARC DISTANCE OF 51.49 FEET TO THE POINT OF TANGENCY OF
SAID CURVE, SAID CURVE BEING SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH 41

Page 208 of 391



DEGREES 37 MINUTES 50 SECONDS EAST, AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 46.97 FEET;
THENCE SOUTH 00 DEGREES 30 MINUTES 47 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 29.81
FEET TO THE POINT OF CURVATURE OF A CURVE CONCAVE NORTHEASTERLY
AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 470.00 FEET; THENCE ALONG SAID CURVE AN ARC
DISTANCE OF 578.46 FEET TO THE POINT OF TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE, SAID
CURVE BEING SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH 34 DEGREES 44
MINUTES 45 SECONDS EAST, AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 542.64 FEET; THENCE
SOUTH 70 DEGREES 00 MINUTES 17 SECONDS EAST, A DISTANCE OF 190.75 FEET TO
THE POINT OF CURVATURE OF A CURVE CONCAVE SOUTHWESTERLY AND
HAVING A RADIUS OF 360.00 FEET; THENCE ALONG SAID CURVE AN ARC DISTANCE
OF 364.42 FEET TO THE POINT OF TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE, SAID CURVE BEING
SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH 41 DEGREES 00 MINUTES 17
SECONDS EAST, AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 349.06 FEET, THENCE SOUTH 12
DEGREES 00 MINUTES 17 SECONDS EAST, A DISTANCE OF 170.79 FEET TO THE POINT
OF CURVATURE OF A CURVE CONCAVE WESTERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS OF
260.00 FEET; THENCE ALONG SAID CURVE AN ARC DISTANCE OF 48.62 FEET, SAID
CURVE BEING SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH 06 DEGREES 3B
MINUTES 50 SECONDS EAST AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 48.55 FEET; THENCE
SOUTH 88 DEGREES 37 MINUTES 36 SECONDS WEST DEPARTING THE
AFOREMENTIONED SOUTHWESTERLY RIGHT OF LINE OF VILLA DRIVE WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 471.38 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 88 DEGREES 28 MINUTES 30 SECONDS
WEST, A DISTANCE OF 589.08 FEET; THENCE NORTH 33 DEGREES 37 MINUTES 07
SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 50.65 FEET; THENCE NORTH 38 DEGREES 07
MINUTES 37 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 95.67 FEET TO A POINT ON A
WESTERLY LINE OF THE AFOREMENTIONED TRACT "FD2, GARDENS AT HAMMOCK
BEACH"; THENCE NORTH 01 DEGREES 27 MINUTES 08 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE
OF 968.01 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.

Page 209 of 391



EXHIBIT “B”

Moody Blwd

r“\ )
= e
o v
r? n 2
i, U & N Py
iy b !
— W i -
] -t A )
N w " L

Jacksonville

Orlando

eI T B B 10 o nrdn P DT A S T e

S TN PP e e —_—

" w :
Annexation %'
[Banie TR Flagei Sauate, B3, havs ipl 8
D Prﬂjaﬁt Tracts 0 1,500 31000

K- Annexation Boundary

- City of Flagler Beach
Existing City Limits

T4FFS Ona 5 Augustine Fosd . sckeonvile, Flands 32258
B04 642 80900 | WA aFTI]aa oo | www gminc com
Mafa FATANPG

Page 210 of 391



EXHIBIT “C”

. ODSErver

25-DD354F You. Your Neighbors. Your Nelghborhood.
Palm CoastObserver.com
Palm Coast Observer
Published Weekly
Palm Coast, Flagler County, Florida
COUNTY OF FLAGLER

STATE OF FLORIDA

Before the undersigned authority personally appeared Nancy Kay
Raymond who on oath says that he/she is Publisher's Representative of the Palm
Coast Observer a weekly newspaper published at Palm Coast, Flagler County,
Florida; that the attached copy of advertisement,
being a Public Hearing
in the matter of Ordinance 2025-22
in the Court, was published in said newspaper by print in the
issues of /2572025

Affiant further says that the Palm Coast Observer complies with all legal
requirements for publication in chapter 50, Florida Statutes.

*This Notice was placed on the newspaper's website and floridapublicnotices.com
on the same day the notice appeared in the newspaper.

Nancy Kay Bhymond
Sworn to and subscribed, and personally appeared by physical presence before me,

25th day of September, 2025 A.D.

by Nancy Kay Raymond who } p:mumﬂé‘lnuwnmma.
O~ T‘XXT_Q/KQL

Notary Public, State of Florida
(SEAL)

fS”

LT

mll'“""u,

f;»

|
®
'-.pul

L.Q- e"“
OF FLORY

T

CITY|OF FLAGLER BEACH
NOTICE OF PUBLIC

EFFECTIVE DATE
This meice & pusiian W ihe provisons

wmdn!m”

unmc—mmuﬂum-r-ﬂwm
Sclijent

-m-—-hunﬂth

anpration an el aplshed in Chapter 171 Staubes.
PUTHLIC HEAR{NGS ARE SCHEDILED TO BE HELD AT CITY HALL 308
AS FOLLOWS:

PLANNT {0 ARCH
TORER 7, 2024 AY 5:30 PAL
Ty

FLAGLER REACH. FLORIDW
ITECTURAL REVEEW BOARD: TURSIMY, DC-

COMMISSION: THURSDAY, CTORER 0. 202s AT

Eow M. OR AS $00N THEREAFTER AS MORSIELE.

CITY COMMESSION: NOVEMEER L1, 3085 AT 5:30 PM

BEADNNG
O AS SOON THRERLAFTER A5

Cinproes of the Eﬂr-l

Owdisianes wrd deserptins
MM-E-‘:‘—I&-:&&I&: ﬁu
H_m!hh&nm_m-hﬂ

W-‘h
e o e Ul tha p-
which reopn] incudes the iestinesyy and ridenon span

Fnatuacs. In

=

Page 211 of 391



Return to:

City of Flagler Beach
City Clerk

105 2" Street

Flagler Beach, FL 32136

SUMMERTOWN PRE-ANNEXATION AGREEMENT

THIS PRE-ANNEXATION AGREEMENT (“Agreement’) is made and entered into by
and between the City of Flagler Beach, a municipal corporation organized and existing under
the laws of the State of Florida (hereinafter referred to as the “City”), whose address is 105 South
2nd Street, Flagler Beach, Florida 32136, Veranda Bay Investments, LLC, a Florida limited
liability company (“Veranda”) whose address is 3129 Springbank Lane, Charlotte, North
Carolina 28226 and Highway 100 Commercial LLC (“HC 100”) whose address is 800 North
Highland Ave, Suite 200, Orlando, Florida 32803 (hereinafter collectively referred to as the
“Owners”) this _ day of , 2025, (the “Effective Date”) and shall automatically become
null and void unless the events described in Section 12(C), below, have occurred on or before the
date set forth therein.

RECITALS

A.  The parties desire to annex the following properties (the “Annexed Property”,
Exhibit. “A”) into the City of Flagler Beach.

B.  Veranda is the owner of certain real property located in Flagler County, Florida
consisting of approximately 495.12 acres, which real property is more particularly described in
Exhibit “A” attached hereto (hereinafter referred to as the “Veranda Property™);

C.  HCI100 is the owner of certain real property located in Flagler County, Florida
consisting of approximately 18.94 acres, which real property is more particularly described in
Exhibit “A” attached hereto (hereinafter referred to as the “HC100 Property”);

D.  The Annexed Property is presently located in the unincorporated areas of Flagler
County and is assigned the Agriculture & Timberlands, Conservation, and Mixed use: High
Intensity future land use designations under the provisions of the Flagler County Comprehensive
Plan;

E. The Annexed Property is assigned the Planned Unit Development zoning
classification under the provisions of the Flagler County Land Development Code and is subject
to that PUD Development Agreement (the “PUD DA”) recorded at Official Records Book 1429,
Page 19 et seq, as identified in the Approvals in Exhibit “B” attached (hereinafter referred to as
“Approvals”;

F. As negotiated in the PUD DA, the Owners, as a successor, previously conveyed
approximately 1,100 acres of land designated as environmental lands to Flagler County for the
purpose of preservation, conservation and public recreation for the benefit of citizens of Flagler
County (the “Dedicated Lands™);

G.  The City desires to annex the Annexed Property into the City of Flagler Beach
recognizing that (1) the Annexed Property is intended to be developed as a mixed-use development

Page 1 of 21

Page 212 of 391



consistent with the Approvals, and (ii) the Parties to this Agreement desire to amend the
comprehensive plan designation and rezone the Annexed Property;

H.  Under Section 171.044(1), Florida Statutes, property sought to be annexed must be
reasonably compact and contiguous to the boundaries of the annexing municipality;

L. The Annexed Property is reasonably compact and contiguous and will satisfy all
requirements for voluntary annexation set forth in Chapter 171, Florida Statutes;

J. Section 171.062(1), Florida Statutes, provides as follows:

“An area annexed to a municipality shall be subject to all laws, ordinances and
regulations in force in that municipality and shall be entitled to the same privileges and
benefits as other parts of that municipality upon the effective date of the annexation.”;

K.  Section 166.021(8) (b) and (c), Florida Statutes, specifically states, with regard to
economic development, that:

“(b) The governing body of a municipality may expend public funds to attract
and retain business enterprises, and the use of public funds toward the achievement of
such economic development goals constitutes a public purpose. The provisions of this
chapter which confer powers and duties on the governing body of a municipality,
including any powers not specifically prohibited by law which can be exercised by the
governing body of a municipality, shall be liberally construed in order to effectively carry
out the purpose of this subsection.”

and

“(c) For the purposes of this subsection, it constitutes a public purpose to expend
public funds for economic development activities, including, but not limited to,
developing or improving local infrastructure, issuing bonds to finance or refinance the
cost of capital projects for industrial or manufacturing plants, leasing or conveying real
property, and making grants to private enterprises for the expansion of businesses existing
in the community or the attraction of new businesses to the community.”;

L. The City desires to ensure that any amendment to the Approvals and the
development of the Annexed Property is compatible with surrounding land uses, that adequate
public facilities exist or will be in place concurrent with the impact of such development in the
manner required by applicable law;

M.  The City has taken action to (i) expand the capacity of its potable water, wastewater
and reuse water utility services and (ii) increase the rates of its adopted impact fees both
anticipating that the Annexed Property will be developed at a greater density and intensity than
as presently provided in the Approvals.

N.  In the event the Approvals are amended, the City and the Owners desire to (i)
implement land use densities and intensities that are compatible with the economic development
goals of the City and (ii) develop the Annexed Property at its highest and best use and aligned
with the limiting policy accompanying the map amendment voluntarily limiting certain
development entitlements;

Page 2 of 21

Page 213 of 391



O. The City represents to the Owners that adequate public facilities and services,
including but not limited to potable water and wastewater, currently exist to serve the Annexed
Property or will be available at the time of development in accordance with applicable laws
regarding concurrency;

P. This Agreement is authorized by, permitted by, and consistent with the provisions
of the City’s Home Rule Charter; the City’s Comprehensive Plan, Chapter 163, Florida Statutes,
Chapter 166, Florida Statutes, the State Comprehensive Plan (Chapter 187, Florida Statutes);
Article VIII, Section 2(b), Constitution of the State of Florida, Chapter 171, Florida Statutes; and
other applicable law; and serves and advances a vital public purpose;

Q. The City finds and determines that the City’s interest will be best served by
annexing the Annexed Property into its municipal boundaries and by entering into this Agreement
to ensure that the proposed development of the Annexed Property is consistent with the Approvals
and, if amended, is in accordance with the City’s Comprehensive Plan;

R.  Owners seek to obtain for the Annexed Property the benefits and privileges of
inclusion within the boundaries of the City, which include the designation of the Annexed
Property on the City’s Future Land Use Map and the assignment of zoning categories to allow
for the development of the Annexed Property consistent with the Approvals and the provisions of
all services, facilities, and utilities as are available to all residents of the City; and

S. The purpose of this Agreement is to set forth the understandings and agreements of
the Parties with respect to the foregoing, and other matters set forth herein;

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements
contained herein, and other good and valuable consideration each to the other provided, the receipt

and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the Parties agree as follows:

Section 1. Recitals

(A) The above recitals are adopted as the findings of the City of Flagler Beach City
Commission included as Exhibit XX, accompany the Annexation Ordinance.

(B)  The above recitals are true and correct, are incorporated into this Agreement by
reference, and form a material part of this Agreement upon which the Parties have relied, including,
but not limited to, the assertions that the Owners own a portion of the Annexed Property and have
legal authority and are empowered to enter into this Agreement to make binding commitments.

Section 2. Annexation.

(A) This Agreement, upon execution by the Owners, shall serve as and constitute an
annexation petition by the Owners for the annexation of the Annexed Property into the City,
provided that the City shall thereafter annex the Annexed Property into the City subject to the
terms and conditions of this Agreement.

(B) This Agreement is entered into under the authority of the Florida Constitution
(including Article VIII, Section 2(b) thereof), the general powers conferred upon municipalities

by statute and otherwise (including Chapter 163 and 166, Florida Statutes), and the City’s Charter.
The persons executing this Agreement represent that they have full authority and the necessary

Page 3 of 21

Page 214 of 391



approval and authorization to enter into and execute this Agreement on behalf of the applicable
Party and all landowners of the Annexed Property. The City hereby represents, warrants, and
covenants to and with the Owners that this Agreement has been validly approved by the Flagler
Beach City Commission, that it has been duly executed and delivered by the City, that it is
consistent with the City's Comprehensive Plan (adopted by the City pursuant to Chapter 163, Part
I1, Florida Statutes) and the land development regulations of the City of Flagler Beach (including,
without limitation, the City’s Land Development Regulations and, collectively, the “City
Regulations”), and that the enforceability hereof is not subject to impairment on the basis of any
public policy or police power.

(C) The Owners consent to or petitioned for annexation of their respective properties.
The Owners have delegated and assigned to Veranda the right and responsibility for negotiating

this Agreement on behalf of all the Owners.

Section 3. INTENTIONALLY DELETED

Section 4. Development Conditions and Public Facilities

(A)  Water/Sewer/Reuse: The Annexed Property, after the effective date of this
Agreement, shall be located within the City’s urban service boundary. Except as provided herein,
the City’s municipal services including but not limited to water, sanitary sewer and reuse water
(“Services”) shall be provided to the Annexed Property. As a material part of this Agreement, the
City represents to the Owners that it shall provide at a minimum 111,000 gallons/day of water
and wastewater treatment capacity to the Annexed Property. Therefore, the City shall reserve
sufficient potable, wastewater, and reuse water capacity for the Annexed Property. However, in
the event the City cannot immediately provide and pay for one or any of these Services to the
Annexed Property upon the Owners’ written request, the Owners shall be permitted, without
objection by the City, to either (i) obtain Services from third parties and/or (ii) construct such
Services. For example, in the event the City cannot provide water sanitary sewer to the Annexed
Property as provided above, the City shall permit the Owners to obtain such service from an
adjacent provider or construct facilities to provide such services. The City shall not charge fees
to a community development district or a property owners’ association for the use of City reuse
water for common areas the later of (i) January 1, 2036 or (ii) for ten (10) years after the City
provides reuse water to the Annexed Property. Moreover, the City shall not require the Declarant
to prepay water and sewer “impact”, “connection” or “CIAC” fees until the City issues a building
permit for a residential or non-residential structure.

(B)  Solid Waste: Solid waste collection services are available to serve the demands
generated by the Annexed Property as it is to any other owner of City property and will be available
concurrent with the impacts of the development of the Annexed Property. If reasonably possible,
the Owners shall utilize the City’s solid waste collection franchise.

(C)  Public Safety: The City will provide fire (having a first response agreement with
Flagler County as part of its service network), police, and EMS facilities, including the equipment
and services necessary to serve the Annexed Property at a level consistent with the City’s adopted

Page 4 of 21

Page 215 of 391



level of service. All such public services are available to support the development of the Annexed
Property.

(D)  Transportation: Transportation issues and transportation impacts will be
addressed through the City’s concurrency management system as presently adopted, Chapter 163,
Florida Statutes, and traffic studies performed by a qualified engineer. The City shall not require
any above or below grade crossings for any intersection.

(E)  Permitting and Permit Review. As provided herein, the Parties recognize and agree
that certain provisions of this Agreement will require the City and/or its boards, departments or
agencies, acting in their governmental capacity to consider certain changes in the City
Comprehensive Plan, zoning ordinances or other applicable City codes, plans or regulations, as
well as to consider other governmental actions as set forth in this Agreement. All such
considerations and actions shall be undertaken in accordance with established requirements of the
City’s jurisdiction under its police power, processed in good faith and in a timely fashion. Nothing
in this Agreement is intended to limit or restrict the powers and responsibilities of the City in acting
on applications for Comprehensive Plan changes and applications for other development actions.
The Parties further recognize and agree that these proceedings will be conducted openly, fully,
freely, and fairly in accordance with law, and with both procedural and substantive due process to
be accorded the applicant and any member of the public. Nothing contained in this Agreement
shall entitle Owners to compel the City to take actions, except to timely process such applications.
Owners must process any final plats of the Annexed Property for approval by the City which shall
allow for the posting of proper bonds as provided by Florida law. The Owners are permitted to
market for sale any parcel or lot pending approval and recording of final plats (as may be bonded),
provided that title to such will not be conveyed to third party purchasers prior to the recording of
final plats.

(F)  Buffers/Open Space/Trees: For any future development, the Owners shall place
an encumbrance or easement on its property adjacent to John Anderson Highway ensuring that the
buffer along John Anderson Highway is twenty-five (25) feet minimum and average fifty (50) feet
in width along the western side of the right of way. Further, the Owners shall ensure that buffers
along Bulow Creek provide a 25-foot minimum and 75-foot average. The Owners shall also
provide a natural buffer no less than One Hundred (100) feet from the edge of the Bulow Creek
riverbank In addition, the Owner shall provide a minimum of forty percent (40%) of land as open
space as may be defined by the City’s current Land Development Regulations (LDR) or
subsequent development agreements. In consideration of these commitments and the Dedicated
Lands, the Project shall be exempt from all other City tree preservation, protection and mitigation
rules and ordinances unless otherwise agreed to in writing by the parties. This commitment to
provide land in open space shall allow under brushing and passive recreation including non-
habitable structures within the open space.

(G)  Stormwater, Flood Plain, Compensating Storage. In the event that the Owners
or a CDD undertakes responsibility for all or part of the stormwater management system developed
on the Annexed Property, the parties shall enter into a separate agreement to adjust a portion of
the stormwater service charge collected by the City to account for stormwater that is treated by the
Annexed Property’s systems, as applicable or as may be exempt. The City further acknowledges

Page 5 of 21

Page 216 of 391



that the stormwater management plan and compensating storage plans for the Annexed Property
shall be solely regulated and permitted by State and Federal government agencies (“Stormwater
Plans”). The City agrees to cooperate with Owners’ efforts to obtain Conditional Letters of Map
Revision ("CLOMR.s") and Final Letters of Map Revisions ("LOMRs") with FEMA on an
expedited basis.

(H)  Mass Grading/Phased Infrastructure: The Annexed Property shall be developed in
phases with some infrastructure being shared between phases (“Shared Infrastructure”). The
parties agree that the Owners shall have the right to mass grade and construct Shared Infrastructure
in portions of the Annexed Property not subject to a preliminary plat or site plan development
order so long as such Shared Infrastructure is related to an approved development order. The
Owners shall have the right but not the obligation to create overall master plan and mass grade
plan for roadways, utility infrastructure and stormwater system generally depicting infrastructure
that may be shared between phases (stormwater systems, roads, etc.). Such plans shall permit
phased construction of such improvements in advance of future phases of development at the
Owners’ election, subject to approval by the City Manager.

40 Agriculture Exemption: Portions of the Annexed Property presently qualify
for a statutory agricultural exemption. So long as the Annexed Property maintains and satisfies the
statutory requirements, the City shall agree and acknowledge that portions of the Annexed
Property may continue with its present agricultural and silviculture uses to maintain such
qualifications.

J) Phasing/Timelines:  The City agrees that the Owners have satisfied any and all
phasing obligations as may be provided by City regulations and ordinances including but not
limited to City Ordinance 2024-06. Specifically, the City agrees and acknowledges that it (i) has
complied with said requirements, (ii) is not subjected to being deemed lapsed and (iii) all vested
rights shall remain and not subject to forfeiture.

(K)  Community Development Districts: The City agrees and acknowledges that the
Annexed Property is subject to the Gardens at Hammock Beach Community Development
District, Flagler County, Florida (“District”), pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, which
was initially established by Flagler County. The City agrees that it shall accept and acknowledge
the powers granted to the District pursuant to state law. The City agrees to execute all documents
that may be necessary or take any action necessary to transfer the local government jurisdiction
affecting the District to the City, to the extent such may be necessary. In addition, the City agrees
and acknowledges that it shall, in good faith, assist the Owners, at the Owner’s sole discretion,
to amend the District’s existing boundaries and establish an additional community development
district governing the Annexed Property which shall be permitted to finance, fund, plan, establish,
acquire, construct, enlarge or extend, equip, operate and maintain projects, systems and facilities
for the purposes described in Section 190.012, F.S. including but not limited to, any transportation
improvements that may be required by this Agreement or other development orders.

(L)  Agriculture/Silviculture: The Subject Property has been and will continue to
be used for silviculture purposes. Silviculture activities may continue to occur on the Subject
Property until that portion of the Subject Property approved for development obtains all necessary
permits. All silviculture activities shall continue to comply with all federal and state requirements.
All silviculture activities shall comply with the State of Florida Division of Forestry Best

Page 6 of 21

Page 217 of 391



Management Practices. The Subject Property shall therefore remain eligible for all agricultural
exemptions as provided by law.

(M)  Miscellaneous: Owners will be permitted to conduct marketing and sales events
on the Annexed Property on an ongoing basis without further approval in a manner not inconsistent
with City Code.

Section 5. General Obligations/Commitments of the Parties

(A)  The City has reviewed the Approvals affecting the Annexed Property and finds that
the Approvals including but not limited to present zoning classification and development
agreement are consistent with the City’s comprehensive plan. Moreover, the City Staff has
generally evaluated the suitability to amend the Approvals affecting the Annexed Property for
development of a mixed-use community including but not limited to residential uses (single-family
and multi-family), office, retail, commercial, a marina and open space areas as generally depicted
on the Conceptual Plan (Exhibit “C”). The City Staff and Commission generally concur that the
Annexed Property is suitable for development as a multi-use, master planned community as
depicted on the Conceptual Plan, and that such development can provide for a pattern of
harmonious and transitioned land uses, generally comports with sound and generally accepted land
use planning and development practices and principles, and that such use will benefit the City’s
residents. The City and Owners agree that a golf course, as provided in the Approvals, is not an
appropriate use of the Annexed Property for various reasons including environmental impacts from
pesticides or herbicides to the surrounding lands.

(B)  Notwithstanding the above, the Parties acknowledge that the City cannot contract
to approve specific Comprehensive Plan amendments or rezoning requests; provided, however,
that this provision shall not serve to otherwise limit the terms of this Agreement. The City’s only
obligation with respect to Comprehensive Plan amendments and rezoning requests is to timely
process the Owners’ applications expeditiously, consider all evidence presented in support of and
in opposition to the applications, and make decisions to approve or deny the applications based
upon the legal standards that govern such applications.

(C)  The City agrees that all concurrency requirements related to the Annexed Property
are vested by the Approvals, as may be amended and reviewed in accordance with Chapter 163,
Florida Statutes, and other applicable regulatory requirements.

(D)  The City agrees that, if requested by the Owners, their affiliates or designees, it will
promptly process for City Commission the consideration to annex other lands of Owners or their
affiliates consistent with the terms of this Agreement and State law.

Section 6. De-annexation/Contraction. Any potential proposed de-annexation(s) or
contractions of (i) the Annexed Property or (ii) any part or parts of the Annexed Property will be
considered in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 171, Florida Statutes. In the event of (i)
litigation brought by any third party or other governmental entity including, but not limited to,
Flagler County, Florida, as a result of the annexation or this Agreement, or (i1) any termination of
this Agreement under Sections 12(B) or (C), the City agrees, in good faith, to cooperate in any de-
annexation or contraction requested by the Declarant to remove the Annexed Property from the

Page 7 of 21

Page 218 of 391



City within sixty (60) days of Declarant’s written request and permit the Owners to terminate this
Agreement.

Section 7. Duty To Cooperate/Comprehensive Plan Amendment, etc.

(A)  The City and the Owners agree to cooperate at all times in a timely manner and in
good faith in the acquisition and exercise of development rights and entitlements in the Annexed
Property. The good faith cooperation by the City and the Owners shall extend to the acquisition
by the Owners of all applicable necessary local, State and Federal permits, development orders,
licenses, easements and other approvals or rights in connection with the development of the
Annexed Property in accordance with all applicable land use, zoning, land development, building
and construction regulations.

(B)  The City will consider the adoption of a Comprehensive Plan Map and Text
Amendment contemplated by this Agreement, and the Owners will cooperate with the City by
providing the City with all requested data and analysis to include the Annexed Property in the City
Comprehensive Plan. The City shall promptly consider the proposed Comprehensive Plan
Amendment and, if approved, immediately transmit the adopted Comprehensive Plan Amendment
to the Florida Department of Economic Opportunity (FDEO). Upon the FDEO’s review of the
adopted Comprehensive Plan Amendment, the City shall work in good faith with the Owners to
address any questions or concerns raised by the FDEO prior to the City’s final adoption.

Section 8. Limitation of Funding Obligations. Except as provided in Section 4 of this
Agreement, the City shall have no obligation to Owners to fund any public facilities or
infrastructure within the Annexed Property. Rather, the City shall have a good faith obligation to
provide off-site Services and infrastructure necessary to develop the Annexed Property consistent
with the Approvals and their intended amendments.

Section 9. Further Assurances. In addition to the acts recited in or set forth in this
Agreement, the City and the Owners agree to perform or cause to be performed, in a timely manner,
any and all further acts as may be reasonably necessary to implement the provisions of this
Agreement including, but not limited to, the execution and/or recordation of further instruments;
provided, however, that the City’s obligations shall be subject to such limitations of law as may
be applicable to municipalities.

Section 10. Remedies. Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to limit the right of
either the Owners or the City to pursue any and all available remedies, if any, under non-tort or
constitutional law related to a Party’s non-performance under this Agreement. The City shall not
be deemed to have waived sovereign immunity in any manner or respect, provided this provision
shall not limit the City’s contractual obligations under this Agreement.

Section 11. Disclaimer of Third Party Beneficiaries. This Agreement is solely for the
benefit of the formal Parties to this Agreement, and no right or cause of action shall accrue by
reason hereof to or for the benefit of any third party not a formal Party hereto. Nothing in this
Agreement, expressed or implied, is intended or shall be construed to confer upon or give any
person or entity any right, remedy or claim under or by reason of this Agreement or any provisions

Page 8 of 21

Page 219 of 391



or conditions hereof, other than the Parties hereto and their respective designated representatives,
successors and assigns as provided in Section 14. In the event that a party files an action in court
relating to this Agreement, the parties agree that they shall submit to mediation within sixty (60)
days after the parties responsive pleadings are filed.

Section 12. Effectiveness of Agreement

(A) This Agreement shall serve as an annexation petition upon execution by the
Owners, which may be relied on by the City in accordance with the terms of this Agreement upon
the Owners’ execution of the Agreement but shall become effective as an agreement between the
Owners and the City upon its being duly executed by the City. If the City does not execute this
Agreement or does not complete the annexation of the Annexed Property, both within 30 days of
the date that Owners have executed this Agreement, then the petition for annexation may be
revoked by the Owners and, upon demand, the City shall immediately release and deliver the
Annexation Petition to the Owners, and the City shall record, at the City’s expense, a Notice of
Termination of this Agreement and any pending annexation petition for the Annexed Property in
the Public Records of Flagler County, Florida. Upon annexation and receipt of a request by
Owners, the City shall expeditiously process a Comprehensive Plan Amendment and Rezoning.

(B)  Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Agreement, the Owners may, at its
sole discretion, terminate this Agreement by notifying the City, in writing, of such termination
within thirty (30) days following a legal challenge to the annexation of the Annexed Property filed
by any third parties, including, but not limited to, Flagler County, Florida.

(C)  To the extent allowed by law and notwithstanding any other provisions of this
Agreement, if the Comprehensive Plan Amendment and anticipated Rezoning for the Annexed
Property have not been adopted, approved and finalized, with all applicable appeal periods having
expired within sixty (60) days following the Effective Date of this Agreement (the “Condition
Subsequent™), (i) this Agreement, and any annexation pursuant thereto, shall become null and void
and of no further force and effect, unless prior to such date Owners have delivered to the City a
written notice expressly waiving or extending the Condition Subsequent; and (ii) the City shall
immediately consider the request to de-annex the Annexed Property from the City as provided
herein and by state law.

Section 13. Time Of The Essence. Time is of the essence of the lawful performance of
the duties and obligations contained in this Agreement. The Parties covenant and agree that they
shall diligently and expeditiously pursue their respective obligations set forth in this Agreement.

Section 14. Successors and Assigns. This Agreement and the terms and conditions hereof
shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the City and the Owners and their respective
assignees and successors in interest.

Section 15. Applicable Law. This Agreement and the provisions contained herein shall
be construed, controlled and interpreted according to the laws of the State of Florida. Further, to

Page 9 of 21

Page 220 of 391



the extend permissible under the laws of the State of Florida, if there is a conflict between this
Agreement and the terms of the City Regulations, the terms of this Agreement shall control.

Section 16. Binding Effect. Each Party hereto represents to the other that it has undertaken
all necessary actions to execute this Agreement, and that it has the legal authority to enter into this
Agreement and to undertake all obligations imposed on it.

Section 17. Recording. Within five (5) business days after the approval of this Agreement
by the City and the Owners’ execution of this Agreement, the City shall, at its sole cost and
expense, record a fully executed copy of this Agreement in the Public Records of Flagler County,
Florida.

Section 18. Choice of Law and Venue. Florida law shall govern the interpretation and
enforcement of this Agreement. In any action or proceeding required to enforce or interpret the
terms of this Agreement, venue shall be in Flagler County, Florida and Orlando Middle District
for federal actions.

Section 19. Effect on Change in Law. If State or Federal laws are enacted after execution
of this Agreement which are applicable to and preclude the Parties’ compliance with the terms of
this Agreement, this Agreement shall be modified or revoked as is necessary to comply with the
relevant State or Federal laws and the intent of the Parties hereto; provided, however, that the City
agrees that it shall not modify this Agreement in any manner which would in any way be
inconsistent with the intent of the Parties to provide for development of the Annexed Property in
accordance with the terms and conditions hereof, except where required by law.

Section 20. Construction or Interpretation of the Agreement. This Agreement is the
result of bona fide arm’s length negotiations between the City and the Owners, and all Parties have
contributed substantially and materially to the preparation of the Agreement. Accordingly, this
Agreement shall not be construed or interpreted more strictly against any one Party than against
any other Party.

Section 21. Permits, Conditions, Terms or Restrictions. The failure of this Agreement
to address a particular permit, condition, terms, or restriction existing at the time of execution of
this Agreement shall not relieve Owners of the necessity of complying with the law governing said
permitting requirement, condition, terms, or restriction.

Section 22. Attorneys’ Fees and Costs. In the event of any action to enforce the terms of
this Agreement, the prevailing Party shall be entitled to recover reasonable attorneys’ fees,
paralegals’ fees, and costs incurred, whether the same be incurred in pre-litigation negotiation,
litigation at the trial level, or upon appeal or any bankruptcy or collection proceedings.

Section 23. Captions/Exhibits.

(A)  The headings or captions of the sections and subsections contained in this
Agreement are used for convenience and reference only, and do not, in themselves, have any legal
significance and shall not be afforded any.

Page 10 of 21

Page 221 of 391



(B) The exhibits to this Agreement are hereby incorporated into this Agreement
and are an integral part of this Agreement. If an exhibit is inconsistent with any term of this
Agreement, such term(s) of this Agreement shall govern and take priority.

Section 24. Parties Bound. Following the recordation of this Agreement, the benefits and
burdens of this Agreement shall become a covenant running with the title to the Annexed Property,
and all parts and parcels thereof, and this Agreement shall be binding upon the inure to the benefit
of both the City and the Owners and their assigns and successors in interest to the said Annexed
Property, and all parts and parcels thereof.

Section 25. Severability. If any provision of this Agreement, the deletion of which would
not adversely affect the receipt of any material benefits by any Party to the Agreement or
substantially increase the burden of any Party to the Agreement, shall be held to be
unconstitutional, invalid or unenforceable to any extent by a court of competent jurisdiction, such
portion shall be deemed a separate, distinct, and independent provision and the same shall not
affect in any respect whatsoever the validity or enforceability of the remainder of the Agreement.

Section 26. Notices. Any notice that is to be delivered hereunder shall be in writing and
shall be deemed to be delivered (whether or not actually received) when (i) hand delivered to the
official hereinafter designated; (ii) upon receipt of such notice when deposited in the United States
mail, postage prepaid, certified mail, return receipt requested: or (iii) upon receipt of such notice
when deposited with Federal Express or other nationally recognized overnight or next day courier,
addressed to the Parties as follows (facsimile transmittal is not acceptable as a form of notice in
this Agreement):

To the City: City Manager
City of Flagler Beach
City Hall
105 S. 2nd Street
Flagler Beach, FL 32136

To the Owners: Veranda Bay Investments, LL.C
3129 Springbank Lane
Charlotte, NC 28226

Highway 100 Commercial LLC (“HC 100”)
800 North Highland Ave, Suite 200,
Orlando, Florida 32803

With copies to: Michael D. Chiumento III, Esq.
Chiumento Law, PLLC

145 City Place, Suite 301
Palm Coast, FL 32164

Page 11 of 21

Page 222 of 391



Section 27. Entire Agreement. This Agreement constitutes the complete and entire
agreement between the City and the Owners with respect to the subject matter hereof, and
supersedes any and all prior agreements, arrangements or understandings, whether oral or written,
between the Parties relating thereto with respect to the terms of this Agreement, all of which have
been integrated herein. Specifically, the parties agree that any and all obligations of the Owners as
provided in the Settlement Agreement, recorded at Official Records Book 1560, Page 471 et seq
and Interlocal agreement, recorded at Official Records Book 2129, Page 1549 et seq, are void and
unenforceable against the Owners or their respective successors and assigns.

Section 28. Modification. This Agreement may not be amended, changed, or modified,
and material provisions hereunder may not be waived, except by a written document, of equal
dignity herewith approved by the City.

Section 29. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of
counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which, taken together, shall
constitute one and the same document.

THE REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE
INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

Page 12 of 21

Page 223 of 391



WHEREFORE, the Parties hereto have caused these presents to be signed all as of the
date and year first above written.

ATTEST: CITY OF FLAGLER BEACH
City Clerk City Manager
STATE OF FLORIDA
COUNTY OF FLAGLER

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by means of physical
presence or online notarization by as City Manager of the
City of Flagler Beach, on its behalf, and who is personally known to me on this day of

,2025.
NOTARY PUBLIC

For the use and reliance of the City of
Flagler Beach only. Approved as to form and
Legal sufficiency.

City Attorney

Page 13 of 21

Page 224 of 391



WITNESSES Highway 100 Commercial LLC (“HC 100”) a
Florida limited liability company

Print Name:
By:
Manager

Print Name:
STATE OF
COUNTY OF

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by means of physical

presence or online notarization by ., as Manager of Highway 100
Commercial , LLC and who is personally known to me on this day of ,2025.

NOTARY PUBLIC

Page 14 of 21

Page 225 of 391



WITNESSES VERANDA BAY INVESTMENTS, LLC, a
Florida limited liability company

Print Name:
By:
William G. Allen Sr., Manager
Print Name:
STATE OF
COUNTY OF
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by means of physical
presence or online notarization by William G. Allen Sr., as Manager of Veranda Bay
Investments, LLC and who is personally known to me on this day of ,2025.

NOTARY PUBLIC

Page 15 of 21

Page 226 of 391



EXHIBIT “A”

Maoody Blud

%

13

Jacksonville

QOrlando

U R I [ Ly e o L L i L

Annexation

[Baniee ETRL Flager Couare, Esn. banivs ]

] Project Tracts
= Annexation Boundary

e City of Flagler Beach
Existing City Limits

B ey e

Page 16 of 21

] 1,500 3,000

H M THIMESG & MILLER Sie ~S Ay A
7P 0N 3. Awguiling Rosd . bckeorile, Flonds 11258
BI4 647 5000 | wwwaimgeooom | www eiminc com

Mafa FALANTE

Page 227 of 391



PROPERTY OWNED BY VERANDA BAY INVESTMENTS, LLC

A PORTION OF LOTS 1,3, 7,8 AND 9, AND ALL OF LOTS 4, 10, 11 AND 12, BLOCK C, BUNNELL
DEVELOPMENT COMPANY’S LAND AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 1, PAGE 1, IN THE PUBLIC
RECORDS OF FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA, TOGETHER WITH A PORTION OF GOVERNMENT
SECTION 14, 38, AND 39, TOWNSHIP 12 SOUTH, RANGE 31 EAST, FLAGLER COUNTY,
FLORIDA, SITUATED IN GOVERNMENT SECTIONS 11, 14, 38 AND 39, TOWNSHIP 12 SOUTH,
RANGE 31 EAST, FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA, BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED
AS FOLLOWS:

COMMENCE AT THE INTERSECTION OF THE EAST RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF JOHN
ANDERSON HIGHWAY (STATE ROAD 201) AND THE NORTH LINE OF SAID SECTION 38-12-
31; THENCE SOUTH 71°47°17° WEST, A DISTANCE OF 100.00 FEET TO A POINT ON THE WEST
RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF JOHN ANDERSON HIGHWAY (STATE ROAD 201), ALSO BEING THE
POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE ALONG SAID WEST RIGHT OF WAY LINE THE FOLLOWING
THREE COURSES: SOUTH 18°10°26” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 3,184.36 FEET TO A POINT OF
CURVATURE OF A NON-TANGENT CURVE CONCAVE NORTHEASTERLY HAVING A RADIUS
OF 1,196.28 FEET, A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 22°09°26” AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 459.74 FEET
WHICH BEARS SOUTH 29°14°21” EAST; THENCE SOUTHEASTERLY ALONG THE ARC OF SAID
CURVE A DISTANCE OF 462.62 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 40°21°41” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 776.28
FEET; THENCE DEPARTING SAID WEST RIGHT OF WAY LINE SOUTH 69°18°47” WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 1,433.82 FEET, THENCE NORTH 20°41°22” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 995.98 FEET,
THENCE NORTH 24°04°44” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 1,618.01 FEET; THENCE NORTH 86°17°06”
WEST, A DISTANCE OF 2,604.28 FEET; THENCE NORTH 60°37°10” WEST, A DISTANCE OF
341.50 FEET; THENCE NORTH 43°23°02” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 2,172.87 FEET, THENCE
NORTH 30°47°31” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 1,526.35 FEET; THENCE NORTH 45°31°15” EAST, A
DISTANCE OF 902.38 FEET; THENCE NORTH 40°14°18” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 1,732.75 FEET;
THENCE NORTH 06°10°40” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 189.68 FEET; THENCE NORTH 00°15°33”
WEST, A DISTANCE OF 614.90 FEET; THENCE NORTH 88°32°16” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 257.93
FEET; THENCE NORTH 01°27°08” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 1,087.72 FEET TO A POINT ON THE
SOUTH LINE OF STATE ROAD NO. 100; THENCE ALONG SAID SOUTH RIGHT OF WAY LINE
SOUTH 89°29°03” EAST A DISTANCE OF 959.81 FEET; THENCE DEPARTING SAID SOUTH
RIGHT OF WAY LINE SOUTH 00°30°57” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 210.00 FEET; THENCE SOUTH
89°29°03” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 210.00 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 00°30°57” WEST, A DISTANCE
OF 389.92 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 89°28°38” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 822.42 FEET; THENCE
SOUTH 00°06°48” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 1,704.61 FEET; THENCE NORTH 88°51°12”EAST, A
DISTANCE OF 1,350.55 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 01°10°32” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 660.84 FEET;
THENCE NORTH 88°37°17” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 158.75 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 18°14°40”
EAST, A DISTANCE OF 330.09 FEET; THENCE NORTH 88°50°11” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 330.04
FEET TO A POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF JOHN ANDERSON HIGHWAY
(STATE ROAD 201); THENCE ALONG SAID RIGHT OF WAY LINE SOUTH 18°15°00” EAST, A
DISTANCE OF 1,788.60 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.

LESS AND EXCEPT: THE LAND CONTAINED IN THE QUIT CLAIM DEED TO EAST FLAGLER
MOSQUITO CONTROL DISTRICT RECORDED IN OFFICIAL RECORDS BOOK 1620, PAGE 434,

Page 17 of 21

Page 228 of 391



PUBLIC RECORDS OF FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA. CONTAINING 0.89 ACRES, MORE OR
LESS.

LESS AND EXCEPT: THE LAND CONTAINED IN THE SPECIAL WARRANTY DEED TO
FLAGLER COUNTY RECORDED IN OFFICIAL RECORDS BOOK 1636, PAGE 1694, PUBLIC
RECORDS OF FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA. CONTAINING 81.32 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.

LESS AND EXCEPT: THE LAND CONTAINED IN THE SPECIAL WARRANTY DEED TO
HIGHWAY 100 COMMERCIAL LLC RECORDED IN OFFICIAL RECORDS BOOK 1789, PAGE 750,
PUBLIC RECORDS OF FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA. CONTAINING 18.94 ACRES, MORE OR
LESS.

LESS AND EXCEPT: TRACT PL-2 OF THE VACATED PLAT OF GARDENS AT HAMMOCK
BEACH, ACCORDING TO THE PLAT THEREOF AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 35, PAGES 80
THROUGH 100, PUBLIC RECORDS OF FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA. CONTAINING A TOTAL
OF 13.17 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.

Page 18 of 21

Page 229 of 391



PROPERTY OWNED BY HIGHWAY 100 COMMERCIAL, LLC

A PORTION OF TRACT "FD2", GARDENS AT HAMMOCK BEACH, AS RECORDED IN
MAP BOOK 35, PAGES 80 THROUGH 100 OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF FLAGLER
COUNTY, FLORIDA AND BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

FOR A POINT OF BEGINNING COMMENCE AT THE NORTHWESTERLY CORNER OF
SAID TRACT "FD2", SAID POINT ALSO BEING ON THE SOUTHERLY RIGHT OF WAY
LINE OF STATE ROAD 100 (A 200 FOOT RIGHT OF WAY AS ESTABLISHED); THENCE
SOUTH 89 DEGREES 29 MINUTES 03 SECONDS EAST, ALONG SAID SOUTHERLY
RIGHT OF WAY LINE, A DISTANCE OF 382.15 FEET TO THE INTERSECTION WITH
SOUTHWESTERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF VILLA DRIVE WEST (A VARIABLE
WIDTH PRIVATE RIGHT OF WAY AS ESTABLISHED), SAID POINT BEING THE POINT
OF CURVATURE OF A CURVE CONCAVE SOUTHWESTERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS
OF 35.00 FEET; THENCE ALONG SAID CURVE AND SAID SOUTHWESTERLY RIGHT
OF WAY LINE AN ARC DISTANCE OF 51.49 FEET TO THE POINT OF TANGENCY OF
SAID CURVE, SAID CURVE BEING SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH 41
DEGREES 37 MINUTES 50 SECONDS EAST, AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 46.97 FEET;
THENCE SOUTH 00 DEGREES 30 MINUTES 47 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 29.81
FEET TO THE POINT OF CURVATURE OF A CURVE CONCAVE NORTHEASTERLY
AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 470.00 FEET; THENCE ALONG SAID CURVE AN ARC
DISTANCE OF 578.46 FEET TO THE POINT OF TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE, SAID
CURVE BEING SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH 34 DEGREES 44
MINUTES 45 SECONDS EAST, AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 542.64 FEET; THENCE
SOUTH 70 DEGREES 00 MINUTES 17 SECONDS EAST, A DISTANCE OF 190.75 FEET TO
THE POINT OF CURVATURE OF A CURVE CONCAVE SOUTHWESTERLY AND
HAVING A RADIUS OF 360.00 FEET; THENCE ALONG SAID CURVE AN ARC DISTANCE
OF 364.42 FEET TO THE POINT OF TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE, SAID CURVE BEING
SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH 41 DEGREES 00 MINUTES 17
SECONDS EAST, AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 349.06 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 12
DEGREES 00 MINUTES 17 SECONDS EAST, A DISTANCE OF 170.79 FEET TO THE POINT
OF CURVATURE OF A CURVE CONCAVE WESTERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS OF
260.00 FEET; THENCE ALONG SAID CURVE AN ARC DISTANCE OF 48.62 FEET, SAID
CURVE BEING SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH 06 DEGREES 3B
MINUTES 50 SECONDS EAST AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 48.55 FEET; THENCE
SOUTH 88 DEGREES 37 MINUTES 36 SECONDS WEST DEPARTING THE
AFOREMENTIONED SOUTHWESTERLY RIGHT OF LINE OF VILLA DRIVE WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 471.38 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 88 DEGREES 28 MINUTES 30 SECONDS
WEST, A DISTANCE OF 589.08 FEET; THENCE NORTH 33 DEGREES 37 MINUTES 07
SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 50.65 FEET; THENCE NORTH 38 DEGREES 07
MINUTES 37 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 95.67 FEET TO A POINT ON A
WESTERLY LINE OF THE AFOREMENTIONED TRACT "FD2, GARDENS AT HAMMOCK
BEACH"; THENCE NORTH 01 DEGREES 27 MINUTES 08 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE
OF 968.01 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.

Page 19 of 21

Page 230 of 391



EXHIBIT “B”
APPROVALS

GOVERNMENTAL APPROVALS

Gardens at Hammock Beach Planned Unit Development Agreement effective November
17, 2005 and recorded on May 3, 2006 in Official Records Book 1429, Page 19, Public
Records of Flagler County, Florida.

Interlocal Agreement Water and Wastewater Service Area John Anderson Corridor dated
May 16, 2016 and recorded on May 19, 2016 in Official Records Book 2129, Page 1549,
Public Records of Flagler County, Florida.

Page 20 of 21

Page 231 of 391



EXHIBIT “C”

H 3
o
Moady Blvd N
« v
% -
g
, s
\
Tract Acreages |
1 105.93
2 86.28 X
3 200,38 i
Ll 1996
SA 526
58 23.24
&} J0.86
7 £.06 .
Total (Annexation) | 514,12 "
Tatal 54497 =
breparad by Hovett land Suraying, LLC, dabed October 5, 2000

‘ﬁ% 2
Flract £ is desgnated LOR. Only the speafic tet amendrient .%l
hpolies to Trad: 6. %
Fource: Acreages derved from sketch & legal description ﬁ
N
5

Summertown MDP Map
Jacksanville
[5asre=-ET0 Flagier Cowaty, Eai, mmiag]

Profc Trads

i

-

® — 0 1,500 3,000

. 4

N SA

= 56 Feeat

6 i e ———

= ETM
CRy of Flagler Baach o TS Aevenac 18

Orlando Existing Cily Limis ) e
Propozad Transpariaion 14775 OIS, Augusting Fod, Jackaamwite, Fioriie 1258
Hetwerk 804 5642 5000 WA T80, Com www Bfimine com
Date: F3T2025

i Lyt Ling Sl Simmsrloes LSamamar i, S5

Page 21 of 21

Page 232 of 391



Application No.: PAN25-0002

City of Flagler Beach
PO Box 70 105 South 2" Street
Flagler Beach, Florida 32136
Phone (386) 517-2000. Fax (386) 517-2008

PETITION FOR VOLUNTARY LAND ANNEXATION

PLEASE TYPE OR PRINT THE FOLLOWING INFORMATION:

Veranda Bay Investments, LLC & Highway 100 Commercial, LLC
OWNER’S NAME: PHONE:

SR 100/Colbert Lane & John Anderson Hwy

ADDRESS:

1/We the undersigned state that /We am/are the sole owner(s) of the property described as (Provide Legal Description of Property):
See attached Exhibit "A" legal description

SUBDIVISION LOT BLOCK

Whereas, the land is situated in the County of Flagler and the State of Florida and

Whereas, on information and belief, the above-named property is either partially within or contiguous to the City of Flagler Beach,
Flagler County, Florida, '

Whereas, the property us reasonably compact

Therefore, the undersigned Owner(s) request(s) that the above-described property be annexed to the City of Flagler Beach by the City
Commission of the City of Flagler Beach

Veranda Bay Investments, LLC

pe 2l o g

|

Signature of Owner one (1)

Subscribed and Sworn to (or affirmed) before me by
William G. Allen, Manager

TMs?:O‘ci':y of July 2025 |

Who is personally known to me or has produced
as identification.

i otloz[2e

Commission Number & Expiration

QQ.MLLL&.« ps-E.QJA.D..\HU—A

Notary Public

Signature of Owner two (2)

Subscribed and Sworn to (or affirmed) before me by

This day of ,20 .
Who is personally known to me or has produced
as identification.

Commission Number & Expiration

Notary Public

Petition for Voluntary Land Annexa

o
g, OF AW
Ay

January 02, 2026

TRACEY A. BENAVIDES
otary Public-State of Florida
Commission # HH 190061
My Commission Expires

Created 12/05/2003

Page 233 of 391




Highway 100 Commercial, LLC

Highway 100 Commercial, LLC

Signature of Owner three (3)

Subscribed and Sworn to (or affirmed) before me by

Mary L. Demetree as Trustee of the Mary L. Demetree Revocable Trust,
as Manager of Highway 100 Commercial, LLC

This day of August  op 24
Who is personally known to me ot has produced

as idenlification.

Commission Number & Expiration

Notary Public

\ngh B
Signatuwwnek@;r @

Subscribed and Swom to (or affirmed) before me by

Michelle Chira, as Trustee of the Michelle Chira Revocable Trust, as
Manager of Highway 100 Commercial, LLC

This | 3thday of August 2024
Who is personally Jenown to me ot has produced
as identification.

HaA2aq042. EXF o=2.05.258
Commpaission Number & Expiration

Petition for Voluntary Land Annexation

Notéry Bublic
A

Notary Public State of Florida
Dawn Harris

Py
et

My Commission HH 489042
Expires 2/5/2028

Created 12/09/2003

Page 234 of 391




nghwayj 0,Commercial, LL!
4 [ ] A

Highway 100 Commercial, LLC

Signature of Owney/thre @)

Subscribed and $Wworn to (or affirmed) before me by

Mary L. Demelree as Trustee of the Mary L. Demetree Revocable Trust,

as Manager of Highway 100 Commercial, LLC

This 20"y of August _ 90 24

Who ig @L&m&& has produced
_as idenlification.
# Hit 567098 J,Q
ati

Commission Number & Expi

Wryl’ubhc . o

Signature of Owner four (4)

Subscribed and Sworn to (ot affirmed) before me by

Michelle Chira, as Trustee of the Michelle Chira Revocable Trust, as

Manager of Highway 100 Commercial, LLC

This____ day of August 9024

Who is personally Jonown to me or - or has produced

as identification,

Commission Number & Bxpiration

Notary Public

\v',:;g,, JESSICA SANTOLI
3 2 Notary Public-State of Florida
Q;: Commission # HH 567098

? &S My Commission Expires
i July 01, 2028

%z

Petition for Voluntary Land Annexation

Created 12/09/2003

Page 235 of 391



OWNER AUTHORIZATION FORM

An authorized applicant is defined as:
+  The property owner of record; or
+  An agent of said property owner (power of attorney to represent and bind the property owner must be submitted with
the application); or
+ Contract purchase (a copy of a fully executed sales contract must be submitted with the application containing a clause
or clauses allowing an application to be filed).

Veranda Bay Investments, LLC &

I Palm Coast Intracoastal, LLC , the owner of record for the following described
property [Parcel D Number(s)] See attached Exhibit "B" parcel ID Numbers hereby designates
Michael D. Chiumento 11}, -Esqg. to act as my authorized agent for the filing of the attached
application(s) for:

O Alcohol License O Arbor Permit O Construction Revision O Final Engineering

[ Final Plat \? Future Land Use Amendment | [J Lot Split/Reconfiguration | [J Minor Plat

O Preliminary Subdivision Plan VRezone O site Plan O Special Event

[0 Special Exception O Temporary Use Permit O vacate O Variance

OTHER: Petition for Annexation

and make binding statements and commitments regarding the request(s). I certify that 1 have examined the attached
application(s) and that all statements and diagrams submitted are true and accurate to the best of my knowledge. Further, I
understand that this application, attachments, and fees become part of the Official Records of Seminole County, Florida and

are not returnable.

1-30-28 e

Date Property Owner’s Signature

William G. Allen, as Manager of Palm Coast Intracoastal, LLC

M 2 3%/_‘ Property Owner’s Printed Name

William G. Allen, as Manager of Veranda Bay Investments, LLC

STATE OF FLORIDA
COUNTY OF

SWORN TO AND SUBSCRIBED before me, an officer duly authorized in the State of Florida to take
acknowledgements, appeared Wi amn 9. Allers > (ilhiam 9. f(lens e, (property owner),

.,B’Ey means of physical presence or [J online notarization; and mo is personally known to me or [J who has produced
as identification, and who executed the foregoing instrument and
sworn an oath on this O™ day of Su e ,2025

O?W A. Ronauidos

X

ACEY A. BENAVIDES x
Iniar? Public-State of Florida Notary Public
Comrmission # HH 190061

My Commission Expires
January 02, 2026

Page 236 of 391



CITY OF FLAGLER BEACH
BUILDING AND PLANNING DEPARTMENT

GENERAL APPLICATION
() FinalSite Plan () Preliminary Plat
D Master Site Plan 0O Final Plat
D Site Development Plan(s) () Plat Vacating
() Rezoning 0 Subdivision Master Plan
D Comprehensive Plan Amendment D Non-statutory Land Division/Parcel Reconfiguration
D Future Land Use Map Amendment D Site Plan Modification (Post approval)
() Sspecial Exception () Development Order Modification
D Variance D Wireless Communication Facility (new structure)

Application Submittal Date:

Fee Paid: $ . Date Received:

Employee Accepting Application (print name):

Rejected Date: . Rejected by:

Reason for Rejection:

A. PROJECT NAME: _Summertown

B. LOCATION OF SUBJECT PROPERTY (PHYSICAL ADDRESS):

C. PROPERTY APPRAISER'S PARCEL ID NUMBER(s): __Se€ attached Exhibit "B" parcel ID Numbers

D. LEGAL DESCRIPTION: Subdivision Name;
See attached Exhibit "A" legal description

Section; Block(s); Lot(s);

E. SUBJECT PROPERTY ACRES / SQUARE FOOTAGE: 514.06 acres

F. FUTURE LAND USE MAP DESiGNaTIoN? ‘Sriculture/Timberands - - oning pistricr;_PUP

OVERLAY DISTRICT:

G. FLOOD ZONE: FEMA COMMUNITY PANEL NUMBER: DATE:

H. CURRENT USE OF PROPERTY: _vacant

|. DESCRIPTION OF REQUEST/PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT (ATTACH ADDITIONAL SHEETS)

J. PROPOSED NUMBER OF LOTS (If Applicable): Development Phasing:  Yes(CJ no (O

11.22.21 GENERAL APPLICATION Page 1 of2

Page 237 of 391



CITY OF FLAGLER BEACH
BUILDING AND PLANNING DEPARTMENT

K. LIST BELOW ANY APPLICATIONS CURRENTLY UNDER REVIEW OR RECENTLY APPROVED ASSOCIATED WITH THIS

APPLICATION:

L. WATER/SEWER PROVIDER:

M. EXISTING MORTGAGE?  Yes(J No(D)
OWNER: APPLICANT/AGENT!
Name: Veranda Bay Investments, LLC Name: Michael D. Chiumento |ll, Esq.
Mailing Address: 5150 Tamiami Trail N, Ste 504 Mailing Address: 145 City Place, Suite 301, Palm Coast FL
Phone Number: Napies, FL 34103 Phone Number: 386-445-8900
E-mail Address: :‘e’;b:i’;h:@;;ahm - E-mail Address: Michael3@legalteamforlife.com
MORTGAGE HOLDER: ENGINEER OR PROFESSIONAL:
Name: Name: Lindsay Haga, England-Thims & Miller, Inc.
Mailing Address: Mailing Address:
Phone Number: Phone Number: 904-376-6296
E-mail Address: E-mail Address: Hagal@etminc.com
SURVEYOR: LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT:
Name: Name:
Mailing Address: Mailing Address:
Phone Number: Phone Number:
E-mail Address: E-mail Address:
PLANNER: TRAFFIC ENGINEER:
Name: Name:
Mailing Address: Mailing Address:
Phone Number: Phone Number:
E-mail Address: E-mail Address:
ATTORNEY OF RECORD: DEVELOPER:
Name: Michael D. Chiumento IIl, Esq. Name:
Mailing Address: 145 City Place, Suite 301, Palm CoagYpiiing Address:
Phone Number: 386-445-8900 Phone Number:
E-mail Address: Ve eamioriite.com E-mail Address:

| HEREBY CERTIFY THAT ALL INFORMATION ON THIS APPLICATION IS CORRECT:

Signature of owner OR person authorized to represent this application:

Signature(s):
William G-Allen, as Manager of Veranda Bay Investments, LLC

Printed or typed name(s):

The foregoing instrument was acknow@‘ﬁ%cri“ b&fo/l;ﬁlrenne %!-.'Rfaaﬂ'é of r_OP{IIVSiC?i' rence of online notarization
this §_Q"_“'day of, July 2025 by ) ' ge Sfinea bay nvemmallslnGmitted

by _w~Personal Knowledge ___Satisfactory Evidence: Type

QQ_JLQ.LALA_;‘ IQ . BD L0\ 0\ LQ./\ (SEAL)
Signature of Notary Public, State of Florida
TRACEY A. BENAVIDES
11.22.21 2 Notary Public-State of Florida GENERAL APPLICATION page 2 of 2

:5 Commission # HH 1300861
My Commission Expires
January 02, 2026

Page 238 of 391



EXHIBIT "A"

SUMMERTOWN

PROPERTY OWNED BY VERANDA BAY INVESTMENTS, LLC

LEGAL DESCRIPTION
ANNEXATION

A PORTION OF LOTS 1, 3, 7, 8 AND 9, AND ALL OF LOTS 4, 10, 11 AND 12, BLOCK C, BUNNELL
DEVELOPMENT COMPANY’S LAND AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 1, PAGE 1, IN THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF
FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA, TOGETHER WITH A PORTION OF GOVERNMENT SECTION 14, 38, AND 39,
TOWNSHIP 12 SOUTH, RANGE 31 EAST, FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA, SITUATED IN GOVERNMENT
SECTIONS 11, 14, 38 AND 39, TOWNSHIP 12 SOUTH, RANGE 31 EAST, FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA, BEING
MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

COMMENCE AT THE INTERSECTION OF THE EAST RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF JOHN ANDERSON HIGHWAY
(STATE ROAD 201) AND THE NORTH LINE OF SAID SECTION 38-12-31; THENCE SOUTH 71°47°17” WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 100.00 FEET TO A POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF JOHN ANDERSON HIGHWAY
(STATE ROAD 201), ALSO BEING THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE ALONG SAID WEST RIGHT OF WAY
LINE THE FOLLOWING THREE COURSES: SOUTH 18°10°26” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 3,184.36 FEET TO A POINT
OF CURVATURE OF A NON-TANGENT CURVE CONCAVE NORTHEASTERLY HAVING A RADIUS OF 1,196.28
FEET, A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 22°09'26” AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 459.74 FEET WHICH BEARS SOUTH
29°14’21” EAST; THENCE SOUTHEASTERLY ALONG THE ARC OF SAID CURVE A DISTANCE OF 462.62 FEET;
THENCE SOUTH 40°21°41” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 776.28 FEET; THENCE DEPARTING SAID WEST RIGHT OF
WAY LINE SOUTH 69°18’47” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 1,433.82 FEET, THENCE NORTH 20°41'22” WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 995.98 FEET, THENCE NORTH 24°04’44” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 1,618.01 FEET; THENCE
NORTH 86°17°06” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 2,604.28 FEET; THENCE NORTH 60°37°10” WEST, A DISTANCE OF
341.50 FEET; THENCE NORTH 43°23'02” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 2,172.87 FEET, THENCE NORTH 30°47°31”
EAST, A DISTANCE OF 1,526.35 FEET; THENCE NORTH 45°31°15” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 902.38 FEET;
THENCE NORTH 40°14’18” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 1,732.75 FEET; THENCE NORTH 06°10'40” WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 189.68 FEET; THENCE NORTH 00°15’33” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 614.90 FEET; THENCE NORTH
88°32’16” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 257.93 FEET; THENCE NORTH 01°27°08” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 1,087.72
FEET TO A POINT ON THE SOUTH LINE OF STATE ROAD NO. 100; THENCE ALONG SAID SOUTH RIGHT OF
WAY LINE SOUTH 89°29'03” EAST A DISTANCE OF 959.81 FEET; THENCE DEPARTING SAID SOUTH RIGHT
OF WAY LINE SOUTH 00°30’57” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 210.00 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 89°29’03” EAST, A
DISTANCE OF 210.00 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 00°30’57” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 389.92 FEET; THENCE SOUTH
89°28’38” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 822.42 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 00°06°48” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 1,704.61
FEET; THENCE NORTH 88°51'12”EAST, A DISTANCE OF 1,350.55 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 01°10°32” EAST, A
DISTANCE OF 660.84 FEET; THENCE NORTH 88°37°17” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 158.75 FEET; THENCE SOUTH
18°14’40” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 330.09 FEET; THENCE NORTH 88°50°11” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 330.04
FEET TO A POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF JOHN ANDERSON HIGHWAY (STATE ROAD 201);
THENCE ALONG SAID RIGHT OF WAY LINE SOUTH 18°15’00” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 1,788.60 FEET TO THE
POINT OF BEGINNING.

Page 10of 2

Page 239 of 391



LESS AND EXCEPT: THE LAND CONTAINED IN THE QUIT CLAIM DEED TO EAST FLAGLER MOSQUITO
CONTROL DISTRICT RECORDED IN OFFICIAL RECORDS BOOK 1620, PAGE 434, PUBLIC RECORDS OF
FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA. CONTAINING 0.89 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.

LESS AND EXCEPT: THE LAND CONTAINED IN THE SPECIAL WARRANTY DEED TO FLAGLER COUNTY
RECORDED IN OFFICIAL RECORDS BOOK 1636, PAGE 1694, PUBLIC RECORDS OF FLAGLER COUNTY,
FLORIDA. CONTAINING 81.32 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.

LESS AND EXCEPT: THE LAND CONTAINED IN THE SPECIAL WARRANTY DEED TO HIGHWAY 100
COMMERCIAL LLC RECORDED IN OFFICIAL RECORDS BOOK 1789, PAGE 750, PUBLIC RECORDS OF FLAGLER
COUNTY, FLORIDA. CONTAINING 18.94 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.

LESS AND EXCEPT: TRACT PL-2 OF THE VACATED PLAT OF GARDENS AT HAMMOCK BEACH, ACCORDING
TO THE PLAT THEREOF AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 35, PAGES 80 THROUGH 100, PUBLIC RECORDS OF
FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA. CONTAINING A TOTAL OF 13.17 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.

Page 2 of 2

Page 240 of 391



SUMMERTOWN
PROPERTY OWNED BY HIGHWAY 100 COMMERCIAL, LLC

LEGAL DESCRIPTION
ANNEXATION

A PORTION OF TRACT "FD2", GARDENS AT HAMMOCK BEACH, AS RECORDED IN MAP BOOK 35,
PAGES 80 THROUGH 100 OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA AND BEING
MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

FOR A POINT OF BEGINNING COMMENCE AT THE NORTHWESTERLY CORNER OF SAID TRACT
"FD2", SAID POINT ALSO BEING ON THE SOUTHERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF STATE ROAD 100 (A
200 FOOT RIGHT OF WAY AS ESTABLISHED); THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 29 MINUTES 03
SECONDS EAST, ALONG SAID SOUTHERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE, A DISTANCE OF 382.15 FEET TO
THE INTERSECTION WITH SOUTHWESTERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF VILLA DRIVE WEST (A
VARIABLE WIDTH PRIVATE RIGHT OF WAY AS ESTABLISHED), SAID POINT BEING THE POINT OF
CURVATURE OF A CURVE CONCAVE SOUTHWESTERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 35.00 FEET;
THENCE ALONG SAID CURVE AND SAID SOUTHWESTERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE AN ARC DISTANCE
OF 51.49 FEET TO THE POINT OF TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE, SAID CURVE BEING SUBTENDED BY
A CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH 41 DEGREES 37 MINUTES 50 SECONDS EAST, AND A CHORD
DISTANCE OF 46.97 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 00 DEGREES 30 MINUTES 47 SECONDS WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 29.81 FEET TO THE POINT OF CURVATURE OF A CURVE CONCAVE NORTHEASTERLY
AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 470.00 FEET; THENCE ALONG SAID CURVE AN ARC DISTANCE OF
578.46 FEET TO THE POINT OF TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE, SAID CURVE BEING SUBTENDED BY A
CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH 34 DEGREES 44 MINUTES 45 SECONDS EAST, AND A CHORD
DISTANCE OF 542.64 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 70 DEGREES 00 MINUTES 17 SECONDS EAST, A
DISTANCE OF 190.75 FEET TO THE POINT OF CURVATURE OF A CURVE CONCAVE
SOUTHWESTERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 360.00 FEET; THENCE ALONG SAID CURVE AN ARC
DISTANCE OF 364.42 FEET TO THE POINT OF TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE, SAID CURVE BEING
SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH 41 DEGREES 00 MINUTES 17 SECONDS EAST, AND
A CHORD DISTANCE OF 349.06 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 12 DEGREES 00 MINUTES 17 SECONDS EAST,
A DISTANCE OF 170.79 FEET TO THE POINT OF CURVATURE OF A CURVE CONCAVE WESTERLY
AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 260.00 FEET; THENCE ALONG SAID CURVE AN ARC DISTANCE OF 48.62
FEET, SAID CURVE BEING SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH 06 DEGREES 3B MINUTES
50 SECONDS EAST AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 48.55 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 88 DEGREES 37
MINUTES 36 SECONDS WEST DEPARTING THE AFOREMENTIONED SOUTHWESTERLY RIGHT OF
LINE OF VILLA DRIVE WEST, A DISTANCE OF 471.38 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 88 DEGREES 28
MINUTES 30 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 589.08 FEET; THENCE NORTH 33 DEGREES 37
MINUTES 07 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 50.65 FEET; THENCE NORTH 38 DEGREES 07
MINUTES 37 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 95.67 FEET TO A POINT ON A WESTERLY LINE OF
THE AFOREMENTIONED TRACT "FD2, GARDENS AT HAMMOCK BEACH"; THENCE NORTH 01
DEGREES 27 MINUTES 08 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 968.01 FEET TO THE POINT OF
BEGINNING.

Page 241 of 391



EXHIBIT “B”

OWNER PROPERTY ACREAGE
Highway 100 Commercial LLC 13-12-31-2850-0FD20-0030 15.94
Veranda Bay Investments LLC West Side of John Anderson 13-12-31-0000-01010-0000 495.12
TOTAL ACREAGE 514.06

Page 242 of 391



Staff Report

Planning & Architectural Review Board Regular
Meeting

T CENTENNIAL

~—
October 7, 2025
To: Planning & Architectural Review Board
From: Lupita McClenning, Planner
Meeting Date: October 7, 2025
Item Name: PFLUMA25-0002 ORDINANCE 2025-25 (Summertown): AN

ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF FLAGLER
BEACH, FLORIDA, AMENDING THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN FUTURE
LAND USE MAP DESIGNATION FOR APPROXIMATELY 544.97 ACRES OF
CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY; WITH ACCOMPANYING TEXT POLICY
AMENDMENT TO VOLUNTARILY LIMIT DEVELOPMENT TO A
MAXIMUM 1,640 RESIDENTIAL UNITS, A MAXIMUM OF 640,000
SQUARE FEET OF NON-RESIDENTIAL USES AND A MAXIMUM OF 250
HOTEL ROOMS, PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR
CONFLICTS; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE.

Background:

The applicant requests to amend the future land use map designation for property located
within the City of Agriculture, Conservation, and Mixed Use: High-Intensity (Flagler County
Designations), and Low and Medium Density (City of Flagler Beach Designations) to Low Density
Residential and Commercial (City of Flagler Beach Designations); and a text amendment to
voluntarily limit development to maximum of 1,640 residential units, a maximum of 640,000
square feet of nonresidential uses and a maximum of 250 hotel rooms. Land uses permitted
within the Low Density Residential and Commercial Future Land Use designation shall be
allowed as permitted in the City Comprehensive Plan and Land Development Regulations (July
2025). Changes to the Development Plan may be permitted providing the net new external trips
(PM peak hour) do not increase.

Fiscal Impact:
N/A

Staff Recommendation:

Staff recommends that the Planning and Architectural Review Board (PARB) find the Large-Scale
Future Land Use Amendment (FLUM) map and Text Amendment consistent with the
Comprehensive Plan and SB 180, and to recommend to the City Commission to approve the
Future Land Use Map amendment from unincorporated land use designations to the City of

Page 243 of 391



Flagler Beach land use designations of Low Density Residential and General Commercial; and
recommend to the City Commission to approve the limiting site specific policy text amendment.

Attachments:

1. Large Scale Future Land Use (FLUM) Amendment_Analysis Findings Summertown_FINAL
2. Ordinance Comp Plan Amendment_Summertown_FINAL DRAFT

3. ST_Application for Comp Plan for submittal

Page 244 of 391



SUMMERTOWN DEVELOPMENT
FINDINGS REPORT

Large-Scale
Future Land Use Amendment

Prepared by

Lupita McClenning, City Planner
City of Flagler Beach, FL
Imcclenning@cityoftflaglerbeach.com

Page 245 of 391


mailto:lmcclenning@cityofflaglerbeach.com

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.  APPLICATION INFORMATION .....cccoiiiiiiiiiiieiieeee ettt 4
1.1 JULISAICHION ..ttt e e e et e e a e e e eae e enseessneeens 4
1.2 APPIICANT ...ttt ettt e ta e nae e 4
1.3 INEEIE ..t 4
2. PROJECT DESCRIPTION .....ccociiiiiiiiieiieeie ettt ettt ettt et ssae s eseae e 5
2.1 Summary and Background..............ccceveviiieiiiieiiieceeee e 5
3. PARCEL DATA ...ttt ettt ettt ettt st e s sbeesseesasaesnaeenne 5
3.1 S1Z€ OF PTOPETLY ... vviiieiiectiee ettt e e e e e e enaeas 5
3.2 General LOCAtION. ......cccuieiiieiiecie ettt et et e e 5
33 Access and FTONTAZE ........coovvieiiiiieeiceceeee et 5
4. LAND USE INFORMATION .....oooiiiiiiiiieiiienite ettt esiee et seesaeessneseveessnesnseens 6
4.1 Aerial Photograph ........c.oooiiiiiiiiie e 6
4.2 BUilt FEAtUIES ....cuviiiieiiiciiece ettt 6
43 Current Zoning DeSiZNation ............cccueereeriieiiieniieiie et 6
4.4 Proposed Master Planned Development (MPD).........ccccoevevieiiiiniienieniecieeee, 7
5. BASIC DATA ...ttt ettt ettt ettt e e stesse e e e saenseenseense e 7
5.1 City of Flagler Beach Population.............cccceevieeiieniiiniiienieciecie e 7
5.2 Proposed Population SUMMErtOWn...........cocueeriieiieniieiierie e 7
53 Total Projected Population............ccceevieiieiiiiniieeiieie e 8
54 Proposed Non-Residential (Commercial) Square Footage...........cccceveeeeenneee. 8
5.5 Open Space, Buffers and Recreation .............ccceeecvieriieeiienieeiieenieeieeeee e 8
6. CONSISTENCY AND COMPATIBILITY ANALYSIS....cooiiieieeeeeeeeeee 8
6.1 Land Use Compatibility ........cccoviieiiiieiiiieciieeceeeiee et 8
6.2 Surrounding Zoning Designations: ...........ceoeevereenieriineenenieneeee e 8
7. PUBLIC FACILITIES / IMPACT ANALYSIS ....oooiiiieeeeeee e 9
7.1 Potable Water Data and Analysis ........ccoceevieriieiienieeiecee e 9
7.1.2  Residential Potable Water Demand ............cccceevviviiniieiniiiiiece e, 9
7.1.3  Non-Residential Potable Water Demand..............ccccoiiiiiiiniiiiiiniicceiees 9
7.1.4  Findings Residential and Non-Residential Potable Water.............ccccevuneeeee. 10
7.2 Wastewater Data and ANalysis ........coceevieriiinieiiiiiieeee e 10
7.2.1  Residential Wastewater Demand ...........ccccoeeveeviiiieniiiieniieeiecee e 10
7.2.2  Non-Residential Wastewater Demand..............ccccoeviiiiiiiiinniiiiiiieeeee 11
7.2.3  Findings Residential and Non-Residential Wastewater.............cccceeveerueennne. 11
7.3 Solid Waste Data and ANalysSis.........cceccueeriieriieiiieniieiieeie e 11
7.3.1  Solid Waste Demand.............ccceecuireiiieeiieeeieeeiie et 11
7.3.2  Solid Waste Demand Residential.............ccceeviirniiniiiiniiiiieieeicee e 11
7.3.3  Solid Waste Demand Non-Residential ..............cccoevcuiieniiiiiniieiniieciee e 12
7.4 Stormwater Management ............c.eeeruieerieeeriiieeiee ettt e s 12
7.4.1  Stormwater FINAINGS ......ccveeeiiiieiiieeiieeeccecee et 12
7.5 Transportation IMPACES .......cc.eeviiiiiieiiieiieie e 12
7.5.1 Roadway Segments and Intersections Within the Study Area........................ 13

Page 246 of 391



7.5.2  Pertinent Developments Included in Transportation Study..........ccccveevnennnee. 13

7.5.3  Findings Transportation Modifications/Improvements Required................... 13
7.6 SChOOIS IMPACT......oiiiiiiieiiiece e 14
7.6.1  MeEthOAOLOZY ...ecovvieniieiiieiiecie ettt ettt et e e ssae b e nnee e 14
7.6.2 2024 FC School Board Student Generation Rate Analysis ...........ccceeveuveennee. 14
7.7 PUDIIC SAfRLY ...t 14
7.8 Economic Impact Data and Analysis.........cccceeeueeeriieeniieeniie e 15
8. Undeveloped Lands and Cultural, Historical, and Natural Resources.................. 15
8.1 N Te3 1 Y o TSR 15
8.1.2  TopOZraphy MaP......ccceeeuieiiiiiieiieeie ettt ettt e e s et e s e enreenenes 15
8.1.3  Habitat UPlands .........ccccuiieeiiieeiieeciie ettt 15
B. L4 WELLANAS ..eeeiiieiieceeeeee e st 16
8.1.5  SUITACE WALETS ....eeeiiiiieciie ettt e sab e e eeeaaeeennneas 17
8.1.6  Wildlife ODSEIrVAtIONS ......eevuieeiieiiieiieiie ettt ettt sreesiee e e e 17
8.1.7  Protected SPECIES ...cuviieiiieciieeeiee ettt e e eaeeas 17
8.1.8  Findings GOPhEr TOTtOISE ......ccvverurieiieriieeiieiieeieesiie et eeiee e eseneeveeseeeereesenes 18
8.1.9 List of Species ObSErved .......ccuvieciiieiiiieeiieeeiie et 18
8.1.10 Findings of Species ObSEIved.........cccveriiriiieriieiienieeieecieeieeseee e 18
9.  CONSISTENCY WITH CITY OF FLAGLER BEACH COMPREHENSIVE
PLAN ettt ettt ettt et b ettt sa e e a e a et 19
9.1 PUDBIIC FACIIITIES. . cccviiieiiie et e e 19
9.1.2  Findings Public FacCilities.........ccceevuiiriiiriiieiieeiieieeeie e 20
9.2 Future Land Use Element ............cccvieeiiiiiiiiiiiiiceeeeee e 20
9.2.1  Findings Future Land Use Element .............cccccoeviiniieniiiciieniecicecee e 21
9.3.1  Findings Housing Element.............cccccoiiiiiiiiiiiiiie e 21
9.4 Public Facilities EICMENt ..........cc.ccouieiiieiiieeiieiecie et 21
9.4.1 Findings Public Facilities Element .............cccoccoeviiiiiiiiiiiiieiicee e 21

Page 247 of 391



1.1

1.2

1.3

APPLICATION INFORMATION

Jurisdiction

City of Flagler Beach
Summertown Development

Applicant

Michael D. Chiumento, Esq

45 City PI, Suite 301

Palm Coast, FL 32164

on behalf of Summertown, LLC; Palm Coast Intracoastal, LLC; and Highway 100
Commercial, LLC

Intent

The intent is to develop the property into Low Density Residential, General Commercial
including a mix of residential, supporting retail, and maximum of 250 hotel rooms over a
multiphase period with an anticipated 2045 buildout. Approximately 30 acres (Tract 6) are within
the City of Flagler Beach and designated Medium Density Residential. Together this represents
about 544 acres subject to the map amendment and site- specific text amendment.

The applicant proposes to amend the Future Land Use (FLUM) map for approximately
+/- 545 acres of Flagler County land use designations of Agriculture, Conservation, and
Mixed-Use High Intensity and Low and Medium Density (Flagler Beach designations) to
the Low Density Residential (LDR), and General Commercial (GC) City of Flagler
Beach designations.

The FLUM amendment includes a planning analysis which considers the character of
undeveloped lands, the availability of, and the impacts to the City’s facilities and
services; an analysis of the soils, topography, natural resources, and historic resources on
site, and analysis of the minimum amount of land needed to achieve goals and
requirements.

A voluntary companion site specific text amendment outlines the maximum development
threshold for the Summertown Project:

Policy A.1.1.3.H — Development of the Property shall be limited to a maximum of 1,640
residential units, a maximum of 840,000 square feet of nonresidential uses and a
maximum of 250 hotel rooms. Land uses permitted within the Low Density Residential
and Commercial Future Land Use designation shall be allowed as permitted in the City
Comprehensive Plan and Land Development Regulations (July 2025). Changes to the
Development Plan may be permitted providing the net new external trips (PM peak hour)
do not increase as certified by the Developer’s traffic engineer.

Page 248 of 391



2. PROJECT DESCRIPTION

21 Summary and Background

A mixed-use residential development is currently under development on +/-160.99 acres.
The remainder of the property is vacant and undeveloped.

In 2005 a Master Development Agreement (MDA) was approved for a Planned
Development (PUD) in Flagler County for a mixed-use development of approximately
1,999 acres known as Hammock Beach River Club PUD.

The 2005 MDA approved 453 residential units (including 150 of the 453 as multi-family
residential units); 230,694 SQ FT of commercial/retail/office; accessory and recreational
uses, ancillary amenities and facilities; an 18-hole golf course; dedicated utility site; a
dedicated public boat ramp site; and a dedicated fire station site. As part of the FLUM
and MDA agreement, approximately 1,100 acres were transferred to Flagler County as
environmental/conservation lands.

The current development proposal being considered on the 545+/- acres is as follows:

Project 899.09 +/- Acres
Residential Units 1,640 units (3units/ac)
Commercial Density 840,000,000 ft
Open Space (40%) Forty percent (40%)

3. PARCEL DATA

31 Size of Property

The site is approximately 545 +/- acres

3.2 General Location

The City of Flagler Beach is located in southern Flagler County and covers
approximately 3.8 square miles (2,420 acres) in area.

The subject property is in unincorporated Flagler County, located east and west of John
Anderson Highway and south State Road 100.

The site is bordered to the north by State Road 100 (a major arterial road); to the east by
the boundaries of the City of Flagler Beach; to the south by the boundaries of
unincorporated Flagler County; and to the west by the boundaries of unincorporated
Flagler County.

3.3 Access and Frontage

The development is on the west side John Anderson Highway, and access will be
provided on John Anderson Highway and via SR 100 (Moody Blvd) at Colbert Lane as a
new fourth leg approach of a signalized intersection.

Page 249 of 391



Access to Summertown East is from John Anderson Highway.

4. LAND USE INFORMATION

4.1 Aerial Photograph

BULOW GRANT
1

BULOW GRANT
2

4.2 Built Features

Approximately 160.99 +/- acres are currently under development with roads, water,
sewer, reuse (purple pipe) and model home sites. Approximately 738.1 +/- acres of the
property is undeveloped.

4.3 Current Zoning Designation

According to Flagler County’s Zoning, the current zoning designation of the subject
property is Planned Unit Development (PUD).

The purpose and intent of the PUD is to provide an opportunity for innovative urban
design techniques, improved use of land, protection of valuable natural features in the
community, desirable land use mis, open space, and more economical public services.

Page 250 of 391



The purpose and intent of the planned unit development is to encourage the unified
development of large tracts of land using creative and flexible concepts in site planning
than would otherwise be possible through the strict application of minimum and
maximum requirements of conventional land use districts established.

Proposed PUD’s must be in harmony with the county’s comprehensive plan. The design
and construction shall follow a carefully devised plan of development which must be
prepared in accordance with requirements, procedures, and approvals.

44 Proposed Master Planned Development (MPD)

The City of Flagler Beach Master Planned Development (MPD) district is established and
intended to encourage innovative land planning and site design concepts that support a
high quality of life and achieve a high quality of development, environmental sensitivity,
energy efficiency, and other City goals and objectives by:

1. Reducing or diminishing the inflexibility or uniform design that sometimes results

from strict application of zoning and development standards designed primarily for
individual lots;

2. Allowing greater freedom in selecting the means of providing access, open space,
and design amenities;

3. Allowing greater freedom in providing a well-integrated mix of residential and
nonresidential land uses in the same development, including a mix of housing types,
lot sizes, and densities;

4. Providing for efficient use of land resulting in smaller networks of utilities and
streets and thereby lowering development and housing costs; or

5. Promoting quality design and environmentally sensitive development that respects
surrounding established land use characteristics and respects and takes advantage of
a site’s natural and man-made features.

5. BASIC DATA

5.1 City of Flagler Beach Population

According to the 2024 American Community Survey (ACS) of the U.S. Census, the City
of Flagler Beach has a population of approximately 5,667, a 9.8% increase from the 2020
Census. Source: ACS, May 2024

The effects on population provided in the following section.

5.2 Proposed Population Summertown

The analysis takes into consideration the current population of the City of Flagler Beach
plus the number of proposed units in the Master Planned Development of 377 single and
multi-family residential units on 545 acres.

Proposed MDA Population City of Flagler Beach = 2.08 persons/DU’s *1640 DU’s =
3411 persons

Page 251 of 391



Source:
https.//www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/flaglerbeachcityflorida,.flaglercountyflorida/PST045223

5.3 Total Projected Population
Existing City of Flagler Beach + Proposed Summertown Population = 9078 persons

54 Proposed Non-Residential (Commercial) Square Footage

The analysis takes into consideration the proposed non-residential development of
840,000 SQ FT.

5.5 Open Space, Buffers and Recreation

In addition to the 1,100 acres of conservation lands transferred to Flagler County, the
development proposes 90.42 acres of conservation; 45.06 acres of landscape/wetland
buffers; 64.47 acres of open space; and 6.72 acres of recreation; total of 206.67 acres;
plus 153 acres of dedicated waterfront.

6. CONSISTENCY AND COMPATIBILITY ANALYSIS

6.1 Land Use Compatibility

Surrounding Future Land Use Designations:

North: Mixed Use (City of Palm Coast designation); Medium Density, Commercial,
Other Public Facilities, Mixed Use, Low Density (City of Flagler Beach
designations); Agriculture, Conservation (Flagler County designations).

South: Agriculture, and Conservation (Flagler County designations).
East: Salt Water Marsh (City of Flagler Beach designation).

West: Agriculture, Conservation, and Mixed-Use High Intensity (Flagler County
designations).

The proposed amendment is consistent with the surrounding land use designations.

6.2 Surrounding Zoning Designations:

North: Commercial, Multifamily Residential, and Public/Semipublic (City of Palm Coast
designations); Highway Commercial, Medium Density Residential, Single Family
Residential, Light Industrial, and General Commercial (City of Flagler Beach
designations); and Agricultural and Rural Residential (Flagler County designations).
South: Planned Unit Development (Flagler County designation).

East: Conservation, and Preservation (City of Flagler Beach designations).

West: Planned Unit Development, General Commercial & Shopping Center, and
Agricultural (Flagler County designations

The proposed MPD zoning amendment is consistent with the surrounding zoning
designations.

Page 252 of 391


https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/flaglerbeachcityflorida,flaglercountyflorida/PST045223

7. PUBLIC FACILITIES / IMPACT ANALYSIS

In January 2007, the City of Flagler Beach, Flagler County, the City of Palm Coast, and
a private developer entered into a stipulated settlement agreement that delineated the
water and wastewater services areas for each utility provider.

The City has taken action to expand the capacity of its potable water, wastewater, and
reuse water utility services and represents that adequate public facilities and services exist
and/or to exist to serve the subject property at its full build out 2035.

71 Potable Water Data and Analysis

The City of Flagler Beach is the only potable water supplier within its municipal limit.
The city is financially responsible for the maintenance and improvements to the potable
water system within its service area.

The potable water demand is calculated by summing the estimates from residential and
non-residential calculations.

7.1.2 Residential Potable Water Demand
City of Flagler Beach Existing Residential Potable Water Demand

The residential potable water demand is estimated by multiplying the existing population
served by 125 gallons per capita per day (GPCD).

Existing potable water demand = population served * 125 GPCD
City of FB Population = 3,576 units * 2.08 persons per unit = 7,438
Existing Potable Water Demand = 7,438 persons * 125 GPCD
Existing Potable Water Demand = 929,750 GPD

Summertown Proposed Residential Potable Water Demand

The residential proposed water demand is estimated by multiplying the proposed
population by 125 gallons per capita per day (GPCD).

Proposed potable water demand = population served * 125 GPCD
Population = 1640 units * 2.08 persons per unit = 3411
Proposed potable water demand = 3411 persons * 125 GPCD
Proposed potable water demand = 426,375 GPD

Total Existing + Proposed Projected Potable Water Demand
Total projected potable water demand = total population served * 125GPCD
Total Projected Potable Water Demand = 10,849 persons * 125 GPCD
Total Projected Potable Water Demand = 1356,125 GPD

7.1.3 Non-Residential Potable Water Demand
City of Flagler Beach Existing Non-Potable Water Demand

Page 253 of 391



The non-residential potable water demand is calculated at a rate of 2,000 gallons per
acre per day. The City currently has 13.41% of its land use zoned non-residential, or 324
acres with an average General Commercial impervious surface of 75% or 243 acres.

The non-residential wastewater demand is calculated as follows:
Existing non-residential potable water demand = number of acres * 2000 GPD
Existing wastewater demand = 243 acres * 2000 GPD

Existing non-residential demand = 486,000 GPD

Summertown Proposed Non-Residential Water Demand

The proposed non-residential potable water demand for Summertown is estimated by
multiplying the non-residential square footage by .10 gallons per day (GPD).

Proposed non-residential water demand = 840,000 * .10 GPD/SQFT
Proposed non-residential water demand = 84,000 GPD

7.1.4 Findings Residential and Non-Residential Potable Water

The proposed FLUM and Zoning amendment will have a maximum potential demand
for potable water of 487,600 GPD. As part of the site plan/plat review process, the city
and developer will determine the appropriate engineering requirements (size of water
line, pump stations, etc.) for potable water service.

7.2 Wastewater Data and Analysis

The City currently owns and operates one wastewater treatment plant (WWTP), located
three miles east of the WTP. The wastewater treatment plant is being upgraded to a
capacity of 1.5 with capacity to upgrade to 2.0 mgd. The WWTP provides advanced
secondary treatment and disposes of the effluent into the Intracoastal Waterway.

The wastewater demand is calculated by summing the estimates from residential and non-
residential calculations.

7.2.1 Residential Wastewater Demand

City of Flagler Beach Existing Residential Wastewater Demand

The residential wastewater demand for each residential unit is calculated at
119/gal/person * 2.08 persons = 248 GPD/unit:

Existing wastewater demand = *units served *248 GPD/unit
Existing wastewater demand = 3576 * 248 GPD/unit
Existing wastewater demand = 886,848 GPD
Summertown Proposed Residential Wastewater Demand
The proposed residential wastewater demand is calculated as follows:
Proposed wastewater demand = Total number units *248 GPD/unit
Population = 1640 units * 248 GPD/unit
Proposed wastewater demand = 406,720 GPD

10

Page 254 of 391



7.2.2 Non-Residential Wastewater Demand
City of Flagler Beach Existing Non-Residential Wastewater Demand

The City of Flagler Beach currently has 13.41% of its land use zoned non-residential, or
324 acres. The average impervious surface in GC is 75% or 243 acres.

The non-residential wastewater demand is calculated as follows:

Existing non-residential wastewater demand = number of acres * 2000 GPD
Existing non-residential wastewater demand = 243 acres * 2000 GPD
Existing non-residential wastewater demand = 486,000 GPD
Summertown Proposed Non-Residential Wastewater Demand
Proposed non-residential wastewater demand = SQ FT * .10 GPD/SQFT
Proposed non-residential wastewater demand = 840,000 SQFT * .10 GPD
Proposed non-residential wastewater demand = 84,000 GPD

7.2.3 Findings Residential and Non-Residential Wastewater

The proposed FLUM and Zoning amendment will have a maximum potential net increase
in demand for sanitary sewer treatment of 490,720 GPD. As part of the site plan/plat
review process, the property owner and/or developer will need to coordinate with the City
of Flagler Beach Utility Department to determine the appropriate engineering
requirements (size of sewer line, lift stations, etc.) for wastewater service.

7.3 Solid Waste Data and Analysis

Solid waste is operated by the City of Flagler Beach. The City is required to review its
Interlocal Agreements on Solid Waste Disposal with Flagler County and Solid Waste
Services with the Town of Beverly Beach to ensure that it includes specific and
adequate resources and capacity.

7.3.1 Solid Waste Demand
The level of service standards to be met by the City for solid waste shall be the
equivalent of 3.7 pounds per capita per day.

7.3.2 Solid Waste Demand Residential

Each individual discards 3.7 lbs. of solid waste per day. The daily demand per unit for
solid waste is calculated as 3.71bs/person * 2.08 persons = 7.70 1bs./per day/per unit.

City of Flagler Beach Existing Solid Waste Demand

Existing solid waste demand = units served * 7.7 1bs./per day/unit
Existing solid waste demand = 3576 * 7.7 Ibs./per day/unit
Existing solid waste demand = 27,535 LBS/Per Day

Summertown Proposed Residential Solid Waste Demand

Proposed solid waste demand = units served * 7.7 lbs./per day/unit
Proposed solid waste demand = 1640 * 7.7 lbs. per day/unit
Proposed solid waste demand = 12,628 LBS/Per Day

11

Page 255 of 391



7.3.3 Solid Waste Demand Non-Residential

Summertown Proposed Non-Residential Solid Waste Demand
Proposed solid waste demand = SQ FT * 0.01 LBS/per day
Proposed solid waste demand = 840,000 SQFT * 0.01 LBS/per day
Proposed solid waste demand = 84,000 LBS/Per Day

74 Stormwater Management

The project site drains to a portion of the Intracoastal Waterway (ICW) that is listed as
impaired by Florida Department of Environmental Protection (FDEP). Therefore, the
stormwater management facilities will be designed such that the amount of Total
Nitrogen and Total Phosphorus discharged from the development sites in the post-
development condition will be less than that in the pre-development condition. The
design storms to be analyzed include the Mean-year/24-hour, 25-year/25-hour, and the
100-year/24-hour storms.

The stormwater management facilities will be designed such that the peak rate of
discharge in the post-development condition will be less than the pre-development
condition and will discharge to the same location.

The design will incorporate Best Management Practices (BMP’s) to ensure no adverse
hydrologic impacts to surrounding wetlands or communities. BMP’s will also be utilized
to ensure no discharge of sediment will occur. Portions of the subject site exist within the
FEMA 100-year floodplain, thus any proposed filling of the 100-year floodplain shall be
offset in the form of compensatory storage.

7.41 Stormwater Findings

The declarant shall be responsible for designing, permitting, constructing, and
maintaining the means of conveyance of stormwater runoff within the Project, including
not limited to all stormwater lines, ditches, culverts, and other stormwater facilities that
are necessary to convey and treat stormwater runoff.

In addition to incorporating BMP’s, stormwater treatment facilities are reviewed for
consistency with LOS during technical site plan review as LOS standards for stormwater
quantity and quality adhere to requirements established by the St. Johns River Water
Management District (SJRWMD), and other applicable regulatory requirements.

7.5 Transportation Impacts

The 545+/- acre site proposes a mixed-use development with an anticipated full build
out in 2035. A voluntary site-specific policy text amendment is incorporated so that PM
peak hours do not exceed 3,749 peak PM gross trip.

The development at buildout is anticipated to generate 43,971 gross daily, 1,511 net AM
peak, and 2,838 net PM peak trips. Segment Traffic Analysis was CTS Solutions to
assess the impact of the proposed development. A voluntary site-specific policy text
amendment is incorporated so that PM peak hours do not exceed 3,749 peak PM gross
trip. The report analyzes the impact of the proposed mixed-use low-density project as
defined in the Site-Specific Amendment.

12

Page 256 of 391



7.5.1 Roadway Segments and Intersections Within the Study Area

The roadway segments evaluated within the study are shown listed below:

= Segment 1: SR 100 (Moody Boulevard) from CR 201 (John Anderson Highway)
to Colbert Lane

» Segment 2: SR 100 (Moody Boulevard) from S Flagler to CR 201 (John
Anderson Highway)

= Segment 3: SR 100 (Moody Boulevard) from SR A1A to S Flagler

» Segment 4: Roberts Road from SR 100 (Moody Boulevard) to Colbert Lane

= Segment 5: CR 201 (John Anderson Highway) from Walter Boardman Lane to
SR 100 (Moody Boulevard)

= Segment 6: Colbert Lane Extension (new road) from SR 100 (Moody
Boulevard) to 2-Lane Section

= Segment 7: Colbert Lane Extension (new road) from 4-lane Section to CR 201
(John Anderson Highway)

7.5.2 Pertinent Developments Included in Transportation Study

The following pertinent developments were included:

Coquina Shores Phase I Single Family Residential Subdivision: 233 units
Ocean Village Apartments: 416 units
Colbert Landings Single Family Residential Subdivision: 482 units
Lighthouse Harbor Luxury Apartments: 240 units
Lighthouse Harbor Mixed-Use Development:

o Commercial: 160,000 SQ FT

o Marina: 80 wet/ 200 dry

o Single Family / Townhomes / Apartments: 663 units
Barnes Office Building: 11,200 SQ FT
The Reserves East Single-Family Residential Subdivision: 217 units
Roberts Road Multi-Family Apartments (aka Flagler Beach apartments): 240
units
Beach Village Park Multi-Family Apartments (aka Beach Park Village
subdivision): 110 units

7.5.3 Findings Transportation Modifications/Improvements Required

Declarant obligated to comply with FDOT requirements for impacts to SR 100; and shall
construct improvements as may be provided for impacts to John Anderson Highway at
time deemed necessary; and shall be obligated for all costs of design, permitting, and
construction of all traffic improvements identified in the Transportation Study.

For the existing year 2025, all roadway segments currently operate at LOS D or better.
Background growth includes the approved, entitled Tracts/Parcels of A1, A2, and A3 as
committed trips. The Summertown Segment Analysis demonstrates the project
development program will not result in a reduction in the adopted Level of Service during
the build out year through (2030). The development will provide a new internal roadway
connecting SR 100 (Moody Boulevard) to CR 201 (John Anderson Highway). The
roadway will service both residential and commercial therefore, adding two (2) new
roadway segments as follows:

13

Page 257 of 391



e Segment 6: Colbert Lane Extension from SR 100 (Moody Boulevard) to
Residential (2-lane)
e Segment 7: Colbert Lane Extension from Commercial (4-lane) to CR 201 (John
Anderson Highway)
Phase Year 2030 roadway segment capacity analysis for the PMPH shows Phased Year
2030 PM Peak Hour Volume and LOS. The analysis reveals that the roadway segments
are anticipated to continue operating at a LOS C or better. No mitigation anticipated to be
required by the development at this phase buildout.

7.6 Schools Impact

According to the Flagler County School Board 2024 Student Generation Rate Analysis,
School Concurrency entails evaluating the growth of residential areas and estimating the
potential student population these areas will generate for the school district. This
evaluation is achieved through the application of a Student Generation Rate (SGR) to
planned residential development. The SGR represents the average number of students in
a household derived from an analysis of residential land use patterns and locations of
student addresses.

By multiplying the SGR by the number of planned residential units within a school zone,
school districts can project the expected number of students in each area.

Source:2024 Student Generation Analysis PDF (resources.finalsite.net)

7.6.1 Methodology

To accurately categorize residential land uses for parcels within Flagler County, the
School Board relies on Land Use Description and Codes from the Florida Department of
Revenue (DOR). Each parcel in the County is assigned a DOR code for tax assessments
assigned by the Flagler County Property Appraiser to distinguish between businesses,
homes and other classifications. DOR codes include various housing categories including
Single-family, Multi-family and Mobile/Manufactured homes. Single-family include
dwelling types such as single-family homes, townhouses, and duplexes. Multi-family
includes multi-family apartments, condominiums, Tri- and Quadplexes.

7.6.2 2024 FC School Board Student Generation Rate Analysis

The SGR is derived by dividing the number of relevant students by the number of units.
To calculate the SGR, the number of students living in a specific housing type is divided
by the overall number of that specific housing type’s units.

2024 Single Multi Family Mobile
Family Home
Elementary,
Middle, High 0.212 0.079 N/A
Schools

7.7 Public Safety

Through mutual aid, fire and police are currently provided to this unincorporated area.
The Developer previously donated to Flagler County a three (3) acre parcel of land for a

14

Page 258 of 391



7.8

8.1

8.1.2

8.1.3

fire station to serve the Project and the residents along John Anderson Highway.

Fire protection requirements for the Project will be met through a system of fire hydrants
installed on the Project by the Developer in accordance with City standards. The
locations of fire hydrants shall be shown on all construction documents, technical site
plans, or preliminary plats. The Project shall comply with the City’s fire protection
requirements. The City will provide fire protection services to the Project in accordance
with established local response agreements.

Economic Impact Data and Analysis

The developer submitted economic benefit data of the proposed project (2024) for FLUM
amendment for 899+/- acres with the following data:

Residential Property Tax: $999,530,156
Commercial Property Tax:  $17,850, 979
School Impact Fee: $12,265,864

Flagler Beach Impact Fees: $336,572,169

Undeveloped Lands and Cultural, Historical, and Natural
Resources

Atlantic Ecological Services conducted a site survey of the Summertown property. The
subject property consists of open land areas currently under construction for a residential
neighborhood, and undeveloped upland and wetland habitats. The property contains
approximately 768.39 acres of uplands, 133.24 acres of wetlands, and 1.31 acres of
upland cut surface waters. No protected flora or fauna species are expected to inhabit the
subject property. The results of the site assessment are described in this section of the
Finding Report.

Soils Map

Soil information is part of a geotechnical investigation that helps determine how the soil
will react to proposed changes, anticipate conditions and provide preliminary
foundation recommendations. The wetlands are detailed on the Soil Map Summertown
Flagler County, Florida and reflect the boundaries that were delineated in the field

pursuant to state and federal guidelines (Chapter 62-340 F.A.C. and the 1987 Corps of
Engineers Wetlands Delineation Manual).

Topography Map

The topographic map uses contour lines to illustrate the elevation changes on the
property’s surface. Contour lines join points of equal elevation throughout the map. The
topographic map shows water features, geographic place names, and cultural features.

Habitat Uplands

Open Lands Under Construction- Approximately 160.99 acres of the subject property
consists of land currently under construction for a residential development.

Herbaceous - Approximately 10.88 acres of the site exists as herbaceous non-forested
uplands. These areas were cleared during the original construction start of the project in

15

Page 259 of 391



2007. Clearing and grading occurred, but no infrastructure was constructed. The area
consists primarily of bahia grass (Paspalum notatum) and a mix of ruderal weeds.

Sand Pine - Approximately 5.48 acres of the subject property consists of sand pine
habitat which was historically scrub. The canopy consists of 100% coverage of sand pine
(Pinus clausa).

Hardwood Conifer Mixed - Approximately 300.24 acres of the uplands found on the site
are considered mixed pine oak hammock habitat. Canopy species consisted of mature
trees and include live oak (Quercus virginiana) and sand live oak (Quercus geminata),
slash pine (Pinus elliottii), sand pine, southern magnolia (Magnolia grandifolia), pignut
hickory (Carya glabra), laurel oak (Quercus laurifolia), and sweetgum (Liquidambar
styraciflua). Subcanopy species included red cedar (Juniperus virginiana) and hackberry
(Ce/tis occidentalis). The understory is dominated by a thick cover of saw palmetto
(Serenoa repens). Other species found, but at a much lesser extent, include red bay
(Persea borbonia), wax myrtle (Myrica cerifera), yaupon holly (lex vomitoria), wax
myrtle (Myrica cerifera), greenbriar (Smilax spp.), and bracken fem (Pteridium
aquilinum).

Pine Plantation - Multiple upland areas on the subject property totaling 292.74 acres are
considered active pine plantation and include only slash pine (Pinus elliottii). The
understory is dominated primarily by saw palmetto, but also contains wax, fetterbush
(Lyonia ferrigunea), gallberry (flex glabra), and pine needle litter.

Disturbed Land - Approximately 3.01 acres of the subject property consists of disturbed
uplands associated with prior earthwork on the site in preparation for the former
development. This area differs from the herbaceous areas previously described in the in
that this area includes heavy grading and road frontage land work. The elevations in this
area are not natural and in such have re-vegetated in a non-native form. Large areas of
open sand are found in this habitat. The vegetation consists of dogfennel (Eupatorium
capillifolium), saltbush (Baccharis halimifolia), slash pine, bahia grass, St. Augustine
grass (Stenotaphrum secundatum), and other weeds.

8.1.4 Wetlands

Mangrove - Approximately 8.63 acres of the subject property consists of estuarine
mangrove habitat with mosquito ditching open water. This area consists primarily of
black mangroves (Avicenia germinans) and red mangroves (Rhizophora mangle).

Mixed Wetland Hardwoods - Approximately 79.39 acres of the site consists of a mixed
hardwood wetland slough. The dominant canopy species includes laurel oak,
hackberry, live oak, American elm (Ulmus americana), red maple (Acer rubrum), and
cabbage palm (Sabal palmetto). The understory is dominated by saw palmetto, shiny
lyonia (Lyonia Iucida), dahoon holly (flex cassine), wax myrtle, buttonbush
(Cephalanthes occidentalis), sawgrass (Cladium jamaicense), swamp fem (Blechnum
serrulatum), royal fem (Osmunda regalis), Virginia chain fem (Woodwardia virginica),
and cinnamon fem (Osmunda cinnamomea).

Wetland Mixed Forest -Approximately 2.96 acres of the site consists of wetland mixed
forest. These habitats are located along the eastern boundary of the site along the
Intracoastal Waterway (ICW). Vegetation includes slash pine, live oak, laurel oak,
yaupon holly, cedar, wax myrtle, salt bush, and saw grass.

16

Page 260 of 391



8.1.5

8.1.6

8.1.7

Wetland Scrub - Approximately 34.95 acres of the site consists of wetland scrub
habitat. The dominant species is Carolina willow (Salix caroliniana), saltbush, slash
pine, laurel oak, cabbage palm, sand cordgrass (Spartina bakeri), royal fem, swamp
fem, and leather fem (Acrostichum danaeifolium).

Saltwater Marsh - Approximately 7.31 acres of the site consists of tidal saltmarsh
habitat. The dominant species includes needle rush (Juncus roemerianus), black
mangrove, sand cordgrass, marsh elder (Iva frutescens), sawgrass, saltwort (Batis
maritima), and glasswort (Salicornia spp.).

Surface Waters

Ditches - Multiple man-made surface water ditches (totaling approximately 0.35 acres)
are located on the site. Each surface water was originally cut through upland habitats.

Surface Water Pond - Approximately 0.96 acres of upland cut surface water pond is
located on the subject property.

Wildlife Observations

Wildlife observations, both direct and indirect, were made throughout the course of the site
investigation. A list of species observed is provided in the following table:

Taxon Common Name Scientific Name Protected
Birds
American Crow Corvus brachyrhynchos No
Northern cardinal Cardina/is cardinalis No
Black vulture Coragyps atratus No
Red shouldered hawk Buteo lineatus No
Blue Jay Cyanocitta cristata No
Mammals
Florida Black Bear Ursus Americanus No
floridanus
Gray Squirrel Sciurus carolinensis No
White Tailed Deer Odocoileus virginianus No
Reptiles
Gopher Tortoise Gopherus polyphemus Yes
Diamondback rattlesnake | Crotalus adamanteus No
Cottonmouth Agkistrodon piscivorus No
Southern black racer Coluber constrictor No

Protected Species

A preliminary gopher tortoise survey was conducted on May 28-30, 2024, in accordance
with the techniques outlined in the publication, Ecology and Habitat Protection Needs of
Gopher Tortoise (Gopherus polyphemus) Populations Found on Lands Slated for
Development in Florida. A total of twenty-nine (29) potentially occupied gopher tortoise
burrows were identified. Surveys are valid for a period of 90 days. Prior to clearing and
construction an FWC conservation permit will be required and all gopher tortoise
burrows must be excavated and tortoises relocated to an offsite recipient site.

17

Page 261 of 391




8.1.8 Findings Gopher Tortoise

All tortoise burrows identified on the site will be permitted and excavation of the
burrows will occur. If commensal species are identified during the excavation of the
burrows, then each will be relocated to an appropriate relocation site.

8.1.9 List of Species Observed

The eastern indigo snake (Drymarchon corais couperi) has a moderate likelihood to
occur on the subject property due to the presence of gopher tortoise burrows and a mix
of upland and wetland hammock. The indigo snake is a gopher tortoise commensal
species due to its association with and utilization of gopher tortoise burrows for their life
requisites.

Mixed wetland hardwood habitats within the property provide suitable foraging habitat
for the wood stork, however the nearest wood stork rookery is located 18 miles
southwest of the subject property.

Long-legged waders have a moderate likelihood to utilize wetlands. The subject property
is not located within core foraging habitat.

A Florida black bear was observed within the subject property. The project area lies
within the Central Bear Management Unit. The Florida black bear is no longer a
protected species by FWC but is a managed species. FWC will be a commenting agency
during the ERP permitting process.

The FWC's Eagle Nest Locator website was queried for data regarding documented
southern bald eagle (Haliaeetus I. leucocephalus) nests in the project vicinity. The
southern bald eagle is protected under the Bald and Golden Eagle Protection Act.
Development guidelines are required for any proposed projects with 330 feet for urban
areas and 660 feet for non-urban areas. The nearest known nest is located 1.4 miles
south of the property. Therefore, this project is not likely to adversely affect the southern
bald eagle.

8.1.10 Findings of Species Observed
Indigo Snake

Best Management Practices during construction for the eastern indigo snake will be
incorporated. Eastern indigo snake signage will be installed at the construction office for
instruction on procedures if an indigo snake enters the construction area. With the above
measures being incorporated, development of the subject property is not anticipated to
adversely affect the eastern indigo snake.

Wood Stork

All suitable habitat within a 13-mile radius of a known rookery is considered core
foraging habitat. Since the subject property is not located within core foraging habitat,
no impact to this species is anticipated.

Long Legged Waders

18

Page 262 of 391



No wading bird rookeries are known or were identified on or near the subject property,
and the project is not likely to adversely affect any wading bird populations.

Florida Black Bear

FWC will likely provide comment that Florida black bear specific BMP's, construction
and design specifications be utilized for project.

Southern Bald Eagle

Development guidelines are required for any proposed projects with 330 feet for urban
areas and 660 feet for non-urban areas. The nearest known nest is located 1.4 miles
south of the property. Therefore, this project is not likely to adversely affect the
southern bald eagle.

9. CONSISTENCY WITH CITY OF FLAGLER BEACH
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Policy A.2.4.1 - Future Land Use Map amendments shall include the following analyses:

a. An analysis of the availability of facilities and services.

b. An analysis of the sustainability of the plan amendment for its proposed use
considering the character of undeveloped land, soils, topography, natural resources,
and historic resources on site.

c. An analysis of the minimum amount of land needed to achieve the goals and
requirements of Objective A.2.4

9.1 Public Facilities

Policy H.6.7.1
The City shall review all proposed transportation plans and improvements to determine
the impacts such projects or proposals will have on the City’s transportation network.

Policy H.6.7.2

The City shall review all proposed development and require developers of new
subdivisions or commercial development to submit information concerning the traffic
impact of the project. The impact upon the adopted LOS standard and consistency with
the Comprehensive Plan and shall follow the provisions of the concurrency management
system in ensuring that the LOS is maintained for all roadways.

Policy D.1.2.3

Consistent with public health and safety, sanitary sewer, solid waste, drainage, adequate
water supplies, and potable water facilities shall be in place and available to serve new
development no later than the issuance by the local government of a certificate of
occupancy or its functional equivalent. Prior to approval of a building permit or its
functional equivalent, the local government shall consult with the applicable water
supplier to determine whether adequate water supplies to serve the new development will
be available no later than the anticipated date of issuance by the local government of a
certificate of occupancy or its functional equivalent.

19

Page 263 of 391



9.1.2 Findings Public Facilities

A comprehensive analysis was completed to examine the demand and impact to the
City’s public facilities and services.

Studies were provided by licensed and/or professionals who surveyed the site and/or
modeled the impacts to maintain the LOS.

The proposed development is consistent with the Public Facilities Element and the
Comprehensive Plan.

9.2 Future Land Use Element

Policy A.1.2.2 -Application filing procedures shall require topographic, soil condition,
flood hazard zone, and wetland zone surveys filed in support of a land use amendment,
zoning change, or land subdivision.

Objective A.1.4 -The City shall seek to improve its ad valorem tax base by encouraging
development.

Policy A.1.4.1 -The City shall investigate opportunities for annexation of commercial and
value-added properties.

Policy A.1.1.1 - The City shall not issue a building permit or other development orders until
the City Manager or his or her designee certifies that required public facilities and services
will be provided concurrent with the needs of development. No Certificate of Occupancy
shall be issued until facilities and services are in operation

Policy A.1.1.2 = The City shall maintain Land Development Regulations (LDRs), which
contain the specific and detailed provisions that are necessary to implement the adopted
Comprehensive Plan.

Policy A.1.1.4 - The City Manager or his or her designee shall apply concurrency
management to all new development and subdivisions to ensure that private development
and public facility construction remain coordinated. Such a test for concurrency will be a
requirement of the developer and will be based upon developer commitment.

a. Concurrency shall be measured against Levels of Service (LOS) established for
water, sewer, recreation, drainage, roads, and solid waste identified in each appropriate
element and the Capital Improvement Element of this plan. Application of LOS criterion
will be in accordance with the minimum requirements for concurrency as identified in
163.3180(2), F.S.

Policy A.1.2.2 - Application filing procedures shall require topographic, soil condition,
flood hazard zone, and wetland zone surveys filed in support of a land use amendment,
zoning change, or land subdivision.

Policy A.1.3.1 - The donation of utility service facility sites to the City shall be a
condition of development approval where applicable.

Policy A.1.4.1 - The City shall investigate opportunities for annexation of commercial and
value-added properties.

20

Page 264 of 391



9.2.1

Policy A.1.4.3 -The City shall encourage the use of innovative LDRs, which may include
provisions for master planned developments, mixed land use development techniques and
the clustering of commercial uses in appropriate nodes.

Policy A.2.1.4 - The City shall require a buffer of no less than 25 feet adjacent to and
surrounding all wetlands (including saltwater marsh). This buffer shall consist of existing
vegetation native to the site, which shall be preserved or replanted between the site of
actual development activity and the boundary of the wetland/saltwater marsh.

Findings Future Land Use Element

A comprehensive analysis was completed to examine how the proposed development
supports the goals and objectives of the Land Use Element and is found to be consistent
with the Future Land Use Element of the City’s Comprehensive Plan.

9.3 Housing Element

Policy C.1.1.3
To reduce the high cost of land for development of affordable housing, the City shall
consider the use of innovative land development techniques such as zero-lot-line, Master
Planned Development, use of smaller sized lots and density bonuses for development of
affordable housing units.

9.3.1 Findings Housing Element
A comprehensive analysis was completed to examine how the proposed development
supports the policies of Housing Element and is found to be consistent with the Housing
Element of the City’s Comprehensive Plan.

9.4 Public Facilities Element
Policy D.1.5.3
The City shall permit development only where the capacity of public facilities meets
concurrency requirements as established by Section 163.3180, F.S. and that the developer
shall be required to guarantee that adopted LOS be maintained.

9.4.1 Findings Public Facilities Element
A comprehensive analysis was completed to examine the demand and impact to the
City’s public facilities and services.
Studies were provided by licensed and/or professionals who surveyed the site and/or
modeled the impacts to maintain the LOS.
The proposed development is consistent with the Public Facilities Element and the
Comprehensive Plan.

Staff Recommendation

Based on the data, analysis and findings, staff recommends that the Planning and Architectural
Review Board (PARB) find the Large-Scale Future Land Use Amendment (FLUM) consistent

21

Page 265 of 391



with the Comprehensive Plan and recommend to the City Commission to approve the FLUM
amendment from unincorporated land use designations of Agriculture, Conservation, and Mixed
Use: High Intensity to the City of Flagler Beach land use designations of Low Density
Residential and General Commercial.

22

Page 266 of 391



Exhibits — Developer’s FLUM Application, Maps, and Exhibits.
1. Aerial Map
Soils Map
Topographic Map

. Habitat Map

2

3

4. Gopher Tortoise Burrow Location Map

5

6. Existing Zoning City of Flagler Beach/ Unincorporated Flagler County
7

. Existing FLUM City of Flagler Beach/ Unincorporated Flagler County

23

Page 267 of 391



= i

W

Jacksonville
Re]

Aerial

(==) Subject Property

¥ % Annexation Boundary

oo

D City of Flagler Beach
Existing City Limits

\Production\Summertown Map Set\Summertown\Summertown.aprx

ENGLAND-THIMS & MILLE
14775 Old St. Augustine Road, Jacksonville, F|
904.642.8990 | www.etmgeo.com | www.etminc.com

Page 268 0B B35




T PAL
ay e E

Soils

[ 10,Winder
[ 11, Myakka
[T 12,Placid
[ 13,Immokalee
[ 15,Pomello
7" 20,0rsino
[ 21,Smymna
7] 22 Astatula
[ 26, Tumbull
27 Cassia
|| 34,Cocoa
[ 36,Bimini
[T 37, Tuscawilla
[T 38,Pacla
[ 40,Pomona
[ 7,Favoretta
|| 8 Hicoria

[ ] 9,EauGallie
[\ Hyrdic Soils

|

(C—J) Subject Property

?® 0 Annexation Boundary

D City of Flagler Beach
Existing City Limits

LAND-THIMS & MILLER
14775 Old St. Augustine Road, J i
904.642.8990 | www.etmgeo.com | www.etminc.com

\Production\Summertown Map Set\Summertown\Summertown.aprx Page 268:0fB9025




DT

19rnie

7

Mo'ody(Bga
\ Sy

V& | Stnat

([C—J) Subject Property

“ %0 Annexation Boundary

coo

D City of Flagler Beach
Existing City Limits

——— Flagler County 5ft Contours : g
ENGLAND-THIMS & MILLER
14775 Old St. Augustine Road, J
904.642.8990 | www.etmgeo.com | www.etminc.com

\Production\Summertown Map Set\Summertown\Summertown.aprx Page 278e0l/32025




@ Gopher Tortoise Burrow (29)
Project Area

Gopher Tortoise Burrow Location Map
Date: 5-31-24 @ Veranda Bay

Image Source: ESRI| 2022

Flagler County, Florida

0 600 1.200
) Feet

Page 271 of 391




Section 3, ltem c.

Project Area - 905.95 ac.
Habitat
190 - Open Land Under Construction - 160.99
[1310-Herbaceouos - 8.94 ac.
59 413 - Sand Pine - 5.48
[T73434 - Hardwood Conifer Mix- 300.24 ac.
[ 1441 - Pine Plantation - 292.74 ac. ac.
__ |513-Ditch - 0.35 ac.
| 530 - Surface Water - 0.96 ac.
I 612-Mangrove - 8.63 ac.
771617 - Mixed Wetland Hardwoods - 79.39 ac.
[ 1630-Wetland Mixed Forest - 2.96 ac.
1 631-Wetland Scrub - 34.95 ac.
[ 642-Salt Marsh - 7.31 ac.
| 740-Disturbed Land - 3.01 ac.

Image Source: ESRI 2022 Habltat Map ECOLOG}&@E
Date: 5-23-24 Verand a Bay
0 600 1,200 Flagler County, Florida T

e Feot 904-347-9133 | jody@atlanticec
201 Basque Rd | St. Augustine, FL{ 491

Page 272 of 391




City of Flagler Beach Zoning (Flagler County)
- C- CONSERVATION

I:] GC- GENERAL COMMERICAL

7771 HIGHWAY COMMERICAL

| | LDR- LOW DENSITY

[ ] LI- LIGHT INDUSTRIAL

:] MDR- MEDIUM DENSITY RESIDENTIAL
I:I P- PRESERVATION

] PUD- PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT

Moody Blvd /
/,

[ ] R-RESERVED
|| REC- RECREATION
[ ] SFR- SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL (R1)
[ ] TC- TOURIST COMMERICAL
Flagler County Wide Unincorporated Zon
AC: AGRICULTURAL

| C-2: GENERAL COMMERCIAL &
SHOPPING CENTER

PUD: PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT
R-1: RURAL RESIDENTIAL

(C—J) Subject Property

Annexation Boundary

D City of Flagler Beach
Existing City Limits

on\Summertown Map Set\Summertown\Summertown.aprx

f\/

P

yBoat
S\
1ch

/7 7
Rreserve

e

ENGLAND-THIMS & MILLER &
14775 Old St. Augustine Road, Jacksonvnlle Florida 32258

904.642.8990

| www.etmgeo.com | www.etminc.com

Page 273e0f/ 39025




%’Q Residential

E 1 COM:HIGH

//Salt'/\l}la/tf{
Marsh

Flagler County Wide Future Land Use
AG-TIMBER

I COM-HIGH

I cons

B MUH

City of Flagler Beach Future Land Use

High Density

Medium Density

Low Density

3
L TS L

&
4’
-’

]
P Ll

/o

Mixed Use Overlay
Mobile Home Park
P commercial
[ conservation
[ Public Buildings & Grounds
I Other Public Facilities
Undefined
Park
Golf Course

L OJacksonville

Future Land Use

ISou!ce ETM, Flagler County, Esri, Nenrmnpl

® (C—J) Project Tracts 0

® % Annexation Boundary Feet

ocooo

3,000

D City of Flagler Beach

Existing City Limits E T m 2
Orlando x
o IM M ER :

14775 Old St. Augustine Road, Jacksonville, Florida 32258
904.642.8990 | www.etmgeo.com | www.etminc.com

TETM-FILE-19\Projects-0612025125-0211GIS Production\Summertown Map Set\Summertown|\Summertown.aprx Pag e 20#eol/3Ph25




ORDINANCE 2025-25
SUMMERTOWN COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AMENDMENT
APPLICATION NO. PFLUMA25-0002

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF

FLAGLER BEACH, FLORIDA, AMENDING THE COMPREHENSIVE

PLAN FUTURE LAND USE MAP DESIGNATION FOR APPROXIMATELY

544.97 ACRES OF CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY; PROVIDING FOR

SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS; AND PROVIDING

FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE.

WHEREAS, the City Commission of the City of Flagler Beach enacted Ordinance 2018-
11, adopting the 2035 Comprehensive Plan which includes the City of Flagler Beach Future Land
Use Map (FLUM), which Plan and FLUM have been amended from time-to-time; and

WHEREAS, Section 163.3161 et seq., Florida Statutes established the Community
Planning Act; and

WHEREAS, Section 163.3184, Florida Statutes, establishes a process for adoption of
comprehensive plans or plan amendments amending the future land use designation of property;
and

WHEREAS, the City of Flagler Beach is desirous of amending the future land use
designation of property located within the City from Agriculture, Conservation, and Mixed Use:
High-Intensity (Flagler County Designations), and Low and Medium Density (City of Flagler
Beach Designations) to Low Density Residential and Commercial (City of Flagler Beach
Designations); and

WHEREAS, the Developer has offered a limiting policy to accompany the map
amendment voluntarily limiting certain development entitlements as set forth herein; and

WHEREAS, the City of Flagler Beach Planning and Architectural Review Board (PARB)
acting as the City’s Local Planning Agency, considered the proposed map amendments at public
hearing on October 7, 2025, and voted to recommend APPROVAL of the proposed Comprehensive
Plan Amendment; and

WHEREAS, on October 7, 2025, and November 13, 2025, the City of Flagler Beach City
Commission held public hearings on this Comprehensive Plan amendment after due public notice
and upon thorough and complete consideration and deliberation, adopted the proposed

Comprehensive Plan amendment; and

Page 275 of 391



WHEREAS, the Comprehensive Plan amendment adopted by this Ordinance complies
with the requirements of the Community Planning Act, the State Comprehensive Plan as set forth
in Chapter 187, Florida Statutes, as well as other applicable law, and is consistent with the goals,
objectives, and policies and the overall land use plan of the City’s Comprehensive Plan; and

WHEREAS, the City Commission of the City of Flagler Beach hereby reaffirms its
commitment to the goal of enacting and implementing sound growth management practices within
the City; and

WHEREAS, the City Commission of the City of Flagler Beach finds that this Ordinance

is in the best interest of the health, safety, and welfare of the citizens of Flagler Beach.
NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED BY THE CITY COMMISSION
OF FLAGLER BEACH, FLORIDA, THAT THE FUTURE LAND USE MAP IS AMENDED

AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1. LEGISLATIVE AND ADMINISTRATIVE FINDINGS. The above

recitals (whereas clauses) are hereby adopted as the legislative and administrative findings of the
City Commission of the City of Flagler Beach.

SECTION 2. COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AND FUTURE LAND USE MAP
AMENDED. The Future Land Use Map designation for the approximately 544.97 acre subject

area generally located along the east and west of John Anderson Highway, and directly south of
State Road 100 as legally described in Exhibit “A” and depicted in Exhibit “B”, attached hereto,
is amended from Agriculture, Conservation, and Mixed Use: High-Intensity (Flagler County
Designations), and Low and Medium Density (City of Flagler Beach Designations) to Low Density
Residential and Commercial (City of Flagler Beach Designations) with a Text Policy Amendment
to limit development as described in Exhibit “C”.

SECTION 3. CONFLICTS. All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith

are hereby repealed.

SECTION 4. NON-CODIFICATION. As this amendment only changes the Future Land

Use Map, it is not necessary to codify this Ordinance.

SECTION 5. SEVERABILITY. If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase pr

provision of this Ordinance is held to be unconstitutional or otherwise invalid by a court of

Page 276 of 391



competent jurisdiction, such unconstitutionality or invalidity shall not be construed as to render
unconstitutional or invalid the remaining provisions of the Ordinance.

SECTION 6. EFFECTIVE DATE. The effective date of this plan amendment, if the

amendment is not timely challenged, shall be 31 days after the state land planning agency notifies
the local government that the plan amendment package is complete. If timely challenged, this
amendment shall become effective on the date the state land planning agency or the Administration
Commission enters a final order determining this adopted amendment to be in compliance. No
development orders, development permits or land use dependent on this amendment may be issued
or commence before it has become effective. If a final order of noncompliance is issued by the
Administration Commission, this amendment may nevertheless be made effective by adoption of
a resolution affirming its effective status, a copy of which resolution shall be sent to the state land
planning agency.

APPROVED on first reading after due public notice and hearing the 9th day of October,
2025.

ADOPTED on second reading after due public notice and public hearing this 13th day of
November, 2025.

ATTEST: CITY OF FLAGLER BEACH, FLORIDA
CITY COMMISSION
CITY CLERK Patti King, Mayor

APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGALITY:

DREW SMITH, CITY ATTORNEY

Page 277 of 391



EXHIBIT “A”
SUMMERTOWN
PROPERTY OWNED BY HIGHWAY 100 COMMERCIAL, LLC

LEGAL DESCRIPTION

A PORTION OF TRACT "FD2", GARDENS AT HAMMOCK BEACH, AS RECORDED IN MAP BOOK 35,
PAGES 80 THROUGH 100 OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA AND BEING
MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

FOR A POINT OF BEGINNING COMMENCE AT THE NORTHWESTERLY CORNER OF SAID TRACT
"FD2", SAID POINT ALSO BEING ON THE SOUTHERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF STATE ROAD 100 {A
200 FOOT RIGHT OF WAY AS ESTABLISHED); THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 29 MINUTES 03
SECONDS EAST, ALONG SAID SOUTHERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE, A DISTANCE OF 382,15 FEET TO
THE INTERSECTION WITH SOUTHWESTERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF VILLA DRIVE WEST (A
VARIABLE WIDTH PRIVATE RIGHT OF WAY AS ESTABLISHED), SAID POINT BEING THE POINT OF
CURVATURE OF A CURVE CONCAVE SOUTHWESTERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 35.00 FEET;
THENCE ALONG SAID CURVE AND SAID SOUTHWESTERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE AN ARC DISTANCE
OF 51.49 FEET TO THE POINT OF TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE, SAID CURVE BEING SUBTENDED BY
A CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH 41 DEGREES 37 MINUTES 50 SECONDS EAST, AND A CHORD
DISTANCE OF 46.97 FEET, THENCE SOUTH 00 DEGREES 30 MINUTES 47 SECONDS WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 29.81 FEET TO THE POINT OF CURVATURE OF A CURVE CONCAVE NORTHEASTERLY
AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 470.00 FEET; THENCE ALONG SAID CURVE AN ARC DISTANCE OF
578.46 FEET TO THE POINT OF TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE, SAID CURVE BEING SUBTENDED BY A
CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH 34 DEGREES 44 MINUTES 45 SECONDS EAST, AND A CHORD
DISTANCE OF 542.64 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 70 DEGREES 00 MINUTES 17 SECONDS EAST, A
DISTANCE OF 190.75 FEET TO THE POINT OF CURVATURE OF A CURVE CONCAVE
SOUTHWESTERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 360.00 FEET; THENCE ALONG SAID CURVE AN ARC
DISTANCE OF 364.42 FEET TO THE POINT OF TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE, SAID CURVE BEING
SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH 41 DEGREES 00 MINUTES 17 SECONDS EAST, AND
A CHORD DISTANCE OF 349.06 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 12 DEGREES 00 MINUTES 17 SECONDS EAST,
A DISTANCE OF 170.79 FEET TO THE POINT OF CURVATURE OF A CURVE CONCAVE WESTERLY
AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 260.00 FEET; THENCE ALONG SAID CURVE AN ARC DISTANCE OF 48.62
FEET, SAID CURVE BEING SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH 06 DEGREES 38 MINUTES
50 SECONDS EAST AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 48.55 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 88 DEGREES 37
MINUTES 36 SECONDS WEST DEPARTING THE AFOREMENTIONED SOUTHWESTERLY RIGHT OF
LINE OF VILLA DRIVE WEST, A DISTANCE OF 471,38 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 88 DEGREES 28
MINUTES 30 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 589.08 FEET; THENCE NORTH 33 DEGREES 37
MINUTES 07 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 50.65 FEET; THENCE NORTH 38 DEGREES 07
MINUTES 37 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 95.67 FEET TO A POINT ON A WESTERLY LINE OF
THE AFOREMENTIONED TRACT "FD2, GARDENS AT HAMMOCK BEACH"; THENCE NORTH 01
DEGREES 27 MINUTES 08 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 968.01 FEET TO THE POINT OF
BEGINNING,

Page 278 of 391




SUMMERTOWN
PROPERTY OWNED BY PALM COAST INTRACOASTAL, LLC

LEGAL DESCRIPTION
COMP PLAN AMENDMENT

A PARCEL OF LAND IN THE SOUTH 1/2 OF SECTION 11, TOWNSHIP 12 SOUTH, RANGE 31 EAST, FLAGLER
COUNTY, FLORIDA, MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS;

COMMENCE AT THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF GOVERNMENT SECTION 11, TOWNSHIP 12 SOUTH, RANGE
31 EAST AS MONUMENTED BY A 4” X 4” CONCRETE MONUMENT INSCRIBED WITH A “T"; THENCE ALONG
THE SOUTHERLY LINE OF SAID SECTION 11 NORTH 88°51'19" EAST A DISTANCE OF 2,591.75 FEET TO THE
POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE NORTH 00°06'41"” EAST A DISTANCE OF 1,287.36 FEET; THENCE NORTH
88°28'36" EAST A DISTANCE OF 680.27 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 01°24'50" EAST, A DISTANCE OF 345.10 FEET;
THENCE SOUTH 88°36°24” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 150.00 FEET, THENCE SOUTH 01°28°15" EAST, A
DISTANCE OF 300.30 FEET; THENCE NORTH 88°36'24” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 150.00 FEET; THENCE SOUTH
01°0843” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 24.77 FEET; THENCE NORTH 88°54'22” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 749.54 FEET
TO A POINT ON THE WESTERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF STATE RCAD 201, {ALSO KNOWN AS JOHN
ANDERSON HIGHWAY); THENCE ALONG SAID WESTERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE, SOUTH 18°11'55” EAST, A
DISTANCE OF 401.46 FEET; THENCE DEPARTING SAID RIGHT OF WAY LINE, SOUTH 77°14’08"” WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 99.57 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 01°16°02” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 216.94 FEET; THENCE SOUTH
88°50'35" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 126.47 FEET TO A POINT ON THE SOUTHERLY LINE OF AFORESAID
SECTION 11; THENCE ALONG SAID SOUTHERLY LINE SOCUTH 88°51'19"” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 1,350.55
FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.

Page 279 of 391




SUMMERTOWN
PROPERTY OWNED BY VERANDA BAY INVESTMENTS LLC

LEGAL DESCRIPTION
COMP PLAN AMENDMENT

A PORTION OF LOTS 1, 3, 7, 8 AND 9, AND ALL OF LOTS 4, 10, 11 AND 12, BLOCK C, BUNNELL
DEVELOPMENT COMPANY’'S LAND AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 1, PAGE 1, IN THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF
FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA, TOGETHER WITH A PORTION OF GOVERNMENT SECTION 14, 38, AND 39,
TOWNSHIP 12 SOUTH, RANGE 31 EAST, FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA, SITUATED IN GOVERNMENT
SECTIONS 11, 14, 38 AND 39, TOWNSHIP 12 SOUTH, RANGE 31 EAST, FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA, BEING
MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

COMMENCE AT THE INTERSECTION OF THE EAST RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF JOHN ANDERSON HIGHWAY
(STATE ROAD 201) AND THE NORTH LINE OF SAID SECTION 38-12-31; THENCE SOUTH 71°47’17" WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 100.00 FEET TO A POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF JOHN ANDERSON HIGHWAY
(STATE ROAD 201), ALSO BEING THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE ALONG SAID WEST RIGHT OF WAY
LINE THE FOLLOWING THREE COURSES: SOUTH 18°1026" EAST, A DISTANCE OF 3,184.36 FEET TO A POINT
OF CURVATURE OF A NON-TANGENT CURVE CONCAVE NORTHEASTERLY HAVING A RADIUS OF 1,196.28
FEET, A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 22°09'26"” AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 459.74 FEET WHICH BEARS SOUTH
29°14'21” EAST; THENCE SOUTHEASTERLY ALONG THE ARC OF SAID CURVE A DISTANCE OF 462.62 FEET;
THENCE SOUTH 40°21°41" EAST, A DISTANCE OF 776.28 FEET; THENCE DEPARTING SAID WEST RIGHT OF
WAY LINE SOUTH 69°18'47"” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 1,433.82 FEET, THENCE NORTH 20°41'22” WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 995.98 FEET, THENCE NORTH 24°04'44" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 1,618.01 FEET; THENCE
NORTH 86°17'06” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 2,604.28 FEET; THENCE NORTH 60°37°10” WEST, A DISTANCE OF
341.50 FEET; THENCE NORTH 43°23'02” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 2,172.87 FEET, THENCE NORTH 30°47'31"
EAST, A DISTANCE OF 1,526.35 FEET; THENCE NORTH 45°31"15” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 902.38 FEET;
THENCE NORTH 40°14’18” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 1,732.75 FEET; THENCE NORTH 06°10°40” WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 189.68 FEET; THENCE NORTH 00°15°33" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 614.90 FEET; THENCE NORTH
88°32°16" EAST, A DISTANCE OF 257.93 FEET; THENCE NORTH 01°27°08” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 1,087.72
FEET TO A POINT ON THE SOUTH LINE OF STATE ROAD NO. 100; THENCE ALONG SAID SOUTH RIGHT OF
WAY LINE SOUTH 89°29°03" EAST A DISTANCE OF 958.81 FEET; THENCE DEPARTING SAID SOUTH RIGHT
OF WAY LINE SOUTH 00°30°57” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 210.00 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 89°29'D03" EAST, A
DISTANCE OF 210.00 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 00°30'57” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 389.92 FEET; THENCE SOUTH
89°28'38" EAST, A DISTANCE OF 822.42 FEET; THENCE SCUTH 00°06'48" £EAST, A DISTANCE OF 1,704.61
FEET; THENCE NORTH 88°51'12"EAST, A DISTANCE OF 1,350.55 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 01°10'32” EAST, A
DISTANCE OF 660.84 FEET; THENCE NORTH 88°37°17” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 158.75 FEET; THENCE SOUTH
18°14’40" EAST, A DISTANCE OF 330.09 FEET; THENCE NORTH 88°50'11" EAST, A DISTANCE OF 330.04
FEET TO A POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF JOHN ANDERSON HIGHWAY (STATE ROAD 201);
THENCE ALONG SAID RIGHT OF WAY LINE SCUTH 18°15°00" EAST, A DISTANCE OF 1,788.60 FEET TO THE
POINT OF BEGINNING.

LESS AND EXCEPT: THE LAND CONTAINED IN THE QUIT CLAIM DEED TO EAST FLAGLER MOSQUITO
CONTROL DISTRICT RECORDED IN OFFICIAL RECORDS BOOK 1620, PAGE 434, PUBLIC RECORDS OF
FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA. CONTAINING 0.89 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.

Page 1 of 2

Page 280 of 391




LESS AND EXCEPT: THE LAND CONTAINED IN THE SPECIAL WARRANTY DEED TO FLAGLER COUNTY
RECORDED IN OFFICIAL RECORDS BOOK 1636, PAGE 1694, PUBLIC RECORDS OF FLAGLER COUNTY,
FLORIDA. CONTAINING 81.32 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.

LESS AND EXCEPT: THE LAND CONTAINED IN THE SPECIAL WARRANTY DEED TO HIGHWAY 100
COMMERCIAL LLC RECORDED IN OFFICIAL RECORDS BOOK 1789, PAGE 750, PUBLIC RECORDS OF FLAGLER
COUNTY, FLORIDA. CONTAINING 18.94 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.

LESS AND EXCEPT: TRACT PL-2 OF THE VACATED PLAT OF GARDENS AT HAMMOCK BEACH, ACCCRDING
TO THE PLAT THEREOF AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 35, PAGES 80 THROUGH 100, PUBLIC RECORDS OF
FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA. CONTAINING A TOTAL OF 13.17 ACRES, MORE OR LESS,

Page 2 of 2

Page 281 of 391




SUMMERTOWN
PRCPERTY OWNED BY HIGHWAY 100 COMMERCIAL, LLC

LEGAL DESCRIPTION
COMP PLAN AMENDMENT

A PORTION OF TRACT "FD2", GARDENS AT HAMMOCK BEACH, AS RECORDED IN MAP BOOK 35,
PAGES 80 THROUGH 100 OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA AND BEING
MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

FOR A POINT OF BEGINNING COMMENCE AT THE NORTHWESTERLY CORNER OF SAID TRACT
“FD2", SAID POINT ALSO BEING ON THE SOUTHERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF STATE ROAD 100 {A
200 FOOT RIGHT OF WAY AS ESTABLISHED); THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 29 MINUTES 03
SECONDS EAST, ALONG SAID SOUTHERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE, A DISTANCE OF 382,15 FEET TO
THE INTERSECTION WITH SOUTHWESTERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF VILLA DRIVE WEST (A
VARIABLE WIDTH PRIVATE RIGHT OF WAY AS ESTABLISHED), SAID POINT BEING THE POINT OF
CURVATURE OF A CURVE CONCAVE SOUTHWESTERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 35.00 FEET;
THENCE ALONG SAID CURVE AND SAID SOUTHWESTERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE AN ARC DISTANCE
OF 51.49 FEET TO THE POINT OF TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE, SAID CURVE BEING SUBTENDED BY
A CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH 41 DEGREES 37 MINUTES 50 SECONDS EAST, AND A CHORD
DISTANCE OF 46.97 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 00 DEGREES 30 MINUTES 47 SECONDS WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 29.81 FEET TO THE POINT OF CURVATURE OF A CURVE CONCAVE NORTHEASTERLY
AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 470.00 FEET; THENCE ALONG SAID CURVE AN ARC DISTANCE OF
578,46 FEET TO THE POINT OF TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE, SAID CURVE BEING SUBTENDED BY A
CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH 34 DEGREES 44 MINUTES 45 SECONDS EAST, AND A CHORD
DISTANCE OF 542.64 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 70 DEGREES 00 MINUTES 17 SECONDS EAST, A
DISTANCE OF 190.75 FEET TO THE POINT OF CURVATURE OF A CURVE CONCAVE
SOUTHWESTERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 360.00 FEET; THENCE ALONG SAID CURVE AN ARC
DISTANCE OF 364.42 FEET TO THE POINT OF TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE, SAID CURVE BEING
SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH 41 DEGREES 00 MINUTES 17 SECONDS EAST, AND
A CHORD DISTANCE OF 349.06 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 12 DEGREES 00 MINUTES 17 SECONDS EAST,
A DISTANCE OF 170.79 FEET TO THE POINT OF CURVATURE OF A CURVE CONCAVE WESTERLY
AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 260.00 FEET; THENCE ALONG SAID CURVE AN ARC DISTANCE OF 48.62
FEET, SAID CURVE BEING SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH 06 DEGREES 38 MINUTES
50 SECONDS EAST AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 48.55 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 88 DEGREES 37
MINUTES 36 SECONDS WEST DEPARTING THE AFOREMENTIONED SOUTHWESTERLY RIGHT OF
LINE OF VILLA DRIVE WEST, A DISTANCE OF 471.38 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 88 DEGREES 28
MINUTES 30 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 589.08 FEET; THENCE NORTH 33 DEGREES 37
MINUTES 07 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 50.65 FEET, THENCE NORTH 38 DEGREES 07
MINUTES 37 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 95.67 FEET TO A POINT ON A WESTERLY LINE OF
THE AFOREMENTIONED TRACT "FD2, GARDENS AT HAMMOCK BEACH"; THENCE NORTH 01
DEGREES 27 MINUTES 08 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 968.01 FEET TO THE POINT OF
BEGINNING,

Page 282 of 391




SUMMERTOWN
PROPERTY OWNED BY PALM COAST INTRACOASTAL, LLC

LEGAL DESCRIPTION

A PARCEL OF LAND IN THE SOUTH 1/2 OF SECTION 11, TOWNSHIP 12 SOUTH, RANGE 31 EAST, FLAGLER
COUNTY, FLORIDA, MORE PARTICULARLY DESCR{BED AS FOLLOWS:

COMMENCE AT THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF GOVERNMENT SECTION 11, TOWNSHIP 12 SOUTH, RANGE
31 EAST AS MONUMENTED BY A 4”7 X 4” CONCRETE MONUMENT INSCRIBED WITH A “T”; THENCE ALONG
THE SOUTHERLY LINE OF SAID SECTION 11 NORTH 88°51'19” EAST A DISTANCE OF 2,591.75 FEET TO THE
POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE NORTH 00°06'41” EAST A DISTANCE OF 1,287.36 FEET, THENCE NORTH
88°28'36" EAST A DISTANCE OF 680.27 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 01°24’50" EAST, A DISTANCE OF 345.10 FEET;
THENCE SOUTH 88°36'24" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 150.00 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 01°28'15" EAST, A
DISTANCE OF 300,30 FEET; THENCE NORTH 88°36'24" EAST, A DISTANCE OF 150.00 FEET; THENCE SOUTH
01°08'43" EAST, A DISTANCE OF 24.77 FEET; THENCE NORTH 88°54'22” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 749,54 FEET
TO A POINT ON THE WESTERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF STATE ROAD 201, (ALSO KNOWN AS JOHN
ANDERSON HIGHWAY); THENCE ALONG SAID WESTERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE, SOUTH 18°11°55" EAST, A
DISTANCE OF 401,46 FEET; THENCE DEPARTING SAID RIGHT OF WAY LINE, SOUTH 77°14'08” WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 99.57 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 01°16°02” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 216.94 FEET; THENCE SOUTH
88°50'35” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 126.47 FEET TO A POINT ON THE SOUTHERLY LINE OF AFORESAID
SECTION 11; THENCE ALONG SAID SOUTHERLY LINE SCUTH 88°51'19” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 1,350.55
FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.

Page 283 of 391




SUMMERTOWN
PROPERTY OWNED BY VERANDA BAY INVESTMENTS LLC

LEGAL DESCRIPTION

A PORTION OF LOTS 1, 3, 7, 8 AND 9, AND ALL OF LOTS 4, 10, 11 AND 12, BLOCK C, BUNNELL
DEVELOPMENT COMPANY'S LAND AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOODK 1, PAGE 1, IN THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF
FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA, TOGETHER WITH A PORTION OF GOVERNMENT SECTION 14, 38, AND 39,
TOWNSHIP 12 SOUTH, RANGE 31 EAST, FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA, SITUATED IN GOVERNMENT
SECTIONS 11, 14, 38 AND 39, TOWNSHIP 12 SOUTH, RANGE 31 EAST, FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA, BEING
MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

COMMENCE AT THE INTERSECTION OF THE EAST RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF JOHN ANDERSON HIGHWAY
(STATE ROAD 201) AND THE NORTH LINE OF SAID SECTION 38-12-31; THENCE SOUTH 71°47'17"” WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 100.00 FEET TO A POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF JOHN ANDERSON HIGHWAY
(STATE ROAD 201}, ALSO BEING THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE ALONG SAID WEST RIGHT OF WAY
LINE THE FOLLOWING THREE COURSES: SOUTH 18°10°26" EAST, A DISTANCE OF 3,184,36 FEETTO APOINT
OF CURVATURE OF A NON-TANGENT CURVE CONCAVE NORTHEASTERLY HAVING A RADIUS OF 1,196.28
FEET, A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 22°09°26" AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 459.74 FEET WHICH BEARS SOUTH
29°14’°21" EAST; THENCE SOUTHEASTERLY ALONG THE ARC OF SAID CURVE A DISTANCE OF 462.62 FEET;
THENCE SQUTH 40°21°41” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 776.28 FEET; THENCE DEPARTING SALD WEST RIGHT OF
WAY LINE SOUTH 69°18°47” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 1,433.82 FEET, THENCE NORTH 20°41°22" WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 995.98 FEET, THENCE NORTH 24°04'44"” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 1,618.01 FEET; THENCE
NORTH 86°17°06" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 2,604.28 FEET; THENCE NORTH 60°37' 10" WEST, A DISTANCE OF
341,50 FEET; THENCE NORTH 43°23'02” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 2,172.87 FEET, THENCE NORTH 30°47’31"
EAST, A DISTANCE OF 1,526.35 FEET; THENCE NORTH 45°31°15” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 902.38 FEET;
THENCE NORTH 40°14'18" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 1,732.75 FEET; THENCE NORTH 06°10°40” WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 189,68 FEET; THENCE NORTH 00°15°33” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 614.90 FEET; THENCE NORTH
88°3216" EAST, A DISTANCE OF 257.93 FEET; THENCE NORTH 01°27'08” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 1,087.72
FEET TO A POINT ON THE SOUTH LINE OF STATE ROAD NO. 100; THENCE ALONG SAID SOUTH RIGHT OF
WAY LINE SOUTH 89°29°03" EAST A DISTANCE OF 959.81 FEET; THENCE DEPARTING SAID SOUTH RIGHT
OF WAY LINE SOUTH 00°30°57" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 210.00 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 89°29'03” EAST, A
DISTANCE OF 210.00 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 00°30°57" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 389.92 FEET; THENCE SOUTH
89°28'38” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 822.42 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 00°06’48” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 1,704.61
FEET; THENCE NORTH 88°51'12"EAST, A DISTANCE OF 1,350.55 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 01°10°32” EAST, A
DISTANCE OF 660.84 FEET; THENCE NORTH 88°37'17” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 158.75 FEET; THENCE SOUTH
1B°14’40” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 330.09 FEET; THENCE NORTH 88°50'11" EAST, A DISTANCE OF 330.04
FEET TO A POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF JOHN ANDERSON HIGHWAY {STATE ROAD 201};
THENCE ALONG SAID RIGHT OF WAY LINE SOUTH 18°15°00” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 1,788.60 FEET TO THE
POINT OF BEGINNING.

LESS AND EXCEPT: THE LAND CONTAINED IN THE QUIT CLAIM DEED TO EAST FLAGLER MOSQUITO
CONTROL DISTRICT RECORDED IN OFFICIAL RECORDS BOOK 1620, PAGE 434, PUBLIC RECORDS OF
FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA. CONTAINING 0.89 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.

Pape lof2

Page 284 of 391




LESS AND EXCEPT: THE LAND CONTAINED IN THE SPECIAL WARRANTY DEED TO FLAGLER COUNTY
RECORDED IN OFHCIAL RECORDS BOOK 1636, PAGE 1694, PUBLIC RECORDS OF FLAGLER COUNTY,
FLORIDA. CONTAINING 81.32 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.

LESS AND EXCEPT: THE LAND CONTAINED IN THE SPECIAL WARRANTY DEED TO HIGHWAY 100
COMMERCIAL LLC RECORDED IN OFFICIAL RECORDS BOOK 1789, PAGE 750, PUBLIC RECORDS OF FLAGLER
COUNTY, FLORIDA. CONTAINING 18.94 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.

LESS AND EXCEPT: TRACT PL-2 OF THE VACATED PLAT OF GARDENS AT HAMMOCK BEACH, ACCORDING
TO THE PLAT THEREOF AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOCK 35, PAGES 80 THROUGH 100, PUBLIC RECORDS OF
FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA. CONTAINING A TOTAL OF 13.17 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.

Page 2 of 2

Page 285 of 391




= i

W

Jacksonville
Re]

Aerial

(==) Subject Property

¥ % Annexation Boundary

oo

D City of Flagler Beach
Existing City Limits

\Production\Summertown Map Set\Summertown\Summertown.aprx

ENGLAND-THIMS & MILLE
14775 Old St. Augustine Road, Jacksonville, F|
904.642.8990 | www.etmgeo.com | www.etminc.com

Page 286: 0B B35




EXHIBITC

Summertown (“Property”) Comprehensive Plan Text Amendment

Policy A.1.1.3.1 - Development of the Property shall be limited to a maximum of 1,640
residential units, a maximum of 840,000 square feet of nonresidential uses and a
maximum of 250 hotel rooms (“Development Plan”). Land uses permitted within the Low

Density Residential and Commercial Future Land Use designation shall be allowed as

permitted in the City Comprehensive Plan and Land Development Regulations (July 2025).

Changes to the Development Plan may be permitted providing the net new external trips

{PM peak hour) do not increase as certified by the Developer’s traffic engineer.

Page 287 of 391




- ObDsServer

25-00352F You. Your Neighbors. Your Neighborhood.
Palm CoastObserver.com

Palm Coast Observer
Published Weekly
Palm Coast, Flagler County, Florida
COUNTY OF FLAGLER

STATE OF FLORIDA

Before the undersigned authority personally appeared Nancy Kav
Raymond who on oath says that he/she is Publisher's Representative of the Palm

Coast Observer a weekly newspaper published at Palm Coast, Flagler County,
Florida; that the attached copy of advertisement,

being a Public Hearing

in the matter of Ordinance 2025-25, 2025-26

in the Court, was published in said newspaper by print in the
issues of 9/25/2025

Affiant further says that the Palm Coast Observer complies with all legal
requirements for publication in chapter 50, Florida Statutes.

*This Notice was placed on the newspaper’s website and floridapublicnotices.com
on the same day the notice appeared in the newspaper.

Sworn to and subscribed, and personally appeared by physical presence before me,

25th day of September, 2025 A.D.

by Nancy Kay Raym o0 is y known to me.
A
O oY
Notary Public, State of Florida
(SEAL)
mlll“ll.,."

e
~¢“‘\UBERT e,
Sy RRY . %
qgg:bﬂh . %

CITY OF FLAGLER BEACH
NOTICE OF PUBLIC
HEARING

The City Commnission pfopeses i sdopt Ordinance No. 2025-26 Entitled:

AN PF THE CITY OF THE CITY OF FLAGLER REACH,
FLORIDA, THE OFFICIAL ZONING MAP DESIGNATION FOR AFPROXI-
MATELY 545.54 ACHES OF CERTAIN REAL FOR
my; FOR DATE.

The City Comunission proposes 1o sdopt Ordmance No.
203525 Entrtled:

AN OF THE CITV OF THE CTTY OF FLAGLER BEACH,
FLORIDA, AMENDING THE COMPREHENSIVE FLAN FUTURE LAND USE MAP DES-
IGNATION PFOR APFROXIMATELY 544.97 ACRES OF CERTAIN REAL FROPERTY; PRO-
ITY: AND FOR AN

Applications have beer) submitted 10 resone this propeny (rom Planned Unit Develapment (FUD),
Reserved (L), and Single [Pamily Residential (1) Zoning Districts w the Msster Planned Deselopment
MPD) Zoning District, sapd 10 amend the Puture Land Use Map designation of the property from Agreul-
e, Conservation. and Mixed Use: High Intensity 10 Low Density Residestial and Commercial. All landa
are located Location Ma

FUBLIC HEARINGS ARE SCHEDULED TO BE HELD AT CITY HALL. 104 & 3ND STREET, FLA-
GLER BEACH, FLORIDY AS FOLLOWS:

PLANNING AND ARGHITECTURAL REVIEW BOARD TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 AT 5:90 PM.

ST READING CITY qOMMISSION THURSDAY, OCTOBER 9. 3035 AT 5:30 PM. OR AS SOON
‘THEREAFTER AS POSS|BLE.

IND HEADING 13, 2025 AT 530 PM. OR AS
SOON THEREAFTER AY POSSINLE.
ALLIN P INVITED TO ATTEND.

PLEASE DIRECT ANY QUESTIONS TO THE CITY OF FLAGLER BEACH AT (386-317-2000) EXT.

Th e & 4o a Sature dute ar dutea. The toos snd dtes of

of & public hearing dhiall fe annouseed during the poblic brariag withou any firtber published sotie.
4 o it b o i

lacuted at 108 South Sevoel Storet, Flagler Beack, Flarda.

If & perwn devides to pppeal any derision made with respect 1o amy matter considered of the above
referrnced hearimgs. he sl will nessd & recond of the proceedings. For such purposes. 1 may be necesary
10 ensure that & vertatin] recard of Uie procesdings is made, which soond ineludes the testimony and
evudencr upan which the dppeal i 10 br baed.

the Act
of these proceedings should contact the City Clerks Officr a1 355 Eat.
10 the meeting. For jurthey information sbout this request, please call the Planning mnd Building Depan-
memi w (386) 517-2000 Hat. 231 The public may inspect information that is more detailed dunng office
‘houn st the Planning 500 5. Daytona Ave.

immny

Location Map

Page 288 of 391




CITY OF FLAGLER BEACH
BUILDING AND PLANNING DEPARTMENT

GENERAL APPLICATION
(O Finalsite Plan (O Preliminary Plat
D Master Site Plan D Final Plat
(O] site Development Plan(s) () Plat Vacating
D Rezoning D Subdivision Master Plan
D Comprehensive Plan Amendment D Non-statutory Land Division/Parcel Reconfiguration
U Future Land Use Map Amendment (:] Site Plan Modification (Post approval)
(O special Exception () Development Order Modification
() Variance (O Wireless Communication Facility (new structure)

Application Submittal Date:

Application No.: PFLUMA25-0002

Fee Paid: § . Date Received:

Employee Accepting Application (print name):

Rejected Date: . Rejected by:

Reason for Rejection:

A. PROJECT NAME: ___Summertown
B. LOCATION OF SUBJECT PROPERTY (PHYSICAL ADDRESS):

C. PROPERTY APPRAISER'S PARCEL ID NUMBER(s): __S€€ attached Exhibit "B" parcel ID Numbers

D. LEGAL DESCRIPTION: Subdivision Name;

See attached Exhibit "A" legal description

Section; Block(s); Lot(s);

E. SUBJECT PROPERTY ACRES / SQUARE FOOTAGE:

Agriculture/Timberlands PUD
F. FUTURE LAND USE MAP DESIGNATION: EXISTING ZONING DISTRICT:

OVERLAY DISTRICT:

G. FLOOD ZONE: FEMA COMMUNITY PANEL NUMBER: DATE:

H. CURRENT USE OF PROPERTY: _Vacant

|. DESCRIPTION OF REQUEST/PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT (ATTACH ADDITIONAL SHEETS)

1. PROPOSED NUMBER OF LOTS (If Applicable): Development Phasing: ves(CIwo (O

11.22.21 GENERAL APPLICATION Page 1 of 2

Page 289 of 391



CITY OF FLAGLER BEACH
PLANNING & ZONING DEPARTMENT

K. LIST BELOW ANY APPLICATIONS CURRENTLY UNDER REVIEW OR RECENTLY APPROVED ASSOCIATED WITH THIS

APPLICATION:

L. WATER/SEWER PROVIDER:

M. EXISTING MORTGAGE?

YESD No@

OWNER:Veranda Bay Investments, LLC &

APPLICANT/AGENT:

Name: Palm Coast Intracoastal, LLC

Name: Michael D. Chiumento Ill, Esq.

Mailing Address: 3129 Springbank Lane, Charlotte, NC 28226

Mailing Address: 14> City Place, Suite 30T, Palm Coast,

Phone Number: 386-986-2411

Phone Number: 385.445-8900

E-mail Address: kenbelshe@yahoo.com

E-mail Address:

MORTGAGE HOLDER:

ENGINEER OR PROFESSIONAL:

Name:

Name: Lindsay Haga, England-Thims & Miller, Inc.

Mailing Address:

Mailing Address:

Phone Number:

Phone Number:—- 904-376-6296

E-mail Address:

E-mail Address: HagalL@etminc.com

SURVEYOR:

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT:

Name:

Name:

Mailing Address:

Mailing Address:

Phone Number:

Phone Number:

E-mail Address:

E-mail Address:

PLANNER:

TRAFFIC ENGINEER:

Name:

Name:

Mailing Address:

Mailing Address:

Phone Number:

Phone Number:

E-mail Address:

E-mail Address:

ATTORNEY OF RECORD:

DEVELOPER:

Name: Michael D. Chiumento Ill, Esq.

Name:

Mailing Address: 145 City Place, Suite 301, Palm Coast

Mailing Address:

Phone Number: 386-445-8900

Phone Number:

E-mail Address: Michael3@legalteamforifie.com

E-mail Address:

| HEREBY CERTIFY THAT ALL INFORMATION ON THIS APPLICATION IS CORRECT:
Signature of owner OR person authorized to represent this application:

Sl AL

William G. Allen, as Manager of
nts, LILC

Signature(s):

William'G. Allen, as Manager of
Printed or typed name(s)Palm Coast Intracoastal, LLC

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by means of _{ﬁwysical presence or__ online notarization

this JOay of, July 20 25 py William G. Allen as Manager individual submitted

by _yPersonal Knowledge ___Satisfactory Evidence: Type
{ .

QAL by A. R—QMU d on

Signature of Notary Public, State of Florida

(SEAL)

INTAKE APPLICATION Page 2 of 2

TRACEY A. BENAVIDES
= Notary Public-State of Florida
Commission # HH 190061

My Commission Expires

January 02, 2026

R

wWillg
WY Al

71, OF P
LT

Page 290 of 391




CITY OF FLAGLER BEACH

BUILDING AND PLANNING DEPARTMENT

K. LIST BELOW ANY APPLICATIONS CURRENTLY UNDER REVIEW OR RECENTLY APPROVED ASSOCIATED WITH THIS

APPLICATION:
L. WATER/SEWER PROVIDER:

M. EXISTING MORTGAGE?  Yes(J No(X]

owner: Highway 100 Commercial, LLC

appLicant/acent: Michael D. Chiumento

Name:Michelle Chira, Trustee of the Michelle

Name: Chiumento Law, PLLC

Mailing Address: Chita Revocable Trust, as Vgr.

Mailing Address: 145 City Place, Ste. 301, Pa

Phone Number: 800 Highland Ave., Suite 200

Phone Number: 386-445-8900

E-mail Address: Ori@ndo, FL 32803

Esq.

Im Coast, FL
32164

E-mail Address: michael3@legalteamforlife.com

MORTGAGE HOLDER: N/A

ENGINEER OR PROFESSIONAL:

Name:

Name:

Mailing Address:

Malling Address:

Phone Number:

Phone Number:

E-mail Address:

E-mail Address:

SURVEYOR:

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT:

Name:

Name:

Mailing Address:

Mailing Address:

Phone Number:

Phone Number:

E-mail Address: E-mail Address:
PLANNER: TRAFFIC ENGINEER:
Name: Name:

Mailing Address: Mailing Address:
Phane Number: Phone Number:
E-mail Address: E-mail Address:

ATTORNEY OF RECORD:

DEVELOPER:

Name:

Name:

Mailing Address:

Mailing Address:

Phone Number:

Phone Number:

E-mait Address:

E-mail Address:

| HEREBY CERTIFY THAT ALL INFORMATION ON THIS APPLICATION IS CORRECT:

Signature of ov%son authorized to fepresent this application:
Signature(s):

Printed or typed nam@ﬂgmmtpgyichelle Chira Revocable Trust, as Manager of

y Ll

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by means of __ physical presence or__ online notarization
this_ 1> dayof, {UNE _2024 pyMichelle Chira, Trustee of the Michelle Chira individual submitted

by v PersonalKnowledge ___ Satisfactory Evidence: Type

X

Signaturé_of l\‘l_t;tary Public, State of Florida

11.22.21

N

Expires 2/5/2028

otary Public State of Florida
Dawn Harris
i My Commlssion HH 489042

Revocable Trust, as Manager of Highway 100 Commercial, LLC

S ————

GENERAL APPLICATION Page 2of 2

Page 291 of 391



CITY OF FLAGLER BEACH

BUILDING AND PLANNING DEPARTMENT

K. LIST BELOW ANY APPLICATIONS CURRENTLY UNDER REVIEW OR RECENTLY APPROVED ASSOCIATED WITH THIS

APPLICATION:

L. WATER/SEWER PROVIDER:

YesD Nom

- owner: Highway 100Commercial, LLC

M. EXISTING MORTGAGE?

Mary L. Demetree, as Trustee of the Mary L.
Demetree Revocable Trust, as Manager

aepticant/acent: Michael D. Chiumento lEsq.

Name: Chiumento Law, PLLC _

Mailing Address:
E-mail Address:

Address: 800 Highland Ave,, Suite 200 mlchaeﬂ_@legalieamfo.[llf_e.cnm__.._
Orlando, FL 32803

MORTGAGE HOLDER: N/A ENGINEER OR PROFESSIONAL:

Name: Name:

Mailing Address:

Malling Address:

Phone Number:
E-mail Address:

Phone Number:
E-mail Address:

SURVEYOR:

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT:

Name:

Name:

Mailing Address:
Phone Number:

Mailing Address:
Phone Number;

E-mail Address:

PLANNER:
Name:

Mailing Address:
Phone Number:
E-mail Address:

E-mail Address:

TRAFFIC ENGINEER:
Name:

Mailing Address:
Phone Number:

" E-mail Address:

| ATTORNEY OF RECORD:
Name:
Mailing Address:

DEVELOPER:

Name:
Mailing Address:

Phone Number:

“Phone Number:

E-mail Address:

Printed or typad-hame(s):

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by means of Yphysical presence or__ online notarization this

Address:

Mary L. Demetree, as Trustee of the Mary L. Demetree Revocable Trust

dayof, MBY_____ 5024 pyMary L. Demetree, as Trustee of the Mary L. Demetree Revocable Trust

by M Personal Knowledge ___Satisfactory Evidence: Type

Signature of Notary Public, State of Florida

11.22.21

AZYADET N. ALVAREZ
MY COMMISSION # HH 350861

Page 292 of 391



EXHIBIT “A”
SUMMERTOWN
PROPERTY OWNED BY HIGHWAY 100 COMMERCIAL, LLC

LEGAL DESCRIPTION

A PORTION OF TRACT "FD2", GARDENS AT HAMMOCK BEACH, AS RECORDED IN MAP BOOK 35,
PAGES 80 THROUGH 100 OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA AND BEING
MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

FOR A POINT OF BEGINNING COMMENCE AT THE NORTHWESTERLY CORNER OF SAID TRACT
"FD2", SAID POINT ALSO BEING ON THE SOUTHERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF STATE ROAD 100 (A
200 FOOT RIGHT OF WAY AS ESTABLISHED); THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 29 MINUTES 03
SECONDS EAST, ALONG SAID SOUTHERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE, A DISTANCE OF 382.15 FEET TO
THE INTERSECTION WITH SOUTHWESTERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF VILLA DRIVE WEST (A
VARIABLE WIDTH PRIVATE RIGHT OF WAY AS ESTABLISHED), SAID POINT BEING THE POINT OF
CURVATURE OF A CURVE CONCAVE SOUTHWESTERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 35.00 FEET;
THENCE ALONG SAID CURVE AND SAID SOUTHWESTERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE AN ARC DISTANCE
OF 51.49 FEET TO THE POINT OF TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE, SAID CURVE BEING SUBTENDED BY
A CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH 41 DEGREES 37 MINUTES 50 SECONDS EAST, AND A CHORD
DISTANCE OF 46.97 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 00 DEGREES 30 MINUTES 47 SECONDS WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 29.81 FEET TO THE POINT OF CURVATURE OF A CURVE CONCAVE NORTHEASTERLY
AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 470.00 FEET; THENCE ALONG SAID CURVE AN ARC DISTANCE OF
578.46 FEET TO THE POINT OF TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE, SAID CURVE BEING SUBTENDED BY A
CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH 34 DEGREES 44 MINUTES 45 SECONDS EAST, AND A CHORD
DISTANCE OF 542.64 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 70 DEGREES 00 MINUTES 17 SECONDS EAST, A
DISTANCE OF 190.75 FEET TO THE POINT OF CURVATURE OF A CURVE CONCAVE
SOUTHWESTERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 360.00 FEET; THENCE ALONG SAID CURVE AN ARC
DISTANCE OF 364.42 FEET TO THE POINT OF TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE, SAID CURVE BEING
SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH 41 DEGREES 00 MINUTES 17 SECONDS EAST, AND
A CHORD DISTANCE OF 349.06 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 12 DEGREES 00 MINUTES 17 SECONDS EAST,
A DISTANCE OF 170.79 FEET TO THE POINT OF CURVATURE OF A CURVE CONCAVE WESTERLY
AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 260.00 FEET; THENCE ALONG SAID CURVE AN ARC DISTANCE OF 48.62
FEET, SAID CURVE BEING SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH 06 DEGREES 3B MINUTES
50 SECONDS EAST AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 48.55 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 88 DEGREES 37
MINUTES 36 SECONDS WEST DEPARTING THE AFOREMENTIONED SOUTHWESTERLY RIGHT OF
LINE OF VILLA DRIVE WEST, A DISTANCE OF 471.38 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 88 DEGREES 28
MINUTES 30 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 589.08 FEET; THENCE NORTH 33 DEGREES 37
MINUTES 07 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 50.65 FEET; THENCE NORTH 38 DEGREES 07
MINUTES 37 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 95.67 FEET TO A POINT ON A WESTERLY LINE OF
THE AFOREMENTIONED TRACT "FD2, GARDENS AT HAMMOCK BEACH"; THENCE NORTH 01
DEGREES 27 MINUTES 08 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 968.01 FEET TO THE POINT OF
BEGINNING.

Page 293 of 391



SUMMERTOWN

PROPERTY OWNED BY PALM COAST INTRACOASTAL, LLC

LEGAL DESCRIPTION
COMP PLAN AMENDMENT

A PARCEL OF LAND IN THE SOUTH 1/2 OF SECTION 11, TOWNSHIP 12 SOUTH, RANGE 31 EAST, FLAGLER
COUNTY, FLORIDA, MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

COMMENCE AT THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF GOVERNMENT SECTION 11, TOWNSHIP 12 SOUTH, RANGE
31 EAST AS MONUMENTED BY A 4” X 4” CONCRETE MONUMENT INSCRIBED WITH A “T”; THENCE ALONG
THE SOUTHERLY LINE OF SAID SECTION 11 NORTH 88°51'19” EAST A DISTANCE OF 2,591.75 FEET TO THE
POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE NORTH 00°06’41” EAST A DISTANCE OF 1,287.36 FEET; THENCE NORTH
88°28’36” EAST A DISTANCE OF 680.27 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 01°24’50” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 345.10 FEET;
THENCE SOUTH 88°36’24” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 150.00 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 01°28’15” EAST, A
DISTANCE OF 300.30 FEET; THENCE NORTH 88°36’24” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 150.00 FEET; THENCE SOUTH
01°08’43” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 24.77 FEET; THENCE NORTH 88°54’22” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 749.54 FEET
TO A POINT ON THE WESTERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF STATE ROAD 201, (ALSO KNOWN AS JOHN
ANDERSON HIGHWAY); THENCE ALONG SAID WESTERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE, SOUTH 18°11'55” EAST, A
DISTANCE OF 401.46 FEET, THENCE DEPARTING SAID RIGHT OF WAY LINE, SOUTH 77°14’08” WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 99.57 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 01°16’02” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 216.94 FEET; THENCE SOUTH
88°50'35” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 126.47 FEET TO A POINT ON THE SOUTHERLY LINE OF AFORESAID
SECTION 11; THENCE ALONG SAID SOUTHERLY LINE SOUTH 88°51’19” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 1,350.55
FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.

Page 294 of 391



SUMMERTOWN
PROPERTY OWNED BY VERANDA BAY INVESTMENTS LLC

LEGAL DESCRIPTION
COMP PLAN AMENDMENT

A PORTION OF LOTS 1, 3, 7, 8 AND 9, AND ALL OF LOTS 4, 10, 11 AND 12, BLOCK C, BUNNELL
DEVELOPMENT COMPANY’S LAND AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 1, PAGE 1, IN THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF
FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA, TOGETHER WITH A PORTION OF GOVERNMENT SECTION 14, 38, AND 39,
TOWNSHIP 12 SOUTH, RANGE 31 EAST, FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA, SITUATED IN GOVERNMENT
SECTIONS 11, 14, 38 AND 39, TOWNSHIP 12 SOUTH, RANGE 31 EAST, FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA, BEING
MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

COMMENCE AT THE INTERSECTION OF THE EAST RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF JOHN ANDERSON HIGHWAY
(STATE ROAD 201) AND THE NORTH LINE OF SAID SECTION 38-12-31; THENCE SOUTH 71°47°17” WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 100.00 FEET TO A POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF JOHN ANDERSON HIGHWAY
(STATE ROAD 201), ALSO BEING THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE ALONG SAID WEST RIGHT OF WAY
LINE THE FOLLOWING THREE COURSES: SOUTH 18°10°26” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 3,184.36 FEET TO A POINT
OF CURVATURE OF A NON-TANGENT CURVE CONCAVE NORTHEASTERLY HAVING A RADIUS OF 1,196.28
FEET, A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 22°09'26” AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 459.74 FEET WHICH BEARS SOUTH
29°14’21” EAST; THENCE SOUTHEASTERLY ALONG THE ARC OF SAID CURVE A DISTANCE OF 462.62 FEET;
THENCE SOUTH 40°21’41” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 776.28 FEET; THENCE DEPARTING SAID WEST RIGHT OF
WAY LINE SOUTH 69°18’47” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 1,433.82 FEET, THENCE NORTH 20°41'22” WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 995.98 FEET, THENCE NORTH 24°04’44” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 1,618.01 FEET; THENCE
NORTH 86°17°06” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 2,604.28 FEET; THENCE NORTH 60°37°10” WEST, A DISTANCE OF
341.50 FEET; THENCE NORTH 43°23'02” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 2,172.87 FEET, THENCE NORTH 30°47°31”
EAST, A DISTANCE OF 1,526.35 FEET; THENCE NORTH 45°31’15” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 902.38 FEET;
THENCE NORTH 40°14’18” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 1,732.75 FEET; THENCE NORTH 06°10°40” WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 189.68 FEET; THENCE NORTH 00°15’33” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 614.90 FEET; THENCE NORTH
88°32’16” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 257.93 FEET; THENCE NORTH 01°27°08” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 1,087.72
FEET TO A POINT ON THE SOUTH LINE OF STATE ROAD NO. 100; THENCE ALONG SAID SOUTH RIGHT OF
WAY LINE SOUTH 89°29°03” EAST A DISTANCE OF 959.81 FEET; THENCE DEPARTING SAID SOUTH RIGHT
OF WAY LINE SOUTH 00°30’57” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 210.00 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 89°29’03” EAST, A
DISTANCE OF 210.00 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 00°30°57” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 389.92 FEET; THENCE SOUTH
89°28’38” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 822.42 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 00°06’48” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 1,704.61
FEET; THENCE NORTH 88°51'12”EAST, A DISTANCE OF 1,350.55 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 01°10’32” EAST, A
DISTANCE OF 660.84 FEET; THENCE NORTH 88°37°17” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 158.75 FEET; THENCE SOUTH
18°14’40” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 330.09 FEET; THENCE NORTH 88°50’11” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 330.04
FEET TO A POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF JOHN ANDERSON HIGHWAY (STATE ROAD 201);
THENCE ALONG SAID RIGHT OF WAY LINE SOUTH 18°15’00” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 1,788.60 FEET TO THE
POINT OF BEGINNING.

LESS AND EXCEPT: THE LAND CONTAINED IN THE QUIT CLAIM DEED TO EAST FLAGLER MOSQUITO
CONTROL DISTRICT RECORDED IN OFFICIAL RECORDS BOOK 1620, PAGE 434, PUBLIC RECORDS OF
FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA. CONTAINING 0.89 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.

Page 10of 2

Page 295 of 391



LESS AND EXCEPT: THE LAND CONTAINED IN THE SPECIAL WARRANTY DEED TO FLAGLER COUNTY
RECORDED IN OFFICIAL RECORDS BOOK 1636, PAGE 1694, PUBLIC RECORDS OF FLAGLER COUNTY,
FLORIDA. CONTAINING 81.32 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.

LESS AND EXCEPT: THE LAND CONTAINED IN THE SPECIAL WARRANTY DEED TO HIGHWAY 100
COMMERCIAL LLC RECORDED IN OFFICIAL RECORDS BOOK 1789, PAGE 750, PUBLIC RECORDS OF FLAGLER
COUNTY, FLORIDA. CONTAINING 18.94 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.

LESS AND EXCEPT: TRACT PL-2 OF THE VACATED PLAT OF GARDENS AT HAMMOCK BEACH, ACCORDING
TO THE PLAT THEREOF AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 35, PAGES 80 THROUGH 100, PUBLIC RECORDS OF
FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA. CONTAINING A TOTAL OF 13.17 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.

Page 2 of 2

Page 296 of 391



SUMMERTOWN
PROPERTY OWNED BY HIGHWAY 100 COMMERCIAL, LLC

LEGAL DESCRIPTION
COMP PLAN AMENDMENT

A PORTION OF TRACT "FD2", GARDENS AT HAMMOCK BEACH, AS RECORDED IN MAP BOOK 35,
PAGES 80 THROUGH 100 OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA AND BEING
MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

FOR A POINT OF BEGINNING COMMENCE AT THE NORTHWESTERLY CORNER OF SAID TRACT
"FD2", SAID POINT ALSO BEING ON THE SOUTHERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF STATE ROAD 100 (A
200 FOOT RIGHT OF WAY AS ESTABLISHED); THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 29 MINUTES 03
SECONDS EAST, ALONG SAID SOUTHERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE, A DISTANCE OF 382.15 FEET TO
THE INTERSECTION WITH SOUTHWESTERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF VILLA DRIVE WEST (A
VARIABLE WIDTH PRIVATE RIGHT OF WAY AS ESTABLISHED), SAID POINT BEING THE POINT OF
CURVATURE OF A CURVE CONCAVE SOUTHWESTERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 35.00 FEET;
THENCE ALONG SAID CURVE AND SAID SOUTHWESTERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE AN ARC DISTANCE
OF 51.49 FEET TO THE POINT OF TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE, SAID CURVE BEING SUBTENDED BY
A CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH 41 DEGREES 37 MINUTES 50 SECONDS EAST, AND A CHORD
DISTANCE OF 46.97 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 00 DEGREES 30 MINUTES 47 SECONDS WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 29.81 FEET TO THE POINT OF CURVATURE OF A CURVE CONCAVE NORTHEASTERLY
AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 470.00 FEET; THENCE ALONG SAID CURVE AN ARC DISTANCE OF
578.46 FEET TO THE POINT OF TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE, SAID CURVE BEING SUBTENDED BY A
CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH 34 DEGREES 44 MINUTES 45 SECONDS EAST, AND A CHORD
DISTANCE OF 542.64 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 70 DEGREES 00 MINUTES 17 SECONDS EAST, A
DISTANCE OF 190.75 FEET TO THE POINT OF CURVATURE OF A CURVE CONCAVE
SOUTHWESTERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 360.00 FEET; THENCE ALONG SAID CURVE AN ARC
DISTANCE OF 364.42 FEET TO THE POINT OF TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE, SAID CURVE BEING
SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH 41 DEGREES 00 MINUTES 17 SECONDS EAST, AND
A CHORD DISTANCE OF 349.06 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 12 DEGREES 00 MINUTES 17 SECONDS EAST,
A DISTANCE OF 170.79 FEET TO THE POINT OF CURVATURE OF A CURVE CONCAVE WESTERLY
AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 260.00 FEET; THENCE ALONG SAID CURVE AN ARC DISTANCE OF 48.62
FEET, SAID CURVE BEING SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH 06 DEGREES 3B MINUTES
50 SECONDS EAST AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 48.55 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 88 DEGREES 37
MINUTES 36 SECONDS WEST DEPARTING THE AFOREMENTIONED SOUTHWESTERLY RIGHT OF
LINE OF VILLA DRIVE WEST, A DISTANCE OF 471.38 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 88 DEGREES 28
MINUTES 30 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 589.08 FEET; THENCE NORTH 33 DEGREES 37
MINUTES 07 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 50.65 FEET; THENCE NORTH 38 DEGREES 07
MINUTES 37 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 95.67 FEET TO A POINT ON A WESTERLY LINE OF
THE AFOREMENTIONED TRACT "FD2, GARDENS AT HAMMOCK BEACH"; THENCE NORTH 01
DEGREES 27 MINUTES 08 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 968.01 FEET TO THE POINT OF
BEGINNING.

Page 297 of 391



SUMMERTOWN

PROPERTY OWNED BY PALM COAST INTRACOASTAL, LLC

LEGAL DESCRIPTION

A PARCEL OF LAND IN THE SOUTH 1/2 OF SECTION 11, TOWNSHIP 12 SOUTH, RANGE 31 EAST, FLAGLER
COUNTY, FLORIDA, MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

COMMENCE AT THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF GOVERNMENT SECTION 11, TOWNSHIP 12 SOUTH, RANGE
31 EAST AS MONUMENTED BY A 4” X 4” CONCRETE MONUMENT INSCRIBED WITH A “T”; THENCE ALONG
THE SOUTHERLY LINE OF SAID SECTION 11 NORTH 88°51'19” EAST A DISTANCE OF 2,591.75 FEET TO THE
POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE NORTH 00°06’41” EAST A DISTANCE OF 1,287.36 FEET; THENCE NORTH
88°28’36” EAST A DISTANCE OF 680.27 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 01°24’50” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 345.10 FEET;
THENCE SOUTH 88°36’24” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 150.00 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 01°28’15” EAST, A
DISTANCE OF 300.30 FEET; THENCE NORTH 88°36’24” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 150.00 FEET; THENCE SOUTH
01°08’43” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 24.77 FEET; THENCE NORTH 88°54’22” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 749.54 FEET
TO A POINT ON THE WESTERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF STATE ROAD 201, (ALSO KNOWN AS JOHN
ANDERSON HIGHWAY); THENCE ALONG SAID WESTERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE, SOUTH 18°11’55” EAST, A
DISTANCE OF 401.46 FEET, THENCE DEPARTING SAID RIGHT OF WAY LINE, SOUTH 77°14’08” WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 99.57 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 01°16’02” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 216.94 FEET; THENCE SOUTH
88°50'35” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 126.47 FEET TO A POINT ON THE SOUTHERLY LINE OF AFORESAID
SECTION 11; THENCE ALONG SAID SOUTHERLY LINE SOUTH 88°51’19” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 1,350.55
FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.

Page 298 of 391



SUMMERTOWN
PROPERTY OWNED BY VERANDA BAY INVESTMENTS LLC

LEGAL DESCRIPTION

A PORTION OF LOTS 1, 3, 7, 8 AND 9, AND ALL OF LOTS 4, 10, 11 AND 12, BLOCK C, BUNNELL
DEVELOPMENT COMPANY’S LAND AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 1, PAGE 1, IN THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF
FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA, TOGETHER WITH A PORTION OF GOVERNMENT SECTION 14, 38, AND 39,
TOWNSHIP 12 SOUTH, RANGE 31 EAST, FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA, SITUATED IN GOVERNMENT
SECTIONS 11, 14, 38 AND 39, TOWNSHIP 12 SOUTH, RANGE 31 EAST, FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA, BEING
MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

COMMENCE AT THE INTERSECTION OF THE EAST RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF JOHN ANDERSON HIGHWAY
(STATE ROAD 201) AND THE NORTH LINE OF SAID SECTION 38-12-31; THENCE SOUTH 71°47°17” WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 100.00 FEET TO A POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF JOHN ANDERSON HIGHWAY
(STATE ROAD 201), ALSO BEING THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE ALONG SAID WEST RIGHT OF WAY
LINE THE FOLLOWING THREE COURSES: SOUTH 18°10°26” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 3,184.36 FEET TO A POINT
OF CURVATURE OF A NON-TANGENT CURVE CONCAVE NORTHEASTERLY HAVING A RADIUS OF 1,196.28
FEET, A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 22°09'26” AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 459.74 FEET WHICH BEARS SOUTH
29°14°21” EAST; THENCE SOUTHEASTERLY ALONG THE ARC OF SAID CURVE A DISTANCE OF 462.62 FEET;
THENCE SOUTH 40°21’41” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 776.28 FEET; THENCE DEPARTING SAID WEST RIGHT OF
WAY LINE SOUTH 69°18’47” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 1,433.82 FEET, THENCE NORTH 20°41'22” WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 995.98 FEET, THENCE NORTH 24°04’44” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 1,618.01 FEET; THENCE
NORTH 86°17°06” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 2,604.28 FEET; THENCE NORTH 60°37°10” WEST, A DISTANCE OF
341.50 FEET; THENCE NORTH 43°23'02” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 2,172.87 FEET, THENCE NORTH 30°47°31”
EAST, A DISTANCE OF 1,526.35 FEET; THENCE NORTH 45°31’15” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 902.38 FEET;
THENCE NORTH 40°14’18” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 1,732.75 FEET; THENCE NORTH 06°10°40” WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 189.68 FEET; THENCE NORTH 00°15’33” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 614.90 FEET; THENCE NORTH
88°32’16” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 257.93 FEET; THENCE NORTH 01°27°08” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 1,087.72
FEET TO A POINT ON THE SOUTH LINE OF STATE ROAD NO. 100; THENCE ALONG SAID SOUTH RIGHT OF
WAY LINE SOUTH 89°29°03” EAST A DISTANCE OF 959.81 FEET; THENCE DEPARTING SAID SOUTH RIGHT
OF WAY LINE SOUTH 00°30’57” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 210.00 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 89°29’03” EAST, A
DISTANCE OF 210.00 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 00°30°57” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 389.92 FEET; THENCE SOUTH
89°28’38” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 822.42 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 00°06'48” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 1,704.61
FEET; THENCE NORTH 88°51'12”EAST, A DISTANCE OF 1,350.55 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 01°10’32” EAST, A
DISTANCE OF 660.84 FEET; THENCE NORTH 88°37°17” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 158.75 FEET; THENCE SOUTH
18°14’40” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 330.09 FEET; THENCE NORTH 88°50°11” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 330.04
FEET TO A POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF JOHN ANDERSON HIGHWAY (STATE ROAD 201);
THENCE ALONG SAID RIGHT OF WAY LINE SOUTH 18°15’00” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 1,788.60 FEET TO THE
POINT OF BEGINNING.

LESS AND EXCEPT: THE LAND CONTAINED IN THE QUIT CLAIM DEED TO EAST FLAGLER MOSQUITO
CONTROL DISTRICT RECORDED IN OFFICIAL RECORDS BOOK 1620, PAGE 434, PUBLIC RECORDS OF
FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA. CONTAINING 0.89 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.

Page 10of 2

Page 299 of 391



LESS AND EXCEPT: THE LAND CONTAINED IN THE SPECIAL WARRANTY DEED TO FLAGLER COUNTY
RECORDED IN OFFICIAL RECORDS BOOK 1636, PAGE 1694, PUBLIC RECORDS OF FLAGLER COUNTY,
FLORIDA. CONTAINING 81.32 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.

LESS AND EXCEPT: THE LAND CONTAINED IN THE SPECIAL WARRANTY DEED TO HIGHWAY 100
COMMERCIAL LLC RECORDED IN OFFICIAL RECORDS BOOK 1789, PAGE 750, PUBLIC RECORDS OF FLAGLER
COUNTY, FLORIDA. CONTAINING 18.94 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.

LESS AND EXCEPT: TRACT PL-2 OF THE VACATED PLAT OF GARDENS AT HAMMOCK BEACH, ACCORDING
TO THE PLAT THEREOF AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 35, PAGES 80 THROUGH 100, PUBLIC RECORDS OF
FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA. CONTAINING A TOTAL OF 13.17 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.

Page 2 of 2

Page 300 of 391



EXHIBIT “B”

POD OWNER PROPERTY ACREAGE
6 Palm Coast Intracoastal LLC City of Flagler Beach - West Side (11-12-31-0650-000D0-0011) 31.58
p/o4 Highway 100 Commercial LLC | 13-12-31-2850-0FD20-0030 18.94
1,2,3,p/o Veranda Bay Investments LLC | West Side of John Anderson 13-12-31-0000-01010-0000 495.12
4, 5A, 5B
and 7
TOTAL ACREAGE 545.64

Page 301 of 391




Staff Report

Planning & Architectural Review Board Regular

Meeting b Cw
October 7, 2025

To: Planning & Architectural Review Board

From: Lupita McClenning, Planner

Meeting Date: October 7, 2025

Item Name: PRZ25-0002 ORDINANCE 2025-26 (Summertown): AN ORDINANCE OF

THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF FLAGLER BEACH, FLORIDA,
AMENDING THE OFFICIAL ZONING MAP DESIGNATION FOR
APPROXIMATELY 545.54 ACRES OF CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY;
PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS; AND
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE

Background:

The applicant wishes to amend the official zoning map for 545+/- acres from currently zoned
Planned Unit Development (Flagler County Designation), Reserved and Single Family Residential
(City of Flagler Beach Designations) bot Master Planned Development, City of Flagler Beach and
create one single integrated mixed-use community.

Fiscal Impact:
N/A

Staff Recommendation:

Staff recommends the Planning and Architectural Review Board recommend to the City
Commission to approve the Master Planned Development Agreement (MPDA) for
Summertown, finding the rezoning to be consistent with the purposes, goals, objectives, and
policies of the City of Flagler Beach Comprehensive Plan; rezoning is compatible with the Land
Development Regulations, is consistent with the uses and character of the surrounding land
uses; that rezoning results in a logical, timely and orderly development pattern; is in compliance
with SB 180 as the developer can propose to use the property under a set of self-imposed
restrictions that are more stringent than the city's general zoning code and that the City can
approve based on its determination restrictions are in the public's interest.

Attachments:

1. Ordinance 2025-26 Summertown MPDA Rezone Staff Report
2. Ordinance 2025-26 Summertown Rezone_MPD_FINAL DRAFT

Page 302 of 391



3. ST_Application for Rezoning EXECUTED

Page 303 of 391



To: Planning and Architectural Review Board
From: Lupita McClenning, City Planner

Applicant: Michael Chiumento

Property: 545 +/- acres located west of John Anderson and south of SR 100 Summertown

Request: Amend Official Zoning Map to Master Planned District (MPD) and Adopt Master
Planned Development Agreement (MPDA) for Summertown.

Date: September 29, 2025

Applicant requests 545+/- acres currently zoned Planned Unit Development (Flagler County
Designation), Reserved and Single Family Residential (City of Flagler Beach Designations) be
amended on official zoning map as Master Planned Development, City of Flagler Beach.

Staff Recommendation

Staff recommends that the Planning and Architectural Review Board recommend the City
Commission consider the following findings of fact and approve amending the official zoning map
property from the Flagler County designation of Planned Unit Development and City of Flagler
Beach designations of Reserved and Single Family Residential to Master Planned Development
(MPD) and approve accompanying Master Planned Development Agreement (MPDA) for 545+/-
acres of as:

1. Therezoningis consistent with the purposes, goals, objectives, and policies of the City
of Flagler Beach Comprehensive Plan;

2. The rezoning is compatible with the Land Development Regulations, and generally
consistent with the uses and character of the land surrounding and in the vicinity of
the land proposed for rezoning;

3. The rezoning will result in a logical, timely and orderly development pattern;

4. The staff report has demonstrated sufficient justification that there are changed

circumstances, which would require the rezoning request.

Staff Report MPDA Summertown Zoning Amendment

Page 304 of 391



Table of Contents

APPLICANT REQUEST: AMEND 2005 FLAGLER COUNTY PLAN . ...ccttttttttiuiiiiirirerreeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeenenens 4
SECTION 1 - RECITALS ...ttt ettt ettt et sttt sttt st e sttt esht e et e esbe e et e enbeeembeenbeesaneenneesane 4
SECTION 2. OWNER AUTHORIZATION ....oitiiiiiiiiiieiiiieeteete ettt et e e e e e e sereee e e e e e e e e s e e s nnseeeeeeas 5
SECTION 3. PROJECT AND MPDA SUMMERTOWN ....uuuiiitiiiiiaiee ittt e e e e et e e e e e e e s e mnneeeeeeas 5
Mixed-Use DeVEIOPMENT 545 ACIES ...uuuiiiiiiiiiieiiiiteeesiiieeesesitteeesssreeeesssabreeesssareeeeesssbeeeessssssnnessssnsens 5
SECTION 4 —MPD REVIEW AND APPROVAL PROCESS......ccctttiiiiiiiiiiiieeeee et 5
Section 4. MPD Development REVIEW PrOCESS .......ccvviiiiiiiiiee ettt ecree e et e e svee e e e e bae e e e e enrae e e e enres 6
SECTION 5. MODIFICATIONS TO DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT AND MPD MASTER PLAN ......ccccoiiiieeeeen. 6
SECTION 6. PERMITTED USES ...ttt ettt e e e e ettt et e e e e e e e s eee et e e e e e e e eesennnseeneeeas 6
RESIAENTIAL USES..c..niiiiiiiieiiie ettt ettt ettt ettt e sttt e e sbb e e s bt e e s bt e e s bt e e sbeeesabeeesabeeesanbeesaranesneeenns 7
COMMEICIAI USES ..ttt ettt st ettt e b e st s bt e sae e e bt e sae e et e e saeesaneenreeeaneennees 7
OpeN SPACE FOrtY PEICENT (A0%6) .. cceiiceieiee ettt e et e e e ertee e e e e etee e e e e ebae e e s esabaee e e eeabtaeeeeessaeeeeensens 7
SECTION 7. VEHICULAR/NON-VEHICULAR, PEDISTRIAN ACCESS AND INTERCONNECTIVITY .....cccovenenne. 7
SECTION 8. LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE AND PARTIAL NON-APPLICABILITY ..ceeiiiieieiee e 7
SECTION 9. FACILTITY COMMITIMENTS ..ottt s s s s e s e e e e e e e e e e e eeaeseeeesaenenens 8
PE. 10 OF A7 IMIPDA ...ttt ettt sttt st e s bt e st e bt e s et e e bt e s me e e b e e sae e s b e e smnesbeenreesareen 8
SECTION 10. DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS ...ttt e ettt et e e e e e s ne et e e e e e e s e s e neneeeeeeas 9
Lo [ ] =SSR 9
(O] o<1 I o F- [of 3P PP PP PTPPRPPRPRI 9
Waater/Wast@WEATEI/REUSE .......cocveeieieee et cetee ettt etee et e e et e et e e et e e eteeeebeeesbeeesnbesesbeeestesesseeesnnes 9
TrANSPOITATION c.ceeiiiiiiiiitiittreeere s e e e e e e e et et ettt ettt et e e e e e aebeba bbb s s sasaseeseseeeeeeeeeeeseeeeesesessssnsnsssnnnnnnnnnn 9
(DT Y1 T = O OO PU 9
Landscaping, Tree, and Vegetation ProteCtion........ccccee i eecciiiiiiieeee e e e 9
John Anderson HighWay BUFFEI ........uiiiiiiiee et e e e bee e e s 10

[T =4 o T oV -SSR PP 10
FIr@ Prot@CION c.coueviiiiiiiiiic it 10

L0 L] AT PSP PRR O PUPTR PP 10

LN =T oo o] =Tt 6 V7 Y2 11
WEtIanNd ProteCHION ....eeieiieeeee ettt ettt e s e et e e st e e sabe e s sabeeesabeeesareeesabeeenns 11
)14 F= T OO O P PP PP P PPPPPPOUPPPPPPPIRE 11
TeMPOrary FACHTIES ...uviiiiieeiieee e et e st e e e et e e e e et b e e e e e abaeeeeenasaaeeeeennreneesanasens 11
YN | I oY= - o TP 11

1Y =T L0 T PO UU PP PRPOP 11

2

Staff Report MPDA Summertown Zoning Amendment

Page 305 of 391



ABE RESTIICTION. ceeiiiiiiiiiiittiiesere e e e e e et et et ettt ettt ettt e e e e e bbb s sasaaesseseseeeeseeeeeeseseeenesessssnsnsnsnnnnns 12
AACCESSONY USES ..iiiiiiiiiiiiiieieeetttiei s s s s s s s s e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e et et et et e e e e e et aes b abasaaa s nanaaeeeeaaaeaaaeeeeenerereenanns 12
SECTION 11. PHASING OF DEVELOPMENT ...ttt ettt e et e e e e e e e e e e eeee s 12
YT 14 o] T o o T RSP PPP 12

(2 0eF: To 1V YRR PPP 12
ClRANING/GradiNG. ... veieeieee ettt ettt ete e e et e e et e e e et e e e bee e s baeesabeeesabeeesabeeeantaeeebaeesnseseanseeesares 12
SECTION 12. LOT AND BUILDING STANDARDS ... .euiiiiteiteeeee ettt e e s e e e e e e e s e snenreeeeeeas 14
OIS o 1< oA | ST PURT PRSP 14
Commercial and Mixed-Use (residential @above) ........ccceveeciieiiiiecciee e 15

FN ol Y=ot (UL | B Y [ PSSR 15
SECTION 13. PERMITS AND APPROVALS.......etiitiiteeitteettet ettt ettt et sbe sttt sbe e sare b e saneeas 16
SECTION 14. DEVELOPMENT FEES .....eeeeiiiiiiiiie ettt ettt e e e et e e e e e e e e e e e e eeeeas 16
SECTION 15. LONG-TERM MAINTENANCE COMMON AREAS. ... .o e e e e eeeeeeeeeeeeee 17
SECTION 16. BREACH, ENFORCEMENT, ALTERNATIVE DISPUTE AND CONFLICT RESOLUTION .............. 17
SECTION 17. NOTICES ... iiieiiteetee sttt ettt ettt sttt sttt et st et e s b e st e s bt e et e e bee s bt eneesanesneesaneeas 17
SECTION 18. SEVERABILITY ...eeiiiieeiteeieestte ettt ettt sttt sttt e st st e sie e et e sbe e et e e beeembeebeesaneeneesaneens 17
SECTION 19. SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS. ...ttt ettt e e e e e e e e et e e e e e e e e s e s s anesreeeeeeas 17
SECTION 20. GOVERNING LAW, VENUE AND COMPLIANCE WITH LAW. ..o 17
SECTION 21. TERM/EFFECTIVE DATE. ..oeeittiitteetieeteeeteeeteesteeeiteesteestveesteestaeesbeessseeabeesssesnseenssesaseanseesaseens 17
SECTION 22. RECORDATION .....cottiiittitienttt ettt sttt st ettt et e sttt essee st esbeesateesneesmneebeesanesneesaneens 17
SECTION 23. THIRD PARTY RIGHTS ..ttt ettt e e e e e et e e e e e e e e s e snenneeeeeeas 17
SECTION 24. SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE / TIME IS OF THE ESSENCE .....cvteiieeieerereeieerite e eseee e seeesaneens 17
SECTION 25. ATTORNEYS’ FEES.....oiiiiiiciiiie e eeitiee ettt e settte e e s tte e e e sitee e e s sesbaeee e ssbaeee e e snbeeesessabeeeessnnsees 17
SECTION 26. FORCE MAJEURE .....ooiiiiiiieitt ittt ettt ettt ettt sttt e s e sme e sneeneesaneeas 17
SECTION 27. INDEMNIFICATION ..c.uvttiiieitttittette ettt sttt sttt ettt sbe e st e b e saneesbeesanesneesaneeas 17
SECTION 28. ENFORCEMENT: CITY’S RIGHT TO TERMINATE DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT.................... 17
SECTION 29. CAPTIONS . ... eeeeeeeee ettt e e e e ettt e e e e e e e e s s aeb b et eeeeeeeeeeseannnbbbeeeeeaaeeesaasannnrnreneeeeas 17
SECTION 30. EXHIBITS ...ttt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e et et et et e et ettt ee st s ss b s s s s e saseseaeaaeaeeseseseesennene 17
SECTION 31. INTERPRETATION ....eiiiiiiieitte ittt ettt sttt st ettt sttt e s e ne e sanesneesaneeas 17
SECTION 32. FURTHER ASSURANCES .......ettitteittiiteeiee ettt sttt sttt ettt sbe st esbeesaseesbeesanesneesaneens 17
SECTION 33. COUNTERPARTS .. ettt ettt ettt e e e e e e e ettt e e e e e e e e e s e bebeeeeeeeeeeses s nnnrnreneeeeas 17
SECTION 34. MODIFICATIONS, AMENDMENTS AND NON-WAIVER ....outticieeeeee e 17
SECTION 35. ENTIRE AGREEMENT AND EFFECT ON PRIOR AGREEMENTS ....cuiiiiiiiieieeieieeeeeeeeceeeeeeeeeeeee 17
3

Staff Report MPDA Summertown Zoning Amendment

Page 306 of 391



APPLICANT REQUEST: AMEND 2005 FLAGLER COUNTY PLAN

Developer desires to amend the 2005 Flagler County Development Plan and submit a Master Planned
Development Agreement (MPDA) that aligns, and in compliance with the City of Flagler Beach
Comprehensive Plan, Ordinance 2024-06 Master Planned District (MPD) Zoning Ordinance, City’s Land
Development Code excluding LDR Code Sections for:

e Lot standards and dimensions, Master Planned District Planned Unit Development (PUD)
e landscaping requirements for common areas, development standards for residential and

commercial areas;

This staff report more describes the MPDA performance standards (not limited to density, intensity,
setbacks, accessory structures, permitted uses, signage, and open space, site plan process, required
improvements) as detailed in Ordinance 2025-24 Master Planned Development Agreement, 47-page
document for Summertown.

The details recited in the development agreement are here forward transcribed into definitions, charts,
tables, and performance standards for Summertown Planned Development.

SECTION 1 - RECITALS
Subject Property a single-integrated mixed-use community residential, commercial, a hotel, and
amenities.

Developers/owners can apply to amend the zoning, aligned with MPD District and MPDA to Planning and
Architectural Review Board (PARB) and to City Commission who will utilize the MDP and MPDA for its
findings in considering and recommending zoning amendments.

Per FL Statute, acres less than <50 acres considered a small-scale amendment, + />50 acres a large-scale
amendment and transmitted to DOE;

The Subject Property is designated as Low Density Residential and Commercial on the City’s Future Land
Use Map.

The request is in accordance with the Future Land Use Map designation of the subject property, and is
compliant with applicable Objectives and Policies of the City of Flagler Beach Comprehensive Plan.

Developer desires to rezone Subject Property, subject to this Development Agreement.

The MPD Master Plan generally depicts the layout of the Project and delineates the approximate property
boundaries, Project entrances, general location of Tracts and intended uses, all of which may be further
refined in the future at the discretion of the Declarant.

The MPD Master Plan satisfies the requirements of the City’s Comprehensive Plan, the LDR, and other City
regulations, including but not limited to City Ordinance 2024-06 and can proceed directly to applications
for preliminary plat or site plan approval.

This agreement does not affect the entitlements, rights, or responsibility of vested rights in 2005
Development Agreement for 110 acres of +/- 899 acres.

Once annexed and in the city proper, the city will manage land use and development for the remaining
+/- 756 acres combined acreage Veranda Bay Marina and Summertown.

Staff Report MPDA Summertown Zoning Amendment

Page 307 of 391



Timing and phasing; requirements of Comp Plan; LDR; and development deemed to be ongoing;
notwithstanding in event development activities cease for period of ten (10) years Agreement shall expire
unless otherwise mutually agreed to.

SECTION 2. OWNER AUTHORIZATION
SECTION 3. PROJECT AND MPDA SUMMERTOWN

Mixed-Use Development 545 Acres
(a) The Project
(b) Summertown is a mixed-use, development providing for commercial and significant open
space, and is intended to provide shopping, office and other commerce and economic
development opportunities. may also be developed into a mixed-use center where
residential uses are integrated with the general commercial uses to further the concept
of “work, shop and play.
e Summertown 16407 DU
o 1.6 units per acre gross residential development
o 3 units an acre per pod
e General Commercial
o 840,000 SQFT Commercial
e Open Space
o Minimum of forty percent (40%)

Project 545 ac.
Residential units (max.) 1,640 units (3.0 units/ac)
Commercial density (max.) 840,000 sq ft
Open Space - >40%

Mixed Use adjacent to Intracoastal Waterway (ICW) intended to be developed into a commercial
or private marina and may include:

e Ship store,

e Fueling station,

e Restaurants,

e Retails uses, and

e Commercial uses integrated with residential uses.

( c) Master Plan is conceptual and subject to change (location of internal sidewalks, stormwater ponds,
and other improvements.) Parties agree such improvements include engineered site plans that locate
improvements on each tract as developed and approved by the City.

Staff Report MPDA Summertown Zoning Amendment

Page 308 of 391



SECTION 4 —MPD REVIEW AND APPROVAL PROCESS

(a) Master Plan generally depicts layout and delineates property boundaries, project entrances,
tracts and intended uses,

(b) Development submittals to proceed with permitting to contain level of detail for Site Plan/Plat
Site Plan.

(c) Should declarant obtain title to Public Lands 13-12-31-2850-OPL previously dedicated to the
County, in good faith parties shall annex, amend land use and MPD consistent with 2025 MPDA.

Section 4. MPD Development Review Process

The MPD Master Plan generally depicts the layout of the Project and delineates the approximate property
boundaries, project entrances, general location of tracts and intended uses, which may be further refined.
MPD Master Plan satisfies the requirements of the City’s Comprehensive Plan, the LDR, and other City
regulations, including but not limited to City Ordinance 2024-06 and can proceed directly to applications

for preliminary plat or site plan approval.

Including the exception of PUD performance standards, as outlined in Ordinance 2024-06, Master
Planned District zoning category, the Summertown MPD aligns with the City’s Land Development

Regulations.

Tract

5A

5B

Staff Report MPDA Summertown Zoning Amendment

Type of Development

Low Density Single-
Family Residential (SFR)
Units

Low Density Single-
Family Residential (SFR)
Units

Medium Density
Residential - Multi
Family

Town Center -
Commercial/Retail/Office
Office / Retail /
Commercial

High Density
Residential/Hotel Site
Medium Density
Apartments

Private Boat and RV
Storage (for residents
only)

Projected
Units

300

240

750

800,000
40,000
250

350

units

units

units

sq-
ft.

sq.
ft.
units

units

Projected
Start of
Development
Q4 2026
Q3 2026
Q1 2027
Q4 2026
Q4 2026
Q1 2030
Q1 2030

Projected
Completion
Q2 2032
Q2 2031
Q4 2043
Q4 2044
Q4 2028
Q3 2032
Q4 2031

Page 309 of 391



In the event development activities cease for a period of ten (10) years, the agreement expires unless
agreed to by both parties.

SECTION 5. MODIFICATIONS TO DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT AND MPD MASTER PLAN
Minor Modifications — are modifications to location of tracts, roadways, sidewalks/pathway systems and
other improvements and deemed to be de minimis and approved administratively through designated
Land Use Authority (LUA).

Minor modifications do not include:

(1) modifications to the maximum building height (35’) nor
(2) changes to the maximum permitted residential units.

SECTION 6. PERMITTED USES

Residential Uses
e Single Family
e Townhome
e Duplex Condominium
e Multi-Family

Commercial Uses
e Personal and Professional Services
e Town Center Commercial/Retail
e Restaurants
e Farmers Markets
e Mixed Use
e Townhome/Duplex
e  Multi-family
e Condominium
e Hotel
e Private Storage Boat/RV

Open Space forty Percent (40%)
e Preserved Lands
e Passive Recreation
e (Conservation area
e Buffers and wetlands

SECTION 7. VEHICULAR/NON-VEHICULAR, PEDISTRIAN ACCESS AND INTERCONNECTIVITY
Master Plan integrates pedestrian, bicycle, and vehicular traffic circulation system within the project and
adjacent Right-of-ways. All uses have access to roadways or shared driveways. The City shall be granted
access at all times to the private roadway to ensure safety and compliance. Declarant to coordinate
with Flagler County School District for school bus stop location.

SECTION 8. LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE AND PARTIAL NON-APPLICABILITY
Master Planned Development (MPD) Master Plan - conflict between terms of Development

7
Staff Report MPDA Summertown Zoning Amendment

Page 310 of 391



Agreement and Master Plan, provisions of Development Agreement shall prevail. In event of
inconsistency or conflict between terms of Development Agreement and Land Development
Code, Development Agreement shall prevail. Where requirements are not contained in
Development Agreement, the Land Development Code shall apply.

Excluding performance standards for the Summertown Master Planned District (MPD) zoning
outlined in Master Plan and codified through the Development Agreement, the City’s Land’s
Development Code in effect when annexed into the City proper, shall be applied. Subsequent
changes.

SECTION 9. FACILTITY COMMITMENTS

Pg. 10 of 47 MPDA
(a) The city is not responsible for construction or creation of public facilities, or to facilitate the
development within the project. The city warrants it has and shall maintain potable water
and wastewater capacity for the Project. The declarant may at its sole discretion and without
objection, construct private services or obtain services from other providers including
adjacent municipalities.
(b) Private and Public Improvements — the declarant agrees to construct the following on-site
improvements, at declarant’s sole and exclusive expense, as a condition of the Development
Agreement, and in addition to payment of all impact fees, unless otherwise provided:
(1) Private Improvements:
a. Parking areas
Utilities
Master stormwater system
Sidewalks
Lighting
Recreational facilities
Perimeter buffer
Landscaping

i. Trails /Hubs

The City has shown nexus between legitimate City interest, and the conditions imposed herein. Conditions
imposed are proportional to the impacts the development has on the public, based on determination by
studies that conditions are related in nature and to the extent of impacts from proposed project.

S®m 0 oo T

Disclosure: the declarant acknowledges impact fees in effect (pg. 10 of 47. Line 22). The City discloses the
that Summertown and Summertown’s impact are taken into consideration in the current Mobility Plan
Assessment as required to implement a mobility impact fee. Additionally, the City discloses the upcoming
Parking Plan Assessment, and hereby disclose it has yet to assess/study impacts and subsequently what
the impact if any for a marina, dry, and wet slips.

iii. Nothing herein shall be deemed a prohibited exaction Section 70.45 Florida Statute, and declarant
agrees he has not suffered any damages under that statute.

(c) Sidewalks and Pedestrian Paths: Internal, integrated system of sidewalks. Pedestrian maintain access
to all uses, as reasonable and practical, and homeowners responsible for community 5’ sidewalks, internal
roadway system. Declarant provide stabilized pedestrian trails as permissible for purposes of providing
recreational opportunities, connectivity, and open space.

Staff Report MPDA Summertown Zoning Amendment

Page 311 of 391



(d) Stormwater system — the declarant shall be responsible for designing, permitting, constructing, and
maintaining the means of conveyance of stormwater runoff within the Project, including not limited to all
stormwater lines, ditches, culverts, and other stormwater facilities that are necessary to convey and treat
stormwater runoff. Conceptual model included subject to final permitting including not limited to City’s
site plan/plat approval.

(e) Parks and Recreation: 1100 acres, boating ramp, active and passive recreation, plus declarant shall
dedicate or cause to be conveyed to City a two (2) acre park site with direct access to John Anderson
Highway, satisfies the City’s Park and Recreation LOS.

(f) Community Development Districts: acknowledges that the Annexed Property is subject to Gardens at
Hammock Beach CDD, initially established by Flagler County. The agrees it shall accept and acknowledge
the powers granted to the CDD by law, and agree to execute all documents necessary or take action to
transfer local government jurisdiction to the City, and agrees that in good faith will assist to amend the
district’s existing boundaries. DREW pg. 12 lines 10-17.

SECTION 10. DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS

Parking
a. Parking requirements for each Tract shall be consistent with the LDR, unless provided for
elsewhere in the MPD Agreement. Aggregate number of parking spaces shall be satisfied (shared
parking and facilities may serve more than one tract/use) including mixed uses with different
operating times and peak hour parking. Multifamily development shall require 1.75 parking
spaces/unit

Open Space
b. Open Space to be maintained by Community Development District or HOA. Open Space 40% of
gross area, equivalent to 42 acres, of which 17% of the project dedicated to as conservation.
Open Space to be maintained by Community Development District or HOA. Open Space
Requirement met.

Water/Wastewater/Reuse
c. Declarant shall convey all on site water, wastewater, and reuse improvements. The City shall not
charge fees to CDD or property owners for use of City reuse for common areas the later of
01/01/2036 or for ten years after the City provides reuse water to Project. The City shall not
require declarant to pre-pay water and sewer impact, connection, or CIAC fees until City issues
building permit.

Transportation

d. Transportation — Declarant obligated to comply with FDOT requirements for impacts to SR 100; and
shall construct improvements as may be provided for impacts to John Anderson Highway at time
deemed necessary; and shall be obligated for all costs of design, permitting, and construction of all
traffic improvements identified in the Transportation Study.

Drainage

e. Drainage — Declarant shall construct and maintain stormwater management system that provides
treatment and attenuation as required by SJRWMD (SJRWMD) and the LDR. Stormwater piping,
swales, and ditches shall be designed to convey a five (5) year, twenty-four (24) hour storm event.

Staff Report MPDA Summertown Zoning Amendment

Page 312 of 391



Stormwater detention facilities shall be designed to meet water quality and attenuation
requirements of SIRWMD.

Landscaping, Tree, and Vegetation Protection

f.  Landscaping, Tree and Vegetation Protection: Declarant shall record an encumbrance or easement
on its property adjacent to John Anderson Highway ensuring the buffer along John Anderson
Highway is 100’ average width along the eastern side of the ROW. — See Buffers Map @mtg 09/18.

a. Landscaping design shall comply with Exhibit D. No potable water shall be used for
irrigation after sufficient stormwater or reclaimed water capacity becomes available.

b. Efforts to preserve and enhance design through relation of building, parking, roadway,
stormwater includes supplemental landscaping to blend and accentuate residential area,
entrances, and other common spaces.

c. General landscaping parking lots, roadways, entrances, residential, commercial, and
other common areas to be landscaped.

i. Native materials to be used most as possible.

ii. Residential common areas — fifty percent (50%) total planted consist of native,
drought-tolerant or waterwise.

iii. Native or drought-tolerant include SMRWMD Waterwise Florida Landscapes,
Florida Native Plant Society, Gardner’s Guide to FL native plant (Osorio 2001) or
comparable prepared by FL Dept of Ag, Florida Fish & Wildlife, FDEP. All
ornamental beds and lawn will have supplemental irrigation.

iv. Shall require three (3) shade trees SFR detached and commit to incorporate
drought-tolerant vegetation, and investment in in reuse water distribution
system, removal of trees and vegetation protection allowed to extent removal is
necessary to provide for stormwater, utilities, recreational opportunities,
building footprint, roadways, sidewalks, paths, and dying trees as noted by a
licensed arborist may be removed and/or are exempt. All species of pine trees
may be removed without mitigation or permit.

v. During site plan and/or platting tracts, declarant shall provide the City a tree
survey depicting location of viable specimen trees within tract with DMB 30” or
greater. LIST OF DISTINCT TREES and add to DEFINITION page 16 line 8

vi. Distinct Tree Mitigation Fee $25 per diameter inch of Distinct Tree Removed.
Removal of any one (1) Distinct Tree shall not exceed $4000. page 16 line 18

John Anderson Highway Buffer

(g) Declarant shall record an encumbrance or easement on its property adjacent to John Anderson
Highway ensuring buffer along John Anderson Highway is one-hundred foot (100’) in average width
along eastern side of right-of-way.

Lighting
(h)  Future development phases, including pole mounted lighting shall be designed to minimize light
pollution to off-site properties.

Fire Protection

(i) Fire Protection: Declarant previously donated to Flagler County a three (3) acre parcel of land for
a fire station to serve the Project and residents along John Anderson Highway. Fire protection for
the project will be met through a system of fire hydrants installed on the Project. Location of fire

10
Staff Report MPDA Summertown Zoning Amendment

Page 313 of 391



hydrants shall be shown on all construction documents, technical site plans, and plats. The Project
shall comply with the City’s fire protection requirements and provide fire protections services in
accordance with established local response times.

Utilities

(i) The declarant is responsible for any costs associated with extension of City utilities to the Subject
Property that may be required to serve this project.

Interconnectivity
(k) Units within the Project shall be interconnected by roadways and sidewalks, as called for by the
City’s Comprehensive Plan.

The Project shall provide and maintain the minimum number of access drives onto John Anderson
Highway.

Wetland Protection

(1 All wetlands within the MPD identified using the methodology outlined in Florida Administrative
Code. Wetland delineations shall be conducted by a qualified Florida environmental professional
The survey shall clearly delineate the wetland jurisdictional line and the required upland buffer
boundary.

Signage
(m) Signs shall comply with the LDR, unless otherwise provided herein.

Neighborhood entrance shall have a maximum height of twelve (12) feet and a maximum signage
area of one hundred (100) square feet.

Commercial Ground signs shall be permitted with a maximum signage area per sign of three
hundred twenty (320) square feet and a maximum height of ten (10) feet.

Entrance features such as walls, architectural icons, water features, landforms, landscaping, or
other effects that announce and signify arrival are permitted.

Temporary Facilities

(n) Temporary support facilities shall be permitted for a period of ten (10) years, at which time sales
offices, model homes, development trailers and real estate offices shall be transitioned into a
permanent use.

Model homes shall not be deemed commercial activities.
The City shall permit the construction of Model Homes during the development of phase /or tract.

Rental Program

(o) All or any portion of the Project’s Tracts, (except Tract A-1 and Tract F) permitted for long-term,
short-term, resort residential, or resort condominium rental programs or any third-party rental
program operators approved by the Declarant.

Short-term vacation rentals shall be prohibited.

11
Staff Report MPDA Summertown Zoning Amendment

Page 314 of 391



Marina
(p) The design, permitting and construction of the Marina located on Tract M shall be governed by
permits issued by State and Federal agencies.

The development of the Marina shall:
(i) participate in the FDEP Clean Marina program, and
(i) remain exempt from Chapter 22, Art IV of the City Code of Ordinances.

The Marina may, at Declarant’s sole discretion, include wet and dry slips, transient or permanent
slips, fueling facilities, pump out station, a boat ramp and any uses permitted as commercial use.

Dry slips shall be used solely for the maintenance and repair of boats and not for long-term
storage.

City Planner comments: The City discloses it has yet to assess/study impacts and accordingly what
impacts if any subsequently from a marina, dry, and wet slips.

Age Restriction
(a) Nothing in the Development Agreement shall prohibit any age restriction requirements or use
permitted by Federal or State law.

Accessory Uses
(r) Typical residential accessory uses will be allowed, including but not limited to: decks, swimming
pools, patios, air conditioning units, walkways, and sidewalks.

Accessory uses and structures will be allowed in accordance provided uses and structures are
customarily incidental and clearly subordinate to the principal use.

Pools, covered pools, patios, outdoor fireplaces, decks, and gazebos, either attached or detached
from the principal use structure, may be constructed up to a minimum of five (5) feet from the
rear or side property boundary.

SECTION 11. PHASING OF DEVELOPMENT

Multiple Phases
The Declarant shall submit a Preliminary Plat or Site Plan for the relevant phase.

Each Tract of the Project will include infrastructure to support the proposed uses,
including water and wastewater service, drainage, private roads, vehicular, and
pedestrian access facilities.

All infrastructure necessary to support each phase that is constructed on the Subject
Property shall be constructed concurrently with, or prior to construction of that phase of
the Project, as approved by the City, and prior to the issuance of building permits for that
phase.

Roadways
Roadways shall be constructed concurrently with development of adjacent lots.

12
Staff Report MPDA Summertown Zoning Amendment

Page 315 of 391



Contiguous roadways will be available at all times prior to the issuance of building permits for
that phase

Internal sidewalks shall be constructed adjacent to each residential lot at the time the home is
constructed and prior to the Certificate of Occupancy.

Clearing/Grading
The City may issue permits for clearing, grading, and earthwork for portions of the Subject
Property before approving final construction plans; however, permits required for land clearing,
grading, and earthwork must be obtained.

SECTION 12. LOT AND BUILDING STANDARDS

Residential

Multi-family Town House

Min. Distance Between

Buildings* 10 10 10
Min. Bldg. Setback to Water 20’ 20 20’
Max. Bldg. Height** 35’ 35’ 35’
Min. Front Bldg. Sfetback to 15 15 10
Property Line
Min. Bldg. Rear Yard , . ,
Setback*** 10 10 10
Type SF Multi-family Town House
Minimum Front Setback , ,
from Right of Way 20 N 20
Minimum Bldg. Side Street or , , ,
Rear Yard Setback 10 10 10
Min. Lot Size (SF) 4,000 sf N/A 1,600 sf
Minimum Lot Width 40’ N/A 16’
Max. Imé):tri\g:r:*Surface 20% 80% 80%**

* Shall be measured as the distance between walls of adjacent structures.

** In the event the City increases its max building height limitations, the Declarant may elect to
increase its maximum building height to such new limit. Notwithstanding, residential structures
presently under construction or constructed may exceed this height limitation.

***Except as provided in Section 10(q), above.

**** Impervious Surface Ratios shall be applicable to each Tract.

13
Staff Report MPDA Summertown Zoning Amendment

Page 316 of 391



Commercial and Mixed-Use (residential above)

Min. Lot Width 60”*
Min. Lot Size 12,000 sf
Min. Bldg. Side Setback 0’
Min. Bldg. Street-Side 10°
Setback
Min. Bldg. Front Setback 10
Max. Bldg. Height** 35
Min. Bldg. Rear Setback 10°
Minimum Bldg. Setback to 200
MPD Property Line
Max. Impervious 80%****
Surface
Ratio***

* If Town Houses are developed within a Commercial District, the dimensional standards for Town
Houses shall control.

** In the event the City increases its max building height limitations, the Declarant may elect to increase
its maximum building height to such new limit.

*** Impervious Surface Ratios shall be applicable to each Tract.
***X*Minimum open space shall be forty percent (40%) of the entire MPD gross area.

Architectural Style
All architectural standards and requirements shall be determined, approved, and enforced by the
Developer.

Developer voluntarily electing to impose the City’s existing Commercial Architectural Design Standards
that are governed by the City’s LDR, Section 2.04.02.

Flagler Beach design guidelines were based on existing land uses, zoning classifications, desired
development characteristics and geographic locations.

To represent the distinct commercial district character of Flagler Beach and create a functional whole,
commercial and mixed- use districts each will emulate the design guidelines to illustrate general principles
that will assist to preserve and enhance the desired character. Per the LDR, Section. 2.02.04, the design
guidelines are not be construed as prescriptive standards — they offer designers a flexible tool for quality
and innovation.

14
Staff Report MPDA Summertown Zoning Amendment

Page 317 of 391



Common elements are Streetscape Design, Sidewalks, Street Trees, Lighting, Signage, Street Furniture,
Parking and Vehicular Circulation, Public Open Space, Service, Refuse, and Delivery Design, Landscaping,
Architectural Style.

While the architectural requirements do not recommend a specific design theme, the recommended four
(4) architectural styles a include:

e Florida Frame Vernacular,
e Key West Caribbean Style,
e Bungalow Style, and

e (Classic Revival.

SECTION 13. PERMITS AND APPROVALS

The failure of the Development Agreement to address any specific State or Federal permit, condition,
term, or restriction shall not relieve the Declarant of the requirement of complying with the law governing
said permitting requirements, conditions, terms, or restrictions.

All required City, County, State, or Federal permits shall be obtained prior to commencement of
construction

Development Agreement is not a Preliminary Plat approval, and the Declarant remains responsible for
complying with all provisions of the LDR, unless provided elsewhere in this Development Agreement.

Open burning shall be prohibited during development and property owners shall be subject to the City’s
LDR.

SECTION 14. DEVELOPMENT FEES

The Declarant acknowledges and agrees that the City has enacted citywide impact fees and may in the
future increase the amount of those fees.

The Declarant acknowledges that the Project shall be subject to all fees in effect at the time of permitting.
Declarant shall not be charged impact fees for the marina wet slips or dry slips. *City DISCLOSURE

Conditions imposed are proportional to the impacts the development has on the public, based on
determination by studies that conditions are related in nature and to the extent of impacts from proposed
project.

Disclosure: the declarant acknowledges impact fees in effect (pg. 10 of 47. Line 22). The City discloses the
that Veranda Bay and Summertown’s impact are taken into consideration in the current Mobility Plan

Assessment as required to implement a mobility impact fee. Additionally, the City discloses the upcoming
Parking Plan Assessment, and hereby disclose it has yet to assess/study impacts and subsequently what
the impact if any for a marina, dry, and wet slips.

iii. Nothing herein shall be deemed a prohibited exaction Section 70.45 Florida Statute, and declarant
agrees he has not suffered any damages under that statute.

15
Staff Report MPDA Summertown Zoning Amendment

Page 318 of 391



SECTION 15. LONG-TERM MAINTENANCE COMMON AREAS
The Declarant shall dedicate maintenance and control of common areas to:

(i)  the existing community development district,
(ii)  a property owners association or

(iii) other entity accepted by the LUA.

SECTION 16. BREACH, ENFORCEMENT, ALTERNATIVE DISPUTE AND CONFLICT
RESOLUTION

SECTION 17. NOTICES

SECTION 18. SEVERABILITY

SECTION 19. SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS.

SECTION 20. GOVERNING LAW, VENUE AND COMPLIANCE WITH LAW.
SECTION 21. TERM/EFFECTIVE DATE.

SECTION 22. RECORDATION

SECTION 23. THIRD PARTY RIGHTS

SECTION 24. SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE / TIME IS OF THE ESSENCE
SECTION 25. ATTORNEYS’ FEES

SECTION 26. FORCE MAJEURE

SECTION 27. INDEMNIFICATION

SECTION 28. ENFORCEMENT: CITY’S RIGHT TO TERMINATE DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT.

SECTION 29. CAPTIONS

SECTION 30. EXHIBITS

SECTION 31. INTERPRETATION

SECTION 32. FURTHER ASSURANCES

SECTION 33. COUNTERPARTS

SECTION 34. MODIFICATIONS, AMENDMENTS AND NON-WAIVER
SECTION 35. ENTIRE AGREEMENT AND EFFECT ON PRIOR AGREEMENTS

Staff Report MPDA Summertown Zoning Amendment

16

Page 319 of 391



ORDINANCE 2025-26
SUMMERTOWN REZONING
APPLICATION NO. PZR25-0002

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF
FLAGLER BEACH, FLORIDA, AMENDING THE OFFICIAL ZONING
MAP DESIGNATION FOR APPROXIMATELY 545.54 ACRES OF
CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY;
PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE
DATE.

WHEREAS, the City Commission of the City of Flagler Beach, as the governing body of
the City, pursuant to the authority vested in Chapter 163 and Chapter 166, Florida Statutes and the
City of Flagler Beach Land Development Regulations, is authorized and empowered to consider
applications relating to zoning; and

WHEREAS, the City of Flagler Beach is in receipt of a request to amend the official
zoning map for the property described herein; and

WHEREAS, the above described property is presently zoned Planned Unit Development
(Flagler County Designation), Reserved and Single Family Residential (City of Flagler Beach
Designations) and the request is to have the property rezoned as Master Planned Development;
and

WHEREAS, the request is in accord with the Future Land Use Map designation of the
subject property, and is complaint with all applicable Objectives and Policies of the City of Flagler
Beach Comprehensive Plan; and

WHEREAS, the Planning and Architectural Review Board (PARB) has recommended the
City Commission change the Official Zoning Map to reflect a new designation for the subject
property as Master Planned Development; and

WHEREAS, the City Commission has considered the findings in the staff report and the
following findings of fact:

1. The rezoning is consistent with the purposes, goals, objectives, and policies of the City

of Flagler Beach Comprehensive Plan;

2. The rezoning is compatible with the Land Development Regulations, and generally

consistent with the uses and character of the land surrounding and in the vicinity of the

land proposed for rezoning;

Page 320 of 391



3. The rezoning will result in a logical, timely and orderly development pattern;
4. The staff report has demonstrated sufficient justification that there are changed

circumstances, which would require the rezoning request.

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED BY THE CITY COMMISSION
OF THE CITY OF FLAGLER BEACH, FLORIDA, AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1. LEGISLATIVE AND ADMINISTRATIVE FINDINGS. The above

recitals (whereas clauses) are hereby adopted as the legislative and administrative findings of the
City Commission of the City of Flagler Beach.
SECTION 2. OFFICIAL ZONING MAP AMENDED. The approximately 545.54 acre

subject area generally located along the east and west of John Anderson Highway, and directly
south of State Road 100 as legally described in Exhibit “A” and depicted in Exhibit “B”, attached
hereto, is hereby amended from the Flagler County designation of Planned Unit Development and
City of Flagler Beach designations of Reserved and Single Family Residential to Master Planned
Development (MPD).

SECTION 3. CONFLICTS. All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith

are hereby repealed.

SECTION 4. INCORPORATION OF DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT. The

Summertown Master Planned Development Agreement attached hereto as Exhibit “C” is

incorporated into this Ordinance by reference as if fully set forth herein and development upon the

property here rezoned shall be consistent with its terms..

SECTION 5. SEVERABILITY. If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase or

provision of this Ordinance is held to be unconstitutional or otherwise invalid by a court of
competent jurisdiction, such unconstitutionality or invalidity shall not be construed as to render
unconstitutional or invalid the remaining provisions of the Ordinance.

SECTION 6. EFFECTIVE DATE. This Ordinance shall become effective immediately

upon the effective date of Ordinance No. 2025- , as adopted by the City Commission of the
City of Flagler Beach, Florida. If Ordinance No. 2025- does not become effective, then this
Ordinance shall become null and void.

APPROVED on First Reading the day of 2025.

Page 321 of 391



ADOPTED on Second Reading after due public notice and public hearing this day
of , 2025.

ATTEST: CITY OF FLAGLER BEACH, FLORIDA
CITY COMMISSION
CITY CLERK Patti King, Mayor

APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGALITY:

DREW SMITH, CITY ATTORNEY

Page 322 of 391



adee Observer

25-00352F

STATE OF FLORIDA

Before the undersigned authority personally appeared Nancy Kay
Ravmond who on oath says that he/she is Publisher’s Representative of the Palm
Coast Observer a weekly newspaper published at Palm Coast, Flagler County,
Florida; that the attached copy of advertisement,
being a Public Hearing
in the matter of Ordinance 2025-25, 2025-26
inthe Court, was published in said newspaper by print in the
issues of 9/25/2025

Affiant further says that the Palm Coast Observer complics with all legal
requirements for publication in chapter 50, Florida Statutes.

*This Notice was placed on the newspaper’s website and floridapublicnotices.com
on the same day the notice appeared in the newspaper.

Nancy Kay Rhymond
Sworn 10 and subscribed, and personally appeared by physical presence before me,

25th day of September, 2025 A.D.

WMWWM&M
Lo

~J
Notary Public, State of Florida
(SEAL)

CITY OF FLAGLER BEACH
NOTICE OF PUBLIC

HEARING

The 0y Commmms s b gt b V. S0 4 bt
AN ORBIUSOS F TIE CITY COMMMSON OF THE CTY OF FLAGLIN BEACH,
TLORIRA. AMERTONG TIE GETICIAL AOMING. MAP BESIGKATION FOR APFROX)

The Cnt Commmmm [§pems + syt Omtmames 5o

Aptewans o bned rbwutind ks e S rrgery tem Pussod Use Devkgeee TV
wﬂlﬂ“h“ﬂ]hm-ﬁh_m

e At

R TRRARENGN 4K SORRDELED 0 W 1IELD AT CFTY HALL ot & 350 STRERT WA

b A% ROLLOWS

Aserse
PATEEAY. OCTUREN 5, S50 AT S AL OR A3 RO

TIRSEATTER AS FOSMILE.
XD RBADENG CTTY] COMMESRION TUIUSENME. NOVEMBEN 4 5035 AT %5e FI OR A3

A romiaLs
AL INTIRESTRD PARTYES AME (NVETIED T0) ATYENI.

fed 10 Bt S v, Pighe Bk, Pt
116 prwen dmabn o lygewi me dnions aad wh et (e 0r Sallet umirhed @ e W

i, A i
- bt

Page 323 of 391



EXHIBIT “C"

Summertown

Master Planned Development Agreement

Page 324 of 391



O T N O R S R

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

Michael D. Chiumento I1I, Esq.
Chiumento Law, PLLC.

145 City Place, Suite 301

Palm Coast, FL 32164

[SPACE ABOVE THIS LINE FOR RECORDING DATA]

SUMMER TOWN

MASTER PLANNED DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

THIS MASTER PLANNED DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT, (this “Development

Agreement”) is made and executed this day of

, 2025 by and between the CITY OF FLAGLER BEACH, a Florida

municipal corporation (the “City”), with an address at 105 S. Second St., Flagler Beach,
Florida, 32136, and the master developer of the Subject Property, VERANDA BAY
INVESTMENTS, LLC, 3129 Springbank Lane, Suite 201, Charlotte, NC, 28226 (“Veranda
Bay” or “Declarant”), PALM COAST INTRACOASTAL, LLC, a Florida limited liability
company with an address at 3129 Springbank Lane, Suite 201, Charlotte, NC 28226 (“PCI”),
and HIGHWAY 100 COMMERCIAL, LLC (“HC 100”) whose address is 800 North
Highland Ave, Suite 200, Orlando, Florida 32803 (hereinafter collectively referred to as the
“Owners”)
RECITALS.
A. In 2005, Flagler County adopted Ordinance 2005 -22 recorded at O.R. Book 1429,
Page 19, et seq., Public Records of Flagler County, Florida which rezoned and approved the
negotiated PUD Development Agreement (the “2005 Development Agreement”) for a mixed-

use development affecting approximately 1,999 acres of land.

Ordinance No. 2025-26
Page 1 of 53

Page 325 of 391



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

B. As negotiated in the 2005 Development Agreement, the owner conveyed
approximately 1,100 acres of land designated as environmental lands to Flagler County for the
purpose of public services, preservation, conservation, and public recreation for the benefit of
citizens of Flagler County. In addition, the owner conveyed to the County two parcels of land for a public
boat ramp and for public safety. These lands conveyed to the County are collectively called the “Public
Land”.

C. Asnegotiated in the 2005 Development Agreement, the remaining +/- 899 acres of
land (the “2005 PUD Property”) is permitted to be developed as a mixed-use development with
a portion of it having been annexed into the City of Flagler Beach, Flagler County, Florida, on
the Effective Date of this Agreement and subject to this Development Agreement.

D. The Declarant owns 495 acres of land (the “Declarant Lands”) located west of John
Anderson Highway as depicted on Exhibit “A” and specifically described as Exhibit “A”.

E. The Declarant is the authorized agent for HC 100 which owns approximately 18.94
acres of land (the “HC 100 Lands”) located west of John Anderson Highway along SR 100 as
depicted on Exhibit “A” and specifically described as Exhibit “A”.

F. The Declarant is the authorized agent for PCI which owns +/- 31.5 acres of a land
(the “PCI Lands”) located west of John Anderson Highway along SR 100 as depicted on
Exhibit “A” and specifically described as Exhibit “A”.

G. The Declarant Lands, the HC Lands, and the PCI Lands shall collectively
hereinafter be referred to as the “Subject Property”.

H. The Declarant desires to rezone the Subject Property, amend the present
entitlements, and create one single integrated mixed-use community.

I.  The Declarant has the sole authority to seek a rezoning of the Subject Property as

Ordinance No. 2025-26
Page 2 of 53

Page 326 of 391



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

permitted by law.
J. The City’s Comprehensive Plan shows the Subject Property, infra, designated as

Low Density Residential and Commercial on its Future Land Use Map.

K. Based upon the finding of facts and conclusions of law, the City Commission
determines that this Development Agreement is consistent with the City’s Comprehensive Plan,
the City’s Land Development Regulations (2025) (the “LDR 2025”), and that the conditions,
terms, restrictions, and requirements set forth herein are necessary for the protection of the
public health, safety, and welfare of the citizens of the City.

L. The City Commission further finds that this Development Agreement is consistent
with an exercise of the City’s powers under the Municipal Home Rule Powers Act, Article VIII,
Section 2(b) of the Constitution of the State of Florida, Chapter 166, Florida Statutes, the City
Charter, other controlling laws, and the City’s police powers.

M. This is a non-statutory Development Agreement which is not subject to or enacted
pursuant to the provisions of Sections 163.3220 -163.3243, Florida Statutes.

N. The Parties, therefore, desire to rezone the Subject Property, making it subject to
this Development Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, it is hereby resolved and agreed by and between the City and

the Declarant that the Declarant’s rezoning application for a Master Planned Development
is approved subject to the Development Agreement’s following terms and conditions:

SECTION 1. RECITALS.

The above recitals are taken as true, incorporated herein by this reference and form a
material part of this Development Agreement upon which the City and the Declarant have

relied.

Ordinance No. 2025-26
Page 3 of 53

Page 327 of 391



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

SECTION 2. REPRESENTATIONS OF DECLARANT.

The Declarant hereby represents and warrants to the City that the Declarant is an owner
or authorized agent of the Subject Property in accordance with the title opinion or title
certification provided by the Declarant to the City issued by an attorney or title insurance
company licensed to provide services in the State of Florida, with said title opinion or
certification showing all liens, mortgages, and other encumbrances not satisfied or released of
record relative to the Subject Property.

SECTION 3. THE PROJECT & MPD MASTER PLAN.

(a) The Declarant shall continue to develop the Subject Property as a mixed-use
development generally consistent with the MPD Master Plan (Exhibit “B”) hereinafter
referred to as the “Project”.

(b) This Project is a mixed-use, low-density development focused on providing
significant Open Space, including preserved lands. The Project provides for low density
residential development and commercial development along State Road 100 ("SR100). The
residential uses shall include multiple types of housing opportunities such as low-density
residential development, medium-density multi-family uses, and high-density multi-family
uses; none exceeding thirty-five (35°) feet in height. Property designated as Commercial,
generally located adjacent to SR100, is intended to provide shopping, office and other
commerce and economic development opportunities for the Project’s residents and the general
public. However, this area may also be developed into a mixed-use center where residential
uses are integrated with the general commercial uses to further the concept of “work, shop and
play”. The Project will preserve a minimum of forty percent (40%) of the Project as Open Space,

which includes, but is not limited to, preserved lands subject to passive recreation, buffers and

Ordinance No. 2025-26
Page 4 of 53

Page 328 of 391



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

wetlands. Recognizing that approximately 1,100 acres of land were previously dedicated to the County
for (i) preservation, and (ii) public safety, the Parties agree that the Project benefits the entire Flagler
County community, including the residents of the City of Flagler Beach. The Project’s density and

intensity are provided below.

Project 545 ac.
Residential units (max.) 1,640 units (3.0 units/ac)
Commercial density (max.) 840,000 sq ft
Open Space - >40%

(©) The MPD Master Plan is conceptual in nature and subject to change as
permitted by this Development Agreement. The locations of improvements are graphical in
nature and will be located as the Project is designed, permitted and approved by the City. For
example, the location of sidewalks, stormwater ponds, and other improvements noted on the
MPD Master Plan are not required to be constructed in the exact locations as shown. The
Parties agree that all such improvements will be engineered and located on each tract, or

portion thereof, as developed and subsequently approved by the City.

SECTION 4. APPROVAL OF MPD DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT, MPD MASTER PLAN

APPROVAL, AND DEVELOPMENT REVIEW PROCESS.

The City Commission, at its regular meeting on , 2025 and

pursuant to Ordinance 2025-_ , adopted this Development Agreement affecting the Subject

Property. This Development Agreement supersedes prior agreements to avoid conflicting obligations.

Ordinance No. 2025-26
Page 5 of 53

Page 329 of 391



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

(a) The MPD Master Plan generally depicts the layout of the Project and delineates
the approximate property boundaries, Spine Road (as defined below), Project entrances,
general location of Tracts and intended uses, all of which may be further refined in the future
at the discretion of the Declarant. Moreover, the MPD Master Plan satisfies the requirements
of the City’s Comprehensive Plan, the LDR 2025 and other City regulations, including but not
limited to City Ordinance 2024-06 and can proceed directly to applications for preliminary
plat or site plan approval.

(c)  The Parties agree and acknowledge that, in the event, the Declarant obtains title
to any portion of those Public Lands (13-12-31-2850-0FD20-0010 or 13-12-31-2850-0PL20-
0000) previously dedicated to the County, the Parties shall in good faith annex such into the City,
amend its land use designation and rezone the property in a manner that is consistent with

adjacent lands owned by the Declarant or its assigns.

SECTION 5. MODIFICATIONS TO THE DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT & MPD

MASTER PLAN.

Modifications to the exact location of Tracts, roadways, primary sidewalk/pathway
systems, and other improvements generally depicted on the MPD Master Plan are anticipated
to change (“Minor Modifications™) and shall be approved by the City Manager or its designee
(the “Land Use Administrator” or “LUA”) during review of construction documents, site plans,
or Preliminary Plat for the Project or portions thereof, as long as the development standards
contained in this Development Agreement are maintained. Moreover, the Land Use
Administrator shall approve a Minor Modification in writing, without City Commission
approval, for modifications to the Development Agreement, MPD Master Plan and any

construction documents and Preliminary Plat for the Subject Property, provided that: (1) the

Ordinance No. 2025-26
Page 6 of 53

Page 330 of 391



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

maximum building height and maximum number of residential units permitted are not
exceeded; (2) the Project setbacks from adjacent properties, Bulow Creek or buffers along
John Anderson Highway are not modified; or (3) the approved plans maintain the general
development standards in this Development Agreement. The Declarant may challenge the
LUA’s denial of a Minor Modification and, in writing, request a hearing before the City
Commission which will, in good faith, decide whether the change is deemed a Minor
Modification. Only proposed changes that affect criteria (1) through (3) above shall require
City Commission approval or be deemed to require a rezoning, as provided by Florida
Statutes, Chapter 163, or the City’s regulations. Otherwise, a Minor Modification or other
change shall be deemed to be de minimis and shall be approved by the LUA as provided above.

SECTION 6. PERMITTED USES.

The Declarant agrees to fully comply with the following uses and restrictions on the
Subject Property. The Declarant must develop the Project generally consistent with the MPD
Master Plan with the following approved uses on each Tract (Exhibit “C”), as provided by the
table below. The design standards for the permitted use on each Tract shall comply with design

standards provided in Section 12.1, Lot Dimensional Standards, below:

TRACT ZONING APPROVED USES
DISTRICT
1 Residential SFR, Town House, Multi-family
2 Residential SFR, Town House, Multi-family
3 Residential SFR, Town House, Multi-family

) Mixed-Use, Commercial, Town House,
4 Commercial

Multi-family

Ordinance No. 2025-26
Page 7 of 53

Page 331 of 391



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

SA & 5B Commercial Mixed-Use, Commercial, Town House,
Multi-family
6 Residential SFR, Town House, Multi-family
7 Residential SFR, Amenity

(@) SFR: The purpose of the Single-Family Residential (SFR) uses is to provide
areas for detached single-family dwellings and accessory use, including ancillary dwelling
units permitted by State statutes and the Declarant. SFR uses adjacent to Bulow Creek shall

be prohibited from constructing docks along Bulow Creek.

(b) Town House: This use permits two or more attached or shared wall single-
family units. Town House may include fee simple or condominium ownership models. Town
House units may be constructed with one car garages, so long as minimum parking standards
are met. In addition, duplex homes under single ownership are permitted.

(c) Multi-family: The purpose of multi-family use is to provide areas for

attached housing, and medium-density to high-density apartments or condominiums. These
uses also allow for assisted living or nursing homes.

(d) Commercial: This use is to provide areas for general commercial and office
uses to meet the community-wide demand for retail, services, business, and employment
opportunities. Specific uses are provided by the City Ordinance 2024-06 with additional
permitted uses being amphitheaters and farmers markets. Commercial uses may also include
residential uses to establish mixed-use neighborhood nodes consistent with Section 16, below.

(e) Mixed-Use: This use supports economic development by providing a specific,

defined location where multiple opportunities for working, shopping, entertainment, lodging,

Ordinance No. 2025-26
Page 8 of 53

Page 332 of 391



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

and living are provided. Recognizing that Tracts may include both commercial and residential
uses, the mixed-use allows for designs to integrate commercial and residential (attached or
detached) uses to achieve this goal. For example, mixed-use allows for buildings to provide
commercial uses on the first floor with residential above.

63) Conservation: This use allows areas within the Project to generally remain in
their natural vegetative state upon which development may proceed with restrictions. The
use permitted to be developed in Conservation areas are restricted to: 1) open space parks,
2) recreation areas, 3) public facilities/utilities, and 4) uninhabitable structures. The
Conservation use designation shall be permitted on any Tract despite not being designated
in the table above.

SECTION 7. VEHICULAR/NON-VEHICULAR AND PEDESTRIAN ACCESS. AND

INTERCONNECTIVITY.

(a) The MPD Master Plan integrates pedestrian, bicycle, and vehicular traffic
circulation systems within the Project and within adjacent right-of-way(s). All uses shall have
access to aroadway or shared driveway(s) and may, but are not required to, front on a dedicated
road. The City, but not the general public, shall be granted access at all times to all private
roadways to ensure that public safety is maintained.

(b) During the subsequent design and development stage of the Project, the
Declarant shall coordinate with the Flagler County School District for a school bus stop
location, if necessary.

(©) As depicted on the MPD Master Plan, the Spine Road (defined below) shall be
a public right-of-way. The MPD Master Plan depicts various Tracts intended for development
accessing the Spine Road, the final location of such is at the sole discretion of the Declarant.

Ordinance No. 2025-26
Page 9 of 53

Page 333 of 391



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

The Spine Road shall be designed and constructed to also accommodate pedestrian traffic for
the benefit of the general public, and as generally depicted on Exhibit “D”

SECTION 8. LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE PARTIAL NON-APPLICABILITY.

The development of the Project shall proceed in accordance with the terms of this
Development Agreement. In the event of a conflict between the terms of this Development
Agreement and the MPD Master Plan, the provisions of this Development Agreement shall
prevail. In the event of an inconsistency or conflict between the terms of this Development
Agreement and the LDR 2025, the terms and provisions of this Development Agreement shall
prevail. Where specific requirements are not contained in this Development Agreement, the
LDR 2025 shall apply to the extent that it does not conflict with the provisions of this
Development Agreement or the general intent of the MPD Master Plan. Moreover, the Parties
agree that the City’s LDR (2025) shall be applied and any subsequent changes to such shall have
no effect unless the Declarant elects, at its sole discretion, to comply with such change to the

LDR 2025.

SECTION 9. FACILITY COMMITMENTS.

(a) Unless provided elsewhere in this Development Agreement or other agreement,
the Declarant agrees that the City is not responsible for the construction or creation of public
facilities or capacity to facilitate the development of the Subject Property. As a material
inducement for entering into this Agreement, the City represents and warrants that it presently
has and shall maintain potable water and wastewater capacity for the Project, each of which is
estimated to be 576,000 gallons per day, and the failure to provide such shall be deemed a
breach of this Agreement subject to damages. Therefore, the City shall reserve sufficient

potable, wastewater, and reuse water capacity for the Project, and if such reservation cannot

Ordinance No. 2025-26
Page 10 of 53

Page 334 of 391



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

be immediately satisfied by the City when requested by the Declarant, the Parties agree that
the Declarant may, at its sole discretion and without objection from the City, construct private
services or obtain such services from other providers including adjacent municipalities. The
City discloses that Veranda Bay and Summertown’s impact are taken into consideration in the
current Mobility Plan Assessment as required to implement a mobility impact fee.
Additionally, the City discloses the upcoming Park Plan Assessment and hereby disclose it
has yet to assess/study impacts and subsequently what the impact if any for a marina, dry, and
wet slips.

(b) Private & Public Improvements: The Declarant agrees to construct the

following on-site improvements at the Declarant’s sole and exclusive expense as a condition
of this Development Agreement, and in addition to the payment of all impact fees relating to
the development of the Subject Property, unless otherwise provided for herein:

1. Private Improvements: The parking areas; utilities; master stormwater

system; sidewalks; lighting; recreational facilities, and perimeter buffer landscaping.

i1. The Declarant agrees that the City has shown an essential nexus between
a legitimate City interest and the conditions, if any, imposed herein. The Declarant further agrees
that all proposed conditions are roughly proportional to the impact the development will have
upon the public, based upon an individualized determination by the City that the required
conditions are related in both nature and extent to the impacts of the proposed Project.

1il. Nothing herein shall be deemed a prohibited exaction under Florida
Statutes, Section 70.45, and Declarant agrees it has not suffered any damages under that statute.

(©) Sidewalks and Pedestrian Paths: The Declarant shall provide an internal

integrated system of sidewalks to ensure that pedestrians maintain access to all uses. The

Ordinance No. 2025-26
Page 11 of 53

Page 335 of 391



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

Declarant shall require homeowners to construct community sidewalks a minimum of five (5)
feet wide on at least one side of the internal roadway system, as may be determined by the
Declarant. In addition, the Declarant may provide stabilized pedestrian trails in other areas of
the Project, as permitted by governmental permits for the purpose of providing recreational
opportunities, connectivity and open space. Moreover, the Declarant shall construct an eight
foot (8”) multi-use trail along the Spine Road connecting SR100 to John Anderson Highway
as generally depicted on the MPD Master Plan and Exhibit “E”.

(d) Access: Ingress and egress to the Project shall be provided, constructed, and
dedicated to the City as a public roadway between SR100 and John Anderson Highway, as
generally depicted on the MPD Master Plan (the “Spine Road”). Prior to dedication, at the
Declarant’s sole discretion, Declarant (or its assigns) may reserve an easement over the Spine
Road for purposes of signage, enhanced landscape maintenance, Tract access and construction.
Moreover, the development of Tracts may be gated from the Spine Road and other public rights
of way. The cost of design and construction of the Spine Road shall be eligible for
transportation impact fee credits on a dollar-for-dollar basis.

(e) Spine Road Construction. If after the 150" home is completed within the Project,

the construction of the Spine Road connection from State Road 100 to John Anderson Highway
is not completed, no further building permits will be issued for new home construction within the
Project until the Spine Road construction is complete.

€3] Stormwater System: The Declarant shall be responsible for designing,

permitting, constructing, and maintaining the means of conveyance of stormwater runoff within
the Project including, but not limited to, all stormwater lines, ditches, culverts, and other

stormwater facilities that are necessary to convey and treat stormwater runoff (the “Stormwater

Ordinance No. 2025-26
Page 12 of 53

Page 336 of 391



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

System”), as generally depicted on Exhibit “F”. This is graphical in nature, subject to change and
intended to only provide a conceptual model subject to final permitting including but not limited
to the City’s preliminary plat approvals.

(2) Parks And Recreation: Given (i) the prior conveyance of the Public Lands,

including the public boating facility land to Flagler County, and (ii) the active and passive
recreational obligations found herein, the Project satisfies the City’s Comprehensive Plan and
the City’s recreational level of service. Notwithstanding, the Declarant shall provide one or
more active recreational facilities for the benefit of the Project’s residents. Declarant will
cooperate with Flagler County to provide public park access to Bulow Creek in the southwest
portion of the Project through the parcel currently owned by the County or an equivalent
property. A maximum of three (3) community docks or community viewing platforms shall be
permitted on Bulow Creek subject to state, federal and county approval.

In addition to the above, the Declarant shall dedicate and convey to the City a
two (2) acre park site with direct access to the Spine Road and the multiuse trail constructed by
the Declarant. The parties may mutually agree in writing to the Declarant’s design, permitting
and construction of improvements on the aforementioned park sites. In the event such
agreement requires the Declarant to make improvements to the park sites, the Declarant shall
be entitled to receive City park impact fee credits for the costs of such park improvements.

(h) Community Development Districts: The City agrees and acknowledges that

the Subject Property is subject to the Gardens at Hammock Beach Community Development
District, Flagler County, Florida (“District”), Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, which was
initially established by Flagler County. The City agrees that it shall accept and acknowledge

the powers granted to the District pursuant to State law. The City agrees to execute all

Ordinance No. 2025-26
Page 13 of 53

Page 337 of 391



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

documents that may be necessary or take any action necessary to transfer the local government
jurisdiction to the City, to the extent such may be necessary. In addition, the City agrees and
acknowledges that it will, in good faith, assist the Declarant, at Declarant’s sole discretion, to
amend the District’s existing boundaries by removing the Subject Property from the District.
In addition, the City shall, at the request of the Declarant, assist the Declarant to establish an
additional community development district governing that portion of the Subject Property
which shall be permitted to finance, fund, plan, establish, acquire, construct, enlarge or extend,
equip, operate and maintain projects, systems and facilities for the purposes described in
Section 190.012, Florida Statutes, including but not limited to, any transportation
improvements that may be required by this Development Agreement or other permit.

(1) Agriculture/Silviculture: The Subject Property has been and will continue to

be used for silviculture purposes. Silviculture activities may continue to occur on the Subject
Property until that portion of the Subject Property approved for development obtains all
necessary permits and construction commences. All silviculture activities shall continue to
comply with all Federal and State requirements. All silviculture activities shall comply with
the State of Florida Division of Forestry Best Management Practices. The Subject Property
shall therefore remain eligible for all agricultural exemptions as provided by law.

SECTION 10. DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS.

(a) Parking: Parking requirements for each Tract shall be consistent with the LDR
2025, unless provided for elsewhere in this MPD Agreement. The calculation of minimum
parking space requirements for the development of any Tract or subsequently platted lot may
include excess parking spaces from another Tract or lot, so long as the aggregate number of
parking spaces required for both is satisfied. Additionally, the Declarant may have shared

Ordinance No. 2025-26
Page 14 of 53

Page 338 of 391



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

parking facilities serving more than one use or Tract, only if the Declarant provides analysis
from a traffic engineer that the different uses or mixed-uses will have different peak hour parking
demands and sufficient parking will be provided as required by the LDR 2025. The calculation
of minimum parking space requirements for the development of any Tract may be determined by
the Declarant, subject to the recommendation of a duly licensed traffic engineer. Multi-family
developments shall require 1.75 parking spaces/unit or more, as determined by the Declarant.

(b) Open Space: Minimum open space shall be forty percent (40%) of the Project.
Tracts may be developed with less open space, so long as the aforementioned requirement for
the Project is maintained. Open space is defined by Ordinance 2024-06 and the flexibility defined
therein shall be approved by the Land Use Administrator. Open space shall be maintained by
either the Community Development District, a property owners association, a mutually agreeable
conservation easement, or other method satisfactory to the Declarant. Based on the obligations
of this Development Agreement and the prior conveyance of the Public Lands, the City’s open
space requirements provided in its Comprehensive Plan, LDR 2025 and other regulations is
satisfied.

(©) Water/Wastewater/Reuse: The Declarant shall convey all on site water, waste

water and reuse improvements being served by the City to the City, pursuant to the City’s
standard utility agreement. The City shall not charge fees to a community development district or
a property owners association for the use of City reuse water for common areas until the later of
(1) January 1, 2034 or (ii) for ten (10) years after the City provides reuse water to the Project.
Moreover, the City shall not require the Declarant to prepay water and sewer “impact”,
“connection” or “CIAC” fees until the City issues a building permit for a residential or non-

residential structure.

Ordinance No. 2025-26
Page 15 of 53

Page 339 of 391



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

(d) Transportation: The Parties accept the traffic study performed by Chindalur

Traffic Solutions, Inc. (the “Transportation Study”), including its conclusions which are
incorporated herein by reference. Notwithstanding, the Declarant shall be obligated to comply
with Florida Department of Transportation requirements for its impacts to SR100. As for
impacts to John Anderson Highway, the Declarant shall construct improvements as may be
provided in the Transportation Study (“Traffic Improvements”) at such time as deemed

necessary in the Transportation Study. The Declarant shall be obligated

for all the cost of design, permitting and construction of all required Traffic Improvements
identified in the Transportation Study. The Project shall be deemed vested and no additional
off site transportation improvements shall be required to be constructed by the Declarant.

(e) Drainage:  The Declarant shall construct and maintain a stormwater
management system that provides treatment and attenuation as required by St. Johns River
Water Management District (SJRWMD) and the LDR 2025. Stormwater piping, swales and
ditches shall be designed to convey a five (5) year, twenty-four (24) hour storm event.
Stormwater detention facilities shall be designed to meet the water quality and attenuation
requirements of STRWMD. Any impact to a flood zone shall be solely regulated by SJRWMD,
FEMA or other applicable State and Federal agencies. Permits issued by these agencies shall
be determined to ensure that the proposed impact satisfies any and all City requirements,
including but not limited to the City’s Comprehensive Plan. As provided in the Pre-
Annexation Agreement and upon request, the City shall timely cooperate with Declarant to
obtain a CLOMR(s) or LOMAR(s) as issued by FEMA. In addition, the Declarant shall adopt
and require construction standards for residential homes to have a finished floor elevation at

or above the FEMA 100 yr flood plain elevation.
Ordinance No. 2025-26
Page 16 of 53

Page 340 of 391



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

63) Landscaping, Tree and Vegetation Protection: Landscaping

requirements adjacent to SR100 and John Anderson Highway shall be subject to this
Development Agreement and the LDR (2025). All other landscaping design and requirements
shall comply with those standards provided in Exhibit “G which may be amended from time
to time. No potable water shall be used for irrigation after sufficient stormwater or reclaimed
water capacity becomes available for the entire Project. Efforts to preserve and enhance the
Project’s design will be achieved, by the Declarant, through adjustments of building, parking,
roadway and stormwater locations and through supplemental landscaping that will blend with
the natural look yet carefully accentuate the residential areas, entrances, and other common
spaces. General landscaping around parking lots, roadways, entrances, residential and
commercial buildings, and other common areas will be landscaped with ornamental and native
plant materials when possible. Within residential common areas, fifty percent (50%) of the
total planted vegetation, by aerial extent, shall consist of native, drought-tolerant or waterwise
vegetation. Native or drought-tolerant plants include those in the SIRWMD’s Waterwise
Florida Landscapes, the Florida Native Plant Society’s list of native landscape plants for
Flagler County, A Gardener’s Guide to Florida’s Native Plants (Osorio 2001), or comparable
guidelines prepared by the Florida Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services,
SIRWMD, Florida Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission or Florida Department of
Environmental Protection. All ornamental landscape beds and lawn areas will have
supplemental irrigation. Flexibility of the MPD Master Plan shall allow for further refinement
of site development, and landscaping.

The Declarant shall require (i) three (3) shade trees for each single-family
detached lot and (i1) a shade tree every eighty (80) feet along each side of the Spine Road. Tree

Ordinance No. 2025-26
Page 17 of 53

Page 341 of 391



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

and vegetation protection, removal, conservation, and mitigation requirements shall be
governed by this Development Agreement. In consideration of (i) the approximately 1,100
acres previously conveyed to the County, (ii) the forty percent (40%) minimum open space
required for the Project as provided in Section 10(b) above, (iii) the Declarant’s significant
commitment herein to extensive landscaping along the Spine Road, (iv) the Declarant’s
commitment herein to require three (3) shade trees for each single-family detached lot, (v) the
Declarant’s commitment herein to incorporate drought-tolerant vegetation and (vi) the
Declarant’s commitment to a significant investment in a reuse water distribution system, the
removal of trees and vegetation shall be allowed to the extent the removal of such is necessary
as solely determined by the Declarant, to provide infrastructure, stormwater, utilities,
recreational opportunities or finished lots. Mitigation for tree and vegetation removal shall
be required, as provided in the paragraph below.

During the platting process, the Declarant shall provide the City a tree survey
depicting the location of viable specimen trees within the tract being platted as defined by the
City’s LDR 2025 (excluding pine and palm trees) with diameters of thirty inches (30”) or greater
(“Distinct Trees”). The Declarant shall make efforts to protect Distinct Trees as part of its design
and development of parcels. If the Declarant or its assigns determines that it is necessary to
remove Distinct Trees, the removal shall be allowed and the Declarant shall mitigate said tree
removal by paying to the City a fee (the “Distinct Tree Mitigation Fee”). The Distinct Tree
Mitigation Fee shall be calculated as twenty-five dollars ($25.00) per diameter inch of Distinct
Trees removed. The Distinct Tree Mitigation Fee shall be due and payable within sixty (60) days
after Final Plat approval. Notwithstanding the above, the cost to mitigate the removal of any one

Distinct Tree as provided in this section shall not exceed $4,000.00. Diseased or dying trees, as

Ordinance No. 2025-26
Page 18 of 53

Page 342 of 391



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

certified by a licensed arborist, may be removed by the Declarant and shall be exempt from
mitigation as provided in this section.

All other trees and vegetation, including but not limited to all species of pine trees
and palm trees, may be removed without mitigation or permit.

A Community Development District, Property Owners Association or Home
Owners Association shall be permitted to use temporary wells and stormwater for the Project’s
irrigation until sufficient reuse capacity is available for the entire Project, subject only to
permits issued by the state or federal agencies. Notwithstanding the foregoing, private wells

shall be prohibited on individual single-family lots.

(g) John Anderson Buffer. The Developer shall provide a 25-foot minimum and
50-foot average buffer along the limits of the Project boundary that coincides with the western
side of John Anderson Highway right of way.

(h) Lighting: All lighting, including but not limited to all pole mounted lighting,
shall be designed to minimize light pollution to off-site properties and to comply with the LDR
2025, unless otherwise agreed to by the LUA. In addition, development within one hundred
feet (100) from Bulow Creek shall use low level lighting shielded from view to minimize its
impact to the natural environment.

(1) Fire Protection: The Declarant previously donated to Flagler County a three (3)
acre parcel of land for a fire station to serve the Project and the residents along John Anderson
Highway. Fire protection requirements for the Project will be met through a system of fire
hydrants installed on the Project by the Declarant in accordance with City standards. The
locations of fire hydrants shall be shown on all construction documents, technical site plans, or
preliminary plats. The Project shall comply with the City’s fire protection requirements. The

Ordinance No. 2025-26
Page 19 of 53

Page 343 of 391



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

City will provide fire protection services to the Project in accordance with established local
response agreements.

() Utilities: The Declarant shall be responsible for any costs associated with the
extension of City utilities to the Subject Property that may be required to serve this Project.
Notwithstanding, all City utilities, including water and sewer, constructed in or adjacent to the
Spine Road shall be eligible to receive connection fee credits on a dollar-for-dollar basis.

(k) Interconnectivity and Access: All units within the Project maybe

interconnected by roadways and sidewalks, as called for by the City’s Comprehensive Plan. The
Project shall provide and maintain the minimum number of access drives onto John Anderson
Highway, as generally depicted on the MPD Master Plan.

()  Wetland Protection and Management:

(1) Purpose and Intent
The purpose of this section is to provide protection, maintenance,
enhancement, and sustainable utilization of wetlands and associated upland buffers within the
Project in a manner that reasonably aligns with the City’s Comprehensive Plan, state regulatory
standards, and best environmental practices. This approach balances ecological sustainability with
efficient land development, promoting no net loss of wetland functions while allowing for practical
site design. Wetlands may be preserved to support wildlife habitat, water quality, flood control,
and aesthetic values, consistent with oversight from agencies such as the SJRWMD and FDEP.
(i1) Wetland Identification and Survey
All wetlands within the MPD shall be identified using the methodology
outlined in the Florida Administrative Code. Wetlands may include forested swamps, sloughs,

freshwater and tidal marshes, wet prairies, saltwater marshes, and areas adjacent to the Intracoastal

Ordinance No. 2025-26
Page 20 of 53

Page 344 of 391



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

Waterway. Roadside ditches, conveyance swales, utility-related drainage features, and stormwater
management systems are exempt from these regulations.

Wetland delineations shall be conducted by a qualified Florida
environmental professional, and boundaries shall be surveyed by a Florida registered land
surveyor, including topographical data. The survey shall clearly delineate the wetland
jurisdictional line and the required upland buffer boundary. This information shall be incorporated
into all subdivision plats, and development applications submitted for approval.

(iii) Allowed Activities and Development in Wetlands and Buffers

To facilitate reasonable development while preserving wetland integrity,
the following activities are permitted within wetlands and required upland buffers, provided they
do not result in adverse impacts to wetland functions:

° Authorized wetland restoration, enhancement, monitoring, or
mitigation activities with approved permits from FDEP, SIRWMD, or the U.S. Army Corps of
Engineers (ACOE).

J Elevated walkways, paths, nature trails, hiking trails, or walking
paths not exceeding six (6) feet in width, constructed of wood, environmentally friendly materials,
natural materials, or open grid systems.

. Minor drainage structures such as swales or outfall pipes.

. Pruning or planting of suitable native vegetation, including removal
of exotic and nuisance plant species (as defined by the Florida Exotic Pest Plant Council Invasive
Plant List).

. Manual clearing with hand tools of vegetation on single parcels,

maintaining ecological functions like wildlife habitat and nutrient filtration.

Ordinance No. 2025-26
Page 21 of 53

Page 345 of 391



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

° Bona fide agricultural, fire control, silviculture, and mosquito

control activities following best management practices from relevant state agencies.

. Utility facilities, including crossings, easements, or rights-of-way
for service provision.

J Custodial maintenance of stormwater management systems.

. Driveway installations for single-family units in existing

subdivisions where wetland crossings are the only access point, maintaining hydrologic
connections and using best management practices.

o Activities qualifying for de minimis alterations under state general
permits or Florida Statutes.

. Wetland impacts for access to permissible uses or linear projects,
following an approved alternatives analysis for avoidance and minimization, including Florida
Department of Transportation projects.

All allowed activities must comply with applicable landscaping and tree
protection as provided for in this Agreement.

(1v) Measures to Avoid or Minimize Wetland Impacts

Development within the Subject Property shall prioritize avoidance and
minimization of wetland impacts through practicable design modifications. Modifications shall
not require fundamental changes to project type or function, nor shall they include economically
unviable or technically infeasible options that endanger public safety. Stormwater management
systems must not cause net adverse impacts on wetland or surface water functions unless offset by
appropriate mitigation per state requirements.

(v) Wetland Impact Review and Mitigation

Ordinance No. 2025-26
Page 22 of 53

Page 346 of 391



1 Wetland impacts shall be categorized based on quality assessments and

2 require the following analysis and mitigation:

Wetland Category Description Requirements
Optimal Wetlands Named systems Wetland impact analysis;

associated with surface alternatives analysis;

waters or quality score assurance of no net loss of

0.71-1.0 functions; mitigation
preferably within City
boundaries or same
hydrologic basin per

SIRWMD / FAC; copies
of federal/state permits.
Moderate Wetlands Quality Score 0.41 —0.70 Wetland impact analysis;
alternatives analysis;
mitigation in same
hydrologic basin; copies
of federal/state permits.
Minimal Wetlands Quality Score 0.0 — 0.40 Wetland impact analysis;
mitigation in same
hydrologic basin; copies of
federal/state permits.

4 Mitigation shall occur in accordance with Section 373.4135, Florida Statutes, allowing use of
5  mitigation banks or off-site regional options outside City jurisdiction if necessary. Impacts to
6  optimal wetlands shall achieve no net loss of functions. All impacts shall be governed by SIRWMD
7  or FDEP permits, which serve as evidence of compliance.

8 (vi) Wetland Buffers

9 A natural upland buffer shall be provided adjacent to all wetlands,
10  including saltwater marshes and the Intracoastal Waterway, to protect ecological functions. The
11 buffer shall average no less than twenty-five (25) feet in width across the site, with a minimum

12 width of fifteen (15) feet in constrained areas, unless otherwise permitted by FDEP, SIRWMD or

Ordinance No. 2025-26
Page 23 of 53

Page 347 of 391



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

ACOE, provided the overall average meets or exceeds twenty-five (25) feet. This averaging allows
for flexible site planning while maintaining equivalent protection.

Buffers shall not be created by filling jurisdictional wetlands unless
allowed by SIRWMD permit and appropriate mitigation. Existing vegetation within buffers shall
be preserved or revegetated with native species if disturbed. Allowed activities within buffers are
outlined in Sections 10(1) (iii) and (iv) above.

(m) Bulow Creek Buffer. The Developer shall provide a 25-foot minimum and 75-

foot average buffer along the limits of the Project boundary that coincides with Bulow Creek. The
Declarant shall also provide a natural buffer no less than one hundred (100) feet from the edge of
the Bulow Creek riverbank. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the minimum setback shall be 75-feet
in those areas as generally depicted in Exhibit “H”. The Declarant shall in good faith evaluate
opportunities for Flagler County to purchase from the Declarant Environmentally Sensitive Lands
as defined by state statute and local ordinance. In no way shall the Declarant be obligated to sell
or convey any portion of the Property to the County or any third party as contemplated by the
aforementioned sentence.

(n) Signage: Signs shall comply with the LDR 2025, unless otherwise provided
herein. The design and intent of signage is to ensure adequate means of communication through
signage while maintaining the attractive visual appearance within the Project. Signage shall meet
the following requirements:

(i) Gateway Signage and Entrance Features. Signage located at the

primary entrances to the Project (SR100 and John Anderson Highway) shall have a maximum
height of twenty (20) feet with a maximum signage area of one hundred sixty (160) square feet. A
maximum of two (2) gateway signs shall be permitted for any primary entrance. An entrance

Ordinance No. 2025-26
Page 24 of 53

Page 348 of 391



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

structure may be designed in conjunction with the entrance signage, or it may occur separately.
However, the main entrance to the Project located at the intersection of John Anderson and Spine
Road may have an entrance structure exceeding twenty (20) feet, but no taller than thirty-five (35)

feet.

(i1))  Thoroughfare Neighborhood Entrance Signs. Signage located along any
internal road or at any neighborhood entrance shall have a maximum height of twelve (12) feet
and a maximum signage area of one hundred (100) square feet. Any entrance feature shall have a
maximum height of twenty (20) feet. However, the main entrance to Project located at the
intersection of John Anderson and Spine Road may have an entrance structure exceeding twenty

(20) feet, but no taller than thirty-five (35) feet.

(ii1)) Commercial Signage. Ground signs shall be permitted for the

commercial area of the Project with a maximum signage area per sign of three hundred twenty (320)
square feet and a maximum height of twenty (20) feet. Additional commercial signage and wall
signage shall be permitted, including signage at the Marina and Intracoastal Waterway.

(iv) Signage Area. Signage area shall be calculated using the actual text and, if
applicable, logo graphics area only. Walls or architectural effects shall not count toward the
signage area square feet restriction, but shall meet the height restrictions set forth above.

v) Entrance Features. Walls, architectural icons, water features, landforms,

landscaping, or other effects which announce and signify arrival are permitted for the signage on
the Subject Property. Where a sign is incorporated in an entrance feature, the sign height shall be
measured from the bottom to the top of the sign copy area.

(vi)  Ground signage provided for in this section shall be permitted to be

constructed in the public right of way.

Ordinance No. 2025-26
Page 25 of 53

Page 349 of 391



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

(o) Temporary Facilities/Model Homes: Temporary support facilities shall be

permitted for a period of ten (10) years, at which time sales offices, model homes, development trailers and real
estate offices shall be transitioned into a permanent use within the Project. This time period may be extended
for successive periods of three (3) years by the LUA. Temporary support facility approval and extension shall
be processed by the LUA. The initial application for temporary support facilities will be reviewed and approved
by City Staff. Following City Staff approval, a building permit application will be submitted to the City
Building Department for review and approval. Residential units may be used as model homes and sales centers
(collectively, “Model Homes™). Up to five Model Homes can be constructed, occupied, and operated as sales
centers for each Tract of the Project. Sales and leasing activities shall be limited to properties located within the

Project. Construction and Certificates of Occupancies shall be issued consistent with the City and State rules,
regulations, and codes for residential structures. Model homes shall not be deemed commercial
activities. The City shall permit the construction of Model Homes during the development of a Tract
so long as a stabilized subbase of an adjacent roadway is available.

(p) Rental Program: Except for parcels developed as detached single family

residential, Developer reserves the right to place all or any portion of the Project’s units, in long term,
short term, resort residential, or resort condominium rental programs operated by Declarant, its
affiliates or any third-party rental program operators approved by the Declarant.

(q) Age Restrictions: Nothing in the Development Agreement shall prohibit any age

restriction requirements or use permitted by Federal or State law.

(r) Accessory Uses: Typical residential accessory uses will be allowed, including but

not limited to: decks, swimming pools, patios, air conditioning units, walkways and sidewalks.
Accessory uses and structures will be allowed in accordance with this Development Agreement,
provided such uses and structures are of a nature customarily incidental and clearly subordinate to

the permitted or principal use of a structure. Accessory uses or structures contained within or

Ordinance No. 2025-26
Page 26 of 53

Page 350 of 391



attached to the building containing the principal use shall be considered a part of the principal
building and not an accessory building and shall meet the same requirements for setbacks as the
main use structure. However, pools, covered pools, patios, outdoor fireplaces, decks, and gazebos,
either attached or detached from the principal use structure, may be constructed up to a minimum
of five (5) feet from the rear or side property boundary. In no case shall the water's edge of a
swimming pool be located closer than five (5) feet from the side and rear property line. Air
conditioning and heating units, pool mechanical equipment, utility meters and other mechanical or
utility service features may be located in any required side or rear yard up to a minimum two (2)

foot setback to the property line. No accessory structure, excluding yard ornaments, shall be located

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

within the required front yard.

SECTION 11. PHASING OF DEVELOPMENT.

(a) The Project may be developed in multiple phases. Prior to the issuance of any
permit for any phase of the Project (and prior to any construction of any improvement,
building, or structure on the Subject Property), the Declarant shall submit a Preliminary Plat
or Site Plan for the relevant phase. Each Tract of the Project will include infrastructure to
support the proposed uses, including water and wastewater service, drainage, private roads,
vehicular, and pedestrian access facilities. All infrastructure necessary to support each phase
that is constructed on the Subject Property shall be constructed concurrently with, or prior to
construction of that phase of the Project, as approved by the City, and prior to the issuance of
building permits for that phase. Adequate emergency vehicle access and turnarounds shall be
provided at all times.

(b)  Roadways shall be constructed concurrently with development of adjacent lots

to ensure that contiguous roadways are available at all times prior to the issuance of any

Ordinance No. 2025-26
Page 27 of 53

Page 351 of 391



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

building permits for that phase. To avoid unnecessary construction and repair costs, internal
sidewalks shall be constructed adjacent to each residential lot at the time the home is
constructed and prior to the Certificate of Occupancy, and each home’s building permit shall
be conditioned on this requirement. Model Homes shall be exempt from this standard until no
longer being used as such at which time the owner shall construct the required sidewalk.

(c)  The City may issue permits for clearing, grading and earthwork for portions of
the Subject Property before approving final construction plans, however, all Federal and State
permits required for land clearing, grading and earthwork shall be obtained.

(d)  The Project will be developed in multiple phases. The tracts identified on Exhibit
“B_” may be transferred by metes and bounds without platting. However, no infrastructure
improvements, except for stormwater, utilities or fill, may be made on any tract until the City issues a

preliminary plat development order for the development of that tract or portion thereof.

SECTION 12. LOT AND BUILDING STANDARDS.

(a) Lot Dimensional Standards: Dimensional standards for each use shall comply

with the LDR 2025 except as follows:

Type SF Multi-family Town House
Min. Distance Between 10 10° 10
Buildings*
Min. Bldg. Setback to Water 200 200 200
Max. Bldg. Height+ 35 35 35
Min. Front Bldg. Setback 15 15 10°
to Property Line
Min. Bldg. Rear Yard 10° 10° 10°
Setback***
Type SF Multi-family Town House
Minimum Front Setback 200 N/A 200
from Right of Way

Ordinance No. 2025-26
Page 28 of 53

Page 352 of 391



SO 0 3 NN~

—

11
12

13
14

15

16
17

18

19

20

21

Minimum Bldg. Side Street or 10° 10° 10°
Rear Yard Setback
Min. Lot Size (SF) 4,000 sf N/A 1,600 sf
Minimum Lot Width 40’ N/A 16’
Max. Impervious Surface 70% 80% 80%**
Ratig****

* Shall be measured as the distance between walls of adjacent structures.
** In the event the City increases its max building height limitations, the Declarant may elect to increase its maximum building height to such new
limit. Notwithstanding, residential structures presently under construction or constructed may exceed this height limitation.

***Except as provided in Section 10(q), above.

**#% Impervious Surface Ratios shall be applicable to each Tract.

Commercial or Mixed-Use with Residential Above Commercial

Site Development Requirements

Min. Lot Width 60°*
Min. Lot Size 12,000 sf
Min. Bldg. Side Setback 0’
Min. Bldg. Street-Side 10°
Setback
Min. Bldg. Front Setback 10
Max. Bldg. Height** 35
Min. Bldg. Rear Setback 10
Minimum Bldg. Setback to 200
MPD Property Line
Max. Impervious Surface 80%****
Ratio***

* If Town Houses are developed within a Commercial District, the dimensional standards for Town Houses shall control.

** In the event the City increases its max building height limitations, the Declarant may elect to increase its maximum building height

to such new limit.

*** Impervious Surface Ratios shall be applicable to each Tract.

****Minimum open space shall be forty percent (40%) of the entire MPD gross area.

(b) Mixed-Use Dimensional Standards: If a mixed-use is being developed for both

residential and commercial uses on the same Lot then the dimensional standards for the

dominant use shall be utilized (residential or commercial uses having the most building gross

floor area), unless commercial uses are on the first floor and the residential uses are on above

Ordinance No. 2025-26

Page 29 of 53

Page 353 of 391



1 floor(s), then the standards in the above table shall be used. Any conflict in dimensional or

2 design standards for a mixed-use development may be resolved by the Land Use

3 Administrator.

4 (©) Architecture: All architectural standards and requirements shall be determined,

5 approved and enforced by the Declarant. Notwithstanding, commercial architectural requirements

6 shall be governed by the City’s LDR 2025.

7 SECTION 13. LIST OF OUTSTANDING PERMITS/APPROVALS AND PROPER

8 SEQUENCING.

9 (a) The failure of the Development Agreement to address any specific State or
10 Federal permit, condition, term, or restriction shall not relieve the Declarant of the requirement
11 of complying with the law governing said permitting requirements, conditions, terms, or
12 restrictions.

13 (b) All required City, County, State, or Federal permits shall be obtained prior to

14 commencement of construction. This Development Agreement is not a Preliminary Plat
15  approval, and the Declarant remains responsible for complying with all provisions of the LDR
16 2025, unless provided elsewhere in this Development Agreement. The subdivision of the
17 Subject Property to provide for any Tract shall not require platting as required by Chapter 177,
18  Florida Statutes, and therefore the Declarant may convey a Tract by metes and bounds and
19 without platting.

20 (©) Open burning shall be prohibited during development and property owners shall
21  be subject to the City’s LDR 2025.

22 SECTION 14. DEVELOPMENT FEES.

23 The Declarant acknowledges and agrees that the City has enacted citywide impact fees,

Ordinance No. 2025-26
Page 30 of 53

Page 354 of 391



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23
24

and may in the future increase the amount of those fees. The Declarant acknowledges that the
Project shall be subject to all fees in effect at the time of permitting.

SECTION 15. COMMON AREAS AND MAINTENANCE.

To ensure the long-term maintenance and control of common areas, the Declarant shall
dedicate such areas to (i) the existing community development district, (ii) a property owners
association or (iii) other entity accepted by the LUA.

SECTION 16. CONVERSION OF USES.

The Declarant may increase or decrease the amount of a particular land use without
modifying or amending this Development Agreement or the MPD Master Plan, but only within
the minimum and maximum standards provided for on the Land Use Conversion Matrix
attached as Exhibit “I”, provided that (i) the changes are consistent with the Land Use
Conversion Matrix and (ii) at the time of election of a land use conversion under the Land Use
Conversion Matrix, the Declarant shall notify the City of the conversion in writing at least thirty
(30) days in advance of the conversion. Any modification to this Development Agreement shall
incorporate all changes previously made pursuant to the Land Use Conversion Matrix prior to
the filing of such modification. Provided that the conversion is (i) consistent with the criteria
contained in the Land Use Conversion Matrix attached as Exhibit “I”, and (ii) such converted
uses are consistent with the uses allowed under by this Development Agreement.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, any change or deviation from the approved land uses provided
for herein shall be consistent with the City’s Comprehensive Plan, which may require a small-
scale comprehensive plan amendment as more particularly described in Section 163.3187,
Florida Statutes.

SECTION 17. BREACH., ENFORCEMENT., ALTERNATIVE DISPUTE AND

Ordinance No. 2025-26
Page 31 of 53

Page 355 of 391



—

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23
24

CONFLICT RESOLUTION.

(a) In the event of a breach of this Agreement by either Party, the other party hereto
shall have all rights and remedies allowed by law, including the right to specific performance
of the provisions hereof.

(b) In the event that a dispute arises between the Parties, the City and Declarant
shall attempt to resolve all disputes informally and if they cannot, the Parties agree to engage
in pre-suit mediation before a certified Circuit Court mediator selected by the Parties within
thirty (30) days of either party making a written request to the other. If the Parties fail to agree
to a mediator, a certified mediator will be selected solely by the City. The Parties shall equally
pay all costs of mediation.

SECTION 18. NOTICES.

(a) All notices required or permitted to be given under this Development
Agreement must be in writing and must be delivered to the City or the Declarant at its address
set forth below (or such other address as may be hereafter be designated in writing by such
party).

(b) Any such notice must be personally delivered, sent by certified mail, or
overnight courier

(c) Any such notice will be deemed effective when received (if sent by hand
delivery receipt required,) or on that date which is ten (10) days after such notice is deposited
in the United States mail (if sent by certified mail).

(d) The Parties’ addresses for the delivery of all such notices are as follows:

As to the City: City Manager
City of Flagler Beach

Ordinance No. 2025-26
Page 32 of 53

Page 356 of 391



0NN N Rk WN

—_ e = e
AW = O O

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

City Hall
105 S. 2 Street
Flagler Beach, FL 32136

As to the Declarant: Veranda Bay Investments , LLC
Attn: Kenneth Belshe
3129 Springbank Lane 201
Charlotte, NC 28226

With copies to: Michael D. Chiumento III, Esq.
Chiumento Law, PLLC
145 City Place, Suite 301
Palm Coast, FL 32164

SECTION 19. SEVERABILITY.

The terms and provisions of this Development Agreement are not intended to be
severable, unless any term or provision shall be found to be invalid or illegal, in which case the
remaining portions of the Development Agreement shall remain valid and binding on the
Parties.

SECTION 20. SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS.

This Development Agreement and the terms and conditions hereof shall be binding
upon and inure to the benefit of the City and Declarant and their respective successors-in-
interest. The terms and conditions of this Development Agreement similarly shall be binding
upon the Subject Property and shall run with the land and the title to the same.

(b) This Development Agreement touches and concerns the Subject Property.

(c) The Declarant has expressly covenanted and agreed to this provision and all
other terms and provisions of this Development Agreement.

SECTION 21. GOVERNING LAW, VENUE AND COMPLIANCE WITH LAW.

(a) This Development Agreement shall be governed by and construed in
accordance with the laws of the State of Florida.

Ordinance No. 2025-26
Page 33 of 53

Page 357 of 391



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

(b) Venue for any dispute shall be in the Seventh Judicial Circuit Court in and for
Flagler County, Florida, or the Middle District if in Federal court.

(©) The Declarant shall fully comply with all applicable State, and Federal

environmental regulations and all other laws of similar type or nature.

(d) If State or Federal laws are enacted after execution of this Development
Agreement which are applicable to and preclude the Parties’ compliance with this
Development Agreement, this Development Agreement shall be modified as necessary to
comply with the relevant law.

SECTION 22. TERM/EFFECTIVE DATE.

(a) This Development Agreement shall be effective upon approval by the City
Commission and execution of this Development Agreement by all Parties (the “Effective
Date”).

(b) This Development Agreement will expire thirty (30) years from the Effective

Date unless renewed in writing by the Parties.

SECTION 23. RECORDATION.

Upon approval by the City Commission and execution of this Development Agreement
by all Parties, this Development Agreement and any and all amendments hereto shall be
recorded by the City with the Clerk of the Circuit Court of Flagler County within fourteen (14)
days after its execution by the City, and the Development Agreement shall run with the land.
The Declarant shall pay the costs to record this Development Agreement.

SECTION 24. THIRD PARTY RIGHTS.

This Development Agreement is not a third-party beneficiary contract, and shall not

in any way whatsoever create any rights on behalf of any third party.

Ordinance No. 2025-26
Page 34 of 53

Page 358 of 391



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

SECTION 25. SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE / TIME IS OF THE ESSENCE.

(a) Strict compliance shall be required with each and every provision of this
Development Agreement. The Parties agree that each has the remedy of specific performance
of these obligations.

(b) Time is of the essence to this Development Agreement and every right or
responsibility required herein shall be performed within the times specified.

SECTION 26. ATTORNEYS’ FEES.

In the event of any action to enforce the terms of this Development Agreement, the
prevailing party shall be entitled to recover reasonable attorneys’ fees, paralegals’ fees, and all
costs incurred, whether the same be incurred in a pre-litigation negotiation, litigation at the

trial, or appellate level.

SECTION 27. FORCE MAJEURE.

The Parties agree that in the event that the failure by either party to accomplish any
action required hereunder within a specific time period (“Time Period”) constitutes a default
under terms of this Development Agreement, and if any such failure is due to any unforeseeable
or unpredictable event or condition beyond the control of such party, including, but not limited
to: acts of God, acts of government authority (other than the City’s own acts), acts of public
enemy or war, terrorism, riots, civil disturbances, power failure, shortages of labor or materials,
injunction or other court proceedings beyond the control of such party, or severe adverse
weather conditions (“Uncontrollable Event”); then notwithstanding any provision of this
Development Agreement to the contrary, that failure shall not constitute a default under this
Development Agreement and any Time Period prescribed hereunder shall be extended by the

amount of time that such party was unable to perform solely due to the Uncontrollable Event.

Ordinance No. 2025-26
Page 35 of 53

Page 359 of 391



—_
— O O 0

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

SECTION 28. INDEMNIFICATION.

The Declarant shall indemnify and save the City harmless from and against any and all
damages caused solely by the Declarant’s development of the Subject Property as provided in
this Development Agreement. This provision shall exclude any damages arising out of a third
party challenging this Development Agreement or any subsequent development order issued
by the City affecting the Subject Property as defined by State statute.

SECTION 29. ENFORCEMENT: CITY’S RIGHT TO TERMINATE DEVELOPMENT

AGREEMENT.

(a) This Development Agreement shall continue to be enforceable, unless lawfully

terminated, notwithstanding any subsequent changes in any applicable law.

(b) The failure by the Declarant to perform its material obligations hereunder shall
constitute a default, entitling the City to pursue whatever remedies are available to it under
Florida law or equity, including, without limitation, an action for specific performance and/or
injunctive relief, or alternatively, the termination of this Development Agreement. Prior to the
City filing any action or terminating this Development Agreement as a result of a default under
this Development Agreement, the City shall first provide the Declarant written notice of said
default. Upon receipt of said notice, the Declarant shall be provided a ninety (90) day period
in which to cure the default to the reasonable satisfaction of the City prior to the City filing an
action or terminating this Development Agreement. If ninety (90) days is not considered by
the Parties to be a reasonable period in which to cure the default, the cure period shall be
extended to such cure period acceptable to the City, but in no case shall that cure period exceed
one hundred and eighty (180) days from initial notification of default. Upon the judicial

termination of the Development Agreement, the Declarant shall immediately be divested of all

Ordinance No. 2025-26
Page 36 of 53

Page 360 of 391



Ne)

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

rights and privileges granted hereunder.

SECTION 30. CAPTIONS.

Sections and other captions contained in this Development Agreement are for reference
purposes only and are in no way intended to describe, interpret, define, or limit the scope,
extent or intent of this Development Agreement, or any provision hereof.

SECTION 31. EXHIBITS.

Each exhibit referred to and attached to this Development Agreement is an essential part
of this Development Agreement. The exhibits and any amendments or revisions thereto, even
if not physically attached hereto, shall be treated as if they are part of this Development
Agreement

SECTION 32. INTERPRETATION.

(a) The Declarant and the City agree that all words, terms and conditions contained
herein are to be read in concert, each with the other, and that a provision contained under one
(1) heading may be considered to be equally applicable under another in the interpretation of
this Development Agreement.

(b) This Development Agreement shall not be construed more strictly against either
party on the basis of being the drafter thereof, and both Parties have contributed to the drafting
of this Development Agreement.

SECTION 33. FURTHER ASSURANCES.

Each party agrees to sign any other and further instruments and documents consistent
herewith as may be necessary and proper to give complete effect to the terms of this
Development Agreement.

SECTION 34. COUNTERPARTS.

Ordinance No. 2025-26
Page 37 of 53

Page 361 of 391



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

This Development Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of
which shall be deemed an original, but all of which, taken together, shall constitute one (1) and
the same document.

SECTION 35. MODIFICATIONS, AMENDMENTS AND NON-WAIVER.

(a) Unless provided for in Section 5, above: (1) Amendments to and waivers of the
provisions herein shall be made by the Parties only in writing by formal amendment, and (2)
This Development Agreement shall not be modified or amended except by written agreement
executed by all Parties hereto and upon approval of the City.

(b) Failure of any party hereto to exercise any right hereunder shall not be deemed
a waiver of any such right and shall not affect the right of such party to exercise at some future
date any such right or any other right it may have.

SECTION 36. ENTIRE AGREEMENT AND EFFECT ON PRIOR AGREEMENTS.

This Development Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the Parties and
supersedes all previous oral discussions, understandings, and agreements of any kind and

nature, as between the Parties relating to the subject matter of this Development Agreement.

(SIGNATURES INTENTIONALITY LEFT TO NEXT PAGE)

Ordinance No. 2025-26
Page 38 of 53

Page 362 of 391



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Development Agreement on
the dates set forth below.

CITY OF FLAGLER BEACH, FLORIDA

, Mayor
ATTEST:
, City Clerk
APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGALITY:
, Esq.

City Attorney

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by means of [ ]| physical
presence or [_] online notarization, this day of , 2025, by ,

Mayor of the CITY OF FLAGLER BEACH, who is personally known to me.

Notary Public — State of Florida
Print Name:
My Commission expires:

Ordinance No. 2025-26
Page 39 of 53

Page 363 of 391



WITNESSES: “DECLARANT”
VERANDA BAY INVESTMENTS, LLC

By:
William G. Allen, Manager

Witness Signature

Print Witness Name
Address:

Witness Signature

Print Witness Name
Address:

STATE OF

COUNTY OF

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by means of [ ] physical
presence or [ ] online notarization, this day of , 2025, by William
G. Allen, Manager, of Veranda Bay Investments, LLC, a Florida limited liability company,
(check one) [ ] who is personally known to me or [ ] who produced

as identification.

Notary Public — State of Florida
Print Name:
My Commission expires:

Ordinance No. 2025-26
Page 40 of 53

Page 364 of 391



EXHIBIT “A”

LEGAL DESCRIPTION

A PORTION OF TRACT "FD2", GARDENS AT HAMMOCK BEACH, AS RECORDED IN
MAP BOOK 35, PAGES 80 THROUGH 100 OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF FLAGLER
COUNTY, FLORIDA AND BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

FOR A POINT OF BEGINNING COMMENCE AT THE NORTHWESTERLY CORNER OF
SAID TRACT "FD2", SAID POINT ALSO BEING ON THE SOUTHERLY RIGHT OF WAY
LINE OF STATE ROAD 100 (A 200 FOOT RIGHT OF WAY AS ESTABLISHED); THENCE
SOUTH 89 DEGREES 29 MINUTES 03 SECONDS EAST, ALONG SAID SOUTHERLY
RIGHT OF WAY LINE, A DISTANCE OF 382.15 FEET TO THE INTERSECTION WITH
SOUTHWESTERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF VILLA DRIVE WEST (A VARIABLE
WIDTH PRIVATE RIGHT OF WAY AS ESTABLISHED), SAID POINT BEING THE POINT
OF CURVATURE OF A CURVE CONCAVE SOUTHWESTERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS
OF 35.00 FEET; THENCE ALONG SAID CURVE AND SAID SOUTHWESTERLY RIGHT
OF WAY LINE AN ARC DISTANCE OF 51.49 FEET TO THE POINT OF TANGENCY OF
SAID CURVE, SAID CURVE BEING SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH 41
DEGREES 37 MINUTES 50 SECONDS EAST, AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 46.97 FEET;
THENCE SOUTH 00 DEGREES 30 MINUTES 47 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 29.81
FEET TO THE POINT OF CURVATURE OF A CURVE CONCAVE NORTHEASTERLY
AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 470.00 FEET; THENCE ALONG SAID CURVE AN ARC
DISTANCE OF 578.46 FEET TO THE POINT OF TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE, SAID
CURVE BEING SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH 34 DEGREES 44
MINUTES 45 SECONDS EAST, AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 542.64 FEET; THENCE
SOUTH 70 DEGREES 00 MINUTES 17 SECONDS EAST, A DISTANCE OF 190.75 FEET TO
THE POINT OF CURVATURE OF A CURVE CONCAVE SOUTHWESTERLY AND
HAVING A RADIUS OF 360.00 FEET; THENCE ALONG SAID CURVE AN ARC DISTANCE
OF 364.42 FEET TO THE POINT OF TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE, SAID CURVE BEING
SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH 41 DEGREES 00 MINUTES 17
SECONDS EAST, AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 349.06 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 12
DEGREES 00 MINUTES 17 SECONDS EAST, A DISTANCE OF 170.79 FEET TO THE POINT
OF CURVATURE OF A CURVE CONCAVE WESTERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS OF
260.00 FEET; THENCE ALONG SAID CURVE AN ARC DISTANCE OF 48.62 FEET, SAID
CURVE BEING SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH 06 DEGREES 3B
MINUTES 50 SECONDS EAST AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 48.55 FEET; THENCE
SOUTH 88 DEGREES 37 MINUTES 36 SECONDS WEST DEPARTING THE
AFOREMENTIONED SOUTHWESTERLY RIGHT OF LINE OF VILLA DRIVE WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 471.38 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 88 DEGREES 28 MINUTES 30 SECONDS
WEST, A DISTANCE OF 589.08 FEET; THENCE NORTH 33 DEGREES 37 MINUTES 07
SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 50.65 FEET; THENCE NORTH 38 DEGREES 07
MINUTES 37 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 95.67 FEET TO A POINT ON A
WESTERLY LINE OF THE AFOREMENTIONED TRACT "FD2, GARDENS AT HAMMOCK
BEACH"; THENCE NORTH 01 DEGREES 27 MINUTES 08 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE

OF 968.01 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.
Ordinance No. 2025-26
Page 41 of 53

Page 365 of 391



Together with

A PARCEL OF LAND IN THE SOUTH 1/2 OF SECTION 11, TOWNSHIP 12 SOUTH, RANGE 31 EAST,
FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA, MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

COMMENCE AT THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF GOVERNMENT SECTION 11, TOWNSHIP 12
SOUTH, RANGE 31 EAST AS MONUMENTED BY A 4” X 4” CONCRETE MONUMENT INSCRIBED
WITH A “T”; THENCE ALONG THE SOUTHERLY LINE OF SAID SECTION 11 NORTH 88°51°19”
EAST A DISTANCE OF 2,591.75 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE NORTH 00°06°41”
EAST A DISTANCE OF 1,287.36 FEET; THENCE NORTH 88°28°36” EAST A DISTANCE OF 680.27
FEET; THENCE SOUTH 01°24°50” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 345.10 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 88°36°24”
WEST, A DISTANCE OF 150.00 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 01°28°15” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 300.30
FEET; THENCE NORTH 88°36°24” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 150.00 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 01°08°43”
EAST, A DISTANCE OF 24.77 FEET; THENCE NORTH 88°54°22” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 749.54 FEET
TO A POINT ON THE WESTERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF STATE ROAD 201, (ALSO KNOWN AS
JOHN ANDERSON HIGHWAY); THENCE ALONG SAID WESTERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE, SOUTH
18°11°55” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 401.46 FEET; THENCE DEPARTING SAID RIGHT OF WAY LINE,
SOUTH 77°14°08” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 99.57 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 01°16°02” EAST, A
DISTANCE OF 216.94 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 88°50°35” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 126.47 FEET TO A
POINT ON THE SOUTHERLY LINE OF AFORESAID SECTION 11; THENCE ALONG SAID
SOUTHERLY LINE SOUTH 88°51°19” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 1,350.55 FEET TO THE POINT OF
BEGINNING.

Together with

A PORTION OF LOTS 1, 3, 7, 8 AND 9, AND ALL OF LOTS 4, 10, 11 AND 12, BLOCK C, BUNNELL
DEVELOPMENT COMPANY’S LAND AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 1, PAGE 1, IN THE PUBLIC
RECORDS OF FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA, TOGETHER WITH A PORTION OF GOVERNMENT
SECTION 14, 38, AND 39, TOWNSHIP 12 SOUTH, RANGE 31 EAST, FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA,
SITUATED IN GOVERNMENT SECTIONS 11, 14, 38 AND 39, TOWNSHIP 12 SOUTH, RANGE 31
EAST, FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA, BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

COMMENCE AT THE INTERSECTION OF THE EAST RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF JOHN ANDERSON
HIGHWAY (STATE ROAD 201) AND THE NORTH LINE OF SAID SECTION 38-12-31; THENCE
SOUTH 71°47°17° WEST, A DISTANCE OF 100.00 FEET TO A POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT OF WAY
LINE OF JOHN ANDERSON HIGHWAY (STATE ROAD 201), ALSO BEING THE POINT OF
BEGINNING; THENCE ALONG SAID WEST RIGHT OF WAY LINE THE FOLLOWING THREE
COURSES: SOUTH 18°10°26” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 3,184.36 FEET TO A POINT OF CURVATURE
OF A NON-TANGENT CURVE CONCAVE NORTHEASTERLY HAVING A RADIUS OF 1,196.28 FEET,
A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 22°09°26” AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 459.74 FEET WHICH BEARS
SOUTH 29°14°21” EAST; THENCE SOUTHEASTERLY ALONG THE ARC OF SAID CURVE A
DISTANCE OF 462.62 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 40°21°41” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 776.28 FEET;
THENCE DEPARTING SAID WEST RIGHT OF WAY LINE SOUTH 69°18°47” WEST, A DISTANCE OF
1,433.82 FEET, THENCE NORTH 20°41°22” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 995.98 FEET, THENCE NORTH
24°04°44” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 1,618.01 FEET; THENCE NORTH 86°17°06” WEST, A DISTANCE
OF 2,604.28 FEET; THENCE NORTH 60°37°10” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 341.50 FEET; THENCE NORTH
43°23°02” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 2,172.87 FEET, THENCE NORTH 30°47°31” EAST, A DISTANCE

Ordinance No. 2025-26
Page 42 of 53

Page 366 of 391



OF 1,526.35 FEET; THENCE NORTH 45°31°15” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 902.38 FEET; THENCE NORTH
40°14°18” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 1,732.75 FEET; THENCE NORTH 06°10°40” WEST, A DISTANCE
OF 189.68 FEET; THENCE NORTH 00°15°33” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 614.90 FEET; THENCE NORTH
88°32°16” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 257.93 FEET; THENCE NORTH 01°27°08” WEST, A DISTANCE OF
1,087.72 FEET TO A POINT ON THE SOUTH LINE OF STATE ROAD NO. 100; THENCE ALONG SAID
SOUTH RIGHT OF WAY LINE SOUTH 89°29°03” EAST A DISTANCE OF 959.81 FEET; THENCE
DEPARTING SAID SOUTH RIGHT OF WAY LINE SOUTH 00°30°57” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 210.00
FEET; THENCE SOUTH 89°29°03” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 210.00 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 00°30°57”
WEST, A DISTANCE OF 389.92 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 89°28°38” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 822.42
FEET; THENCE SOUTH 00°06’48” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 1,704.61 FEET; THENCE NORTH
88°51’12”EAST, A DISTANCE OF 1,350.55 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 01°10°32” EAST, A DISTANCE OF
660.84 FEET; THENCE NORTH 88°37°17” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 158.75 FEET; THENCE SOUTH
18°14°40” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 330.09 FEET; THENCE NORTH 88°50°11” EAST, A DISTANCE OF
330.04 FEET TO A POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF JOHN ANDERSON HIGHWAY
(STATE ROAD 201); THENCE ALONG SAID RIGHT OF WAY LINE SOUTH 18°15°00” EAST, A
DISTANCE OF 1,788.60 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.

LESS AND EXCEPT: THE LAND CONTAINED IN THE QUIT CLAIM DEED TO EAST FLAGLER
MOSQUITO CONTROL DISTRICT RECORDED IN OFFICIAL RECORDS BOOK 1620, PAGE 434,
PUBLIC RECORDS OF FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA. CONTAINING 0.89 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.

LESS AND EXCEPT: THE LAND CONTAINED IN THE SPECIAL WARRANTY DEED TO FLAGLER
COUNTY RECORDED IN OFFICIAL RECORDS BOOK 1636, PAGE 1694, PUBLIC RECORDS OF
FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA. CONTAINING 81.32 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.

LESS AND EXCEPT: THE LAND CONTAINED IN THE SPECIAL WARRANTY DEED TO HIGHWAY
100 COMMERCIAL LLC RECORDED IN OFFICIAL RECORDS BOOK 1789, PAGE 750, PUBLIC
RECORDS OF FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA. CONTAINING 18.94 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.

LESS AND EXCEPT: TRACT PL-2 OF THE VACATED PLAT OF GARDENS AT HAMMOCK BEACH,
ACCORDING TO THE PLAT THEREOF AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 35, PAGES 80 THROUGH 100,
PUBLIC RECORDS OF FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA. CONTAINING A TOTAL OF 13.17 ACRES,
MORE OR LESS.

Ordinance No. 2025-26
Page 43 of 53

Page 367 of 391



EXHIBIT “B”

5 ¥ %
| = i % / s
8 ® B
£ = v
(-3
Moody Bivd
g\
¥
°’
g
.....  mSEESEEEEEE——
\\ ¢
‘)
\
Tract Acreages \-,‘
1 105.93 \
|
2 86.28 \
3 206.38 \
a 79.96 \
5A 6.26
58 23.24
6 30.856
7 65.06
Total (Annexation) | 514.12 a
Total 544.97 \— %
[Flract & € deagnated LDR. Only the spachic [axt amancment 19
Bpplies 1o Tiad 6. % ’3
Bourcs: Adreages derived from sketch & legal description %o‘ ;
prepared by Howatt lnd Sunwaying, LLC, dated October 5, 2010, %
Jacksonville . N
[Fasres ET0 Flagier Cauaty Ea nimmereag] w :
Fropd Tracs k
- v
- 5
- 0 1,500 3,000
& —
. SA
(s ] Feet
7 . -
vy CRy 0f Flagjer Baach I I I I I At
Orlando =4 Existing City Limis i B e
Proposad Transportaion 14775 O St Augusting Rasd, Jacksonmile, Fionda 312258
Metwark 9046428990 | WWNQITJEO COM | WWW BETING Com
IS UYOAA T Sorrrmeriomn L SahSummmetoan| Summarions apvx Oate: 7/31/2025

Ordinance No. 2025-26
Page 44 of 53

Page 368 of 391



EXHIBIT “C”

Ordinance No. 2025-26
Page 45 of 53

Page 369 of 391



EXHIBIT “D”

Ordinance No. 2025-26
Page 46 of 53

Page 370 of 391



EXHIBIT “E”

100 FT R/W

100 UMY

B ASPHALT/

Pocwn

5 ,
STREET TREES 12"“12‘r|‘ STREET TREES —

- _  _  —  ———— e

VERANDA BAY
SPINE ROAD SECTION

PROFESSIONAL ENGIMEERS * LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS

1728 RIDGEWOOD AVENUE HOLLY HILL, FLORIDA 32117
(386) EF7-6E91  FAX (386) 677-2114 E-MAL Info@porkermynchenberg.com
CERTIACATE OF AUTHORITATON NUMBER COOO3910

Ordinance No. 2025-26
Page 47 of 53

EXHIBIT E

Page 371 of 391



EXHIBIT “F”

t T

ERSNIA 347 — WFD
VASTER DEVELDFVERT L&Y
Re-L -1 0-IC Irl-

MFD = MASTER O=dMacE SLan

PARKER MYNCHENEERG
L ABEOCIATRE, INCL
ACRETICHAL ERTHEENS ¥ LEUCAE SACHITELT:
1 E =B E HWimLM =
=y ERRL = R T T

SR e A
v MaTL AT

Ordinance No. 2025-26
Page 48 of 53

Page 372 of 391



EXHIBIT “G”

LANDSCAPE GUIDELINES

GENERAL:

All developed home sites shall be landscaped according to plans approved by the ARC. It is the intent of the ARC
that all residential planting be consistent in terms of quantity, mass and quality. All plant material used shall

be classified as Florida Fancy. All walls require foundation plantings, and plant height and size shall accentuate
and compliment the home’s architecture. Tree and palm staking shall be removed no later than 12 months from
installation. Landscaping as approved by the ARC shall be complete at the time of submittal of the Builder’s
Construction Completion Transmittal {Attachment #3) to the ARC. All shrubs, trees, grass and plantings of every
kind shall be kept well maintained, properly cultivated and free of trash and other unsightly material.

Each lot's landscaping shall have three general elements: front yard planting, side yard planting and rear yard
planting, Plant requirements for each area are contained in the Landscape Design Criteria along with the plant
requirements for each area

LANDSCAPING PLAN:

A basic landscape plan for each home site must be designed by a professional landscape architect or landscape
designer and be submitted to and approved by the ARC. The plan is to be submitted along with the other required
items at the time of application. It shall incorporate existing vegetation on the site, if any, and show any existing
trees to be removed. The landscape plan shall indicate all plant types by botanical and common names, sizes,
height, spread, caliper and plant spacing. Additionally, the plants shall be identified on the plan as well asin a
master plant list. Tree and shrub placement should take into account the location of utilities and minimize conflicts
with water, sewer and electric utilities.

EXISTING TREES:

In order that the natural beauty of the home site may be preserved, no living tree having a diameter of six (6)
inches or more, as measured one (1) foot above the natural grade, shall be destroyed and removed from the
property unless approved by the ARC in connection with its approval of the plans and specifications for the
construction of improvements on the property. The builder shall take special care during construction not to injure
or destroy trees or tree root systems including use of protective barriers to keep equipment away from trees.

SHRUBBERY:

In general, no hedge, shrubbery or vegetation of any kind shall be placed in the form of a fence on any lot across
the front street line or on either of the side lot lines. The ARC may approve, on a case-by-case bass, hedges on rear
side lot lines.

S0D:
All areas within each home site not covered with pavement, buildings, shrubs, or groundcover shall be completely

sodded (St. Augustine or Floratam), unless otherwise approved by the ARC.

MULCH:
All planting areas within each home site shall be covered and maintained with two (2) inches or more of pine,
cypress, or other suitable mulch. The type of mulch shall be identified on the landscape plan. If rock is to be used,

it must be white, gray or brown river rock, and must be identified on the landscape plan.

Ordinance No. 2025-26
Page 49 of 53

Page 373 of 391



LANDSCAPE GUIDELINES

PLANT MATERIALS:

Plant materials shall equal or exceed the standards for Florida Fancy. The landscape plan shall indicate all plant
types by Bolanical and common names, sizes, height, spread, caliper and plant spacing. All plant materials are

subject to the review and approval of the ARC. No artificial vegetation will be permitied on the exterior of any
home.

IRRIGATION:

All landscaped areas shall be provided with an automatic underground irrigation system or sprinkling system
connected to a reclaimed water source, a central irrigation system, or 2 potable water supply. Irrigation must

be provided to the back of the curb of the adjacent street and to the shoreline of all portions of a lake, marsh or
other walercourse within or adjacent to the home sile, excepl thal irrigation of conservalion easements 1s nol
required, The use of rain sensors shall be incorporated into the design, The hormeowner will be subject to rules and
regulations concerning irrigation issued by the master association. Irrigation systems shall not draw water from
lakes, ponds, or other water management areas, unless approved by the ARC. No well of any kind shall be dug or
drilled on any residential lot.

FERTILIZERS AND PESTICIDES:
Only biodegradable fertilizers and pesticides approved by the US. Environmental Protection Agency and the
Florida Department of Environmental Regulation shall be used.

Ordinance No. 2025-26
Page 50 of 53

Page 374 of 391



LANDSCAPE DESIGN CRITERIA

FRONT YARD PLANTING:

All front yard planting to consist of the following:
18" - 24" on average height palm trees

5" accent tree

14" street tree (minimum 2" caliper) - shade tree
3-gallon shrub mass

3-gallon groundcover mass

1-gallon groundcover mass

10-gallon specimen accents

SIDE YARD PLANTING:

All side yard planting to consist of the following:

3-gallon foundation hedge

Foundation plantings to extend 1/3 the length of the home

REAR YARD PLANTING:

All rear yard planting to consist of the following:

Two - 6 shade trees

If any palm treeis to be used, they must be 18" - 24" on
average height palm trees

10-gallon shrub mass

3-gallon foundation shrub

3-gallon groundcover mass

10-gallon accent shrubs

Ordinance No. 2025-26
Page 51 of 53

Page 375 of 391



EXHIBIT “H”

75 ft. min. sétback to:
Bulow Creek

75 ft. min. setbac
Bulow Creek

v

Ordinance No. 2025-26
Page 52 of 53

Page 376 of 391



EXHIBIT “I”

Veranda Bay - Land Use Exchange Table

Proposed Met External PM Peak
Land Use Type Quantity Units Trips Trip Rate
Single-family Detached Residential L1067 DUs L2 077z
Single-family Attached Residential a6 Cus 48 0.476
Puttifamily Housing {Mid-Rise) 4 - 10 Story Buildings 1,332 DUs aa7 0335
Shopping and Retail 456 K&F 1518 3327
Recreational Community Center 12 KSF 57 2.545
Convert To
5F Detached SF Attached Multi-Family ing/Retail | Rec Comm Center
E Single-family Detached Residential 1.000 1.622 2.304 0.232 0303
= single-family Attached Residential 0.617 1.000 1421 0.143 0.1a7
t Multifamily Housing (Mid-Rise) 4 - 10 Story Bulldings 0.434 0.704 1.000 0.101 0132
E Shopping and Retail 4.310 6.989 9.931 1.000 1.307
Recreational Community Center 3,297 5.347 1,597 0.765 1.000
Exampis:
To comven 50 Single Family Residential Dweliing Units to Shopping/Retail, multiply 50 * 0.23 = 11,602.00 SF
To convert 10,000 5F Shopping/Retall to Single Family Detached Resideatail, multiply 10,000/1000 = 4,310 43.00 Unlts

Ordinance No. 2025-26
Page 53 of 53

Page 377 of 391



CITY OF FLAGLER BEACH
PLANNING & ZONING DEPARTMENT

5
INTAKE APPLICATION
() FinalSite Plan (O Preliminary Plat
D Master Site Plan ™ Final Plat
(O site Development Plan(s) D Plat Vacating
Gy Rezoning (O Subdivision Master Plan
D Comprehensive Plan Amendment D Non-statutory Land Division/Parcel Reconfiguration
D Future Land Use Map Amendment D Site Plan Modification (Post approval)
(O special Exception (O Development Order Modification
(O Vvariance (O Wireless Communication Facility (new structure)

Application Submittal Date:

Application No.: PZR25-0002

Fee Paid: S . Date Received:

Employee Accepting Application (print name):

Rejected Date: . Rejected by:

| Reason for Rejection:

A. PROJECT NAME: Summertown

B. LOCATION OF SUBJECT PROPERTY (PHYSICAL ADDRESS):

C. PROPERTY APPRAISER’S PARCEL ID NUMBER(s): S€€ attached Exhibit "B" parcel ID Numbers

D. LEGAL DESCRIPTION: Subdivision Name;

See attached Exhibit "A" legal description

Section; Block(s); Lot(s);

E. SUBJECT PROPERTY ACRES / SQUARE FOOTAGE:

Agriculture/Timberlands PUD
F. FUTURE LAND USE MAP DESIGNATION: EXISTING ZONING DISTRICT:

OVERLAY DISTRICT:

G. FLOOD ZONE: FEMA COMMUNITY PANEL NUMBER: DATE:

H. CURRENT USE OF PROPERTY; Vacant

|. DESCRIPTION OF REQUEST/PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT (ATTACH ADDITIONAL SHEETS)

J. PROPOSED NUMBER OF LOTS (If Applicable): Development Phasing:  Yes(CJ o (O

INTAKE APPLICATION Page 10f 2

Page 378 of 391



CITY OF FLAGLER BEACH
PLANNING & ZONING DEPARTMENT

K. LIST BELOW ANY APPLICATIONS CURRENTLY UNDER REVIEW OR RECENTLY APPROVED ASSOCIATED WITH THIS

APPLICATION:

L. WATER/SEWER PROVIDER:

M. EXISTING MORTGAGE?

YesD No@

OWNER:Veranda Bay Investments, LLC &

APPLICANT/AGENT:

Name: Paim Coast Infracoastal, LLT

Name: Michael D. Chiumento Ill, Esq.

Mailing Address: 3129 Springbank Lane, Charlotte, NC 28226

Mailing Address: 14> Uity Flace, Suite 301, Palm Coast,

Phone Number: 386-986-2411

Phone Number: 386-445-8900

E-mail Address: kenbelshe@yahoo.com

E-mail Address:

MORTGAGE HOLDER:

ENGINEER OR PROFESSIONAL:

Name:

Name: Lindsay Haga, England-Thims & Miller, Inc.

Mailing Address:

Mailing Address:

Phone Number:

Phone Number:-- 904-376-6296

E-mail Address:

E-mail Address: HagaL@etminc.com

SURVEYOR:

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT:

Name:

Name:

Mailing Address:

Mailing Address:

Phone Number:

Phone Number:

E-mail Address:

E-mail Address:

PLANNER:

TRAFFIC ENGINEER:

Name:

Name:

Mailing Address:

Mailing Address:

Phone Number:

Phone Number:

E-mail Address:

E-mail Address:

ATTORNEY OF RECORD:

DEVELOPER:

Name: Michael D. Chiumento lll, Esq.

Name:

Mailing Address: 145 City Place, Suite 301, Palm Coast

Mailing Address:

Phone Number: 386-445-8900

Phone Number:

E-mail Address: Michael3@legalteamforifie.com

E-mail Address:

I HEREBY CERTIFY THAT ALL INFORMATION ON THIS APPLICATION IS CORRECT:

Signature of owner OR person authorized to represent this appltcatlon

p

Signature(s):

LIP3l

William G. Allen, as Manager of
Printed or typed name(s)Palm Coast Intracoastal, LLC

Wlllam G. Allen, as Manager of

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by means of _A\ysical presence or__ online notarization

this day of, July 2

025 py William G. Allen as Manager

individual submitted

by _Personal Knowledge

(VI

Satisfactory Evidence: Type

(SEAL)

Signature of Notary Publlc State of Florida

., TRACEY A. BENAVIDES
Notary Public-State of Florida
Commission # HH 190061
My Commission Expires
January 02, 2026

INTAKE APPLICATION Page 2 of 2

Page 379 of 391




WHEN PETITIONER IS THE OWNER OF SUBJECT PROPERTY

This is to certify that | am the gwner in fee simple of subject lands described above j
Comprehensive Plan Amendmenf&f Annexation .

STATE OF FLORIDA, Highw

County of Flagler

Subscribed and Swom to (or affirmed) before me by:

Sl YDF OWNER
Mary L. Demalras as Trustae of tha Mary L. Dematraa Ravocabla Trust,
Manager af Highway 100 Commarcisf, LLC

OWNER'S NAME (Print/Type)
800 Highland Ave., Suite 200, Orlando, Fl. 32803

ADDRESS (Street, City) & Phone Number

This 2 day ofMQAL, 2024

identification. ﬁ%"
W 2% 0%b) \ i I
Commission Number & Expiration e

BJECT PROPERT

This is to certify that | am the owner of subject lands described above in the Petition for ReZOﬂing &
Comprehensive Plan Amendment . that | have authorized Michaet D. Chiumento lIl, Esq. to make and

file the aforesaid Petition for Rezoning & Comprehensive Plan Amendment & Annexation

STATE OF FLORIDA,
County of Flagler
Subscribed and Swom to (or affirmed) before me by:

Mary L. Demetree as Trustge of the Mary L. Demetree Revocable
Trust, Manager of Highway/l00 Commercial, LLC

OWNER'S NAME (Print/Type)
800 Highland Ave._, Suite 200
Orlando. FL 32803
ADDRESS (Street, City) & Phone Number |

Thiséc\ day ofm 20 24 ; o is personally knownjto me or has produced = as

identification.
' bl 4 C~

Commission Number & Expiration Notary Blblic\ /s S

AZYADET N. ALVAREZ
MY COMMISSION # HH 350861

EXPIRES: April 17, 2027

Page 380 of 391



EN PETITIONER IS THE OWNER OF SUBJECT PRO

This is to certify that | am the owner in fee si F e of subject Iands described above in the Petition for R€ZONING &
Comprefiensive Plan Amendment & Annexation

STATE OF FLORIDA, Highway 100 Commersjal, LLC

County of Flagler ; -

By:
ichate e e e e

Revocable Trusé Manager of Higineay 100
Commercial, L

OWNER'S NAME (Print/Type)
800 Highland Ave., Suite 200, Orlando, FL 32803
ADDRESS (Street, City) & Phone Number

Subscribed and Swom to (or affirmed) before me by:

This ) day of JUNE 2024 Whois personalty kr%vn to me or has produced as
identification. o

/ L
HU4eAn42  zlslzg C’@K )

Commission Number & Expiration NotaryPublic

Notary Fuoiic State of Florlda
SGawn Harrls
m My _x‘cxmmlsslon HH 488042

This is to cerlify that | am the owner of subject lands described above in the Petition for Rezoning & 1
Comprehensive Plan Amendment o et | have authorized Michaet D. Chiumento I, Esq. to make and
file the aforesaid Petition for Rezoning & Comprehensive Plan Amendment & Annexation
Fl
STATE OF FLORIDA, -
County of Flagler . e .
Subscribed and Swomn to (or affirned) before me by: Highway~i00 Commerci LC
oy —
Michelle Chira, Trusi{eh%/of the Michelle Chir>T@NATURE OF OWNER
Revocable Trust, as ger of Highway 100
Commercial, LLC
OWNER’S NAME (Print/Type)
800 Highland Ave., Suite 200
Oriando, FL 32803
ADDRESS (Street, City) & Phone Number
This |2 day of -|UNE. 20 24 . Who is personally kn%n to me or has produced as
identification. v o
HHAEAO042. 25|28 { AT
T = —wotary Public State of Florida
Commission Number & Expiration Notary Public { A Dawn Harris I
m MK [:Qmmleelnn et ﬂﬂt\aﬂ
4 Expires 2/5/2028 )

Page 381 of 391



= e

FOR USE WHEN PETITIONER IS THE OWNER OF SUBJECT PROPERTY

This is to certify that I am the owner in fee simple of subject lands described above in the Petition for Rezoning, Comp Plan Amengiment &

Palm Coast Intracoast, LLC AanExEtion
STATE OF FLORIDA, '
County of Flagler

Subscribed and Swom to (or affirmed) before me by M B
SIGNATURE OF OWN

William G. Allen, Jr., as Manager
OWNER’S NAME (Print/Type)
3129 Springbank Lane, #201, Charlotte, NC
ADDRESS {Street, City) & Phone Number

v, TRACEY A. BENAVIDES
2 Notary Public-State of Florida
«Z Commission # HH 190061
&5 My Commission Expires
January 02, 2026

S—
il
y

This - Who s personally known to me or has produced _as
identification. —
N
HMuttacoey_otlezlee. (Was vy A Ronowdon
Commission Number & Expiration Notary Public

FOR USE WHEN PETITIONER IS THE AGENT OF THE OWNER OF SUBJECT PROPERTY

This is to certify that I am the owner of subject lands desaribed above in the Petition for Rezoning and that 1 have authorized
to make and file the aforesaid Petition for Rezoning..

STATE OF FLORIDA,
County of Flagler
Subscribed and Sworn to (or affirmed) before me by = - = _
SIGNATURE OF OWNER
OWNER’S NAME (Print/Type)

. ADDRESS (Street, City) & Phone Number

| This day of .20 .Who is personally known to me or has produced s
identification.
a s
 Commission Number & Expiration " Notary Public
{
| R e Y — — e
Rezoning Standards Application Info Packet 4 Updated 040309

Page 382 of 391



FOR USE WHEN PETITIONER IS THE OWNER OF SUBJECT PROPERTY

S

This is to certify that I am thie owner in fee simple of subject lands described above in the Petition for Rezoning.AComptElan Amend }rnent &
nnexation

Veranda Bay Investments, LLC

STATE OF FLORIDA,
County of Flagler
Subscribed and Sworn to (or affirmed) before me by 1./ % M
SIGNATURE OF OWNER =
William G. Allen, Sr., as Manager
e, TRACEY A. BENAVIDES g i

::;5‘““ "o‘f,’gNotary Public-State of Florida OWNER'S NAME (Print/Type)

Za ;= Commission # HH 190061 3129 Springbank Lane, #201, Charlotte NC

”’l’*oswi‘:\s My Commission Expires

e January 02, 2026 ADDRESS (Street, City) & Phone Number

This 3 day of Jung , 2024  Who is personally known to me or has produced as
identification.

0y - :
Hutagoer  oilozlee &Lgﬁ;““,l A ag nwoevi1doa
Commission Number & Expiration Notary Public

FOR USE WHEN PETITIONER IS THE AGENT OF THE OWNER OF SUBJECT PROPERTY

This is to certify that I amn the owner of subject lands described above in the Petition for Rezoning and that I have authorized
_to make and file the aforesaid Petition for Rezoning..

STATE OF FLORIDA,

County of Flagler

Subscribed and Swormn o (or affirmed) before me by o )
SIGNATURE OF OWNER
OWNER'S NAME (Print/Type)

ADDRESS (Street, City) & Phone Number

This day of , 20 . Who is personally known to me or has produced &S
identification.
Commission Number & Expiration Notary Public -

4 Updated 04/03/09

Rezoning Standards Application Info Packet

Page 383 of 391



BUILDING AND PLANNING DEPT.
800 S Daytona Ave
FLAGLER BEACH, FL 32136
Phone (386) 517-2000. Ext. 231

| REZONING/FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT

REQUIRED ATTACHMENTS

INTAKE SUBMITTAL
3 Application
] Application fee
[0 Concurrency fee (May be deferred until site development application)
1 Ownership Disclosure form (Add’l documentation required if the property owner is a trust or corporation)
[0 Owner Authaorization Form (Required if the applicant and/or consultant is not the owner)

[0 Detailed narrative of amendment (PD Major/Minor Amendment only)

PZR25-0002
PROJECT No.

ALL INFORMATION MUST BE PROVIDED FOR APPLICATION TO BE DETERMINED COMPLETE
FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT/REZONING

APPLICATION TYPES

[[] LARGE SCALE FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT ONLY
D REZONE

(] SMALL SCALE FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT ONLY
[C] REZONE

[ TEXT AMENDMENT ASSOCIATED WITH LAND USE AMENDMENT

[C] REZONE (NON-PD)**

[] PDREZONE*

[J ppREZONE

Page 384 of 391



BUILDING AND PLANNING DEPT.

800 S Daytona Ave
FLAGLER BEACH, FL 32136
Phone (386) 517-2000. Ext. 231

PROJECT Summertown

PROJECT NAME:

PARCEL ID#(S): See attached Exhibit "B" parcel ID Numbers

LOCATION:

EXISTING USE(S): Vacant PROPOSED USE(S):
TOTALACREAGE:

WATER PROVIDER: SEWER PROVIDER:
GURRENT ZONING: PUD  PROPOSED ZONING: PUD

CURRENT FUTURE LAND UsEg-Agriculture/TimberlandsproposeED FUTURE LAND USE:

Page 385 of 391



BUILDING AND PLANNING DEPT.
800 S Daytona Ave
FLAGLER BEACH, FL 32136
Phone (386) 517-2000. Ext. 231

PROJECT

Summertown

PROJECT NAME:

PARCEL ID #(S):

See attached Exhibit "B" parcel ID Numbers

LOCATION:

EXISTING USE(S): \/5cant

PROPOSED USE(S):

TOTAL ACREAGE:

BCC DISTRICT:

WATER PROVIDER:

SEWER PROVIDER:

CURRENT ZONING:  pPUD

PROPOSED ZONING: pPUD

CURRENT FUTURE LAND UsE:-Agriculture/Timberlands

PROPOSED FUTURE LAND USE:

APPLICANT

EPLAN PRIVILEGES: VIEW ONLY [ | UPLOAD [ ] NONE [ ]

NAME: Michael D. Chiumento Il|

COMPANY: Chiumento Law, PLLC

ADDRESS: 145 City Place, Suite 301

cry: Palm Coast

STATE: FL zip: 32164

PHONE:  386-445-8900

EMAIL:  Michael3@legalteamforlife.com

CONSULTANT

EPLAN PRIVILEGES: VIEW ONLY [ ] uPLOAD [ | NONE[ ]

NAME: Lindsay Haga

compANY:England-Thims & Miller, Inc.

' ADDRESS:

CITY:

STATE: ZIP:

| PHONE: 904-376-6296

EMAIL: HagaL@etminc.com

OWNER(S)

(INCLUDE NOTARIZED OWNER'S AUTHORIZATION FORM)

NAME(S): Veranda Bay Investments, LLC & Palm Coast Intracoastal, LLC

ADDRESS: 3129 Springbank Lane, #201 Charlotte NC

CITY:

STATE: ZIP:

PHONE: 386-986-2411

EMAIL: kenbelshe@yahoo.com

Page 386 of 391




BUILDING AND PLANNING DEPT.
800 S Daytona Ave
FLAGLER BEACH, FL 32136
Phone (386) 517-2000. Ext. 231

CONCURRENCY REVIEW MANAGEMENT SYSTEM (SELECT ONE)

[] 1elect to defer the Concurrency Review that is required by Chapter 163, Florida Statutes, per Seminole County’s
Comprehensive Plan for the above listed property until a point as late as Site Plan and/or Final Engineering
submittals for this proposed development plan. | further specifically acknowledge that any proposed
development on the subject property will be required to undergo Concurrency Review and meet all
Concurrency requirements in the future. MPD Final Development Plan may not defer.

D | hereby declare and assert that the aforementioned proposal and property described are covered by a valid
previously issued Certificate of Vesting or a prior Concurrency determination (Test Notice issued within the past
two years as identified below. Please attach a copy of the Certificate of Vesting or Test Notice.)

TYPE OF CERTIFICATE CERTIFICATE NUMBER DATE ISSUED
VESTING:
TEST NOTICE:

E] Concurrency Application and appropriate fee are attached. | wish to encumber capacity at an early point in the
development process and understand that only upon approval of the Development Order and the full payment
of applicable facility reservation fees is a Certificate of Concurrency issued and entered into the Concurrency

Management monitoring system.

| hereby represent that | have the lawful right and authority to file this application.

Veranda Bay Investments, LLC Palm Coast Intracoastal, LLC
SIGNATURE OF OWNER/AUTHORIZED AGENT Signature of Owner

(PROOF OF PROPERTY OWNER’S AUTHORIZATION IS REQUIRED
IF SIGNED BY SOMEONE OTHER THAN THE PROPERTY OWNER)

T1-30-25
DATE

1-230-25
DATE

Page 387 of 391



SUMMERTOWN
PROPERTY OWNED BY HIGHWAY 100 COMMERCIAL, LLC

LEGAL DESCRIPTION
COMP PLAN AMENDMENT

A PORTION OF TRACT "FD2", GARDENS AT HAMMOCK BEACH, AS RECORDED IN MAP BOOK 35,
PAGES 80 THROUGH 100 OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA AND BEING
MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

FOR A POINT OF BEGINNING COMMENCE AT THE NORTHWESTERLY CORNER OF SAID TRACT
"FD2", SAID POINT ALSO BEING ON THE SOUTHERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF STATE ROAD 100 (A
200 FOOT RIGHT OF WAY AS ESTABLISHED); THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 29 MINUTES 03
SECONDS EAST, ALONG SAID SOUTHERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE, A DISTANCE OF 382.15 FEET TO
THE INTERSECTION WITH SOUTHWESTERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF VILLA DRIVE WEST (A
VARIABLE WIDTH PRIVATE RIGHT OF WAY AS ESTABLISHED), SAID POINT BEING THE POINT OF
CURVATURE OF A CURVE CONCAVE SOUTHWESTERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 35.00 FEET;
THENCE ALONG SAID CURVE AND SAID SOUTHWESTERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE AN ARC DISTANCE
OF 51.49 FEET TO THE POINT OF TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE, SAID CURVE BEING SUBTENDED BY
A CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH 41 DEGREES 37 MINUTES 50 SECONDS EAST, AND A CHORD
DISTANCE OF 46.97 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 00 DEGREES 30 MINUTES 47 SECONDS WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 29.81 FEET TO THE POINT OF CURVATURE OF A CURVE CONCAVE NORTHEASTERLY
AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 470.00 FEET; THENCE ALONG SAID CURVE AN ARC DISTANCE OF
578.46 FEET TO THE POINT OF TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE, SAID CURVE BEING SUBTENDED BY A
CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH 34 DEGREES 44 MINUTES 45 SECONDS EAST, AND A CHORD
DISTANCE OF 542.64 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 70 DEGREES 00 MINUTES 17 SECONDS EAST, A
DISTANCE OF 190.75 FEET TO THE POINT OF CURVATURE OF A CURVE CONCAVE
SOUTHWESTERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 360.00 FEET; THENCE ALONG SAID CURVE AN ARC
DISTANCE OF 364.42 FEET TO THE POINT OF TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE, SAID CURVE BEING
SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH 41 DEGREES 00 MINUTES 17 SECONDS EAST, AND
A CHORD DISTANCE OF 349.06 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 12 DEGREES 00 MINUTES 17 SECONDS EAST,
A DISTANCE OF 170.79 FEET TO THE POINT OF CURVATURE OF A CURVE CONCAVE WESTERLY
AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 260.00 FEET; THENCE ALONG SAID CURVE AN ARC DISTANCE OF 48.62
FEET, SAID CURVE BEING SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH 06 DEGREES 3B MINUTES
50 SECONDS EAST AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 48.55 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 88 DEGREES 37
MINUTES 36 SECONDS WEST DEPARTING THE AFOREMENTIONED SOUTHWESTERLY RIGHT OF
LINE OF VILLA DRIVE WEST, A DISTANCE OF 471.38 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 88 DEGREES 28
MINUTES 30 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 589.08 FEET; THENCE NORTH 33 DEGREES 37
MINUTES 07 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 50.65 FEET; THENCE NORTH 38 DEGREES 07
MINUTES 37 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 95.67 FEET TO A POINT ON A WESTERLY LINE OF
THE AFOREMENTIONED TRACT "FD2, GARDENS AT HAMMOCK BEACH"; THENCE NORTH 01
DEGREES 27 MINUTES 08 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 968.01 FEET TO THE POINT OF
BEGINNING.

Page 388 of 391



SUMMERTOWN

PROPERTY OWNED BY PALM COAST INTRACOASTAL, LLC

LEGAL DESCRIPTION
COMP PLAN AMENDMENT

A PARCEL OF LAND IN THE SOUTH 1/2 OF SECTION 11, TOWNSHIP 12 SOUTH, RANGE 31 EAST, FLAGLER
COUNTY, FLORIDA, MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

COMMENCE AT THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF GOVERNMENT SECTION 11, TOWNSHIP 12 SOUTH, RANGE
31 EAST AS MONUMENTED BY A 4” X 4” CONCRETE MONUMENT INSCRIBED WITH A “T”; THENCE ALONG
THE SOUTHERLY LINE OF SAID SECTION 11 NORTH 88°51'19” EAST A DISTANCE OF 2,591.75 FEET TO THE
POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE NORTH 00°06’41” EAST A DISTANCE OF 1,287.36 FEET; THENCE NORTH
88°28’36” EAST A DISTANCE OF 680.27 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 01°24’50” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 345.10 FEET;
THENCE SOUTH 88°36’24” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 150.00 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 01°28’15” EAST, A
DISTANCE OF 300.30 FEET; THENCE NORTH 88°36’24” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 150.00 FEET; THENCE SOUTH
01°08’43” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 24.77 FEET; THENCE NORTH 88°54’22” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 749.54 FEET
TO A POINT ON THE WESTERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF STATE ROAD 201, (ALSO KNOWN AS JOHN
ANDERSON HIGHWAY); THENCE ALONG SAID WESTERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE, SOUTH 18°11'55” EAST, A
DISTANCE OF 401.46 FEET, THENCE DEPARTING SAID RIGHT OF WAY LINE, SOUTH 77°14’08” WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 99.57 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 01°16’02” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 216.94 FEET; THENCE SOUTH
88°50'35” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 126.47 FEET TO A POINT ON THE SOUTHERLY LINE OF AFORESAID
SECTION 11; THENCE ALONG SAID SOUTHERLY LINE SOUTH 88°51’19” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 1,350.55
FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.

Page 389 of 391



SUMMERTOWN
PROPERTY OWNED BY VERANDA BAY INVESTMENTS LLC

LEGAL DESCRIPTION
COMP PLAN AMENDMENT

A PORTION OF LOTS 1, 3, 7, 8 AND 9, AND ALL OF LOTS 4, 10, 11 AND 12, BLOCK C, BUNNELL
DEVELOPMENT COMPANY’S LAND AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 1, PAGE 1, IN THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF
FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA, TOGETHER WITH A PORTION OF GOVERNMENT SECTION 14, 38, AND 39,
TOWNSHIP 12 SOUTH, RANGE 31 EAST, FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA, SITUATED IN GOVERNMENT
SECTIONS 11, 14, 38 AND 39, TOWNSHIP 12 SOUTH, RANGE 31 EAST, FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA, BEING
MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

COMMENCE AT THE INTERSECTION OF THE EAST RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF JOHN ANDERSON HIGHWAY
(STATE ROAD 201) AND THE NORTH LINE OF SAID SECTION 38-12-31; THENCE SOUTH 71°47°17” WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 100.00 FEET TO A POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF JOHN ANDERSON HIGHWAY
(STATE ROAD 201), ALSO BEING THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE ALONG SAID WEST RIGHT OF WAY
LINE THE FOLLOWING THREE COURSES: SOUTH 18°10°26” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 3,184.36 FEET TO A POINT
OF CURVATURE OF A NON-TANGENT CURVE CONCAVE NORTHEASTERLY HAVING A RADIUS OF 1,196.28
FEET, A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 22°09'26” AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 459.74 FEET WHICH BEARS SOUTH
29°14’21” EAST; THENCE SOUTHEASTERLY ALONG THE ARC OF SAID CURVE A DISTANCE OF 462.62 FEET;
THENCE SOUTH 40°21’41” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 776.28 FEET; THENCE DEPARTING SAID WEST RIGHT OF
WAY LINE SOUTH 69°18’47” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 1,433.82 FEET, THENCE NORTH 20°41'22” WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 995.98 FEET, THENCE NORTH 24°04’44” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 1,618.01 FEET; THENCE
NORTH 86°17°06” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 2,604.28 FEET; THENCE NORTH 60°37°10” WEST, A DISTANCE OF
341.50 FEET; THENCE NORTH 43°23'02” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 2,172.87 FEET, THENCE NORTH 30°47°31”
EAST, A DISTANCE OF 1,526.35 FEET; THENCE NORTH 45°31’15” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 902.38 FEET;
THENCE NORTH 40°14’18” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 1,732.75 FEET; THENCE NORTH 06°10°40” WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 189.68 FEET; THENCE NORTH 00°15’33” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 614.90 FEET; THENCE NORTH
88°32’16” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 257.93 FEET; THENCE NORTH 01°27°08” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 1,087.72
FEET TO A POINT ON THE SOUTH LINE OF STATE ROAD NO. 100; THENCE ALONG SAID SOUTH RIGHT OF
WAY LINE SOUTH 89°29°03” EAST A DISTANCE OF 959.81 FEET; THENCE DEPARTING SAID SOUTH RIGHT
OF WAY LINE SOUTH 00°30’57” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 210.00 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 89°29’03” EAST, A
DISTANCE OF 210.00 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 00°30°57” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 389.92 FEET; THENCE SOUTH
89°28’38” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 822.42 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 00°06’48” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 1,704.61
FEET; THENCE NORTH 88°51'12”EAST, A DISTANCE OF 1,350.55 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 01°10’32” EAST, A
DISTANCE OF 660.84 FEET; THENCE NORTH 88°37°17” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 158.75 FEET; THENCE SOUTH
18°14’40” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 330.09 FEET; THENCE NORTH 88°50’11” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 330.04
FEET TO A POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF JOHN ANDERSON HIGHWAY (STATE ROAD 201);
THENCE ALONG SAID RIGHT OF WAY LINE SOUTH 18°15’00” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 1,788.60 FEET TO THE
POINT OF BEGINNING.

LESS AND EXCEPT: THE LAND CONTAINED IN THE QUIT CLAIM DEED TO EAST FLAGLER MOSQUITO
CONTROL DISTRICT RECORDED IN OFFICIAL RECORDS BOOK 1620, PAGE 434, PUBLIC RECORDS OF
FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA. CONTAINING 0.89 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.

Page 10of 2

Page 390 of 391



LESS AND EXCEPT: THE LAND CONTAINED IN THE SPECIAL WARRANTY DEED TO FLAGLER COUNTY
RECORDED IN OFFICIAL RECORDS BOOK 1636, PAGE 1694, PUBLIC RECORDS OF FLAGLER COUNTY,
FLORIDA. CONTAINING 81.32 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.

LESS AND EXCEPT: THE LAND CONTAINED IN THE SPECIAL WARRANTY DEED TO HIGHWAY 100
COMMERCIAL LLC RECORDED IN OFFICIAL RECORDS BOOK 1789, PAGE 750, PUBLIC RECORDS OF FLAGLER
COUNTY, FLORIDA. CONTAINING 18.94 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.

LESS AND EXCEPT: TRACT PL-2 OF THE VACATED PLAT OF GARDENS AT HAMMOCK BEACH, ACCORDING
TO THE PLAT THEREOF AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 35, PAGES 80 THROUGH 100, PUBLIC RECORDS OF
FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA. CONTAINING A TOTAL OF 13.17 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.

Page 2 of 2

Page 391 of 391



	1. Call the meeting to order
	2. Pledge of Allegiance
	3. Roll Call / Determination of Quorum
	4. Approve Minutes
	a. September 2, 2025 Meeting Minutes
	September 2, 2025 PARB Meeting Minutes


	5. Old Business
	6. New Business
	a. PAN25-0001 Ordinance 2025-21 (Veranda Bay): AN ORD
	Staff Report
	Staff Report_Veranda Bay_Pre-Annexation_Final10022025
	Veranda Bay_Updated 10062025  Item 6a Staff Report PAN 25-001 Ordinance 2025-21 Voluntary Annexation Veranda Bay_Add Map_
	Ordinance Annexation VB_FINAL DRAFT
	Veranda Bay Pre-Annexation Agreement_FB_Edits_MC3 comments_FINAL
	VB_Application Annexation w ex

	b. PFLUMA25-0001 Ordinance 2025-23 (Veranda Bay): AN 
	Staff Report
	Large Scale Future Land Use (FLUM) Amendment_Analysis Findings Veranda Bay w MAPS
	Ord 2025-23 Veranda Bay Comprehensive Plan Amendment
	VB_Application Comp Plan signed w exhibits

	c. PRZ 25-0001 Ordinance 2025-24 Veranda Bay MPDA
	PRZ 25-0001 ORD 2025-24 Veranda Bay MPDA Rezone
	Veranda Bay_Updated 10062025 Item 6c Ordinance 2025-24 Veranda Bay MPDA Rezone Staff Report
	Ordinace 2025-24 Veranda Bay Rezone & MPD Agreement_FINAL DRAFT
	Application Rezone for submittal

	d. PAN25-0002 ORDINANCE 2025-22 (Summertown): AN ORDINANCE TO ANNEX 514 +/- ACRES 
	Staff Report
	Staff Report_Summer Town_Pre-Annexation_Final10022025
	Summertown_Update 10062025 Item 6d Staff Report PAN 25-002 Ordinance 2025-22 Voluntary Annexation Veranda Bay10022025 (2)
	Ordinance Annexation ST_FINAL DRAFT
	Summertown Pre-annexation agreement 10.1.25 FINAL DRAFT
	ST_Application for Annexation for submittal

	e. PFLUMA25-0002 ORDINANCE 2025-25 (Summertown): AN O
	Staff Report
	Large Scale Future Land Use (FLUM) Amendment_Analysis Findings Summertown_FINAL
	Ordinance Comp Plan Amendment_Summertown_FINAL DRAFT
	ST_Application for Comp Plan for submittal

	f. PRZ25-0002 ORDINANCE 2025-26 (Summertown): AN ORDI
	Staff Report
	Ordinance 2025-26 Summertown MPDA Rezone Staff Report
	Ordinance 2025-26 Summertown Rezone_MPD_FINAL DRAFT
	ST_Application for Rezoning EXECUTED


	7. Other Business
	8. City Planner Report
	9. Board Comments
	10. Adjournment



